
 
 
 
PC 03/13/24     Page 1 of 2 

 
 

City of Depoe Bay 
 

Planning Commission 
 Regular and Public Hearing Meeting 

 

March 13, 2024 – Wednesday, 6:00 PM 
 

Depoe Bay City Hall – 570 SE Shell Avenue 
 
 
 

 
The Meeting Location is Accessible to the Public 

 
To Join from Your Computer, Tablet, or Smartphone: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85727774047?pwd=SHNyMUcrSTVKNlZaZjlYVlRKSlFHZz09 
Meeting ID:  857 2777 4047 
Passcode:  530799 

To Join from Your Phone: 
Phone:  (253) 215-8782 
Meeting ID:  857 2777 4047 
Passcode:  530799

Public comments may be made via email up to two hours before the meeting start time at info@cityofdepoebay.org 
 

Please Note:  In the event of Zoom Technical Difficulties the Telephone Conference System will be utilized.  Dial (888) 204-5987, Access code 9599444 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
I. Call Meeting to Order and Establish a Quorum 
 
II. Announcements 
 
III. Approval of Minutes: November 8, 2023, January 10, 2024, and February 14, 2024 Regular 
                                              Meetings 
 
IV. Public Hearings 
 

A. Case File: #1-MSC-PC-23 
Applicant: Melissa Munford/Simplicity Homes 
Owners: Daniel J. & Vivian R. Harvey 
Application: Miscellaneous Review (Wetland Delineation) 
Zone, Map and Tax Lot: Residential R-4PD, 09-11-17-BC Tax Lot #07300 

  Location: 160 SW Cormorant 
 

B. Case File: #1-PD-PC-24 
Applicant: Hills of Depoe Bay, LLC 
Owner: Same as applicant 
Application: Planned Development (Preliminary Plan for Whale Watch Phase 2) 
Zone, Map and Tax Lot: Retail Commercial C-1 and Residential R-1, 09-11-05-B0 Tax Lot 

#01200 
  Location: 1032 N Highway 101 



 
 
 
 
PC 03/13/24     Page 2 of 2 

 
 

 
C. Case File: #2-PD-PC-24 

Applicant: Hills of Depoe Bay, LLC 
Owner: Same as applicant 
Application: Planned Development (Amendment to Depoe Hills Phase 1) 
Zone, Map and Tax Lot: Residential R-2PD, 09-11-05-AB Tax Lots #00900-01900 & 02700 

  Location: NE Seascape Drive and NE Moonwake Lane 
 
V. Unfinished Business 
 
VI. New Business 
 

A. Planning Review of Emergency Supply Caches 
 
VII. Public Comments – Items Not on Tonight’s Agenda 
 
VIII. City Council Liaison Report (March:  Imbrie; April:  Sherman) 
 
IX. City Planner and City Recorder Reports 
 
X. Planning Commission Concerns 
 
XI. Adjourn 
 
 

Depoe Bay City Hall is accessible to the disabled.  If special accommodations are needed, please notify 
City Recorder at 765-2361 48 Hours in advance of the meeting so that appropriate assistance can be provided. 

TTY#1-800-735-2900 
“This institution is an equal opportunity provider” 



 

 
DBPC 11/08/23   Page 1 of 6 
 

Depoe Bay Planning Commission 1 
Regular Meeting 2 
Wednesday, November 8, 2023 – 6:00 PM 3 
Depoe Bay City Hall 4 
 5 
PRESENT:  R. Moreland, E. Sherman, J. Faucett, G. Steinke 6 
ABSENT:  J. Imbrie 7 
STAFF:  City Recorder K. Wollenburg, City Planner K. Fox, Deputy City Recorder C. Duering 8 
 9 
I. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 10 
 11 
Faucett called the meeting to order and established a quorum at 6:00 PM. 12 
 13 
II. ANNOUNCEMENTS  14 
 15 
The City Planner announced 1) There are two (2) vacancies on the Planning Commission.  We 16 
would love to have additional members of the community participate in the planning process 17 
with us. 18 
 19 
The City Recorder announced 1) The City is seeking volunteers to help decorate Depoe Bay for 20 
the holidays (flyer attached to original of these minutes); We hope to continue traditions and 21 
create new ones; 2) In December the City will host an event to recognize and thank the 22 
volunteers at the Community Hall.  Date to be determined. 23 
 24 
III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  August 9, 2023, Regular Meeting 25 
 26 
Sherman recommended a correction to the minutes (page 9 of 10, line 48). Not a fan of 27 
Spectrum as a representative of an organized laborer.  28 
 29 
Motion:  Steinke moved to approve the minutes of the August 9, 2023, regular meeting as 30 
amended.  Sherman seconded. 31 
 32 

Vote:  Motion passed. 33 
 Ayes:  Sherman, Faucett, Steinke 34 
 Abstain:  Moreland 35 
 36 
IV. PUBLIC HEARINGS 37 
 38 
There were none. 39 
 40 
V. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 41 
 42 

A. Quality of Life “Code Amendment:  Exterior Lighting (continued from July 20, 43 
2023) 44 

 45 
The Commission thanked Sherman for his recommended changes to the draft regulations.  46 
Sherman noted that Yachats overall did a great job.  He is proposing minimal revisions to their 47 
comprehensive standards.  He offered to answer questions. 48 



 

 
DBPC 11/08/23   Page 2 of 6 
 

The City Planner summarized his memorandum (copy attached to original of these minutes).  He 1 
noted that he would like to speak with the City Attorney regarding amortization of non-2 
conforming lighting. 3 
 4 
Discussion followed regarding the time to be compliant: 1) Compliance will most likely be 5 
determined by complaints; 2) Enforcement will be an issue; 3) One year from the date of the 6 
Ordinance or one year from the date the property owner is made aware of the violation 7 
whichever is later is common code language; 4) Contractor availability/non-availability; 5) It is 8 
important to allow a reasonable amount of time to become compliant.   9 
 10 
Sherman recommended the addition of the following language to Subsection 152.078(E) 11 
Standards based on use:   If lumens exceed the thresholds, then approval shall be contingent 12 
upon review of the Planning Commission. 13 
 14 
Discussion followed regarding marine lighting:  1) Applicable State and/or Federal regulations if 15 
any; 2) Subsection 152.078(G) Time to become compliant. Marine lighting that has reached the 16 
end of its useful lifespan or has otherwise malfunctioned shall be safely decommissioned and 17 
removed. Repairing existing marine lighting to working order shall be prohibited; 3) Subsection 18 
152.078(B) Definitions. “Marine lighting” means light fixtures directed at the ocean and coastal 19 
tide pools, and illuminating the marine area; 4) Adding language to the marine lighting 20 
definition that excludes the harbor area as depicted in the Depoe Bay Comprehensive Plan; 5) 21 
Subsection 152.078(G) Time to become compliant.  b. Marine lighting existing prior to the 22 
enactment of the ordinance codified in this chapter must be i. During April through September, 23 
turned off between 11:00 p.m. and sunrise each night, and ii. During October through March, 24 
turned off between 9:00 p.m. and sunrise each night; 6) Navigational and safety lighting is 25 
essential. 26 
 27 
The City Recorder recommended that the Commission discuss seasonal lighting as referenced 28 
in Subsection 152.078(C) General lighting requirements.  3. Exemptions. The following are not 29 
regulated by this chapter:  3. f. Temporary, seasonal lighting between October 31st and January 30 
31st, provided that individual lights are less than ten (10) lumens.   31 
 32 
Discussion followed regarding seasonal lighting:  1) Subsection 152.078(B) Definitions. “Seasonal 33 
lighting” means exterior lighting that is specifically directed at a holiday season such as 34 
Christmas, Halloween, and others. This will consist of small, low-wattage bulbs of less than ten 35 
(10) lumens each; 2) Decorative string deck/patio “festoon” lighting; 3) Enforcement; 4) 36 
Amending the requirement by deleting the time limit restriction and adding decorative and/or 37 
accent lighting; 5) The Christmas light show (lights synced to music) on the hillside behind Troller’s 38 
Lodge; 6) There is no limit to the number of bulbs.  The wattage of the individual bulbs is 39 
restricted; 7) Sample code language: “Holiday lighting” means festoon-type lights, limited to 40 
small individual bulbs on a string, where the output per bulb is no greater than fifteen lumens; 8) 41 
Subsection 152.078(E) Standards based on use. 3. Commercial Uses. b. Except for security 42 
lighting for pathways, building doors, and legally required safety lighting around ATM locations, 43 
outdoor lighting fixtures for commercial properties must be turned off when the business is not 44 
open. When businesses are closed, residential lighting requirements apply.   45 
 46 



 

 
DBPC 11/08/23   Page 3 of 6 
 

In conclusion, the City Planner offered to contact the City of Yachats regarding the adoption 1 
and implementation of their lighting ordinance.  He will prepare a revised draft for 2 
review/discussion at a future Planning Commission meeting. 3 
 4 

B. “Quality of Life” Code Amendment: Noise (continued from September 9, 2023) 5 
 6 
The City Planner summarized his memorandum and draft regulations based upon the City of 7 
Newport Ordinance (copies attached to the original of these minutes).  He noted that he had 8 
a conversation with the City Recorder earlier today and she has concerns with how this is being 9 
formatted. 10 
 11 
The City Recorder apologized for not reviewing the code amendment sooner.  She stated the 12 
proposed standards and regulations are more municipal code-related than land use.   She was 13 
anticipating the standards and regulations to be written to address conditional use, subdivision, 14 
planned development, and public utility facility uses.  She specifically referred to the following 15 
sections: 1) Prohibition on Excessive Noises. No person shall make, assist in making, permit, 16 
continue, or permit the continuance of, any noise within the City of Depoe Bay in violation of 17 
this chapter or Chapter 93. In the event of conflicts between the provisions of this chapter and 18 
Chapter 93, the more restrictive standard shall apply. No person shall cause or permit any noise 19 
to emanate from property under that person’s control in violation of this section; 2) (C) 20 
Definitions. As used in this chapter: (2) Noise-Sensitive Unit shall include any building or portion of 21 
a building containing a residence, place of overnight accommodation, church, daycare 22 
center, hospital, school, or nursing care center. 23 
 24 
In conclusion, she recommended simply adding language referring to Chapter 93 of the 25 
municipal code and/or adding land use code development and performance standards. For 26 
example, the City of Millersburg’s development code includes language regarding not creating 27 
negative impacts on the surrounding area resulting from traffic flow, noise, dust, glare, and odor.   28 
She acknowledged that the City’s existing noise regulations need to be updated.  She offered 29 
to provide the Planning Commission with a copy of the City of Millersburg standards and 30 
regulations. 31 
 32 
Discussion followed regarding 1) The overlap of general and land use standards and regulations; 33 
2) Prohibited noises; 3) The Planning Commission making a recommendation to the City Council 34 
to revise Chapter 93: Noise Regulations incorporating applicable items in the draft regulation 35 
document prepared by the City Planner; 4) How to merge the noise standards into the building 36 
permit application process; 5) Decibel level thresholds. 37 
 38 
In conclusion, the City Planner suggested that the Commission discuss the matter further.   The 39 
City needs to have clear standards and regulations.  The public, development community, 40 
Planning Commission, and City Planner all need to understand what is allowed and what is 41 
prohibited.   42 
 43 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 44 
 45 

A. Quality of Life “Code Amendment:  Definitions – Dwelling 46 
 47 



 

 
DBPC 11/08/23   Page 4 of 6 
 

The City Planner summarized his memorandum and attachments (copies attached to the 1 
original of these minutes).   2 
 3 
The Commission did not have any revisions or objections to the proposed dwelling definitions. 4 
 5 
 6 
VII. PUBLIC COMMENTS – ITEMS NOT ON TONIGHT’S AGENDA 7 
 8 
Stan Zitnik stated that he and his wife live at 170 SE Bayview.  Their quality of life is being affected 9 
by the wires that span across their view of the harbor.  When they purchased their home there 10 
were two (2) skinny wires in their view corridor but today the cable company added additional 11 
wires.  His understanding is that per the franchise agreement, the provider of these services is 12 
supposed to be installing their new lines underground in existing utility easements.  Utility lines for 13 
all new development projects should be installed underground.   14 
 15 
Hassie Zitnik stated that they had no idea that this was going to happen.  She was told by 16 
Spectrum and Wave to voice their concerns to the City. 17 
 18 
Stan Zitnik noted that per the Depoe Bay Comprehensive Plan, the harbor is an exceptional 19 
aesthetic resource.  He shared photographs taken before and after the wires were installed 20 
(copy attached to original of these minutes). 21 
 22 
A discussion followed regarding 1) Existing underground utility lines serving their property; 2) Utility 23 
service main lines and existing utility poles; and 3) The terms of the franchise agreement 24 
between Spectrum and the City should be discussed with the City Council.  25 
 26 
Faucett thanked them for coming and expressing their concerns. 27 
 28 
The City Recorder stated that she would follow up with the Public Works Director regarding the 29 
matter and invited the Zitniks to come in and talk with them.  30 
 31 
A Commissioner requested that the minutes reflect that the Planning Commission has offered 32 
guidance, supports their concerns, is expecting follow-up, and hopes that the City will help them 33 
in some way.   34 
 35 
VIII. CITY COUNCIL LIAISON REPORT 36 
 37 
Faucett reported on the October 17, 2023, City Council meeting:  1) 35 Cook Avenue – Order 38 
of Abatement – Resolution 549-23; 2) Tourism Promotions and Events Planning Committee. 39 
 40 
Faucett reported on the November 7, 2023, City Council meeting:  1) First Reading – Planning 41 
Commission Ordinance Amendment – Ordinance 343-23; 2) Guest Presentation: Lincoln County 42 
Homeless – Homeless Strategic Plan – Ernest Stephens, CEO, Morant McLeod; 3) Event Permit – 43 
Special Olympics Polar Plunge 2024; 4) Tree Ordinance (Discussion); 5) Recreational Immunity 44 
Challenge and City Response. 45 
 46 
Discussion followed regarding 1) Recreational immunity; 2) Alternate Planning Commission 47 
membership purpose and notification procedure; 3) 2024 liaison schedule. 48 



 

 
DBPC 11/08/23   Page 5 of 6 
 

IX. CITY PLANNER AND CITY RECORDER REPORTS 1 
 2 
The City Planner summarized the September and October 2023, Land Use and Building Permit 3 
Activity Reports (copies attached to the original of these minutes). 4 
 5 
Discussion followed regarding 1) The dismissal of Petry v. Depoe Bay, LUBA No. 2023-070; 2) 6 
Cancelling the December Planning Commission meeting if there are no public hearing items; 3) 7 
Distribution of the revised “Quality of Life” code amendments. 8 
 9 
X. PLANNING COMMISSION CONCERNS 10 
 11 
Moreland:  I struggle with the software and accessing my email. I am getting a message 12 
regarding authentication.  13 
 14 
Staff advised the Commissioners to disregard the message.  National Business Solutions has been 15 
made aware of the issue. The Commissioners can expect to be contacted by a National 16 
Business Solutions IT support representative. 17 
 18 
Moreland:  I think Judy has done an outstanding job of pushing us to have a more expansive 19 
purpose. 20 
 21 
Sherman:  I don’t have any concerns.  I likewise appreciate Greg and Judy’s service and 22 
experience.  Judy has done a fantastic job as chair.  I am probably going to get nominated to 23 
the Oregon Electrical Board.  The board oversees the electrical program for the entire State of 24 
Oregon.   If confirmed by the Oregon Senate I think I can make some good headway in 25 
consumer protection and safety.  I will fulfill my obligations on the Planning Commission however, 26 
we do need more Commissioners. 27 
 28 
Faucett:  Do we turn in our computers at the end of the year? 29 
 30 
The City Recorder responded yes.  She also requested that they turn in any documents, Zoning 31 
Code binders, etc. for retention or destruction per the State records retention schedule.  32 
 33 
Faucett:  I would like to thank you all for everything.  A lot has been asked of you this year.  34 
We’ve had more public hearings than I can remember ever having in a year.  It has been a very 35 
demanding year.  You have been prepared, asked good questions, and provided valuable 36 
input and I know that will continue.  I wish you good luck finding new members. 37 
 38 
Steinke:  Thank you.  I appreciate it.  I’ve enjoyed at least ten years of service on the Planning 39 
Commission.   We are leaving the Commission with good people to carry on.  As a point of 40 
interest since the recent election, the Little Whale Board consists of all new members except for 41 
me.  We will be able to communicate more clearly with our community and will be approaching 42 
the City about the outdoor warning system in the near future. 43 
 44 
Steinke summarized some of his concerns regarding natural hazards and emergency 45 
notification. 46 
 47 
The City Planner thanked Faucett and Steinke for their willingness to step up as alternates. 48 



 

 
DBPC 11/08/23   Page 6 of 6 
 

XI. ADJOURN 1 
 2 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:10 PM. 3 
 4 
 5 
        _________________________________  6 
                   Eric Sherman, President 7 
        8 
  Carla Duering, Deputy City Recorder 9 



 

 
 
DBPC 01/10/24   Page 1 of 6 
 

Depoe Bay Planning Commission 1 
Regular Meeting 2 
Wednesday, January 10, 2024 – 6:00 PM 3 
Depoe Bay City Hall 4 
 5 
PRESENT:  R. Moreland, E. Sherman, J. Imbrie 6 
STAFF:  City Planner K. Fox, Deputy City Recorder C. Duering 7 
 8 
I. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 9 
 10 
Sherman called the meeting to order and established a quorum at 6:00 PM. 11 
 12 

A. Selection of Planning Commission President 13 
 14 
Moreland nominated Sherman for president.  Sherman accepted the nomination. 15 
 16 

Vote:  Sherman appointed. 17 
 Ayes:  Moreland, Imbrie 18 
 19 

B. Selection of Planning Commission Vice-President  20 
 21 
Moreland nominated Imbrie.  Sherman nominated Moreland.  Imbrie agreed with Sherman. 22 
 23 
Moreland agreed to accept the nomination if someone would teach her. 24 
 25 

Vote:  Moreland appointed. 26 
 Ayes:  Sherman, Imbrie 27 
 28 
II. ANNOUNCEMENTS  29 
 30 
The City Planner announced 1) We are continuing to look for candidates to serve on the 31 
Planning Commission.  Based on the Council’s action at the end of last year the Planning 32 
Commission is a five (5) member body.  There are two (2) regular member vacancies.  He 33 
encouraged anyone who has an interest to apply if they are interested in serving the community 34 
in that capacity. 35 
 36 
III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  September 13, 2023, Regular Meeting 37 
 38 
A Commissioner asked for clarification on (page 7 of 8, line 13) Faucett also suggested that the 39 
Planning Commission Liaison only be required to attend one (1) City Council meeting per month. 40 
 41 
The Deputy City Recorder explained that Faucett was summarizing the solutions she discussed 42 
with the Mayor and not the provisions adopted by the City Council. 43 
 44 
Motion:  Imbrie moved to approve the minutes of the September 13, 2023, regular meeting.  45 
Moreland seconded. 46 
 47 

Vote:  Motion passed. 48 
 Ayes:  Moreland, Sherman, Imbrie 49 



 

 
 
DBPC 01/10/24   Page 2 of 6 
 

IV. PUBLIC HEARINGS 1 
 2 
Sherman announced that the following statement applies to all public hearings heard at 3 
tonight’s meeting. 4 
 5 
The testimony and evidence must be directed toward the code sections, citations, and criteria 6 
established by the Depoe Bay City Staff Report or other criteria in the code the party believes 7 
to apply to the subject request. The failure to raise an issue accompanied by statements or 8 
evidence sufficient to afford the Commission and the parties an opportunity to respond to the 9 
issue precludes an appeal to the State Land Use Board of Appeals on that issue. Application 10 
materials and other evidence relied upon by the applicant have been provided to the City and 11 
have been made available to the public. 12 
 13 
Sherman stated the procedures used for the public hearings heard tonight will be as follows:   14 
First, there will be a staff report.  The applicant will present his or her testimony.  There will be 15 
testimony from those in favor of the application. There will be testimony from those in opposition 16 
to the application.  There will be a rebuttal from the applicant.  He will then ask if there is anyone 17 
who would request that the record remain open for final additional written testimony.  If none, 18 
at that time the public hearing will be closed.  There will be Commission deliberation and 19 
decision.  There will be no further input from the public during deliberations. 20 
 21 

A. Case File: #4-CU-PC-23 22 
Applicant: Bay View Investments, LLC  23 
Owner: Same as Applicant 24 
Application: Conditional Use Permit 25 
Zone, Map, and Tax Lot: Retail Commercial C-1, 09-11-05-CA Tax Lot #17802 26 

  Location: 300-block, NE Williams Avenue 27 
 28 
Sherman asked if any Commissioner had ex-parte contact, conflict of interest, or bias to declare. 29 
There was none. 30 
 31 
There was no objection to any Planning Commissioner hearing the case. 32 
 33 
The City Planner summarized the staff report (copy attached to original of these minutes).  34 
Written testimony was received after the preparation of the staff report in opposition to the 35 
application from David and Charla Breitigam; John and Jackie Evans and Gloria Wescott; 36 
Michael and Mary Babinski; Tony and Rollie Reeder.  The applicant provided additional written 37 
testimony to address the neighbors’ concerns about the parking issue. (copies attached to the 38 
original of these minutes). 39 
 40 
Discussion followed regarding 1) If in the future a property owner wanted to change the use to 41 
tourist accommodation, they would be required to apply for a conditional use permit; 2) The 42 
same applicant received approval for a building permit on an adjacent lot in July 2022.  Before 43 
the adoption of DBZO Section 152.136(Q): Townhouse Developments (Ordinance No. 336-23); 44 
3) Without taking into consideration the topography of the subject lot theoretically the structure 45 
could be pushed further back two (2) feet from the rear property line which would provide six 46 
(6) parking spaces (four (4) driveway and two (2) garage); 4) The applicant is proposing a 22-47 
foot setback from the decks to the rear property line; 5) As a two-unit townhouse development 48 
it meets the off-street parking standards per dwelling unit.  However, as a proposed tourist 49 



 

 
 
DBPC 01/10/24   Page 3 of 6 
 

accommodation use it does not meet the off-street parking requirements of eight (8) parking 1 
spaces in total. 2 
 3 
The applicant had indicated in an email that he would attempt to join the meeting via Zoom.   4 
He was not present. 5 
 6 
There was no testimony in favor of the application. 7 
 8 
Sherman called for testimony in opposition to the application. 9 
 10 
Jackie Evan stated that she and her husband are assuming that the townhouse regulations were 11 
put into effect because there was a need or issue, and they want to reiterate what was stated 12 
in their letter. 13 
 14 
Jackie Evan testified:  1) Two (2) more two-unit townhomes are proposed to be built in the future; 15 
2) It is possible that three (3) two-unit townhomes will lack up to twelve (12) off-street parking 16 
spaces; 3) There is “No parking” on Williams Avenue; 4) There is already an issue with a car that 17 
parks on Austin Street;  delivery truck and emergency vehicle access is difficult; 5) Ordinances 18 
are updated because of necessity.  In conclusion, she stated their argument is that there is just 19 
not adequate space to accommodate any alternative on-street parking. 20 
 21 
Tom Evan testified upon review of the proposal they thought of the following options: 1) The 22 
structure could be pushed back; 2) Reduce the number of units to four (4).  The applicant owns 23 
a vacant lot that could be utilized as an asphalt parking lot to serve the townhouse 24 
development. 25 
 26 
David Breitigam stated that he and his wife Charla submitted a letter, and they are here to offer 27 
a few more details. 28 
 29 
David Bretigam testified 1) There are very few “No Parking” signs on NE Williams Avenue; If the 30 
City installed more signage, it would help the current situation; 2) There is a lot south of the 31 
subject lot that was for sale a couple of years ago; the undeveloped lot did not sell because it 32 
had been designated to provide off-site parking for a downtown business; 3) Concerns 33 
regarding existing safety issues are outlined in our letter; 4) We would be greatly and personally 34 
impacted by this development. 35 
 36 
Charla Bretigam expressed her appreciation for the applicant proposing a solution.  He has 37 
offered to include terms in the rental agreement that states no more than two (2) vehicles per 38 
stay per home and “no parking” along NE Williams Avenue.  However, it does not seem like a 39 
solution:  1) Each one of those units can have up to seven (7) adults; 2) Who is going to monitor 40 
and enforce those terms?  3) NE Williams Avenue is a hazardous narrow road with a high volume 41 
of vehicular and pedestrian traffic.  Safety is an issue; 4) Sometimes there are two (2) vehicles 42 
parked along NE Austin that impede traffic flow.  In conclusion, she asked the Planning 43 
Commission to address their concerns. 44 
 45 
The City Planner left the room to check his email to make sure that the applicant had not been 46 
having difficulty with Zoom access. 47 
 48 



 

 
 
DBPC 01/10/24   Page 4 of 6 
 

The Deputy City Recorder took the opportunity to clarify the City Council’s decision regarding 1 
the Planning Commission liaison officer.  She cited from adopted Ordinance 343-23 The liaison 2 
officer shall report to the City Council at a regular City Council meeting as is necessary or as 3 
requested by the City Council. 4 
 5 
The City Planner confirmed there was no email from the applicant. 6 
 7 
The City Planner clarified statements made by those in opposition to the application 1) The 8 
applicant has not submitted a proposal for a third project.  The applicant owns a total of four 9 
(4) lots on NE Williams Avenue.  There has not been a proposal by the applicant to develop any 10 
of the other two (2) lots; 2) The undeveloped parking lot is on NE Bradford Street, not NE Williams 11 
Avenue; 3) Per the Zoning Code off-site parking can be located within 500 feet of a property. 12 
 13 
Audience members interjected 1) The third project is in the staff report; 2) The undeveloped 14 
parking lot is on NE Williams Avenue, not NE Bradford Street.  It is the next lot after the four (4) lots 15 
owned by the applicant; 3) They were told by a City Councilor that it is associated with a 16 
building located on Highway 101; 4) Currently, there is a real estate office in the building.  Should 17 
occupancy increase, the parking lot would need to be developed to meet the City’s off-street 18 
parking requirements. 19 
 20 
The City Planner stated if there was a reference to a third proposal in the staff report it was in 21 
error. 22 
 23 
There was no rebuttal from the applicant. 24 
 25 
There was a discussion with the audience regarding 1) If the Planning Commission does not 26 
make a decision and continues the public hearing to a future date certain then that date will 27 
be announced at the meeting and that will serve as their notice; 2) Keeping the record open 28 
allows for an additional seven (7) days for written testimony; seven (7) days for response to the 29 
written testimony; and seven (7) days for rebuttal. 30 
 31 
There was no request to keep the record open. 32 
 33 
The public hearing was closed, and the Commission entered deliberations. 34 
 35 
The City Planner reminded the Commission that the focus has been on the parking requirements 36 
for tourist accommodations but in general, Section 152.136(A) of the Zoning Ordinance lists the 37 
general criteria that the Planning Commission must take into consideration on any Conditional 38 
Use Permit (CUP).  He cited The site under consideration is suitable for the proposed use 39 
considering: (1) The size, design, and operating characteristics of the use; (2) The adequacy of 40 
transportation access to the site; (3) The natural and physical features of the site, such as general 41 
topography and natural resource values; (4) The proposed use is compatible with existing and 42 
permitted uses on adjacent lands, considering the factors in division (A)(1) above; (5) Any 43 
lighting provided shall not shine or glare onto adjoining streets or properties. Suggest using lights 44 
of low stature with shielding. The applicant shall demonstrate through a lighting plan that this 45 
standard is met; (6) Landscaping shall be designed to provide adequate vegetative cover. 46 
 47 
The City Planner stated that in respect to the applicant’s proposed solution of limiting parking 48 
to two (2) vehicles per stay and limiting the occupancy, if the application is approved those 49 



 

 
 
DBPC 01/10/24   Page 5 of 6 
 

limitations would become part of the business license to operate as a tourist accommodation.  1 
The conditions of approval could also be revised to include the marketing and advertising for 2 
the tourist accommodation would include specific notations regarding the limitations on 3 
occupancy and parking.  4 
 5 
Discussion followed regarding 1) The site plan does not illustrate the location of the off-street 6 
parking spaces; 2) The site plan identifies NE Williams Avenue as 40 feet wide; the pavement 7 
width is about half that; 3) The proposal to limit the number of vehicles is not an option that 8 
should be considered; 4) It’s an interesting concept however, enforcement and change of 9 
ownership are issues; 5) The townhouse regulations were put in place for a reason; 6) The 10 
applicant may have other options that would be more conforming; 7) There are already issues 11 
with parking on NE Williams Avenue; 8) NE Williams Avenue is very narrow; 9) The Commission 12 
put a lot of time and effort into creating the regulations; 10) This is the first townhouse application 13 
before the Planning Commission since the adoption of the townhouse regulations.  14 
 15 
Motion:  Moreland moved to deny Case File #4-CU-PC-23 (Conditional Use Permit).  Imbrie 16 
seconded. 17 
 18 
The City Planner clarified the reasons for denial 1) The adequacy of the site and its inability to 19 
provide the parking that is required; 2) The need to look at alternatives to the solution that was 20 
proposed. 21 
 22 

Vote:  Motion passed. 23 
 Ayes:  Imbrie, Moreland, Sherman 24 
 25 

B. Case File: #4-GEO-PC-23 (Postpone to February 14, 2024) 26 
Applicant: C.A. White, Jr. 27 
Owner: Same as Applicant 28 
Application: Geotechnical Report Review 29 
Zone, Map and Tax Lot: Residential R-5, 09-11-05-DD Tax Lot #00300 30 

  Location: 565 NE Stanley Street 31 
 32 
The City Planner summarized his memorandum (copy attached to original of these minutes). 33 
 34 
Motion:  Moreland moved to postpone the public hearing for Case File #4-GEO-PC-23 35 
(Geotechnical Report Review) to the February 14, 2023, meeting.  Sherman seconded. 36 
 37 
Imbrie stated he may or may not have a conflict and asked if he could abstain from the vote.  38 

 39 
Vote:  Motion passed. 40 

 Ayes:  Moreland, Sherman 41 
 Abstain:  Imbrie 42 
 43 
V. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 44 
 45 
There was none. 46 
 47 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 48 
 49 



 

 
 
DBPC 01/10/24   Page 6 of 6 
 

A. Date change for April 10, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 1 
 2 
The City Planner explained that due to a conflict, he will not be available on April 10, 2024.  The 3 
Council Chamber is available on April 17, 2024. 4 
 5 
The Commission agreed to change the Planning Commission meeting date to April 17, 2024. 6 
 7 
VII. PUBLIC COMMENTS – ITEMS NOT ON TONIGHT’S AGENDA 8 
 9 
There was none. 10 
 11 
VIII. CITY COUNCIL LIAISON REPORT 12 
 13 
The City Planner noted that former President Faucett submitted an email report on the 14 
November 22, 2023, City Council meeting. 15 
 16 
Discussion followed regarding how a commissioner will be notified to attend a City Council 17 
meeting and the liaison schedule.  In conclusion, the Commission agreed to Moreland – 18 
February, May, August, and November; Imbrie – March, June, September, and December; 19 
Sherman – April, July, and October. 20 
 21 
IX. CITY PLANNER AND CITY RECORDER REPORTS 22 
 23 
The City Planner summarized the November 2023 and December 2023, Land Use and Building 24 
Permit Activity Reports (copies attached to the original of these minutes). 25 
 26 
X. PLANNING COMMISSION CONCERNS 27 
 28 
Moreland:  Now that I am vice-president do I need to read Robert’s Rules of Order? 29 
 30 
Discussion followed regarding Robert’s Rules of Order and the number of books/pocket guides 31 
that cover the basics. 32 
 33 
Imbrie:  None. 34 
 35 
Sherman:  My only concern is that I wish they would design coffee mugs to not be concave on 36 
the bottom because I hate dumping water on myself when unloading the dishwasher.   I 37 
encourage the public to please consider applying for the Planning Commission.   We do have 38 
tremendous fun.  It is an opportunity to learn and serve the community.  39 
 40 
XI. ADJOURN 41 
 42 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:14 PM. 43 
 44 
 45 
        _________________________________ 46 
                   Eric Sherman, Vice-President 47 
        48 
  Carla Duering, Deputy City Recorder 49 



 

 
 
DBPC 02/14/24   Page 1 of 6 
 

Depoe Bay Planning Commission 1 
Regular Meeting 2 
Wednesday, February 14, 2024 – 6:00 PM 3 
Depoe Bay City Hall 4 
 5 
PRESENT:  R. Moreland, E. Sherman, J. Imbrie 6 
STAFF:  City Planner K. Fox, Deputy City Recorder C. Duering 7 
 8 
I. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 9 
 10 
Sherman called the meeting to order and established a quorum at 6:00 PM. 11 
 12 
II. ANNOUNCEMENTS  13 
 14 
The City Planner announced 1) We are continuing to look for candidates to serve on the 15 
Planning Commission.  There are two (2) vacancies. 16 
 17 
Sherman announced   1) January was his first meeting as chair.   He called for a verbal “Aye” or 18 
“Nay” vote.  Based on his conversation with the City Planner, going forward the voting method 19 
for any motions on the floor will be by roll call. 20 
 21 
III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 22 
 23 
There were none. 24 
 25 
IV. PUBLIC HEARINGS 26 
 27 
Sherman announced that the following statement applies to all public hearings heard at 28 
tonight’s meeting. 29 
 30 
The testimony and evidence must be directed toward the code sections, citations, and criteria 31 
established by the Depoe Bay City staff report or other criteria in the code the party believes to 32 
apply to the subject request. The failure to raise an issue accompanied by statements or 33 
evidence sufficient to afford the Commission and the parties an opportunity to respond to the 34 
issue precludes an appeal to the State Land Use Board of Appeals on that issue. Application 35 
materials and other evidence relied upon by the applicant have been provided to the City and 36 
have been made available to the public. 37 
 38 
Sherman stated the procedures used for the public hearings heard tonight will be as follows:   39 
First, there will be a staff report.  The applicant will present his or her testimony.  There will be 40 
testimony from those in favor of the application. There will be testimony from those in opposition 41 
to the application.  There will be a rebuttal from the applicant.  He will then ask if there is anyone 42 
who would request that the record remain open for final additional written testimony.  If none, 43 
at that time the public hearing will be closed.  There will be Commission deliberation and 44 
decision.  There will be no further input from the public during deliberations. 45 
  46 



 

 
 
DBPC 02/14/24   Page 2 of 6 
 

A. Case File: #4-GEO-PC-23 (Continued from January 10, 2024) 1 
Applicant: C.A. White, Jr. 2 
Owner: Same as Applicant 3 
Application: Geotechnical Report Review 4 
Zone, Map and Tax Lot: Residential R-5, 09-11-05-DD Tax Lot #00300 5 

  Location: 565 NE Stanley Street 6 
 7 
Sherman asked if any Commissioner had ex-parte contact, conflict of interest, or bias to declare.    8 
 9 
Imbrie declared that he had ex-parte contact.  The City’s reviewer called him to ask questions. 10 
He didn’t realize until further into the conversation that it was regarding a project in Depoe Bay.  11 
He felt it best that he recuse himself. 12 
 13 
Discussion followed regarding the “Rule of Necessity.”  In conclusion, the Commission invoked 14 
the “Rule of Necessity.”  Imbrie would participate for the purpose of having a quorum.   He 15 
would be allowed to vote but not allowed to participate in any discussion or deliberations on 16 
the matter. 17 
 18 
There was no objection to any Planning Commissioner hearing the case. 19 
 20 
The City Planner summarized the staff report (copy attached to original of these minutes).  The 21 
Depoe Bay Salmon Enhancement Commission submitted a memo in support of the proposal 22 
(copy attached to original of these minutes). 23 
 24 
C.A. White, Jr. stated that their documents are complete, and they hope to receive approval.  25 
 26 
There was no testimony in favor or opposition to the application. 27 
 28 
There was no rebuttal from the applicant. 29 
 30 
There was no request to keep the record open. 31 
 32 
The public hearing was closed, and the Commission entered deliberations. 33 
 34 
Discussion included 1) Comfortable with the report and recommendations; 2) This is the first 35 
geologic hazard report subjected to third-party/peer review and the City Planner is satisfied that 36 
all the items were addressed; 3) Per Council direction last year as a matter of policy when an 37 
application falls within the corridor or appears to have an effect on North Depoe Bay Creek or 38 
South Depoe Bay Creek and their various tributaries the Salmon Enhancement Commission will 39 
be notified. 40 
 41 
Motion:  Moreland moved to approve Case File#4-GEO-PC-23 (Geotechnical Report Review) 42 
and adopt Conditions of Approval (1. thru 10.) as prepared by the City Planner and City 43 
Engineer.  Sherman seconded. 44 
  45 



 

 
 
DBPC 02/14/24   Page 3 of 6 
 

Vote:  Motion passed. 1 
 Ayes:  Moreland, Sherman 2 
 Abstain:  Imbrie 3 
 4 
V. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 5 
 6 
There was none. 7 
 8 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 9 
 10 

A. Case File #5-C1-PC-23 11 
Applicant: Bay View Investments, LLC 12 
Owner:  Same as Applicant 13 
Application:  Building Permit 14 
Zone, Map, and Tax Lot:  Retail Commercial C-1, 09-11-05-CA Tax Lot #17802 15 
 16 

The City Planner summarized the staff report (copy attached to original of these minutes).  No 17 
written testimony was received. 18 
 19 
Discussion followed regarding the procedure.  In conclusion, the City Planner advised the 20 
Commission that even though the proceeding was not a quasi-judicial public hearing if any 21 
Commissioner felt that they had ex-parte contact, conflict of interest, or bias it would be 22 
incumbent on them to disclose that information. 23 
 24 
Sherman asked if any Commissioner had ex-parte contact, conflict of interest, or bias to declare.  25 
There was none. 26 
 27 
Vinish “Vinny” Shaw, the applicant, stated that they were ready to build per the guidelines and 28 
conditions and hoped their application would be approved. 29 
 30 
There was no testimony in favor or opposition to the application. 31 
 32 
There was no rebuttal from the applicant. 33 
 34 
There was no request to keep the record open. 35 
 36 
The Commission entered deliberations. 37 
 38 
Discussion followed regarding 1) The project proposes to provide one (1) garage parking space 39 
and one (1) driveway parking space for each unit (4 parking spaces total), which satisfies the 40 
project’s off-street parking requirement; 2) The project will provide a 5-foot-wide sidewalk along 41 
NE Williams Avenue, as required pursuant to DBZO Section 152.031(H)(1); 3) How the City’s code 42 
enforcement program addresses complaints and/or issues regarding violations; 4) The City 43 
subscribes to a service that monitors tourist accommodations; how staff utilizes the on-line tool 44 
to do live inquiries. 45 
 46 
Motion:  Imbrie moved to approve Case File #5-C1-PC-23 (Building Permit) and adopt the 47 
Conditions of Approval (1. thru 7.) as prepared by the City Planner.   Moreland seconded. 48 



 

 
 
DBPC 02/14/24   Page 4 of 6 
 

Vote:  Motion passed. 1 
 Ayes:  Sherman, Imbrie, Moreland 2 

 3 
B. Case File #1-C1-PC-24 4 

Applicant: Harry Napier 5 
Owner:  Same as Applicant 6 
Application:  Building Permit 7 
Zone, Map, and Tax Lot:  Retail Commercial C-1, 09-11-08-BD Tax Lots #00900, #01000 8 

 9 
The City Planner summarized the staff report (copy attached to original of these minutes).  No 10 
written testimony was received. 11 
 12 
No ex-parte contact, conflict of interest, or bias was declared. 13 
 14 
Harry Napier stated that replacing the former pump canopy and installing the pumps at the 15 
front of the service station building is the last step in the process of restoring the 1930s Richfield 16 
gas station.  He shared photographs of a similar facility and gas pumps (copy attached to 17 
original of these minutes).  Testimony included:  1) He spoke with someone who worked for the 18 
company that removed the gas tanks from the subject property; 2) He removed the vent pipes 19 
when he had asphalt laid. 20 
 21 
Discussion followed regarding 1) The building looks fantastic and is an attractive addition to the 22 
South of the Bridge area; 2) Installing “No Gas” signage; 3) The fencing is permanent; 4) The 23 
restored Richfield pumps are expensive; 5) The existing awning will be removed. 24 
 25 
There was no testimony in favor or opposition to the application. 26 
 27 
There was no rebuttal from the applicant. 28 
 29 
There was no request to keep the record open. 30 
 31 
The Commission entered deliberations. 32 
 33 
The Commission agreed it is a wonderful use of the property. 34 
 35 
Motion:  Moreland moved to approve Case File #1-C1-PC-24 (Building Permit) and adopt the 36 
Conditions of Approval (1. thru 4.) as prepared by the City Planner.  Imbrie seconded. 37 
 38 

Vote:  Motion passed. 39 
 Ayes:  Imbrie, Moreland, Sherman 40 
 41 
VII. PUBLIC COMMENTS – ITEMS NOT ON TONIGHT’S AGENDA 42 
 43 
There was none. 44 
 45 
Sherman thanked everyone for attending a meeting on Valentine’s Day. 46 
 47 
VIII. CITY COUNCIL LIAISON REPORT 48 



 

 
 
DBPC 02/14/24   Page 5 of 6 
 

There was no request from the City Council that a liaison attend a meeting. 1 
 2 
The City Planner reminded the Commission that meetings can be attended in person or via 3 
Zoom. 4 
 5 
IX. CITY PLANNER AND CITY RECORDER REPORTS 6 
 7 
The City Planner summarized the January 2024, Land Use and Building Permit Activity Report 8 
(copy attached to the original of these minutes). 9 
 10 
Discussion followed regarding 1) Initiation of vacation of Cove View right-of-way (“Big Tire Park”) 11 
on North Point; 2) Inn at Arch Rock sign permit. 12 
 13 
The City Planner announced that he anticipates Whale Watch Phase II preliminary plan, Depoe 14 
Hills Phase 1 amendment, and a review of a wetland delineation for a new, single-family 15 
dwelling in the Little Whale Cove community to be on the March 13, 2024, Planning Commission 16 
agenda. 17 
 18 
Discussion followed regarding 1) The Depoe Hills Planned Development; and 2) Wetlands in Little 19 
Whale Cove. 20 
 21 
The Deputy City Recorder announced that the City Council will be interviewing a Planning 22 
Commission applicant at their next meeting. 23 
 24 
X. PLANNING COMMISSION CONCERNS 25 
 26 
Imbrie:  I’m embarrassed to admit that I am not familiar with the geologic hazard guidelines.  Do 27 
we have language that says that the report should include these geologic hazards but not 28 
limited to them?  So, if there is something that is not in the guidelines it is still addressed by the 29 
consultant.  Tonight was a very effective and streamlined meeting. 30 
 31 
The City Planner responded that the Depoe Bay Zoning Code has specific requirements for 32 
geologic hazard reports. 33 
 34 
Discussion followed regarding 1) The improved geologic hazards report review process; and 2) 35 
The last amendment to Development Guidelines Section 152.225 through 152.235 was in 2010. 36 
 37 
Moreland:  I have a general concern about the concept of the City vacating public access 38 
property.  Has anybody ever gotten hurt on that property?  Does the State’s decision regarding 39 
recreational immunity have anything to do with it? 40 
 41 
The City Planner cautioned the Commission from getting into a discussion about a specific piece 42 
of property.   He explained 1) In general vacation of rights of way there are a number of policies 43 
and provisions in the City’s Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Regulations on both sides; 2) The 44 
City Council has to weigh all those competing interests, goals, and objectives and determine 45 
what is in the best interest of the community as a whole; 3) The City has taken a wait and see 46 
approach to the matter of recreational immunity; 4) There is a bill that has been introduced in 47 
the short legislative session regarding recreational immunity; when the legislature convenes 48 



 

 
 
DBPC 02/14/24   Page 6 of 6 
 

again in  2025 the expectation is that there will be a more comprehensive bill regarding the 1 
matter. 2 
 3 
Sherman:  I will not be able to attend the November 13, 2024, Planning Commission meeting.  4 
The power outage brought emergency preparedness to the forefront.  Residents are used to 5 
power outages lasting a few hours or a day.  The City needs to be looking into resiliency for long-6 
term power outages, and wind and ice storms.   City water, sanitary sewer, and backup power 7 
need to be a priority in emergency preparedness planning.    8 
 9 
The City Planner announced:  1) The April meeting will be held on Wednesday, April 17th; 2) The 10 
July meeting date may need to be changed; 3) Another item that will be on the March 13th 11 
agenda is the planning process for reviewing the placement of emergency supply caches. 12 
 13 
Discussion followed regarding 1) Emergency short-term and long-term assembly areas; 2) 14 
Damage caused by fire sprinkler systems in the Portland area during the ice storm; 3) At the 15 
February 6, 2024, City Council meeting there was a presentation from the Little Whale Cove 16 
Community regarding renewable energy grant funding opportunities. 17 
 18 
XI. ADJOURN 19 
 20 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:20 PM. 21 
 22 
 23 
        _________________________________ 24 
                   Eric Sherman, Vice-President 25 
 26 
 27 
        28 
  Carla Duering, Deputy City Recorder 29 





APPS MISCELLANEOUS/#1-MSC-PC-23 HARVEY/STAFF REPORT
  Page 1 of 7 

 Miscellaneous Review Application 
 Case File: #1-MSC-PC-23 
 Date Filed: Dec. 18, 2023 
 Application Complete: Feb. 6, 2024 
 Meeting Date: Mar. 13, 2024, 6:00 p.m. 
 120-day Decision Date: Jun. 4, 2024 
 
STAFF REPORT 
Depoe Bay Planning Commission Action 
 
APPLICANT:  Melissa Munford/Simplicity Homes 
 
OWNER: Daniel J. & Vivian R. Harvey 
  
REQUEST:  The applicant requests Miscellaneous Review of a wetland delineation for a new, single-
family dwelling on SW Cormorant in the Little Whale Cove community. 

A. RELEVANT FACTS: 
 

1. Property Location: The subject property is located at 160 SW Cormorant, and is further identified 
on Lincoln County Assessor’s Map 09-11-17BC as Tax Lot 07300. 

 

 
 

2. Lot Size: The property totals 0.20 acres (8,870 sq. ft.). 

3. Zoning Designation:  R-4PD 

4. Plan Designation:  Residential 

5. Surrounding Land Use: The subject property is surrounded by developed and undeveloped 
residentially-zoned land in the R-4PD zone (Little Whale Cove No. 4) to all sides.  

6. Topography & Vegetation: The subject property is mostly flat, but with the southeasterly corner 
sloping down towards the unnamed creek on the adjacent common area lot (Tract B). The property 
is heavily vegetated.  

Map & Tax Lot No. 09-11-17BC-07300 



#1-MSC-PC-23 (Harvey) 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS MISCELLANEOUS/#1-MSC-PC-23 HARVEY/STAFF REPORT 
  Page 2 of 7 

7. Existing Structures: The subject property is undeveloped. Driveway access from SW Cormorant 
will be provided over a common area lot (Tract J) that serves an existing residence at 140 SW 
Cormorant, and an adjacent, undeveloped lot to the east (Lot 157). 

8. Utilities:  The following utilities currently serve the subject property: 
a. Sewer:  City sewer service. 
b. Water:  City water service. 
c. Electricity:  Central Lincoln PUD.  

9. Development Constraints:  
a. Riparian corridor for an unnamed creek draining into Little Whale Cove (according to Local 

Wetlands Inventory map). 
 

B. EVALUATION OF THE REQUEST: 
 1. Relevant Criteria: 

 DBZO Section 152.028: Residential Zone R-4 
 DBZO Section 152.042: Planned Development Zone P-D 
 DBZO Section 152.058: Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements  
 DBZO Section 152.072: Protection of Streams, Ponds, Wetlands, and Riparian Areas 
 
Complete descriptions of the relevant criteria are attached to this Staff report. 
 

 2. Applicant’s Proposal: The applicant proposes to construct a single-family dwelling on the site. 
The applicant initially intended to apply for a building permit to develop the lot. In the course of 
reviewing preliminary plans provided by the applicant, Staff determined that there were potential 
impacts upon the riparian corridor for an unnamed creek draining into Little Whale Cove, which 
is located just south of the property. The applicant submitted the application form and fee/deposit 
for Miscellaneous Review of the wetland delineation for the project on December 18, 2023, 
accompanied by: 

• Project site plans, elevations, and floor plan 
• Department of State Lands (DSL) off-site determination letter 

 
3. Public Testimony:  Notice of this public hearing was mailed to property owners within a 250-

foot radius of the subject property on February 21, 2024, and was published in the Lincoln County 
Leader on February 21, 2024. No written testimony was received at the time this report was 
completed. 



#1-MSC-PC-23 (Harvey) 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS MISCELLANEOUS/#1-MSC-PC-23 HARVEY/STAFF REPORT 
  Page 3 of 7 

 
Site Plan 

 
Elevations 



#1-MSC-PC-23 (Harvey) 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS MISCELLANEOUS/#1-MSC-PC-23 HARVEY/STAFF REPORT 
  Page 4 of 7 

 
Floor Plan 

 
C. SUMMARY AND STAFF ANALYSIS: The Planning Commission reviews the proposal for 

conformance with the appropriate standards of the Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance (DBZO).  To 
facilitate review, Staff provides the following analysis: 
1. R-4PD Residential Standards and Parking Requirements. The following table summarizes the 

project’s compliance with the development standards for the R-4 zone and the Little Whale Cove 
No. 4 planned development. For setback purposes, the property is treated as a flag lot, with the 
northerly property line abutting the access driveway (Tract J) designated as the front property line. 
The plans have been reviewed and preliminarily approved by the Little Whale Cove Architectural 
Committee. 
 

Standard Requirement Proposed 
Building Height Max. 35’-0” 19’-11” 

Front Yard Min. 20’-0” 20’-7¾” 
Rear Yard Min. 10’-0” 24’-10⅝” 

Side Yard (West) Min. 6’-7⅝” 36’-11⅞” 
Side Yard (East) Min. 6’-7⅝” 8’-2½” 

Off-Street Parking 2 spaces 2 spaces 

2. Riparian Corridor of Unnamed Creek. An unnamed creek draining into Little Whale Cove 
traverses the common area lot (Tract B) to the south of the subject property. The City’s local 
wetlands inventory (LWI) map identifies a riparian corridor for this creek that encompasses about 



#1-MSC-PC-23 (Harvey) 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS MISCELLANEOUS/#1-MSC-PC-23 HARVEY/STAFF REPORT 
  Page 5 of 7 

two-thirds of the southeasterly portion of the property, more or less. An excerpt from the LWI 
map is provided below, with the subject property outlined in red. 

In about September 2023, the applicant contacted DSL 
to initiate an “off-site determination” process to see if a 
formal wetland delineation was required to ensure that 
the project would maintain an adequate setback from the 
unnamed creek on Tract B to the south. On October 19, 
2023, DSL Staff determined that there might be 
wetlands on the property, and that a wetland 
determination or delineation might be needed prior to 
development of the property. A State permit is required 
for any project proposing fifty cubic yards (50 CY) or 
greater of fill, removal, or ground alteration within a 
wetland or waterway. A copy of DSL’s offsite 
determination was provided to the City with the project 
plans. 

Pursuant to DBZO Section 152.072(C), development proposals within a designated resource 
identified in the LWI are required to demonstrate how the proposed development will protect any 
streams, ponds, wetlands, or riparian areas on or adjacent to the subject property. Such protection 
may require greater property line setbacks than would otherwise be required under the base zoning 
standards. The Planning Commission shall review the application in a public hearing and 
determine if all of the applicable criteria are met. Demonstrating compliance requires the extent 
of any streams, ponds, wetland, or riparian areas to be delineated in the field by a person qualified 
to do such a delineation, following procedures accepted by the State of Oregon. Accordingly, the 
applicant had a wetland delineation prepared for the property (as well as the adjacent undeveloped 
Lot 157), and submitted this delineation report to DSL for review.  

 On February 6, 2024, Staff was advised that DSL determined that no State permit was required 
because any on- or off-site wetlands would not be disturbed by the proposed project. This was 
followed up with formal approval of the wetland delineation in the attached letter dated February 
15, 2024. DSL notes that its determination is predicated upon the condition that less than fifty 
cubic yards (<50 CY) of removal and/or fill will occur outside of the building footprint. Based 
upon DSL’s determination and the project plans, Staff believes that the proposed project is 
consistent with the provisions of DBZO Section 152.072. 

3. Erosion Control and Drainage Plan.  Prior to issuance of a building permit, the City’s Public 
Works Director shall review and approve an erosion control and drainage plan. 

4. Archaeological Resources.  All of the Depoe Bay planning area falls within the “high density” 
archaeological site density classification shown in the 1976 Lincoln County Statewide Inventory 
Historical Sites and Buildings, published by the Oregon State Historic Preservation Office, Parks 
and Recreation Branch, Department of Transportation. Although the property is not specifically 
identified as an archaeological site, the applicant needs to be aware of potential archaeological 
resources and take feasible action to minimize site disturbance and prevent irreversible loss of 
archaeological resources.  DBZO Section 152.075(B)(1) states that development on identified 
archaeological sites shall be conducted in a manner so as to minimize site disturbance and prevent 



#1-MSC-PC-23 (Harvey) 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS MISCELLANEOUS/#1-MSC-PC-23 HARVEY/STAFF REPORT 
  Page 6 of 7 

irreversible loss of archaeological resources.  This does not require the property owner to hire an 
archaeologist, however, it does require the property owner to be cognizant of archaeological 
resources when developing the site. 

5. Period of Validity. DSL’s approval of the wetland delineation report for this property is valid for 
five (5) years. Therefore, authorization to proceed under the Planning Commission’s review of 
this wetland delineation shall be void after five (5) years unless substantial construction pursuant 
thereto has taken place. 

D. CONCLUSIONS:  In evaluating the request, the Planning Commission bases its decision on 
compliance with the applicable code standards.  If the Commission finds the request fails to satisfy 
the ordinance standards, it can move to deny the request, articulating the basic conclusions and 
rationale for the decision and directing staff to prepare findings.   
 
If the Planning Commission finds the request satisfies the applicable criteria, it can move to approve 
the request and direct Staff to prepare findings.  In the event of an approval, Staff suggests the 
following conditions of approval: 
 
1. R-4PD Residential and Parking Standards. Development shall be accomplished in accordance 

with the submitted plan and in conformance with all R-4 Residential, the Little Whale Cove 
planned development, and parking standards. This includes a front yard of 20’-7¾”; a rear yard of 
24’-10⅝”; a westerly side yard of 36’-11⅞”; and an easterly side yard of 8’-2½”. The approved 
building height is 19’-11”. A minimum 2 on-site parking spaces shall be provided (2 garage spaces 
and 2 driveway spaces proposed). 

2. Building Permit. The applicant shall obtain a valid building permit prior to commencement of 
construction. 

3. Riparian Corridor of Unnamed Creek. An unnamed creek draining into Little Whale Cove 
traverses the common area lot (Tract B) to the south of the subject property. The City’s local 
wetlands inventory (LWI) identifies a riparian corridor that encompasses about two-thirds of the 
southeasterly portion of the property. In about September 2023, the applicant contacted the Oregon 
Department of State Lands (DSL) to initiate an “off-site determination” for the property. On 
October 19, 2023, DSL determined that there might be wetlands on the property, and that a wetland 
determination or delineation might be needed prior to development. A State permit is required for 
any project proposing fifty cubic yards (50 CY) or greater of fill, removal, or ground alteration 
within a wetland or waterway. Pursuant to DBZO Section 152.072(C), development proposals 
within a designated resource identified in the LWI are required to demonstrate how the proposed 
development will protect any streams, ponds, wetlands, or riparian areas on or adjacent to the 
subject property, with the Planning Commission reviewing the application in a public hearing and 
determining if all of the applicable criteria are met. Demonstrating compliance requires the extent 
of any streams, ponds, wetland, or riparian areas to be delineated in the field by a person qualified 
to do such a delineation, following procedures accepted by the State of Oregon. Accordingly, the 
applicant had a wetland delineation prepared for the property, and submitted this delineation report 
to DSL for review. On February 15, 2024, DSL issued formal approval of the wetland delineation 
report.   

4. Erosion Control and Drainage Plan. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the City’s Public 
Works Director shall review and approve an erosion control and drainage plan. 



#1-MSC-PC-23 (Harvey) 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting  
 

 
APPS MISCELLANEOUS/#1-MSC-PC-23 HARVEY/STAFF REPORT 
  Page 7 of 7 

5. Department of State Lands Recommendations. The Department of State Lands’ approval is 
conditioned upon the following: 

 a. Less than fifty cubic yards (<50 CY) of removal and/or fill is allowed to occur outside of the 
building footprint. If more than fifty cubic yards (≥50 CY) of removal and/or fill occurs outside 
the house footprint during construction, a wetland delineation and a State permit may be 
required. 

6. Archaeological Resources.  Development shall be conducted in a manner so as to minimize site 
disturbance and prevent irreversible loss of archaeological resources. Before and during 
excavation, any discovery of archaeological resources shall mean that the applicant shall cease 
excavation activities, notify the State Historic Preservation Office and Confederated Tribe of 
Siletz Indians, and meet State statutes before proceeding. 

 
7. Period of Validity. This approval shall be null void after five (5) years from the effective date of 

the Planning Commission’s approval unless substantial construction pursuant thereto has taken 
place. 

Submitted by, 

 
Kit Fox, AICP 
City Planner 
 
Attachments: Miscellaneous review and building permit application forms 
    Project site plan, floor plan, and elevations 
    October 19, 2023, DSL Off-Site Determination 
    February 15, 2024, DSL approval of Wetland Delineation Report for Lots 156 and 157, 

Little Whale Cove No. 4 
    Relevant DBZO criteria: 

• Section 152.028: Residential Zone R-4 
• Section 152.042: Planned Development Zone P-D 
• Section 152.058: Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements 
• Section 152.072: Protections, of Streams. Ponds, Wetlands, and Riparian Areas 

 





Lincoln County 
Building Division 
210 SW 2nd St 
Newport, OR 97365 
lincolncountybldgdiv@co.lincoln.or.us
(541) 265-4192    Fax (541) 265-6945

WORK SITE INFORMATION & LOCATION:   
ADDRESS: 

MAP AND TAX LOT:

CATEGORY OF CONSTRUCTION: 
○Single Family  ○Multi-Family

ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR INSTALLATION 

Business Name: 

Address: 

City/State/Zip: 

Phone: Fax: 

Email: 

CCB: BCD: 

Signing Supervisors Name: 
Lic No: 
MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR INSTALLATION 

Business Name: 

Address: 

City/State/Zip: 

Phone:            Fax: 
Email: 

CCB Lic No: 

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR INSTALLATION 

Business Name: 

Address: 

City/State/Zip: 

Phone: Fax: 

Email: 

CCB: BCD: JP# 

RESIDENTIAL COMBO BUILDING 
APPLICATION 

DEPARTMENT USE ONLY 
Permit No: 

Date Issued: By: 

   PROPERTY OWNER: 
 Name: 

 Full Mailing Address: 

 City: State: Zip:
 Phone: 

 Email: 

 CONTRACTOR INSTALLATION 
 Same as applicant?  ○Yes    ○No 

 Business Name: 

 Address: 

 City/State/Zip: 

 Phone: Fax: 
E-mail:

 CCB license no.: 

Contact Name: Phone: 
 REQUIRED DOCUMENTS FOR APPLICATION
I have downloaded and reviewed the plans and documents Checklist 
(Initials): __________ 

 SUBMITTAL METHOD FOR PLANS AND DOCS 
○ Paper ○Electronic

Energy Measures submitted?  □Yes   □No

  Job Description: 

Page 1 of 3 

Additional Permits listed below need additional permits: 

Decks Over 30":   □Yes    □No

Detached Garage:  □Yes    □No

■

TBD SW CORMORANT, LOT #156; 
LITTLE WHALE COVE-DEPOE BAY, OR 97341

91117BC-7300

GARNER ELECTRIC, INC.
2890 SE BROOKWOOD AVENUE

HILLSBORO, OR 97123
503-648-4552

argarnerelectric.com

121159
CHARLIE GARNER

6670S

PACIFIC AIR COMFORT INC.

PO BOX 790

ROSEBURG, OR 97470

541-672-6934

lisa@pacificcomfort.com

39237

BROERSMA PLUMBING LLC.

PO BOX 822589

VANCOUVER, WA 98682

360-977-9071
broersmaplumbing@comcast.net

192985

DANIEL & VIVIAN HARVEY

SIMPLICITY HOMES
2363 SW GLACIER PLACE

REDMOND, OR 97756

mmunford@simplicity-homes.com

185357

MELISSA MUNFORD

541-255-3385

MM

NEW SINGLE-FAMILY DWELLING



STRUCTURE: PLUMBING:
Valuation*: 

Water Service Total linear feet: 
Total square footage: 

(Dwelling & attached garage): Sanitary Sewer Total linear feet: 
Building Height: 

MECHANICAL:No. of Bathrooms: 
Type of fuel: 

□Boiler  □Electric   □Natural Gas  □LPG  □Oil

□Geothermal   □Other

Total square footage of Decks/
porches/covered patios: 

QTY 

Air handler unit up to 10,000 cfm: 

Habitable sq ft: 

Air handler unit more 
than 10,000 cfm:

Non Habitable sq ft: 

Furnace up to 100,000 BTU: 
Furnace greater than 100,000 BTU: 
Suspended heater, recessed wall 
heater or floor mounted unit heater: 

Temporary service 200 amp or less:

Heat Pump: 

OTHER FUEL APPLIANCES: Air Conditioner: 

QTY Floor Furnace, including vent: 

Wood/pellet stove: Evap cooler other than portable: 

Gas or wood fire place/insert: Mini Split: 

Chimney/liner/flue/vent: EXHAUST AND VENTILATION:
Water heater: QTY

Range hood/other kitchen equipment: 

Other ( Description): Appliance vent installation not 
included in appliance permit: 

FUEL PIPING: Attic/Crawl space fans: 

QTY
Flue vent for water heater or gas 
fireplace:

Gas piping outlets, Four or less 
connections:

Clothes dryer exhaust: 

Gas piping outlets, more than four (per 
outlet):

Other exhaust/ventilation: 

Page 2 of 3 

Oil tank/gas/diesel generators:

ELECTRICAL:
Total Square Footage:
Limited Energy:

Other (Garage panels, extra circuits in 
detached garage etc.):

$307,202.00

2,173

407

19'-11"

2

192

1,574
599

1,574

200

N/A

1

50'

50'

X

1

1

1

4

1



 Rev. 1/2023 

NOTICES
Expiration of application: This application is valid for 180 days after it has been accepted as complete. 
Inspections required: Approved county inspections must be completed before the work performed is 
enclosed. 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS
Correct information: I hereby certify I have read and examined this application and know the same to be true 
and correct. All provisions of laws and ordinances governing this type of work will be complied with whether 
specified herein or not. 

Copyright release for government entities: I hereby grant permission to the County of Lincoln to copy, in 
whole or part, drawings and all other materials submitted by me, my agents, or representatives. This grant of 
permission extends to all copies needed for administration of the Counties regulatory, administrative, and legal 
functions, including sharing of information with other governmental entities. 

Indemnity: I, the permit applicant, shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the County of Lincoln, its 
officers, employees and agents from any and all claims arising out of or in connection with work done under 
this permit. 

Owner permission: I have the legal right or permission from any property owner whose property is affected by 
the work covered under this permit to: 1) enter the property; 2) perform the work covered under this permit; 3) 
leave structures on or in the affected property. The issuance of this permit shall not be construed as permission 
or a grant of a legal right to enter upon or remain on any property affected by the work covered under this 
permit.

Electronic signature certification: By attaching an electronic signature (whether typed, graphical or free form) 
I certify herein that I have read, understood and confirm all the statements listed above and throughout the 
application form. 

I agree (initials):________ 

Authorized Signature: ________________________ Print Name: _______________________  Date:___________ 

Page 3 of 3 

MM

MEISSA MUNFORD 11/28/2023:::::::::::::::::::::::XX_ __~_�lmnuvsrg_nh_vefu�hkgg_smk_jkgg_venh_vsr_usjxoh_k�g_�l��_ushvfh_sr_�l��_un{fvokhv_wnjj~_��okhv_wnjj_qjxn�_|kvwkkh_mjsqk}_fh_uso�~�fhi¥_}khsvkg_hvkr�_§̈©_sm�k_fsh_fg_rkyxfrkvfsh_fhgvnjjk}qjfk}_vs_k�fgv_msr_vekronj_|vl{nxjvk}_ukfjnvk_sm_vek_k�v



 Rev. 9-8-2022 

RESIDENTIAL PLAN 
SUBMITTAL INTAKE CHECKLIST 

Lincoln County Building Division
210 SW 2nd Street 
Newport, OR  97365
Phone: 541-265-4192 ▪  Fax: 541-265-6945 
Email: lincolncountybldgdiv@co.lincoln.or.us

DEPARTMENT USE ONLY 

Permit #:_____________________________ 
County: ______________________________ 
By: _________________ Date: ____________ 

PROJECT TYPE AND APPLICABLE CODE EDITION 
□ New residence □ New, detached accessory structure □ Other:
□ Alteration/addition to existing

residence
□ Alteration/Addition to existing

detached accessory structure
□ Deck □ Repair ORSC Edition: 

MINIMAL SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS CHECKLIST FOR PLAN REVIEW 
Provided N/A 

1. □ □ Planning/Zoning, water/sewer approval. 

2. □ □ 
Site/Plot Plan. (must be signed/stamped by Planning) Show the size and location of new construction and existing 
structures on the site and distances from lot lines. Reference ORSC Section R106.2. 

3. □ □ 

One complete set of Construction Documents.  Construction documents must be of sufficient clarity to indicate the 
location, site specific design criteria per Table R301.2(1),  nature and extent of the work proposed and show in detail 
conformity to the provisions of the code, relevant laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations. Reference ORSC Section 
R106.1.1. 

4. □ □ 
Foundation Plan. Provide plan dimensions, footing sizes, posts, anchor bolts, hold-downs, associated details, including 
reinforcement requirements and foundation vent locations. Reference ORSC Chapter 4. 

5. □ □ 
Floor Plans. Provide dimensions, room identification, door size, window size, location of smoke and carbon 
monoxide alarms, water heater, furnace, ventilation fans, plumbing fixtures, and balconies and decks that are 30 
inches above grade. Reference ORSC Chapter 5. 

6. □ □ 

Cross sections and details. Show all framing members such as floor beams, headers, joists, sub-floor, wall construction, 
and roof construction. More than one cross section may be required to clearly portray construction. Show all wall and 
roof sheathing, roofing, roof slope, ceiling height, siding material, footings and foundation, stairs, fireplace 
construction, thermal insulation, etc. Reference ORSC Section R106.1.1. 

7. □ □ 
Elevation Views. Provide dimensions, including but not limited to, floor and roof eave and ridge elevations, opening 
locations, and finish grade profile. Reference ORSC Section R106.1.1. 

8. □ □ 

Wall Bracing. Provide engineered or prescriptive lateral calculations and plans showing braced wall lines, bracing 
method, location and length of braced wall panels, and associated connections to roof, floor, and foundation. Lateral 
design details and connections shall be incorporated into the plans. Reference ORSC Sections R106.1.3, R602.10, 
R301.1.3. See https://www.oregon.gov/bcd/codes-stand/Pages/residential-structures.aspx for prescriptive wall bracing 
calculators. 

9. □ □ 
Floor/Roof Framing Plans. Provide a plan for each roof and floor framing assembly that shows all structural framing 
members and supports, their sizes, spacing, species, grade, bearing locations, method of attachment (e.g. hardware), 
roof pitch, and attic ventilation requirements. Reference ORSC Chapter 5 and Chapter 8. 

10. □ □ 
Design Calculations. Provide for all structural load carrying members that are not based on prescriptive span tables in 
the code.  Reference ORSC Section R301.1.3. 

11. □ □ 
Floor and/or Roof Trusses. Provide the design layout plan with truss details and calculations that have been stamped 
by an Oregon licensed engineer. Reference ORSC Sections R502.11 and R802.10. 

12. □ □ 

Energy Code Compliance. Show compliance with Chapter 11 Energy Efficiency, identifying the additional Envelope 
Enhancement Measure and Conservation Measure chosen from Table N1101.1(2) (when applicable).  Reference ORSC 
Chapter 11.  

Applicant: ____________________________________________________________________  Date: ______________  

Building Codes Services employee: ________________________________________________  Date: ______________  

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

SIMPLICITY HOMES - MELISSA MUNFORD 11/28/2023



Information Notice to Owners About
Construction Responsibilities

 (ORS 701.325 (3)) 

f/property_owner adopted 9-2016 This Copy for Permit 

Homeowners acting as their own general contractors to construct a new home 
or make a substantial improvement to an existing structure, can prevent many problems 

by being aware of the following responsibilities:

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTORS BOARD
PO Box 14140, Salem, OR  97309-5052

Telephone: 503-378-4621 – Fax: 503-373-2007
Website Address: www.oregon.gov/ccb

l	Homeowners who use labor provided by workers not licensed by the Construction Contractors 
Board, may be considered an employer, and the workers who provide the labor may be considered 
employees. As an employer, you must comply with the following:

l	Oregon’s Withholding Tax Law: Employers must withhold income taxes from employee wages 
at the time employees are paid. You will be liable for the tax payments even if you don’t actually 
withhold the tax from your employees. For more information, call the Department of Revenue at 
503-378-4988.

l	Unemployment Insurance Tax: Employers are required to pay a tax for unemployment insurance 
purposes on the wages of all employees. For more information, call the Oregon Employment 
Department at 503-947-1488.

l	Oregon’s Business Identification Number (BIN): is a combined number for both Oregon 
Withholding and Unemployment Insurance Tax. To file for a BIN, go online to the Oregon Business 
Registry. For questions, call 503-945-8091.

l	Workers Compensation Insurance: Employers are subject to the Oregon Workers Compensation 
Law, and must obtain Workers Compensation Insurance for their employees. If you fail to obtain 
Workers Compensation Insurance, you could be subject to penalties and be liable for all claim costs  
if one of your workers is injured on the job. For more information, call the Workers Compensation 
Division at the Department of Consumer and Business Services at 800-452-0288.

l	 Tax Withholding: Employers must withhold Social Security Tax and Federal Income Tax from 
employee wages. You may be liable for the tax payment, even if you didn’t actually withhold the tax.  
For a Federal EIN number, go online to www.irs.gov.

Other Responsibilities of Homeowners:

l		Code Compliance: As the permit holder for a construction project, the homeowner is responsible 
for notifying building officials at the appropriate times, so that the required inspections can be  
performed. Homeowners are also responsible for resolving any failure to meet code requirements 
that may be found through inspections. 

l		Property Damage and Liability Insurance: Homeowners acting as their own contractors should 
contact their insurance agent to ensure adequate insurance coverage for accidents and omissions, 
such as falling tools, paint overspray, water damage from pipe punctures, fire, or work that must be 
redone. Liability Insurance must be sufficient to cover injuries to persons on the job site who are not 
otherwise covered as employees by Workers Compensation Insurance.

l		Expertise: Homeowners should make sure they have the skills to act as their own general 
contractor, and the expertise required to coordinate the work of both rough-in and finish trades.



I own, reside in, or will reside in the completed structure and my general contractor is:

  

 Name   CCB#  Expiration Date

I will inform my general contractor that all subcontractors who work on the structure must be  
licensed with the Construction Contractors Board.

or 

I will be performing work on property I own, a residence that I reside in, or a residence that I will 
reside in. If I hire subcontractors, I will hire only subcontractors licensed with the Construction 
Contractors Board. If I change my mind and hire a general contractor, I will select a contractor 
who is licensed with the CCB and will immediately give the name of the contractor to the office 
issuing this Building Permit.

 Print Name of Permit Applicant   

 Signature of Permit Applicant   Date

Property Owner Statement
Regarding Construction Responsibilities

Oregon Law requires residential construction permit applicants who are not licensed with the 
Construction Contractors Board to sign the following statement before a building permit can be 
issued. (ORS 701.325 (2))

This statement is required for residential building, electrical, mechanical, and plumbing permits.  
Licensed architect and engineer applicants, exempt from licensing under ORS 701.010 (7), need not 
submit this statement. This statement will be filed with the permit.

Please check the appropriate box:

Permit #:

Address:

Issued by: Date:

I have read and understand the Information Notice to Homeowners About Construction Responsibilities, 
and I hereby certify that the information on this homeowner statement is true and accurate.

This Copy for Permit Offices

X

SIMPLICITY HOMES 185357 1/30/2025

X

MELISSA MUNFORD

11/28/2023:::::::::::::::::::::::XX_ __~_�lmnuvsrg_nh_vefu�hkgg_smk_jkgg_venh_vsr_usjxoh_k�g_�l��_ushvfh_sr_�l��_un{fvokhv_wnjj~_��okhv_wnjj_qjxn�_|kvwkkh_mjsqk}_fh_uso�~�fhi¥_}khsvkg_hvkr�_§̈©_sm�k_fsh_fg_rkyxfrkvfsh_fhgvnjjk}qjfk}_vs_k�fgv_msr_vekronj_|vl{nxjvk}_ukfjnvk_sm_vek_k�v



SECTION A, SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT CHARGES/CONNECTION FEES  
“This institution is an equal opportunity provider” 

 
APPLICANT NAME:              
 
MAILING ADDRESS:             
 
TELEPHONE:    HOME:        WORK:       
 
OWNERS’S NAME, IF OTHER THAN APPLICANT:         
 
PROPERTY ADDRESS:             
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:   (EXAMPLE:  T 9  R  11   SEC  5AA   TAX LOT  100 ) 

 

T     R     SEC      TAX  LOT        
 
DESCRIBE PROPOSED USE/CONNECTION AND PROPOSED DATE OF CONNECTION: 
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
1.  CITY DOES NOT INSTALL SEWER:   DO YOU WISH CITY TO INSTALL WATER SERVICE ? 
       (IF AGREEMENT AVAILABLE)      YES         NO      
2.  CONNECTION FEES MUST BE PAID AT TIME BUILDING PERMIT IS FILED. 
3.  UPON APPROVAL OF SERVICE CONNECTION, PLEASE NOTIFY CITY HALL  ONE WEEK IN ADVANCE OF 

DESIRED DATE OF CONNECTION. 
          

“FOR OFFICE USE ONLY”  

COMMENTS/REQUIREMENTS FOR SERVICE CONNECTIONS TO PROPERTY: 
 
 
CITY WATER SERVICE INSTALLATION AGREEMENT AVAILABLE?   YES    NO     
 
               INSPECT  
     TYPE  SDC CHARGE  AND/OR INSTALL       TOTAL 
 
WATER SERVICE              
 
SEWER SERVICE              
 
STORM DRAIN             
 
TRANSPORTATION             
 
PARKS                     
 
OTHER (CULVERT?)             
(Per Res. No. 183 and Ord. No. 61) 

 
GRAND TOTAL             
 
SIGNATURE:                  DATE:     

 

MELISSA MUNFORD

2363 SW GLACIER PLACE; REDMOND, OR 97756

DANIEL & VIVIAN HARVEY

TBD SW CORMORANT, LOT 156; LITTLE WHALE COVE- DEPOE BAY, OR 97341

9S 11W 17 91117BC-7300

NEW SINGLE FAMILY DWELLING CONNECTION

X



SDC's (System Development Charges) 
City of Depoe Bay 

Refer to Ordinance # 264 (adopted 6/21/11, eff 7/1/11) 

ENR-Construction Cost Index 04/20-03/21 = 2.95% 

Rev. October 27, 2021 
Eff. October 27,2021 

Rates remain for Water and Sewer SDCs the 2020 rates- New Rate Study was conducted 10-2021 and review of those 
rates are in the 90 day public hearing and will be used and published after that hearing. (February 15, 2022) 

Water SOC: $ 6,661/EOU $ 3,120/EOU plus applicable inspection/installation fees 
see below 

Sewer SOC: $ 5,407/EOU $ 4,343/EDU plus applicable insdection/installation fees 
see below 

Storm Orain SOC: $1,788/EOU 

Parks SOC: $ 771/EOU 

Transportation SOC: See attached chart 

***Note to Staff: View of the Bay Lots 1 thru 28 (Phase I) each are credited $160.71 toward the Transportation SDC. 
(Ex: SDC for a Single Family Dwelling is $ 3,141.29) 

Water & Sewer Inspection/ Installation Charges 
Refer to Resolution # 234 
CPI-U - Portland-Salem 04/2020-03/2021 = 1.6% 

Charges for service connections, in addition to SDC's are as follows: 

SEWER: Inspection Only $ 295 

WATER: 5/8" or %" Service: 
Inspection Only, includes meter $ 894 
Inspection & Installation $ 1,586 

WATER: 1" Service 
Inspection Only, includes meter $ 1,164 
Inspection & Installation $ 1,856 

Water: 1.5" Service 
Inspection Only, includes meter $ 1,220 
Inspection & Installation $ 1,912 

WATER: 2" Service 
Inspection Only, includes meter $ 2,338 
Inspection & Installation $ 3,030 

WATER: 3",4" or larger service connections: 

Rev. 10/2021 

Due to the infrequency of these connections the city does not stock these 
materials, costs shall be based upon actual cost at the time of application. 
'This institution is an equal opportunity provider" 



LAND USE 

(ITE CLASS) 

RESIDENTIAL 

Single Family Detached (210) 

Apartment (220) 

Condominium Townhouse(230) 

Mobile Home Park (240) 

Planned Unit Dev. (270) 

Hotel (310) 

Suites Hotel (311) 

Motel (320) 

Campground/RV Park (416) 

COMMERCIAL/INDUSTRIAL 

Marina (420) 

General Light Industrial (110) 

General Heavy Industrial (120) 

Industrial Park (130) 

Manufacturing (140) 

Warehousing (150) 

Mini Storage (151) 

Elementary School (520) 

Middle School/Jr High (522) 

High School (530) 

Jr/Community College (540) 

University (550) 

Day Care (565) 

Nursing Home (620) 

Clinic (630) 

General Office (710) 

Medical/Dental Office (720) 

Specialty Retail Center (814) 

Building Materials/Lumber(812) 

Discount Store (815) 

Hardware/Paint (816) 

Nursery/Garden Center (817) 

Shopping Center (820) 

Restaurant (831) 

High Turnover Restaurant(832) 

Fast Food w/Drive Thru (834) 

Quick Lube (837) 

Car Sales (841) 

Auto Parts (843) 

Fuel Service Station (844) 

Fuel Service w/Market (845) 

Fuel Svc w/Mkt/Car Wash(846) 

Car Wash (847) 

Supermarket (850) 

Convenience Market (851) 

Discount Club (861) 

Pharmacy/Drugstore (880) 

Drive In Bank (912) 

CITY OF DEPOE BAY 
TRANSPORTATION SOC FEE SCHEDULE 

Rev. 10/1/2021 

ITE TRIP 

RATE 

9.57 

6.63 

5.86 

4.81 

7.5 

8.92 

6.24 

9.11 

9.11 

2.96 

6.97 

1.5 

6.96 

3.82 

4.96 

2.5 

1.02 

1.45 

1.79 

1.54 

2.38 

79.26 

2.61 

31.45 

11.01 

36.13 

40.67 

39.71 

56.63 

51.29 

36.08 

42.92 

89 .95 

130.34 

496.12 

40 

67.5 

61.91 

168.56 

162.78 

152.84 

5.79 

111.51 

737.99 

41.8 

90.06 

265.21 

UNITS PASS BY DEPOE BAY TRIP 

BASIS VOL. TRIP RATE COST 

per unit 

per unit 

per unit 

per space 

per unit 

per room 

per room 

per room 

per space 

per berth 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

student 

student 

student 

student 

student 

1,000 SF 

per bed 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

svc pos. 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

fuel pos. 

fuel pos. 

fuel pos. 

wash stall 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

1,000 SF 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

40% 

40% 

40% 

40% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

0% 

80% 

40% 

20% 

20% 

20% 

40% 

20% 

40% 

40% 

40% 

40% 

20% 

40% 

80% 

40% 

20% 

40% 

80% 

80% 

80% 

80% 

40% 

80% 

40% 

40% 

80% 

9.57 

6.63 

5.86 

4.81 

7.5 

5.35 

3.74 

5.47 

5.47 

2.96 

6.97 

1.5 

6.96 

3.82 

4.96 

2.5 

1.02 

1.45 

1.79 

1.54 

2.38 

15.85 

1.57 

25.16 

8.8 

28.9 

24.4 

31.77 

33.98 

41.03 

21.65 

25.75 

71.97 

78.2 

99.22 

24 

30 

37.15 

33.71 

32.56 

30.57 

1.16 

66.91 

147.6 

25.08 

54.04 

53.04 

364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 

364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 

364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 

364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 

364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 
364.00 $ 

SDC 

CHARGE 

3,483 

2,413 

2,133 

1,751 

2,730 

1,947 

1,361 

1,991 

1,991 

1,077 

2,537 

546 

2,533 

1,390 

1,805 

910 

371 

528 

652 

561 

866 

5,769 

571 

9,158 

3,203 

10,520 

8,882 

11,564 

12,369 

14,935 

7,881 

9,373 

26,197 

28,465 

36,116 

8,736 

10,920 

13,523 

12,270 

11,852 

11,127 

422 

24,355 

53,726 

9,129 

19,671 

19,307 



SECTION B, BUILDING PERMIT REVIEW FEE 

 
 

 
BY AUTHORITY OF CITY OF DEPOE BAY ORDINANCE #245, A DEVELOPMENT REVIEW 
FEE IS ASSESSED WITH EACH BUILDING PERMIT APPLICATION FOR CONSTRUCTION 
WITHIN THE CITY.  THIS FEE IS DETERMINED BY THE GROSS SQUARE FOOTAGE OF 
THE AREA OF NEW CONSTRUCTION OR RECONSTRUCTION COVERED BY THE 
PERMIT.  GROSS SQUARE FOOTAGE IS DETERMINED BY EXTERIOR DIMENSIONS OF 
EACH TYPE OF CONSTRUCTION FOR WHICH A PERMIT IS SOUGHT.  PLEASE NOTE 
GROSS SQUARE FOOTAGE DOES INCLUDE DECKS, GARAGES, PORCHES, ETC. 
 
 
THE FEE SHALL BE DETERMINED BY THE FOLLOWING SCHEDULE: 
 
  
 
             
       SQUARE 
TYPE OF CONSTRUCTION   FOOTAGE  FEE  TOTAL____  
 
 
RESIDENTIAL:  NEW OR REMODEL  _________          X  $.04  __________ 
 
 
COMMERCIAL:  NEW OR REMODEL  _________          X  $.07  __________ 
 
 

* * * MINIMUM FEE:  $10.00 * * * 
 
 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE ABOVE STATEMENTS OF SQUARE FOOTAGE ARE 
TRUE AND ACCURATE 
 
       
             ____ 
                             APPLICANT 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

“This institution is an equal opportunity provider” 

1,574 62.96

MELISSA MUNFORD



CITY OF DEPOE BAY 
 

SINGLE FAMILY DWELLING 
STANDARD CERTIFICATION FORM 

 
Applicant/Owner:  ______________________________________________________ 
 
Subject Property Map and Tax Lot #:  ______________________________________ 
 
Section 152.068 Design Features for Single-Family Dwellings (added 12/6/93-ORD 194) 
 
1.  All single-family dwellings located within a residential zone (except for manufactured 

homes located within a manufactured home subdivision or a ‘mobile home park’) 
shall utilize at least two of the following design features:  

 
Please indicate which two or more features will be provided with the proposed 
dwelling: 
 

a.    Dormers   
b.    Recessed entries 
c.    Cupolas 
d.    Bay or bow windows 
e.    Window shutters 
f.    Off-sets on building face or roof (minimum 12 inches) 
g.    Gables 
h.    Covered porch entry or unenclosed deck 
i.    Pillars or posts 
j.    Tile, shake or elongated (not corrugated) metal roofing 
k.    Horizontal lap siding or shakes. 

 
2.  Individual lots shall be residentially landscaped and maintained similar to 

surrounding neighborhood development.  Use of native vegetation shall be 
encouraged wherever possible. 

 
3.  A driveway having a durable and dustless surface shall be provided. 
 
4.  Single-family dwellings and other improvements shall be developed in compliance 

with applicable provisions set forth in the City Zoning Ordinance. 
 
As the Applicant for a Building Permit to construct a new single family dwelling, I 
hereby certify that the proposed dwelling will comply with the applicable 
standards of DBZO Section 152.068. 
 
 
_______________________________________________ 

Signature of Applicant
__________________ 

Date 

SIMPLICITY HOMES - MELISSA MUNFORD

91117BC-7300

X

X

11/28/2023:::::::::::::::::::::::XX_ __~_�lmnuvsrg_nh_vefu�hkgg_smk_jkgg_venh_vsr_usjxoh_k�g_�l��_ushvfh_sr_�l��_un{fvokhv_wnjj~_��okhv_wnjj_qjxn�_|kvwkkh_mjsqk}_fh_uso�~�fhi¥_}khsvkg_hvkr�_§̈©_sm�k_fsh_fg_rkyxfrkvfsh_fhgvnjjk}qjfk}_vs_k�fgv_msr_vekronj_|vl{nxjvk}_ukfjnvk_sm_vek_k�v



PLOT P;LAN RE_QUIREMENTS 

Using Your Own Dimensions Show or Identify: 

- All Streets· by Name 
- All Easements -
-All Setbacks (House & Drainfield) 
-All Porches & Decks 
-All Additions 
·A~l Existing Structures 
-Dzive",'ay 
·~ront of House 
-Drainfield Location 
-Drainpipe Lengths 

A TYPICAL PLOT PLAN 

~ 12~_ 

10· EASEMENT 

- -

DRIVEWAY 

EXISTING HOUSE 

FROHTOF 
HOUSE EXISTING 

PORCH 

28 

-Replacement Drainfield Locatio 
-Septic Tank Location 
-Distribution. Box Location 
-All Property Line Dimensions 
-Scale 
-North Arrow 
-Owner Name & Address 
-Legal Description 

. t -
13 

~ 

10 

WOR KSHOP 

..,0 
:» 0 z- I ~ 

IS 

.I. ... .; 0 --------:l~ 

~I "'«1:' 
~ 

-
SEPTIC T NEW 
TANK DECK 

~~~11 .. 
10 

I I 
I I 
I k-IO 
I I 

:" 1~!5 It ~ 

I r - -, OISTR IBlJTlON 

I ~IO~ :10 BOX 

4~_-:-_L.., 2:)1 
L ____ ___ ...!S __ -r:,.J 

REP 
I I 

LACEhtENT I 
N FIEu) I 

EXISTING ORAl" I lof I FlELO jlO I ~ 

L-------;oL---T~· 
10 

IJ... l2!5 . 

PLOT PLAN 

OWNER: JOHN DOE 
107 NORTH 45 th AVE. 

LEGAL ~EWPoRr.oR.97365 
DESCRIPTION: T..II R_II SEc.. e 

TAX LOT 5000 

ORAl 

I - __ 20 _____ ...1 r 

~ 
HORTH 



11/15/23, 9:03 AM Local Utilities

https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/print/3247 1/1

Published on Depoe Bay Oregon (https://www.cityofdepoebay.org)

Local Utilities
Utility Companies Serving Depoe Bay

Utility Name & Website Address Phone Number

Cable TV Astound Broadband [1]
646 SE Hwy 101
Depoe Bay, OR 97341 800-829-2225

Electricity Central Lincoln PUD [2]
2129 N Coast Hwy
Newport, OR 97365 541-265-3211

Garbage North Lincoln Sanitary [3]
1726 SE Hwy 101
Lincoln City, OR 97367 541-994-5555

Internet (cable broadband) Astound Broadband [1]
646 SE Hwy 101
Depoe Bay, OR 97341 800-829-2225

Internet (DSL broadband) CenturyLink [4]
6475 Gleneden Beach Loop
Lincoln City, OR 97367

800-788-3500
541-996-6945

Internet (fiber optic) Astound Broadband [5]
151 E Olive St.
Newport, OR 97365 541-574-9999

Internet (satellite) Viasat Satellite Internet [6]
6155 El Camino Real
Carlsbad, CA, 92009 760-476-2200

Internet (research resource) Find Internet by Address [7]   

Natural Gas NorthWest Natural [8]
1405 SW Hwy 101
Lincoln City, OR 97367 541-994-2111

Post Office United States Postal Service [9]
486 NE Hwy 101
Depoe Bay, OR 97341 541-765-2480

Telephone CenturyLink [10]
6475 Gleneden Beach Loop
Lincoln City, OR 97367

800-788-3500
541-996-6945

Water/Sewer City of Depoe Bay [11]
570 SE Shell Avenue
Depoe Bay, OR 97341 541-765-2361

 

Source URL:https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks/page/local-utilities

Links
[1] http://www.wavebroadband.com/ [2] http://www.clpud.org/ [3] http://www.northlincolnsanitary.com/ [4] http://www.centurylink.com/ [5] http://www.coastcom.net/ [6] http://www.viasat.com/internet [7]
https://decisiondata.org/find-internet-by-address/ [8] https://www.nwnatural.com/ [9] https://tools.usps.com/find-location.htm?location=1360711 [10] https://www.centurylink.com [11]
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks

https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/
http://www.wavebroadband.com/
http://www.clpud.org/
http://www.northlincolnsanitary.com/
http://www.wavebroadband.com/
http://www.centurylink.com/
http://www.coastcom.net/
http://www.viasat.com/internet
https://decisiondata.org/find-internet-by-address/
https://www.nwnatural.com/
https://tools.usps.com/find-location.htm?location=1360711
https://www.centurylink.com/
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks/page/local-utilities
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks/page/target='_blank'
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks/page/target='_blank'
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks/page/target='_blank'
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks/page/target='_blank'
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks/page/target='_blank'
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks/page/target='_blank'
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks/page/target='_blank'
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks/page/target='_blank'
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks/page/target='_blank'
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks/page/target='_blank'
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks/page/target='_blank'
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks
https://www.cityofdepoebay.org/publicworks


N 55°34'46" E   81.37'

N 75°35'34" E   84.09'

N 11°58'08" W
   114.72'

N 14°24'26" W
   86.97' COV

PATIO

G

PORCH

E

HUDSON
1574 SQ. FT.

RIDGE HEIGHT = 20'

TAXLOT #: 09-11-17-BC-07300-00
PROPERTY ID: R505919
LOT AREA : 8,870 SQ. FT.

WATER
POWER
SEWER

LEGEND

490

489

491

491

492

493

494
495

496

497

498

496

500

501

502 500

497

498499

FEATURE

CONC.

DWY.

ASPHALT

DWY

TRACT "J"

N76°29'13" E
12.54'

ELEV
(498±)

ELEV
(490±)

ELEV
(498±)

ELEV
(496±)

PATIO

LOT AREA
(SF)

TOTAL BLDG.
FOOTPRINT

LOT
COVERAGE
(MAX. 35%)

8,870 2,028 22.9% SP

SITE PLAN

REVISIONS

2464 SW GLACIER PLACE
REDMOND, OR  97756

PHONE 541-923-6607    FAX 541-548-0761

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.  ANY REPRODUCTION WITHOUT THE
DESIGNER'S WRITTEN CONSENT IS STRICTLY PROHIBITED.

NOTICE:  THESE PLANS ARE NOT STAMPED BY AN ENGINEER OR
ARCHITECT.  LOCAL BUILDING CODES AND/OR OTHER APPLICABLE
LAWS, CODES, RULES OR ORDINANCES MAY REQUIRE THESE PLANS
TO BE STAMPED BY AN ENGINEER AND/OR ARCHITECT PRIOR TO
RECEIPT OF A BUILDING PERMIT.  OWNER, CONTRACTORS, AND/OR
AGENTS ARE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING SUCH STAMPS.

ALL INFORMATION ON THESE PLANS SHOULD BE VERIFIED BY OWNER
AND/OR ITS CONTRACTORS OR AGENTS AS TRUE AND CORRECT
PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION.  THE DESIGNER
OF THESE PLANS MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY
REGARDING THESE PLANS AND THE OWNER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT
THE DESIGNER HEREOF AND THEREOF SHALL NOT IN ANY WAY BE
LIABLE FOR, OR WITH RESPECT TO, THE SUITABILITY OF THESE PLANS
FOR OWNER'S AND/OR ITS CONTRACTORS' OR AGENTS' ACTUAL OR
INTENDED USE OR FOR ANY USE WHATSOEVER OR COMPLIANCE WITH
ANY APPLICABLE FEDERAL, STATE, OR LOCAL LAW, CODE, RULE, OR
ORDINANCE.

SCALE: 1" = 20'

TH
E 

H
AR

VE
Y 

RE
SI

D
EN

CE
LI

TT
LE

 W
AV

E 
CO

VE
, L

O
T 

15
6,

SW
 C

O
RM

O
RA

N
T,

D
EP

O
E 

BA
Y,

 O
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
15.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
15.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.52'

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.52'

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.56'

AutoCAD SHX Text
80.88'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.90'

AutoCAD SHX Text
54.11'

AutoCAD SHX Text
42.95'

AutoCAD SHX Text
62.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
40.48'

AutoCAD SHX Text
36.99'

AutoCAD SHX Text
36.99'

AutoCAD SHX Text
7' REQ'D

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.21'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.21'

AutoCAD SHX Text
23.17'

AutoCAD SHX Text
23.17'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' REQ'D

AutoCAD SHX Text
24.89'

AutoCAD SHX Text
24.89'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' REQ'D

AutoCAD SHX Text
32.66'

AutoCAD SHX Text
32.66'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' REQ'D

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.65'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH







  

 

 OFFSITE WETLAND DETERMINATION REPORT 
 OREGON DEPARTMENT OF STATE LANDS  WD#: 2023-0398 

775 Summer Street NE, Suite 100, Salem OR 97301-1279  Phone: (503) 986-5200 
 

At your request, an offsite wetland determination has been conducted on the property described below. 

County: Lincoln City: Depoe Bay 
Owner/Agent/Other Name & Address:  

Township: 9S Range: 11W  Section: 17  Q/Q: BC  Tax Lot(s): 7300  

Project Name:  Harvey Property, Depoe Bay 

Site Address/Location: 156 SW Cormorant, Depoe Bay, OR 97368 

 The NWI/LWI/NHD shows a Probable Wetland  on the property.   
 The county soil survey shows hydric (wet) soils on the property.  Hydric soils indicate that there may be wetlands. 
 It is unlikely that there are jurisdictional wetlands or waterways on the property based upon a review of wetlands maps, 

the county soil survey and other information.  An onsite investigation by a qualified professional is the only way to be 
certain that there are no wetlands. 

 There may be  wetlands on the property that are subject to the state Removal-Fill Law.   
  A state permit is required for ≥ 50 cubic yards of fill, removal, or ground alteration in the wetlands or waterways. 
  A state permit may be required for any amount of fill, removal, or other ground alteration in the Essential Salmonid 

Habitat and hydrologically associated wetlands. 
  A state permit may be required for any amount of fill, removal, or other ground alteration in a compensatory 

wetland mitigation site. 
  A state permit will be/will not be required for project because/if     . 
 The proposed parcel division may create a lot that is largely wetland and thus create future development problems. 
 A wetland determination or delineation may be needed  prior to site development; the wetland delineation report should 

be submitted to the Department of State Lands for review and approval. 
  A permit may be required by the Army Corps of Engineers:  (503) 808-4373 

Note:  This report is for the state Removal-Fill Law only.  City or County permits may be required for the proposed activity. 

Comments: Based on available information, including Soil Mapping and the Depoe Bay Local Wetlands Inventory, there 
may be wetlands on the property. Therefore, prior to development on the property, DSL recommends having a qualified 
professional conduct a wetland survey for the property. If wetlands are found a delineation report will need to be submitted 
to DSL for review and approval. 
 

Determination by:  ________________________________________________________   Date: 10 / 19 / 2023 
  This jurisdictional determination is valid for five years from the above date, unless new information necessitates a revision.  

Circumstances under which the Department may change a determination and procedures for renewal of an expired determination are 
found in OAR 141-090-0045 (available on our web site or upon request).  The applicant, landowner, or agent may submit a request for 
reconsideration of this determination in writing within six months from the above date. 
 

  This is a preliminary jurisdictional determination and is advisory only.  
 

Copy To:  Owner   Email: harveyd@sou.edu   Enclosures: Site Map, SWS PNW Consultant List, Wetlands in Oregon 
Brochure 

 Lincoln County Planning Department 
               , DSL Aquatic Resource Coordinator 

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 
Entire Lot(s) Checked?  Yes  No  Waters Present  Yes  No  Maybe  Request Received: 09  / 12 / 2023 

LWI Area: Depoe Bay LWI Code: PW  Latitude:44.792674 Longitude: -124.067415 Related DSL File #: No Related File 

Has Wetlands? Y N Unk  ESH? Y N  Wild & Scenic? Y N  State Scenic? Y N  Coast Zone? Y N Unk 

Adjacent Waterbody: NA 

https://societyofwetlandscientists.growthzoneapp.com/ap/CloudFile/Download/LqWKN0yp
https://www.oregon.gov/dsl/WW/Documents/DSL_wetlands_fact_march_2015_web.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/dsl/WW/Documents/DSL_wetlands_fact_march_2015_web.pdf


SW Cormorant

SW
Tin

ti
n

ab
u

la
ry

P
l

118
2400

4100

3800
3900

40001500 6100

6200
6000

3000

7500

59005600

7700

5800

7600 5700
6300

5500

6400

5400 6500

6600

5300 6700

6800

6900

3800
7000

7400

7300

72007900

7100

5200

5100

2300

2400

Esri Community Maps Contributors, Oregon State Parks, State of
Oregon GEO, © OpenStreetMap, Microsoft, Esri, HERE, Garmin,

SafeGraph, GeoTechnologies, Inc, METI/NASA, USGS, Bureau of Land
Management, EPA, NPS, US Census Bureau, USDA

¯0 60 120 18030
Feet

Linc_Tax_2021

Perennial

Intermittent

WD2023-0398 Site Map



         
 
 
 
 
 

Department of State Lands 
775 Summer Street NE, Suite 100 

Salem, OR 97301-1279 
(503) 986-5200 

FAX (503) 378-4844 
www.oregon.gov/dsl 

 
 State Land Board 
 

Tina Kotek 
Governor 

 
LaVonne Griffin-Valade 

Secretary of State 
 

Tobias Read 
State Treasurer 

 
 

 
 
February 15, 2024 
 
 
Dan Harvey 

 
 

 
 
Re:     WD # 2024-0054   Approved 

Wetland Delineation Report for Little Whale Cove 
Lincoln County; T9S R11W S17BC TLs 7300 and 7400  
City of Depoe Bay Local Wetlands Inventory, Wetland PW  

 
 
Dear Dan Harvey: 
 
The Department of State Lands has reviewed the wetland delineation report prepared 
by AKS Engineering & Forestry, LLC for the site referenced above. Based upon the 
information presented in the report, a site visit on February 14, 2024, and additional 
information submitted upon request, we concur that there are no jurisdictional wetlands 
or other waters of the state within the study area, as indicated on the attached Figure 6 
of the report. Please replace all copies of the preliminary map with this final 
Department-approved map. 
 
This concurrence is for purposes of the state Removal-Fill Law only. Federal, other 
state agencies or local permit requirements may apply as well. The U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers will determine jurisdiction under the Clean Water Act, which may require 
submittal of a complete Wetland Delineation Report. 
 
This concurrence is based on information provided to the agency. The jurisdictional 
determination is valid for five years from the date of this letter unless new information 
necessitates revision. Circumstances under which the Department may change a 
determination are found in OAR 141-090-0045 (available on our web site or upon 
request). In addition, laws enacted by the legislature and/or rules adopted by the 
Department may result in a change in jurisdiction; individuals and applicants are subject 
to the regulations that are in effect at the time of the removal-fill activity or complete 
permit application. The applicant, landowner, or agent may submit a request for 
reconsideration of this determination in writing within six months of the date of this letter. 
  



 
Thank you for having the site evaluated. If you have any questions, please contact 
Peter Ryan, Aquatic Resource Coordinator, SPWS, at (503) 779-4159. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Peter Ryan, SPWS 
Aquatic Resource Specialist 
 
Enclosures 
 
ec: Sonya Davis, AKS Engineering & Forestry, LLC  

Depoe Bay Planning Department (Maps enclosed for refining LWI) 
Alexandra Holecek, Corps of Engineers 
Carrie Landrum, DSL 
Oregon Coastal Management Program 
 



1/29/2024

LM 20240054
01   29    2024



USGS VICINITY MAP
LITTLE WHALE COVE WETLAND DETERMINATION REPORT 1



TAX MAP (MAP 09 11 17 BC)
LITTLE WHALE COVE WETLAND DETERMINATION REPORT 2

pryan
Polygonal Line



SW COROMANT

S
W

 T
IN

TI
N

N
A

B
U

LA
R

Y
 P

L

A

B

C
D

E

F

G

H

I

J

L

M

N

O

LEGEND:

A

WETLAND DETERMINATION MAP

6LITTLE WHALE COVE WETLAND DETERMINATION REPORT

pryan
Text Box
DSL WD # 2024-0054Approval Issued 2/15/2024Approval Expires 2/15/2029



§ 152.028 RESIDENTIAL ZONE R-4.

   In an R-4 Zone, the following regulations shall apply.

   (A)   Uses permitted outright. In an R-4 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.225 through 152.235 where applicable:

      (1)   A single-family dwelling built on the site;

      (2)   Manufactured home;

      (3)   A temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used for dwelling purposes during the construction of a
permitted use for which a building permit has been issued, provided the temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational
vehicle:

         (a)   Is located during the time the construction is underway; and

         (b)   Will not remain more than one year from date of placement or 30 days following substantial completion, whichever
is earlier.

      (4)   Agricultural use of land provided that no livestock shall be raised or kept on the premises and provided further than
no commercial structure shall be constructed or maintained on the premises;

      (5)   Recreational vehicle (unoccupied) or boat, stored on a lot in combination with an approved building;

      (6)   Pre-fabricated or modular dwelling;

      (7)   Two-family dwelling;

      (8)   Multi-family dwelling;

      (9)   Condominiums;

      (10)   Residential facility;

      (11)   Residential homes;

      (12)   Family day care provider;

      (13)   Transparent occupation; and

      (14)   (a)   Commercial fishing gear storage at the gear owner’s dwelling or adjacent lot under the same ownership.

      (b)   The gear must be stored in a neat and orderly manner and must be non-toxic, non-hazardous, and cause no odor
off-site.

   (B)   Conditional uses permitted. In an R-4 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, 152.130 through 152.136, and 152.225 through
152.235 where applicable:

      (1)   Cemetery;

      (2)   Church, non-profit religious, or philanthropic institution;

      (3)   Community center;

      (4)   Day nursery, nursery school, kindergarten, or similar facility;

      (5)   Governmental structure or use of land;

      (6)   Home occupation;

      (7)   Golf course or country club, but excluding golf driving range miniature golf course, or similar facility;

      (8)   Private non-commercial recreation club, such as tennis, swimming, or archery club, but excluding commercial
amusement or recreation enterprises;

      (9)   Public park, playground, or swimming pool;

      (10)   Public school or private school offering curricula similar to public school;

      (11)   Public or private utility facility;

      (12)   Radio or television transmitter or tower;

      (13)   Solid waste disposal transfer station;

      (14)   Mobile home park/manufactured dwelling park;

      (15)   Retirement home; and



      (16)   Parking area, meeting the requirements of § 152.058 of this chapter.

   (C)   Standards. Except as provided in §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.130 through
152.136 in an R-4 Zone, the following standards shall apply.

      (1)   Lot size and dimensions. The minimum lot size and dimensions in an R-4 Zone shall be as follows:

         (a)   The lot area shall be 5,000 square feet for a one-family dwelling. The minimum lot area for dwelling unit shall be
2,500 square feet for multi-family dwellings;

         (b)   The minimum lot width at the front lot line shall be 50 feet for an interior lot and 55 feet for a corner lot, except flag
lots. The staff of a flag lot shall have a minimum width and frontage of not less than 25 feet;

         (c)   The minimum lot depth shall be 80 feet; and

         (d)   Lot area for ocean front lots or lots with intervening ownership which does not prevent coastal erosion from
progressive deterioration of the property shall be determined by the amount of area from the line of mean high water to the
landward extent of the property.

      (2)   Yards. The minimum yard requirements in the R-4 Zone shall be as follows:

         (a)   The front yard shall be a minimum of 20 feet;

         (b)   Each side yard shall be a minimum of either five feet or one foot for each three feet of building height, whichever
requirement is the greater;

         (c)   The street side yard shall be a minimum of 20 feet, except this may be reduced by one foot for each foot the
average lot width is less than 60 feet, however, no street side yard shall be less than ten feet (see LOT WIDTH in § 152.003
of this chapter for method of calculation);

         (d)   The rear yard shall be a minimum of ten feet, except that on a corner lot, it shall be a minimum of either five feet or
one foot for each three feet of building height, whichever requirement is the greater; and

         (e)   No structure shall be located closer than 60 feet from the center line of any state highway.

      (3)   Building height. No building in the R-4 Zone shall exceed a height of 35 feet.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 71, passed 8-19-1980; Ord. 130, passed 4-6-1987; Ord. 145, passed 1-3-1989; Ord. 154,
passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 186, passed 12-22-1992; Ord. 187,
passed 2-16-1993; Ord. 236, passed 12-16-1996; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 268, passed 11-2-2004; Ord. 287,
passed 5-4-2010) Penalty, see § 152.999



§ 152.042 PLANNED DEVELOPMENT ZONE (P-D).

   (A)   Purpose. The purpose of the planned development procedure is to encourage and promote creativity and innovation
in site planning, design, and development through the application of flexible land development standards. Application of the
planned development procedure is intended to:

      (1)   Allow for and encourage development designs which provide suitable recognition of the physical, topographic,
cultural, historical, and natural resource values and constraints present on a particular site;

      (2)   Respect the surrounding context and enhance community character;

      (3)   Provide open space;

      (4)   Provide pedestrian and bicycle facilities, such as sidewalks in commercial and high density areas, hiking trails, and
bicycle trails;

      (5)   Permit greater flexibility in the siting of buildings and other physical improvements, and in the mixing of housing
types, in order to accomplish desirable design objectives;

      (6)   Provide adequate, structurally sound public and private streets and utilities;

      (7)   Ensure that development occurs in a manner consistent with the intent and purpose of the goals and policies of the
Comprehensive Plan;

      (8)   Ensure the safety of the residents of the city and visitors to the city;

      (9)   Allow logical, efficient development or redevelopment of adjacent properties within the P-D and properties adjacent
to the P-D;

      (10)   Supersede the provisions of §§ 152.250 through 152.265 of this chapter when the latter are expressly contrary to a
specific provision of this section, or upon application to and approval by the Planning Commission, provided such approval
is consistent with the purpose of this section; and

      (11)   Allow for flexibility of land uses, such as allow tourist accommodations in residential zones with standards and
ensure the developer and/or management company is responsible for all management of the tourist accommodation,
including but not limited to responding to noise, trash, overcrowding, and parking complaints. The intent is to place all
responsibility on the developer, management, HOA, or property owner, provide the public with easily-accessible
management contact, and minimize city time and expense related to the tourist accommodation use.

   (B)   General requirements. The following general requirements shall govern planned developments.

      (1)   A planned development may be established in any zone other than the T-C Zone.

      (2)   On land subject to an approved planned development, only those uses, structures, and other forms of development,
which have been set forth and authorized in a development plan approved in accordance with the provisions of this section,
or accessory use to such forms of development, may be established.

      (3)   (a)   A planned development may include any uses permitted outright or conditionally in the underlying zone. Where
the underlying zone is residential, any uses permitted in R-1 through R-5 Zones may be permitted when compatible with
each other and harmonious with adjacent uses.

         (b)   The one exception to division (B)(3)(a) above is the possible approval of short-term rentals (tourist
accommodations per § 152.003 of this chapter and including time shares) to the planned development. The total area of the
development that may be allocated to tourist accommodations in residential zoned areas shall be equal to or less than 15%
of the total land area of the underlying R-1 through R5 Zones. A planned development with tourist accommodations in
residential zones shall have a minimum of five contiguous acres. Tourist accommodations in residential zones shall be
limited to single-family and two-family dwellings with a maximum number of five bedrooms. The tourist accommodation area
shall be contiguous, cohesive, compatible with the entire development (use, architectural, traffic, and the like), buffered
(space, sight, and sound buffered) from all adjacent uses other than commercial uses, and buffered from adjacent properties
that are outside of the P-D. The following city standards shall apply, and the management entity may establish additional
standards. These following standards shall be part of the tourist accommodation area CC&Rs.

            1.   Nuisance control. No noise, lights, dust, smoke, odors, and electromagnetic frequencies generated on-site in
excess of the amounts normally associated with residential uses shall emanate off-site or interfere with surrounding
residential or commercial uses.

            2.   Lighting. Outside lighting shall be restricted to low voltage lighting and/or motion sensor lighting for security.

            3.   Off-street parking. For tourist accommodation dwelling uses, off-street parking space requirements are:

               a.   A single-family or two-family dwelling shall have one on-site parking space for each bedroom. A minimum of
two parking spaces shall be provided per dwelling;

               b.   A multi-family dwelling shall have one parking space for each bedroom located immediately adjacent to the
unit. A minimum of two parking spaces shall be provided per dwelling;

               c.   A parking lot for overflow vehicles, consisting of one additional space per dwelling unit, that shall be in the



immediate area of the tourist accommodations; and

               d.   If a dwelling unit is a residence plus a tourist accommodation, two additional spaces are required on the same
property.

            4.   Solid waste disposal. For tourist accommodation dwelling uses, a minimum 96-gallon vessel shall be provided for
each unit, and the unit shall have “carry-out”/“valet” (no need to put vessels at curb) service. A multi-unit dumpster type unit
may be substituted, it must be enclosed to the sight-line. Weekly solid waste pick-up is required during all months of the
year.

            5.   State law compliance. It is the property owner’s responsibility to ensure that a tourist accommodation dwelling
use remains in substantial compliance with state regulations for the following: health, safety, Building Code, Fire Code,
tourist accommodation statutes, and the Uniform Housing Code.

            6.   Occupancy. Tourist accommodation dwellings shall not exceed two persons per bedroom plus one additional
person per dwelling.

            7.   Signage. The management entity shall only have one exterior on-site sign for the tourist accommodation area.
The sign shall identify the site as a tourist accommodation area; identify a local contact person; state that the local contact
person is available 24 hours each day, seven days a week to handle rentals and complaints; and identify the local contact
person’s business license number. An interior sign with this same information shall be placed inside each tourist
accommodation in a noticeable location, such as, near the front door or in the kitchen.

            8.   Business license. For a tourist accommodation dwelling, the property owner and property management company
are required to have a city business license. In addition, for tourist accommodation dwelling uses, transient room tax
ordinance provisions shall apply.

            9.   Revocation. Any violation of the requirements or standards of this P-D Zone or any other city ordinance may
result in revocation of the transient rental unit business license.

      (4)   Overall residential density shall be as provided for in the underlying zone or zones. Density shall be computed
based on the total gross land area of the subject property, excluding area devoted to commercial or other non-residential
uses allowed in the underlying zone and resources protected under Goal 5, but including common areas.

      (5)   No building shall exceed the height allowed in the underlying zone.

      (6)   Yards, setbacks, lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements may be reduced, adjusted, or
otherwise modified upon application to, and approval by the Planning Commission, consistent with the design objectives of
the proposed development.

      (7)   In the event of a conflict between any applicable use zone provision and the allowances, limitations, or requirements
of an approved preliminary plan, the approved preliminary plan shall control.

      (8)   A planned development shall have a minimum of two contiguous acres, exclusive of street right-of-way. A planned
development with tourist accommodations in residential zones shall have a minimum of five contiguous acres.

      (9)   Excluding streets and parking, at least 35% of the land will be dedicated or reserved for outdoor recreation, park, or
natural land.

      (10)   Paved concrete sidewalks shall be provided in commercial areas and along Highway 101. The exception to this is
the Highway 101 right-of-way and the adjacent 40-foot wide designated forested corridor on both sides of Highway 101
right-of-way from south point street south to the city limits which shall instead include a four-foot wide walking/biking path (§
152.074(B)(3) of this chapter applies). The planned development shall also include a connected pedestrian system/network.

      (11)   Parking shall conform to § 152.058 and Diagram A of § 152.031, with the exception that all parking areas shall be
paved.

      (12)   A minimum 5% of a parking area shall be landscaped. Landscaping in parking and common open space areas
shall be installed according to plans approved by the city. Landscaping shall be installed in all yards adjacent to a public or
private street prior to final building inspections.

      (13)   Natural existing landscaping may be used to meet landscaping requirements. Landscape design and landscaping
areas shall serve their intended functions and shall not adversely impact surrounding areas. Required landscaping shall
include a mix of vertical elements (trees) and horizontal elements (grass, shrubs, ground cover, and the like). Section
152.074 of this chapter applies. Landscaped areas and open space shall be maintained. Invasive plant materials, as
identified by the USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service state listed noxious weeds shall be removed and shall not
be planted.

   (C)   General approval process. At a minimum, a preliminary plan and lastly a final plan shall be submitted for approval for
all planned developments. Once the preliminary plan is approved and the final engineered plans are reviewed and approved
by the city, work on the development’s infrastructure may proceed. The final plan is primarily an as-built of the streets and
infrastructure, and no building permits shall be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the plan. If the
planned development is to be developed in a number of individual sections or phases, each which is developed separate
from the others (a phased planned development), a master plan shall first be submitted for approval. Once the master plan
for the entire development is approved, each phase (section) of the development shall follow the standard preliminary plan



and final plan process.

      (1)   If the planned development is a phased planned development, the initial step is the submission of the master plan
for the entire development, which shall be submitted for approval as per division (D) below.

         (a)   The master plan is the over-arching plan of the entire development and of all phases. The primary purpose of a
master plan is to propose and establish the development’s overall concept, overall planning, and the integration of all
phases. Master plan approval does not permit development or construction to occur.

         (b)   If a master plan for a phased development is approved, the applicant or its successor shall obtain separate
preliminary and final approvals for each phase. For each individual phase, a preliminary plan shall be submitted for approval
as per division (E) below prior to any work starting on the infrastructure of that phase.

         (c)   If a preliminary plan for an individual phase impacts the master plan, an updated master plan shall be submitted
with that preliminary plan.

         (d)   A master plan is not required for a planned development that is not using a phased development approach.

      (2)   For a planned development that is not a phased planned development, the initial step of a planned development is
the submission of a preliminary plan for the complete development, which shall be submitted for approval as per division (E)
below. Work on the development’s infrastructure may only proceed once the preliminary plan is approved.

      (3)   A final plan shall be submitted for approval as per division (H) below upon completion of all conditions and
requirements of the individual phase preliminary plan or the entire development’s preliminary plan. No building permits shall
be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the final plan.

   (D)   Master plan. A master plan for planned developments shall be developed as follows.

      (1)   Master plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a master plan shall be as set forth in §
152.204(C) of this chapter.

      (2)   Content of master plan. Application for master plan approval of a planned development shall include all items
described in division (F) below. In addition, the following shall be included:

         (a)   A narrative describing the plans for phasing (if applicable);

         (b)   A summary describing the general locations for any reducing, adjusting, or otherwise modifying yards, setbacks,
lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements of this chapter; and

         (c)   A summary describing the general locations for any desired variances, exceptions, deviations, waivers, conditional
uses, zone changes, and the like, and a supporting narrative that acknowledges the zoning application procedure and
criteria order to obtain each approval.

      (3)   Approval on findings. Master plan approval by the Planning Commission shall be based on findings that criteria
described in division (G) below are satisfied.

      (4)   Approval date. Master plan approval is valid from the date all legal appeals are exhausted. Changes to an approved
master plan require an application for a master plan amendment to be reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission
as set forth in § 152.204(C) of this chapter.

   (E)   Preliminary plan. A preliminary plan for planned developments shall be developed as follows.

      (1)   Submittal. A preliminary plan shall be submitted for a non-phased planned development.

      (2)   Phase development. For a phased development, a preliminary plan shall be submitted for each phase of
development.

         (a)   A preliminary plan may be submitted for a phase concurrent with a master plan application. The Planning
Commission will review the preliminary plan the meeting after the master plan is approved.

         (b)   Each phase shall meet the criteria of divisions (E)(4), (F), and (G) below independently of the other phases.

      (3)   Preliminary plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a preliminary plan, which shall be as
set forth in § 152.204(C).

      (4)   Content of preliminary plan. Application for preliminary plan approval of a planned development shall include all
items described in division (F) below. In addition, the following shall be included:

         (a)   Proposed covenants, restrictions, bylaws, and the like of any homeowners associations and any taxing districts;

         (b)   A narrative describing the locations for any divergence from this chapter in the form of reducing, adjusting, or
otherwise modifying yards, setbacks, lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements;

         (c)   Submittal of any requests for variances, exceptions, deviations, waivers, conditional uses, and the like; and

         (d)   A narrative describing the specific area of any short-term rentals and describing how the rentals will be managed,
policed, the city transient room tax (TRT) and the city transient occupancy tax (TOT) are collected, and city TRT and TOT
are forwarded to the city.



      (5)   Approval; findings. Preliminary plan approval by the Planning Commission shall be based on findings that criteria
described in division (G) below are satisfied.

      (6)   Approval; final engineering plans. Based on the preliminary plan approval, the applicant is required to submit final
engineering plans to be reviewed and approved by the city prior to any construction. The applicant shall be responsible for all
costs the city may incur by hiring a professional engineer to review and comment on the final engineering plans.

      (7)   Time limit of preliminary plan approval. Approval of a preliminary plan in accordance with this section is valid after
the exhaustion of all appeals (see § 152.208). Infrastructure (streets and utilities) shall be designed and constructed in
accordance with current design standards unless specific exceptions are granted by the Planning Commission.

   (F)   Common content of master plan and preliminary plan. In addition to the forms prescribed by the city, an application
for master plan approval or a preliminary plan approval of a planned development shall include the following:

      (1)   A site plan map or maps depicting:

         (a)   All proposed residential and non-residential land uses;

         (b)   Any proposed tourist accommodation area in a residential zoned area, describing the type, location, and number
of each type of tourist accommodation (house, apartment, hotel, condo, time-share, and the like), also showing and
describing the buffering from adjacent uses;

         (c)   Parking areas and lots, showing number of spaces;

         (d)   Proposed lot or parcel boundaries;

         (e)   Proposed roads;

         (f)   Proposed pedestrian system and facilities;

         (g)   Significant natural features, such as wetland, streams courses, environmental hazards, and fish and wildlife
habitat areas; and

         (h)   Proposed open space, recreation areas, or other common elements, and approximate topography with contour
intervals of not more than ten feet.

      (2)   Drawings of the architectural styles of the different areas of the development;

      (3)   A written narrative describing the character of the proposed development, the manner in which it has been designed
to conform to divisions (A) and (B) above, including detailed discussion of how the proposal conforms to the requirements of
division (G) below, how the development meets the parking requirements of the § 152.058 of this chapter, proposed
methods of providing sewer, water, storm drainage, and other utility services, the method proposed for ownership, funding,
and maintenance of common areas, buildings, structures, roads, open space, landscaping, parking areas, fences, buffers
and/or sight, sound barriers to adjacent properties, or other facilities, public access to and use of the aforementioned, and
the proposed time schedule of development; and

      (4)   Other maps or narrative materials needed to determine compliance with any applicable provisions of this chapter, as
determined by initial review of the application for completeness.

   (G)   Common master plan and preliminary plan approval criteria. Approval by the Planning Commission of a master plan
or a preliminary plan of a planned development shall be based on findings that the following criteria are satisfied:

      (1)   All applicable requirements of this section are met;

      (2)   The proposed development is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and policies, and zoning provisions for
the area;

      (3)   Per § 152.251 of this chapter, the provisions of §§ 152.250 through 152.265 of this chapter shall be applicable to
approval criteria unless expressly contrary to a specific provision of this section;

      (4)   The proposed development will provide the following amenities or protections at a higher level than would otherwise
be provided under conventional land development procedure: protection of significant natural and cultural features and
resources, such as historical, scientific, and cultural resources, fish and wildlife habitats, stream corridors, riparian areas,
and wetlands; maintenance, enhancement or establishment of natural vegetation, especially indigenous plant communities;
protection of scenic and aesthetic qualities; and creation of a high quality built environment which harmonizes with the
natural and physical features of the site and includes design features such as, as examples only, suitably located open
space, recreation facilities, and other common facilities for inhabitants of the planned development; includes pedestrian
oriented development which reduces reliance on automobile travel, and provides similar measures to promote energy
conservation, or avoidance of risks and costs associated with environmental hazards;

      (5)   In acting to approve, the Commission shall be mindful of the purposes of this section by encouraging and promoting
creativity and innovation in site planning, and by allowing for flexibility in the application of design standards. The
Commission may also impose any conditions or limitations it finds necessary to achieve compliance with any provisions of
this section; and

      (6)   The proposed development is in substantial harmony with the area at least 250 feet outside the boundary of the



proposed development. In the case of a phased planned development, all phases shall also be in visible agreement with
each other architecturally and otherwise.

   (H)   Final plan. Upon completion of all conditions and requirements of a preliminary plan, application may be made for
final approval in accordance with the provisions of this section.

      (1)   Final plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a request for final plan approval shall be
as set forth in § 152.204(C).

      (2)   Certifications required for final plan approval. Requests for final plan approval shall be accompanied by the following
certifications, as applicable:

         (a)   A copy of all covenants and restrictions;

         (b)   Copies of legal documents required for dedication of public facilities or for the creation of a homeowner’s
association;

         (c)   As-built certifications for all required roads and utilities;

         (d)   If the planned development involves a division of land, the certifications required by §§ 152.250 through 152.265
of this chapter; and

         (e)   Other certifications required as a condition of the preliminary plan approval.

      (3)   Final plan approval criteria. The Commission shall approve a final plan provided that:

         (a)   The submitted final plan is in substantial conformance with the approved preliminary plan and master plan (if a
phased planned development); and

         (b)   All of the certifications required by division (H)(2) above have been submitted in proper form.

      (4)   Permits. No building permits shall be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the final plan.

   (I)   Retroactivity. The provisions in this section shall not apply to planned developments, or phases thereof, which were
granted preliminary plan approval prior to the effective date of this section. In those cases the prior version of this section
shall apply, unless said approval expires without applicant having obtained the final approval.

   (J)   Amending an approved planned development master plan or preliminary plan. When a developer or owner desires to
deviate from an approved master plan or preliminary plan, any applicable documents that would result in modification from
that change shall be submitted for approval. The review process is identical as a new planned development approval. As a
result of the change, the Planning Commission may require changes to approved uses, structures, and other forms of
development to ensure the proposed development remains consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals, policies, and
zoning ordinance provisions for the area, and to ensure all areas of the planned development remain in harmony following
division (A) and (B) of this section.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 310, passed 11-1-2016) Penalty, see § 152.999



§ 152.058 OFF-STREET PARKING AND OFF-STREET LOADING REQUIREMENTS.

   At the time a new structure is erected or the square footage is increased, or the use of the structure is changed, off-street
parking spaces, loading areas, and access thereto shall be provided as set forth in this section.

   (A)   Requirements for types of buildings and uses not specifically listed herein shall be determined by the Planning
Commission, based upon the requirements of comparable uses listed.

   (B)   In the event several uses occupy a single structure or parcel of land, the total requirements shall be the sum of the
several uses computed separately.

   (C)   Owners of two or more uses, structures, or parcels of land may agree to jointly utilize the same parking and loading
spaces when the hours of operation do not overlap, provided that satisfactory legal evidence is presented to the Planning
Commission in the form of deeds, leases, or contracts to establish the joint use and hours of operation.

   (D)   Off-street parking spaces for dwellings, hotels, motels, resorts, and time-shares shall be located on the same lot or on
a lot immediately adjacent to the lot served by such parking.

   (E)   Required parking spaces shall be available for the parking of operable passenger automobiles of residents,
customers, patrons, and employees only, and shall not be used for storage of vehicles or materials or for the parking of
trucks used in conducting the business or use.

   (F)   Areas used for standing and maneuvering of vehicles shall have durable and dustless surfaces improved adequately
for all-weather use, and shall be adequately maintained. Drainage shall conform to the city’s storm water master plan and a
drainage plan shall be approved the city field superintendent.

   (G)   Except for parking to serve dwelling uses, parking and loading areas adjacent to or within residential zones, or
adjacent to Highway 101, or residential uses shall be designed to minimize visual impacts by use of landscaping or by a
fence screened by landscaping.

   (H)   Parking areas used for public or private parking lots under the conditional use in an R-4 Zone must have garbage
containers available for garbage which may be generated by users of the parking lot. Such garbage containers must be
emptied on a regular basis and not less than weekly. Parking lots shall be posted with the following sign: “no camping or
overnight use” and shall have their hours posted. Parking lot hours shall not extend beyond 10:00 p.m. or open earlier than
4:00 a.m. If the property fails to enforce the parking prohibitions, the Planning Commission may review and consider
whether or not to revoke the conditional use permit.

   (I)   Parking spaces along the outer boundaries of a lot shall contain a curb or bumper rail at least four inches high and set
back four feet from the front of the space.

   (J)   Artificial lighting may be used in parking areas provided it is of low intensity, is pointed generally downward, and is
shielded if necessary so as to not create light or glare off-site.

   (K)   Except with respect to approved driveways, required off-street parking areas shall not be provided in the required
front or street side yard areas in a residential zone.

   (L)   Groups of more than four parking spaces shall be served by a driveway so that no backing movements or other
maneuvering within a street, other than an alley, will be required.

   (M)   A driveway designed for continuous forward flow of passenger vehicles for the purpose of loading and unloading
children shall be located on the site of any school having a capacity greater than 25 students.

   (N)   Buildings or structures which receive and distribute material or merchandise by truck shall provide and maintain off-
street loading berths of sufficient numbers and size to handle the needs of the particular use. Off-street parking areas used
to fulfill the requirements of this section may be used for loading and unloading operations during periods of the day when
not required to take care of parking needs.

   (O)   All spaces shall be permanently and clearly marked. Markings which guide safe and efficient traffic flow shall also be
permanently and clearly marked. All markings shall be replaced regularly to remain visible.

   (P)   All improvements, including surfacing, storm water management, striping, and landscaping shall be fully maintained
for the life of the parking facility. Failure to maintain such improvements shall constitute a violation of this chapter.

   (Q)   All parking lots shall be designed with spaces for handicapped drivers as provided for in the Building Code.

   (R)   The clear vision requirements set forth in § 152.055 of this subchapter shall apply to all parking lots at the intersection
of two streets or a street and an alley.

   (S)   For C-1 Retail Commercial Zoned properties, off-street parking requirements shall be located on the same lot or
within 500 feet (as measured by a direct line from the nearest property line to the nearest property line of the parking lot).

      (1)   On-street parking spaces that front the lot and are adjacent (on the same side of the street) may be counted in the
required parking. Over one-half of the parking space shall be directly within the street frontage of the lot in order to be
counted in the required parking.

      (2)   When the square footage of a business or structure is increased, or the use is changed, only the spaces associated



with the increased square footage or area of change must be added.

      (3)   No person who works or resides in properties fronting Highway 101 shall park a vehicle on Highway 101 while in his
or her place of employment, or in his or her residence between 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on any day. Single-family dwellings
are exempt.

      (4)   Parking on Highway 101 is limited to four hours between 6:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m.

      (5)   All parking shall be general purpose parking/public parking with the exception of residential uses which may have
designated off-street parking spaces. If required parking is off-site but within 500 feet, the applicant must provide written
documentation from the property owner authorizing the parking. If a variance to parking requirements is pursued, the
applicant shall demonstrate that off-site parking is not available within 500 feet.

   (T)   Off-street parking space requirements:

Animal hospital or kennel 1 space per 500 square feet
Any single- or multi-family residential use, including
condominium or time share 2 spaces per unit

Church, auditorium, meeting place, theater, gymnasium,
mortuary, or similar place of assembly

1 space for each 50 square feet of floor area used for
assembly

Dance hall, skating rink, pool hall, aquarium, bowling alley,
or similar commercial amusement enterprise 1 space for each 100 square feet of floor area

Day care, nursery school, kindergarten, elementary and
middle schools, and similar uses

2 spaces per classroom or instructional area, plus
requirements for offices, places of assembly, and the like

Financial institution, laboratory, or office 1 space for each 300 square feet of floor area

Golf courses 5 spaces per hole, plus the 75% the ancillary parking
requirements

High schools 8 spaces per classroom or instructional area, plus
requirements for offices, places of assembly, and the like

Hospital 3 spaces for each 2 beds
Laundromat 1 space per three machines
Library or similar facility 1 space for each 300 square feet of floor area
Manufacturing, fabrication, assembly, processing,
cabinetry, or similar use 1 space for each 1,000 square feet of floor area

Marina or other moorage facility 1 space per boat mooring space
Medical or dental clinic 1 space for each 200 square feet of floor area
Miniature golf 1.5 spaces per hole
Nursing home, residential facility, residential home, or
retirement home 1 space for each 3 beds

Personal or business service 1 space per 250 square feet
Public or private swimming pool 1 space per 100 square feet
Recreational vehicle park 3 spaces for each two RV spaces

Restaurants and bars
1 space for each 100 square feet of serving area (total floor
area where public is allowed, excluding restrooms and
other specified uses, such as designated retail space)

Retail store not handling bulky merchandise 1 space for each 350 square feet of floor area
Service or repair shop; retail store handling bulky
merchandise, such as automobiles, furniture, boats, marine
equipment, and the like; automobile service station, feed
and seed; heavy equipment; lumber or building supplies; or
similar uses

1 space for each 600 square feet of sales, storage, or repair
area

Tourist accommodation 1 space for each guest accommodation
Warehouse, storage, and wholesale business 1 space for each 2000 square feet of area

 

   (U)   The required size of parking spaces, aisles, driveways, and similar design features are set forth in Diagram A.
Required landscaping areas are not shown.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 71, passed 8-19-1980; Ord. 92, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 124, passed 7-1-1985; Ord. 130,
passed 4-6-1987; Ord. 145, passed 1-3-1989; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 234, passed
12-16-1996; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 279, passed - -2007)



§ 152.072 PROTECTION OF STREAMS, PONDS, WETLANDS, AND RIPARIAN AREAS.

   (A)   Purpose. The purpose of this section is to provide procedures necessary to secure the desirable attributes of the city
from depletion by recognizing the value of streams, ponds, wetlands, and riparian vegetation for fish and wildlife habitat,
maintenance of water quality and quantity, alleviation of flooding hazards, storm water control, recreation and aesthetics,
and to provide for open space. Protection of the natural drainageways as an integral part of the city environment in
accordance with the Local Wetlands and Riparian Inventory (2004) (LWI) is also important in order to manage stormwater
drainage, minimize maintenance costs, and protect properties adjacent to drainageways.

   (B)   Application. The provisions of this section shall apply to the streams, significant wetlands, ponds, and riparian areas
identified in the Comprehensive Plan’s LWI. The provisions of this section shall also apply to existing streams, significant
wetlands, and riparian areas that are not yet identified in the LWI. The provisions of this section are to be applied in
conjunction with the provisions of the underlying zone and are also subject to the applicable provisions of §§ 152.039,
152.040, 152.076, 152.130 through 152.136, 152.150 through 152.158, 152.170 through 152.173, 152.185 through 152.188,
152.200 through 152.210, and 152.225 through 152.235. Where the provisions of this section and the underlying zone
conflict, the more restrictive regulations shall apply. Forestry activities subject to the riparian regulations of the Oregon
Forest Practices Act, being O.R.S. 527.610 through 527.810, are exempt from regulation under this section. Forestry
activities not subject to the riparian regulations of the Oregon Forest Practices Act are subject to regulation under this
section.

   (C)   Procedure for development applications. Applicants requesting approval for any development permit in an area which
contains a designated resource identified in division (D) below shall submit, along with any application, a detailed site plan
and written statement demonstrating how the proposed activities will conform to each of the applicable standards of this
section. The Planning Commission shall review the application in a public hearing and determine if all of the applicable
criteria are met.

   (D)   Definitions. For the purpose of this section, the following definitions shall apply unless the context clearly indicates or
requires a different meaning.

      DRAINAGEWAYS. The streams, channels, springs, lakes, ponds, reservoirs, ponding areas, and wetlands indicated in
the LWI and the stormwater master plan maps of existing facilities.

      FISH HABITAT. The areas upon which fish depend in order to meet their requirements for spawning, rearing, food
supply, and migration.

      POND. A small body of intermittent or perennial standing water that is a persistent feature of the landscape.

      RIPARIAN AREA. The area adjacent to a river, lake, or stream, consisting of the area of transition from an aquatic
ecosystem to a terrestrial ecosystem.

      RIPARIAN CORRIDOR. Includes the water areas, fish habitat, adjacent riparian areas, and wetlands within the riparian
area boundary.

      RIPARIAN CORRIDOR BOUNDARY.

         (a)   An imaginary line that lies 50 feet inland (or upland), measured on the horizontal, from the top of the bank of an
inland stream, or where no bank is discernible, that lies 50 feet inland from the outer edge of non-aquatic vegetation.

         (b)   Where a wetland or pond is contiguous to a stream, the riparian area shall be measured 50 feet inland (or upland)
from the upland edge of the wetland or pond. Where a wetland or pond is not contiguous to a stream, the riparian area shall
be measured 25 feet inland (or upland) from the upland edge of the wetland or pond.

      STREAM. A channel, such as a river or creek, that carries flowing surface water, including perennial streams and
intermittent streams with defined channels, and excluding human-made irrigation and drainage channels.

      WATER AREA. The area between the banks of a lake, pond, river, or perennial or fish-bearing intermittent stream,
excluding human-made farm ponds.

      WETLAND. An area that is inundated or saturated by surface or ground water at a frequency and duration sufficient to
support, and that under normal circumstances does support, a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated
soil conditions.

   (E)   Riparian corridor protection standards.

      (1)   The actual location of streams, wetlands, ponds, and riparian areas, shall be delineated in the field by a person
qualified to do such a delineation, following procedures accepted by the state. A report and map shall be submitted which
documents the boundaries of the resource and its buffer.

      (2)   The outer boundaries of the riparian corridor shall be clearly marked in the field, and such markings shall remain
visible for inspection until all development on the site is complete.

      (3)   No filling, grading, excavating, or draining is permitted in a wetland area unless such is performed for restoration
purposes. Valid permits from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and from the Oregon Department of State Lands, or written
proof of exemption from these permit programs must be obtained and presented to the city prior to any such work.



      (4)   The flow from springs, drainages, streams, and other features providing the water necessary to maintain wetlands
hydrology, shall not be diminished or substantially increased.

      (5)   Within the riparian corridor boundary, no grading shall occur, no impermeable surfaces or structures shall be
placed, and no vegetation shall be removed or destroyed, except that the following are allowed, provided they are designed
and constructed to minimize intrusion into the riparian area:

         (a)   Removal of riparian vegetation necessary for a use that requires direct access to the water;

         (b)   Placement of utilities, drainage facilities, and irrigation pumps;

         (c)   Replacement or enlargement of existing structures with structures in the same location that do not disturb
additional riparian surface area;

         (d)   The placement of walking paths and road crossings;

         (e)   Removal of non-native noxious vegetation, such as scotch broom, blackberries, and ivy, and replacement with
native plant species;

         (f)   Fish and habitat restoration activities approved by Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife; and

         (g)   Removal of vegetation necessary for the development of water related and water dependent uses.

      (6)   Before any development activity occurs within a riparian corridor, there must be a review and report prepared by a
licensed, certified arborist. The arborist’s report must be submitted to the city before any development activity occurs. The
responsibility for this review lies with the applicant.

      (7)   Valid permits from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and from the Oregon Division of State Lands, or written proof
of exemption from these permit programs, must be obtained and presented to the city before commencement of any of the
activities associated with allowed uses which will impact the streams, ponds, wetlands, and riparian areas.

      (8)   Development activities shall not change the natural drainage or substantially increase the water flow.

      (9)   Development activities shall not create erosion into the stream, wetland, pond, or riparian area.

   (F)   Drainageway protection standards.

      (1)   To prevent new development from significantly increasing the amount or flow rate of surface water run-off destined
for the drainageway, any new development or redevelopment proposed on land on or adjoining a drainageway shall:

         (a)   Avoid filling in, disturbing, or changing the location of the natural drainageway;

         (b)   Avoid placing impervious surfaces within 15 feet of the drainageway;

         (c)   Not “hardline” roof and perimeter drains into the drainageway, but provide for infiltration or run-off on site before
allowing it to enter the natural drainageway; and

         (d)   For subdivisions, provide for engineered stormwater plans that provide for on-site storm water detention and
treatment.

      (2)   This section is not intended to repeal, abrogate, or impair any existing easements, covenants, or deed restrictions.
However, where this section and any other ordinance, easement, covenant, or deed restriction conflict or overlap, whichever
imposes the more stringent restrictions shall prevail.

   (G)   Hardship variances.

      (1)   Applicability. This section applies to lots existing prior to January 1, 1982 in the Coastal Shorelands Overlay Zone or
along North and South Depoe Bay Creeks, or prior to January 1, 2001 in other areas of the city.

      (2)   Where a minimum building footprint of less than 800 square feet would result from application of the rules of this
section, reduction or removal of the restrictions under this section can be granted to allow the building of a structure within
such a building footprint through the variance procedure. Applicants for variance from this section should demonstrate, in
addition to the criteria found in the variance ordinance (§§ 152.170 through 152.173 of this chapter), that intrusion into the
required riparian corridor, wetland, or drainageway protection areas has been minimized by maximizing setback variances
on property line boundaries away from these resources. Applicants shall consult with a fish biologist regarding impacts to the
riparian corridor and stream, and provide that documentation to the city, when requesting intrusion into the required riparian
corridor associated with North Depoe Bay Creek or South Depoe Bay Creek.

   (H)   Map error. If the resource is not located on a subject property, although the inventory map indicates it to be, the
applicant for a building permit shall follow the following procedure:

      (1)   The boundary of the property with proximity to the resource area shall be marked between surveyed property
markers with a visible string or tape;

      (2)   The applicant shall contact the City Planner and request a site visit;

      (3)   The City Planner shall inspect the property and, if the resource is not on the subject property, issue the applicant a
note stating the resource is not on the subject property and is exempt from the provisions of this section; and



      (4)   When the extent of the resource area cannot be determined by the city, the applicant shall seek prompt assistance
from a natural resource agency in making that determination, or provide a written report from a properly-qualified specialist
describing the boundaries of the resource area in relationship to the property boundaries.

(Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 278, passed 3-21-2007) Penalty, see § 152.999



 
 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 1 of 19 

        Planned Development Application  
        Case File: #1-PD-PC-24 
        Date Filed: Feb. 12, 2024 
        Application Complete: Feb. 14, 2024 
        Meeting Date: Mar. 13, 2024, 6:00 pm 
        120-day Decision Date: Jun. 11, 2024 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Depoe Bay Planning Commission Action 
 
OWNER/APPLICANT:  Hills of Depoe Bay, LLC 

REQUEST:  The applicant requests approval of the Phase 2 Preliminary Plan for the Whale Watch 
Planned Development. Phase 2 is proposed to consist of forty (40) detached single-family residences, a 
4-unit multi-family building, and a 0.15-acre site for a future civic building.  There are a total of 44 
residential units proposed in this phase. Use of the residential units in this phase as tourist 
accommodations (vacation rentals) will not be allowed.  NE Shoreline Drive is planned to be extended 
northward from NE Lillian Lane to access Phase 2, with additional streets (NE Sand Dollar Drive and NE 
Baleen Drive) to provide circulation within the phase. 

REPORT OF FACTS: 
1. Property Location:  The subject property is located at 1032 N Highway 101, and is further identified 

on Lincoln County Assessor’s Map 09-11-05B0 as Tax Lot 01200. 
 

 
 

2. Lot Size:  The existing lot totals 42.71 acres in acre, with Phase 2 occupying 9.64 acres. 

3. Zoning Designation: Retail Commercial C-1 and Residential R-1.   

4. Plan Designation: Commercial and Residential. 

Map & Tax Lot No. 09-11-05B0-01200 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 2 of 19 

5. Surrounding Land Use:  Single-family residential dwellings are located south of the site along NE 
Lillian Lane in Whale Watch Phase 1.  Land to the east is undeveloped and zoned Timber Conservation 
T-C, while land in Phase 1 of the Depoe Hills Planned Development (zoned R-2PD) is located to the 
northeast. Tourist accommodations (Worldmark/Whale Pointe, The Village at North Pointe, and 
Thundering Shores) are located to the west.  Boiler Bay State Park abuts the site to the north. 

6. Topography:  The Phase 2 site slopes downward from east to west with the eastern third of the site 
having some slopes exceeding 20% steepness.     

7. Existing Structures: None 

8. Utilities:  The following utilities are currently available to serve the subject property: 
a. Sewer:  City sewer service. 
b. Water:  City water service.   
c. Electricity:  Central Lincoln PUD.  

9. Development Constraints:   
 a. Steep slopes exceeding 20%. 
 b. Wetlands and riparian areas. 
 c. Cultural resources. 
EVALUATION OF THE REQUEST: 

1. Relevant Criteria: 
 Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance 

• DBZO Section 152.025: Residential R-1 
• DBZO Section 152.030: Retail Commercial C-1 
• DBZO Section 152.042: Planned Development Zone P-D 
• DBZO Section 152.055: Supplemental Regulations 
• DBZO Section 152.185: Amendments 
• DBZO Section 152.225: Development Guidelines 
• DBZO Section 152.250: Land Division 
Depoe Bay Comprehensive Plan 
• 2017 Depoe Bay Transportation System Plan 

Complete descriptions of the relevant criteria are attached to this Staff report. In addition, site 
development is subject to the current criteria of the Whale Watch Master Plan, as recently amended in 
2023 (Case File #1-PD-PC-23). 

2. Applicant’s Proposal:  The applicant submitted the application forms and fee/deposit for an 
amendment to the Whale Watch Planned Development.  The applicant describes its request for Whale 
Watch Phase 2 as follows: 

The Whale Watch Planned Development – including the proposed Phase 2 Preliminary Plan – would 
be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan Housing Goal: To provide for the housing needs of the 
(year-around and seasonal) residents of the community. It would also be consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan Economy Goal: To enhance the economic growth of the city while preserving 
natural resources and character that make Depoe Bay the unique community it is. Construction of 
Phase 2 is planned for 2024 through 2025. 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 3 of 19 

This is a request for approval of the Phase 2 Preliminary Plan and Tentative Subdivision Plat for the 
Whale Watch Planned Development. Phase 2 is proposed to build out the north/northwest side of NE 
Lillian Lane between NE Shoreline Drive and NE Sand Dollar Drive, ending at NE Baleen Drive. 
Phase 2 consists of forty (40) single-family residential lots, one (1) multi-family residential lot (4 
dwelling units) and one (1) civic lot. The proposal also includes a future Zone Change to reconfigure 
the boundary between the C-1 and R-1 zones, and to apply the P-D suffix to the entire phase. The 
Planning Commission will consider the Preliminary Plan and Tentative Subdivision Plat, and will 
forward a recommendation on these and the requested Zone Change to the City Council for its final 
approval and adoption. 

The application was accompanied by the following exhibits and attachments: 

• Whale Watch Amended Master Plan (Case File #1-PD-PC-23) 
• Whale Watch Phase 2 Preliminary Plans 
• Whale Watch Phase 2 Conceptual Architectural Plans 
• Whale Watch Phase 2 Zone Change 

3. Public Agency Comment: Relevant portions of the Whale Watch Phase 2 application were forwarded 
to the following agencies for review and comment: 

 
• City of Depoe Bay Public Works/City Engineer 
• Depoe Bay Rural Fire Protection District 
• North Lincoln Sanitary Service 
• Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) 

[NOTE FROM STAFF: As of the date that this report was completed, Staff was still awaiting comments 
from public agencies and other City departments. Additional information will be forthcoming, and 
will be presented for the Planning Commission’s consideration before any action is taken on this 
application.] 

4. Public Testimony: Notice of this public hearing was mailed to property owners within a 250-foot 
radius of the subject property on February 20, 2024, and was published in the Lincoln County Leader 
on February 20, 2024. As of the date that this report was completed, Staff had received no public 
testimony regarding this proposal. 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 4 of 19 

 

Whale Watch Phase 2 Preliminary Plan Overview 

STAFF ANALYSIS:  
The Planning Commission reviews the proposal for conformance with the appropriate standards of the 
Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance (DBZO).  The Planning Commission evaluates the evidence provided in 
the record, as well as testimony given at the public hearing, to determine whether the facts justify that 
relevant criteria are satisfied.  The following discussion focuses on the proposal’s compliance with the 
planned development standards from DBZO Section 152.042 and other relevant sections.

(A) General Description of Proposed Whale Watch Planned Development 
This is a request for approval of the Phase 2 Preliminary Plan for the Whale Watch Planned 
Development.  Phase 2 is proposed to build out the north/northwest side of NE Lillian Lane between 
NE Shoreline Drive and NE Sand Dollar Drive, ending at NE Baleen Drive. Phase 2 consists of forty 
(40) single-family residential lots, one (1) multi-family residential lot (4 dwelling units) and one (1) 
civic lot. The proposal also includes a Zone Change to reconfigure the boundary between the C-1 and 
R-1 zones, and to apply the P-D suffix to the entire phase. Construction of Phase 2 is planned for 2024 
to 2025. 

(B) General Requirements of a Planned Development 
(1) Zoning. 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 5 of 19 

DBZO 152.042(B)(1): A Planned Development may be established in any zone other than the T-
C zone. 
APPLICANT RESPONSE:  The subject property is zoned R-1 and C-1, zones that permit planned 
developments. No portion of the subject property is zoned T-C. 

(2) Development Plan. 
DBZO 152.042(B)(2):  On land subject to an approved Planned Development, only those uses, 
structures and other forms of development, which have been set forth and authorized in a 
development plan approved in accordance with the provisions of this section, or accessory use to 
such forms of development, may be established. 
APPLICANT RESPONSE:  The uses, structures and other forms of development shown on the 
Preliminary Plan have changed slightly compared to those shown on the revised master plan 
approved in 2023. The approved revised master plan included thirty-two (32) single-family lots, 
parking, landscaping, public pedestrian facilities, open space, streets, and utilities. The Phase 2 
Preliminary Plan was altered to accommodate eight (8) additional single-family residential lots 
to the west of NE Shoreline Drive for the Wetlands Delineation, and to include Baleen Drive to 
the North, which added the 4-unit multi-family residential and civic building lots. 

(3a) Uses. 
DBZO 152.042(B)(3)(a):  A Planned Development may include any uses permitted outright or 
conditionally in the underlying zone.  Where the underlying zone is residential, any uses permitted 
in R-1 through R-5 zones may be permitted when compatible with each other and harmonious 
with adjacent uses.  
APPLICANT RESPONSE:  The uses proposed on Lots 22-53 (in the existing R-1 zone) and Lots 
56-63 (in the proposed R-1 zone) are detached and attached single-family homes, which are 
permitted in all residential zones. Attached, multi-family units proposed for Lot 54, which are 
allowed in the R-2 through R-5 zones. The proposed zoning for Lot 53 is C-1, where a commercial 
building is proposed. The building is intended for unspecified civic uses. Governmental use of 
land is a conditional use in the C-1 zone. Other areas that will retain the current C-1 zoning (Tracts 
F and P) will be utilized for open space, wetlands, drainage, and storm water purposes, which are 
conditional uses in the C-1 zone.  

(3b) Tourist Accommodations. 
DBZO 152.042(B)(3)(b): The one exception to subsection (B)(3)(a) above is the possible approval 
of short-term rentals (tourist accommodations per DBZO 152.003 Definitions and including time 
shares) to a subsection of the Planned Development. The total area of the development that may 
be allocated to tourist accommodations in residential zoned areas shall be equal to or less than 
15% of the total land area of the underlying R-1 through R5 zones. A Planned Development with 
tourist accommodations in residential zones shall have a minimum of five (5) contiguous acres.  
Tourist accommodations in residential zones shall be limited to single family and two-family 
dwellings with a maximum number of five bedrooms.  The tourist accommodation area shall be 
contiguous, cohesive, compatible with the entire development (use, architectural, traffic, etc.), 
buffered (space, sight, and sound buffered) from all adjacent uses other than commercial uses, 
and buffered from adjacent properties that are outside of the PD. The following City Standards 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 6 of 19 

shall apply, and the management entity may establish additional standards. These following 
standards shall be part of the tourist accommodation area CC&Rs. 
APPLICANT RESPONSE:  No tourist accommodations are proposed or allowed in Whale Watch 
Phase 2.  

(4) Density. 
DBZO 152.042(B)(4):  Overall residential density shall be as provided for in the underlying zone 
or zones.  Density shall be computed based on the total gross land area of the subject property, 
excluding area devoted to commercial or other nonresidential uses allowed in the underlying zone 
and resources protected under Goal 5, but including common areas. 
APPLICANT RESPONSE: Phase 2 totals 9.64 acres. Goal 5 resources (wetland and riparian area) 
are subtracted when calculating maximum allowed density.  The Goal 5 resource areas total 
approximately 4.30 acres. Therefore, the maximum allowed density of Phase 2 is based on 5.34 
acres (232,610 sq. ft.), which allows a maximum of forty-seven (47) dwelling units.  Forty-four 
(44) dwelling units are proposed in Phase 2. 
 
STAFF ANALYSIS:  The residential zoned area of the entire Whale Watch Planned Development 
allows for a maximum of 216 dwellings, whereas a total of 161 dwelling units are proposed. Whale 
Watch Phase 1 has commenced construction, and includes eighteen (18) single-family lots, a 16-
unit multi-family development, and a commercial site at N Highway 101 and NE Lillian Lane. 
 

(5) Building Height. 
DBZO 152.042(B)(5): No building shall exceed the height allowed in the underlying zone. 
APPLICANT RESPONSE: No building shall exceed the height allowed in the underlying zone. 
 
STAFF ANALYSIS: Maximum building heights are thirty feet (30’) in the R-1 zone and thirty-
five feet (35’) in the C-1 zone. 

 
(6) Yards, Setbacks, Lot Area, Lot Coverage and Similar Dimensional Requirements. 

DBZO 152.042(B)(6): Yards, setbacks, lot area, lot coverage and similar dimensional 
requirements may be reduced, adjusted or otherwise modified upon application to, and approval 
by the Planning Commission, consistent with the design objectives of the proposed development. 
APPLICANT RESPONSE:  In the Preliminary Plan for Phase 2, specific buildings and lot 
dimensions are shown. Reductions are proposed to R-1 code standards for front, side, rear, and 
garage entry setbacks (see Conceptual Architectural Plans). In addition, reductions are proposed 
to R-1 code standards for lot area, width, and depth (see Tentative Subdivision Plat). No reductions 
are proposed for Lot 54 (zoned R-1 for a future 4-unit multi-family building) or Lot 55 (zoned C-1 
for a future civic building). 
Proposed R-1 Setback Exceptions: 

• Front yard/Street – 5 feet. 
• Side yard, Interior – 3 feet; or 0 feet for attached zero-lot line. 
• Side yard, when abutting a common area/open space tract – 3 feet. 
• Rear or Alley – 5 feet. 
• Garage setback from Alley – 5 feet. 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 7 of 19 

• Garage setback from Street – 20 feet. 

 Proposed R-1 Lot Dimension Exceptions: 

• Minimum lot area – 1,500 square feet. 
• Minimum lot width – 30 feet. 
• Minimum lot depth – 50 feet. 

 
EXCEPTIONS TO SETBACKS 

LOT # FRONT 
(STREET) 

(20’) 

SIDE 
(INTERIOR) 

(5’) 

SIDE 
(COMMON AREA) 

(10’) 

REAR 
(ALLEY) 
(10’) 

GARAGE 
(ALLEY) 

(No Standard) 

GARAGE 
(STREET) 

(20’) 
22 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
23 5’ 3’ - 5’   
24 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
25 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
26 5’ 3’ - 5’   
27 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
28 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
29 5’ 3’ - 5’   
30 5’ 3’ - 5’   
31 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
32 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
33 5’ 3’ - 5’   
34 5’ 3’ - 5’   
35 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
36 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
37 5’ 3’ - 5’   
38 5’ 3’ - 5’   
39 5’ 3’ - 5’   
40 5’ 3’ - 5’   
41 5’ 0’ - 5’   
42 5’ 0’ 3’ 5’   
43 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
44 5’ 3’ - 5’   
45 5’ 3’ - 5’   
46 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
47 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
48 5’ 3’ - 5’   
49 5’ 3’ - 5’   
50 5’ 3’ - 5’   
51 5’ 3’ - 5’   
52 5’ 0’ - 5’   
53 5’ 0’ 3’ 5’   
54 R-1 standards apply - - 
55 C-1 standards apply - - 
56 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
57 5’ 3’ - 5’   
58 5’ 3’ - 5’   



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 8 of 19 

59 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
60 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   
61 5’ 3’ - 5’   
62 5’ 3’ - 5’   
63 5’ 3’ 3’ 5’   

   *Lot 54 to be platted as multi-family (R-1). 
  **Lot 55 to be platted as commercial (C-1). 

  Shaded boxes = Exception to Standards

In addition, reductions are proposed to code standards for lot area, width, and depth as shown in 
the table below. 
 

R-1 Design Standards 
LOT # AREA 

(5,000 SF) 
WIDTH 

(50’) 
DEPTH 

(80’) 
22 1,716 30’ 58.25’ 
23 1,653 30’ 56.15’ 
24 1,599 30.26’ 54.05’ 
25 1,828 30’ 61.39’ 
26 1,835 30’ 60.97’ 
27 1,823 30’ 60.55’ 
28 1,950 30’ 65’ 
29 1,950 30’ 65’ 
30 1,950 30’ 65’ 
31 1,950 30’ 65’ 
32 1,868 38.93' 50’ 
33 1,500 30’ 50’ 
34 1,500 30’ 50’ 
35 1,500 30’ 50’ 
36 1,500 30’ 50’ 
37 1,500 30’ 50’ 
38 1,500 30’ 50’ 
39 1,500 30’ 50’ 
40 1,500 30’ 50’ 
41 1,500 30’ 50’ 
42 1,500 30’ 50’ 
43 1,988 32.11’ 64.5’ 
44 1,994 31.89’ 64.5’ 
45 1,935 30’ 64.5’ 
46 1,936 30’ 64.5’ 
47 1,935 30’ 64.5’ 
48 1,935 30’ 64.5’ 
49 1,935 30’ 64.5’ 
50 1,935 30’ 64.5’ 
51 1,935 30’ 64.5’ 
52 1,935 30’ 64.5’ 
53 1,885 30’ 64.5’ 

54* 18,360 70’ 112.28’ 
55** 6,509 62.19’ 89.42’ 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 9 of 19 

56 1,575 30’ 54’ 
57 1,620 30’ 54’ 
58 1,620 30’ 54’ 
59 1,620 30’ 54’ 
60 1,620 30’ 54’ 
61 1,620 30’ 54’ 
62 1,620 30’ 54’ 
63 1,570 30’ 54’ 

   *Lot 54 to be platted as multi-family (R-1). 
  **Lot 55 to be platted as commercial (C-1). 
  Shaded boxes = Exception to Standards 

  
(7) Conflicting Provisions. 

DBZO 152.042(B)(7): In the event of a conflict between any applicable use zone provision and 
the allowances, limitations or requirements of an approved Preliminary Plan, the approved 
Preliminary Plan shall control. 
APPLICANT RESPONSE:  The approved Preliminary Plan for Phase 2 will prevail over the 
Zoning Ordinance. 

(8) Minimum Size of Planned Development Area. 
DBZO 152.042(B)(8): A Planned Development shall have a minimum of two (2) contiguous acres, 
exclusive of street right of way.  A Planned Development with tourist accommodations in 
residential zones shall have a minimum of five (5) contiguous acres. 
APPLICANT RESPONSE:  This standard applies to the total Whale Watch Planned Development 
and was addressed in the amended Master Plan. 

(9) Open Space. 
DBZO 152.042(B)(9):  Excluding streets and parking, at least 35% of the land will be dedicated 
or reserved for outdoor recreation, park or natural land. 
APPLICANT RESPONSE:  It is demonstrated that the gross area of Phase 2, excluding street 
rights-of-way, is 6.95 acres. Open space would be set aside in designated Tracts per the 
Preliminary Plan. These tracts total 4.65 acres, or 48% of the gross Phase 2 area. 

(10) Sidewalks. 
DBZO 152.042(B)(10): Paved concrete sidewalks shall be provided in commercial areas and 
along Highway 101.  The exception to this is the Highway 101 right-of-way and the adjacent 40-
foot wide designated Forested Corridor on both sides of Highway 101 right-of-way from South 
Point Street south to the city limits which shall instead include a four-foot-wide walking/biking 
path (Section 152.074(B)(3) applies). The Planned Development shall also include a connected 
pedestrian system/network. 

APPLICANT RESPONSE:  Phase 2 includes a connected pedestrian system as proposed on the 
Preliminary Plan. 
STAFF ANALYSIS: The Whale Watch Master Plan identifies a connected pedestrian 
system/network.  The Phase 2 Preliminary Plan includes the 5-foot-wide sidewalks along both 
sides of NE Shoreline Drive, NE Sand Dollar Drive, and NE Baleen Drive (below). Additional 5-



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 10 of 19 

foot-wide sidewalks will be provided within Tracts I, J, K and L to provide mid-block connections 
between NE Shoreline Drive and NE Sand Dollar Drive.  Additional 5-foot-wide sidewalks will 
be provided within Tracts F, O and P to provide access within the open space areas surrounding 
the detention pond. A pedestrian trail will be provided within Tract E to connect NE San Dollar 
Drive to NE Lillian Lane.  

 

(11) Parking Area Design 
DBZO 152.042(B)(11): Parking shall conform to Section 152.058 and Diagram A of the DBZO, 
with the exception that all parking areas shall be paved. 
APPLICANT RESPONSE:  All parking spaces shall conform to the standards of DBZO 152.058. 

(12) Parking Area Landscaping. 

DBZO 152.042(B)(12): A minimum 5% of a parking area shall be landscaped.  Landscaping in 
parking and common open space areas shall be installed according to plans approved by the City.  
Landscaping shall be installed in all yards adjacent to a public or private street prior to final 
building inspections. 
APPLICANT RESPONSE: All parking areas will be landscaped in accordance with DBZO 
Section 152.042(B)(12). 

STAFF ANALYSIS: A detailed landscape plan for each lot will be submitted to the City for 
review and approval prior to issuance of building permits. 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 11 of 19 

(13) Landscaping 
DBZO 152.042(b)(13): Natural existing landscaping may be used to meet landscaping 
requirements. Landscape design and landscaping areas shall serve their intended functions and 
shall not adversely impact surrounding areas. Required landscaping shall include a mix of vertical 
elements (trees) and horizontal elements (grass, shrubs, ground cover, etc.). Section 152.074 of 
the DBZO applies.  Landscaped areas and open space shall be maintained.  Invasive plant 
materials, as identified by the USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service State-listed Noxious 
Weeds, shall be removed and shall not be planted. 
APPLICANT RESPONSE:  All open spaces disturbed by development will be formally 
landscaped or re-naturalized. Open space tracts with actively managed landscaping shall be 
maintained by the Depoe Hills Owners Association, as specified in the Depoe Hills declaration of 
Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, and Easements. 

Preliminary Plan Compliance with Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance. 

DBZO 152.042(E) describes the Preliminary Plan development requirements. The following 
discussion addresses the subsections that are relevant to Whale Watch Phase 2.  
(2)(a) Phasing  

A preliminary plan for Phase 2 was submitted subsequent to the review of the revised master 
plan for Whale Watch. The preliminary plan was prepared in accordance with DBZO 
152.042(E)(4), 152.042(F), and 152.042(G). 

(4)(a) CC&Rs  
For the near term, the common area tracts would remain in the possession of the owner. 
Eventually those could be transferred to a homeowner’s association governed by covenants, 
conditions, and restrictions. No taxing district is proposed. 

(4)(b) Dimensional Requirements  
The design of Phase 2 is influenced by topography and clustering of homes. Building placement 
at minimal setbacks has the effect of framing the streets, thereby tempering the movement of 
vehicles along the roads. The following table summarizes the adjustments to Depoe Bay Zoning 
Ordinance standards requested for Phase 2. 

Phase 2 Reductions to Development Standards 
Requirement Standard Affected Lots  

R-1   
Minimum lot area 5,000 SF 22-53, 56-63 
Minimum lot width 50 Ft interior lot 

55 Ft corner lot 
22-53, 56-63 

n/a 
Minimum lot depth 80 Ft 22-53, 56-63 
Minimum front yard 20 feet 22-53, 56-63 
Minimum side yard 5 feet* 22-53, 56-63 
Minimum rear yard 10 feet** 22-53, 56-63 
Maximum lot coverage No standard n/a 

 
C-1   



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 12 of 19 

Minimum lot area No standard n/a 
Minimum lot width No standard n/a 
Minimum lot depth No standard n/a 
Minimum front yard No standard n/a 
Minimum side yard No standard n/a 
Minimum rear yard No standard n/a 
Setback to R-1 lot 10 Ft n/a 
Maximum lot coverage No standard n/a 
Maximum building 
height 

30 feet (R-1) n/a 
35 feet (C-1) n/a 

*Or one foot for each 3 feet of building height, whichever is the greater. 
**For corner lot, either five feet or one foot for each 3 feet of building height, whichever is greater. 

(4)(c) Exceptions  
The single-family dwelling units on Lots 41 and 42, and Lots 52 and 53, would be attached to 
one another, with a zero-foot setback provided along in the interior side property lines between 
the lots. All other single-family dwelling units in Phase 2 will be detached from one another 
along the interior side property lines. The attached dwelling units on Lots 42 and 53 will employ 
a reversed floor plan, allow for side yard area to provide a buffer between these dwellings and 
the abutting 4-unit multi-family building (Lot 54) and civic building (Lot 55) to the immediate 
north. Therefore, an exception is requested to allow zero-foot interior side setbacks for Lots, 
41, 42, 53, and 53. 

None of the single-family dwelling units will have garages, but each lot will provide for two 
(2) off-street parking spaces. To provide for enclosed storage of refuse/recycling containers and 
other personal property, each dwelling will include an attached or detached storage building. In 
addition, certain lots (Unit Type ‘D’ on Lots 22-24 and 43-53) proposed an exterior access 
stairway that will straddle the property line between the lots. DBZO Section 152.061(A) allows 
detached, non-habitable accessory structures to encroach up to the property line in rear and side 
setback areas, but attached structures are otherwise required to meet the same setback 
requirements as the primary structure. Therefore, an exception is requested to allow attached 
accessory structures and shared exterior access stairways to encroach into side and rear setback 
areas on certain lots.   

(4)(d) Tourist Accommodations  
In Whale Watch Phase 2, no tourist accommodations are proposed or allowed on any residential 
lots.  

(6) Final Engineering Plans 
Per DBZO 152.042(E)(6), based on the Preliminary Plan approval, the applicant is required to 
submit final engineering plans to be reviewed and approved by the City prior to any 
construction. The Applicant shall be responsible for all costs the City may incur by hiring a 
professional engineer to review and comment on the final engineering plans. Final engineering 
plans pertain to design and construction of infrastructure, i.e. streets, water, sewer, and storm 
drainage. 

(7) Time Limit of Preliminary Approval 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 13 of 19 

Per the revised Whale Watch Master Plan approval, substantial completion of Phase 2 shall 
occur by December 31, 2025. 

(G) Common Preliminary Plan Approval Criteria 
DBZO Section 152.042(G) describes Common Master Plan Approval Criteria, including 
DBZO152.042 Planned Development; the Depoe Bay Comprehensive Plan; other DBZO provisions, 
DBZO 152.250, et seq. Land Division; providing amenities and protections at a higher level than 
otherwise provided under conventional land development procedures; encouraging and promoting 
creativity and innovation; and proposing development in substantial harmony with the surrounding 
area.   
(1) Applicable Requirements 

The application materials contain a site plan, drawings of architectural styles, narrative, and other 
materials as required by DBZO 152.042. 

(2) Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Ordinance 
The proposed master plan, including the Phase 2 Preliminary Plan, would be consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan Housing Goal: To provide for the housing needs of the (year-around and 
seasonal) residents of the community. It would also be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 
Economy Goal: To enhance the economic growth of the city while preserving natural resources 
and character that make Depoe Bay the unique community it is. 

(3) DBZO 152.250, et seq. Land Division 
Compliance of Phase 2 with the City’s land division standards is addressed below. 

(4) Amenities and Protections 
The master plan and preliminary plan for Phase 2 are designed as a mixed use, pedestrian-oriented 
development with a range of residential types and commercial services, providing essential 
protection of significant natural resources. 

(5) Flexibility and Innovation 
Exceptions to provisions of the Zoning Ordinance are proposed to allow a compact urban form 
that is conducive to pedestrian activity and natural resource protections. This flexibility 
encourages adaptive site design that respects the natural setting and adds character to the area. 

(6) Substantial Harmony 
The master plan portrays a mixed-use development of commercial uses along N Highway 101, 
and residential uses to the east comprised of detached and attached homes, live-work areas, and 
condominiums, interspersed by open spaces and a network of walks and paths. 

The layout is consistent with the overall pattern of land use at the northern end of Depoe Bay. To 
the south are single family homes in C-1 and R-1 zone; to the west is a concentration of tourist 
accommodations in the C-1 zone; to the north outside the City limit is State land associated with 
Boiler Bay State Scenic Viewpoint; and to the east is Phase 1 of the Depoe Hills Planned 
Development Bay (zoned R-2PD) and commercial timber land (zoned T-C) outside the City’s 
urban growth boundary. 

Compliance with Other Applicable DBZO Provisions: 

DBZO 152.055, et seq. Supplementary Regulations 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 14 of 19 

152.055 Clear Vision Areas. Clear vision areas are designated to ensure adequate sight distances and 
safe stopping distances for drivers. Clear vision areas are identified in Phase 2 were identified in 
the Conceptual Site Plan/Community Layout (below). The standards are 30-foot clear vision 
areas in the R-1 zone, and 15-foot clear vision areas in C-1 zone. 

 

 
152.056 Manager/Owner/Caretaker Residence. These provisions do not apply because the land is not 

zoned M-C or L-I. No such residence is proposed. 
152.057 Street Vendor Prohibited. These provisions do not apply to the preliminary plan. 

152.058 Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements. The Preliminary Plan for Phase 2 
proposes two (2) off-street parking spaces for each of the forty (40) proposed single-family 
residences (Lots 22-53 and 56-63), which is consistent with the provisions of DBZO Section 
152.058(T). Forty-two (42) additional on-street parking space are proposed along NE Shoreline 
Drive. The future, 4-unit multi-family building on Lot 54 will be required to provide a minimum 
of eight (8) off-street parking spaces. The parking requirement for the future civic building on 
Lot 55 will be based upon the proposed use at the time of development, consistent with C-1 zone 
standards.  

152.059 Distance from Property Line. The preliminary plan for Phase 2 demonstrates compliance with 
the 3-foot side or rear yard setback where the C-1 zone adjoins other C-1 property, and the 
structure would not be erected at the property line. Compliance with this standard would be 
determined during plan review for building permits. 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 15 of 19 

152.060 Exterior Lighting. Exterior lighting for uses in commercial and industrial zones shall be located 
in such a manner so as not to face or shine directly onto a lot in a residential zone, street, or 
highway. Compliance with this standard would be determined during plan review for building 
permits. 

152.061 General Provisions Regarding Accessory Uses, Fences, Retaining Walls, Hedges, and 
Decks. Compliance with these provisions would be determined during site development. 

152.062 Approval by City Inspector. City approved domestic water supply and sewage disposal would 
be extended to each building site during infrastructure installation and prior to issuance of 
building permits. 

152.063 Review of Fire Department. Fire hydrant placement, design of fire access roads, and other 
requirements of the Oregon Fire Code are subject to review and approval by the Depoe Bay Fire 
District.  

152.064 Building Permit Approvals. Construction of buildings and structures shown on the preliminary 
plan are subject to review and approval of building permits. 

152.065 Development Guidelines. The preliminary plan for Phase 2 is subject to any development 
guidelines adopted by the City pursuant to DBZO 152.065. 

152.066 Standards and Requirements for Condominiums and Time Share Projects. These provisions 
may apply to Lot 54 if it is developed as condominium rather than long-term rental units. The 
requirement to comply with these provisions will be imposed prior to the development of Lot 54.  

152.067 Temporary Placement of a Manufactured Dwelling. This section does not apply because no 
manufactured dwelling is proposed in the Whale Watch Planned Development. 

152.068 Design Features for Single-Family Dwelling. Compliance with this section would be 
determined during plan review for building permits. The applicant indicates that this includes at 
least two (2) items listed in DBZO 152.068(A)(1)-(11). Properties will be landscaped, and have 
a durable and dustless driveway surface. Proposed units may utilize a primary entry located on 
the side of the home to allow connectivity between streets and alley. Preliminary designs 
submitted are intended to show how single-family designs may be designed for the lot sizes and 
configuration proposed in the Phase 2 preliminary plan. Preliminary designs are subject to 
change and additional designs may be added prior to individual building permit submittal. 

152.069 Transient Occupancy of Dwelling Units. These provisions do not apply because tourist 
accommodations are not proposed or allowed under the Whale Watch Phase 2 preliminary plan.  

152.070 Transient Occupancy Business Registration/Amortization of Short-Term Rentals of 
Dwellings. These provisions do not apply because they pertain to transient occupancy of existing 
dwellings in existence at the time those provisions were adopted in 1996. There are no existing 
dwellings on the subject property. 

152.071 Siting Standards for Manufactured Homes. This section does not apply because no 
manufactured dwellings are proposed in the Whale Watch Planned Development. 

152.072 Protection of Streams, Ponds, Wetlands and Riparian Areas. The master plan for the Whale 
Watch Planned Development identified wetlands and riparian areas that are located within the 
boundaries of proposed Phase 2. These resources are mostly contained within Tracts E, F, I, J, O 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 16 of 19 

and P as open space areas. The grading and drainage plan (below) identifies a proposed detention 
pond on Tract P. These drainage and stormwater facilities will capture storm runoff from the 
development and prevent increased storm water runoff from entering the existing natural drainage 
channel and the ocean. These drainage and stormwater facilities are subject to State and Federal 
regulations and permitting requirements.  

 
152.073 Protection of Publicly Owned Lands.  There are no publicly owned lands within the Whale 

Watch Planned Development. The State of Oregon owns 25.50 acres adjoining to the north. 

152.074 Protection of Coastal Headlands, Areas of Exceptional Aesthetic Resources. The provisions 
for Forested Hillsides are applicable to the preliminary plan for Phase 1 as a subdivision greater 
than 3 acres. However, the area of applicability is limited to the riparian corridor along the creek 
where there are trees greater than 6 inches DBH. No development is allowed in this area under 
the provisions for Protection of Streams, Ponds, Wetlands and Riparian Areas discussed above.  

152.075 Protection of Historic and Archeological Sites. No listed historic sites are located within Phase 
2. Archeological records are not available to the public, but cultural resources have been 
identified within the revised Whale Watch Planned Development boundaries. Any resources 
inadvertently uncovered during site clearing and/or development would be reported to the State 
Historic Preservation Office, Siletz tribal authorities, and other agencies with jurisdiction over 
such resources. 

152.076 Clearing, Filling, Excavating, and Grading. Pre-development activities to clear and grade 
streets and building pads are subject to these provisions. 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 17 of 19 

DBZO 152.090, et seq. Signs 

Any proposed signs will conform with the provisions of the Depoe Bay Sign Ordinance. 

DBZO 152.185, et seq. Amendments (Zone Change Request) 

The Zoning Ordinance regulates planned developments through the Planned Development Zone, DBZO 
152.042. The Planned Development Zone retains the base zone, and takes on the Planned Development 
Zone as an overlay to the base zone. The process to apply the Planned Development Zone is the same as 
a change in the base zone, subject to the Zoning Ordinance provisions for amendments set forth in DBZO 
152.185. However, the base zone does not change when the Planned Development Zone is applied. This 
zone change is required by Condition 4 imposed by approval of the Whale Watch Master Plan in 2014: 

“Each phase of development requires an application for a zone change. The zone change will 
include adding the ‘PD’ suffix to the underlying zone. Additional zone change applications may 
be required.” 

The proposed zone change would add the ‘PD’ suffix to all of Phase 2. The underlying zone of Phase 2 is 
R-1 and C-1. The C-1 zone would be applied to Lot 55 (the future civic building) and Tracts F, O, and P, 
which would contain and/or provide access to the stormwater detention pond. The R-1 zone would be 
applied to the remainder of Phase 2 (Lots 22-54 and 56-63, and Tracts E and G-N). The criteria for an 
amendment for a zone change are set forth in DBZO 152.186(B). The applicable criteria for this request 
are as follows: 

(1) That the change is in accord with the land use plan for the area; and, 

STAFF ANALYSIS: The proposed zone change is consistent with the revised Whale Watch 
Master Plan, which was approved in 2023.  

(2)(a) That there has either been a substantial change in the character of the area since zoning was 
adopted and which warrants changing the zone; or that the zoning adopted for the area was in 
error. 

STAFF ANALYSIS: The proposed zone change implements the next phase of the revised Whale 
Watch Master Plan. There has been no change in the character of the area since the Whale Watch 
Master Plan was originally approved. Furthermore, there is no evidence that the requested zone 
change is intended to correct an error in the current zoning of the subject property. 

(2)(b) If the proposed change is not in accord with the land use plan for the area, the Planning 
Commission and the City Council shall seek to determine that an alteration of the plan can be 
justified on the basis that there has been a substantial change in the character of the area since 
the plan was adopted and which warrants a change in the plan, or that the plan adopted for the 
area was in error. 

STAFF ANALYSIS: As described above, the proposed change of zoning is in accord with the 
existing Whale Watch Master Plan. 

A zone change requires a recommendation from the Planning Commission and final decision by the 
City Council.  Zone changes in conjunction with Planned Developments are typically not finalized 
until development occurs.  Therefore, the zone change will be forwarded to the City Council once the 
Planning Commission grants preliminary plan approval for Whale Watch Phase 2. 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 18 of 19 

 

Proposed Zone Change 

Recommendation to Continue Public Hearing 
As mentioned above, this request is still being reviewed by other public agencies and City departments. 
Comments from this review are forthcoming, and may result is recommended revisions to the applicant’s 
proposal. In addition, due to the scope and complexity of the review of this application, Staff has been 
unable to complete the Staff report to address all of the various issues and standards that are applicable to 
the proposal. These include (but may not be limited to): 

• DBZO 152.225, et seq. Development Standards 
• DBZO 152.250, et seq. Land Division 
• Depoe Bay Comprehensive Plan – Transportation System Plan Consistency 
• Conclusions and Recommended Conditions of Approval 

Staff apologizes to the Commission and the applicant for being unable to produce a complete Staff report 
for review at the March 13, 2024, public hearing. Therefore, Staff recommends that the Commission 
review the information and analysis provided in tonight’s report; receive any testimony provided at the 
public hearing on March 13, 2024; leave the public hearing open; and continue this matter to the 
Commission meeting on April 17, 2024. 
Submitted by, 
 
Kit Fox, AICP 
City Planner 



#1-PD-PC-24 Whale Watch PD Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH PH 2 PRELIM PLAN/STAFF REPORT Page 19 of 19 

 
Attachments:  Whale Watch Amended Master Plan (Case File #1-PD-PC-23) 
 Whale Watch Phase 2 Preliminary Plan 
 Whale Watch Phase 2 Conceptual Architectural Plans 
 Whale Watch Phase 2 Zone Change 
 Relevant DBZO criteria: 

• DBZO Section 152.025 Residential Zone R-1 
• DBZO Section 152.030 Retail Commercial Zone C-1 
• DBZO Section 152.042 Planned Development Zone P-D 
• DBZO Section 152.055 Supplemental Regulations 
• DBZO Section 152.185 Amendments 
• DBZO Section 152.225 Development Guidelines 
• DBZO Section 152.250 Land Division 

 





 
 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH/FINAL ORDE  Page 1 of 14 

BEFORE THE PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

OF 
 

DEPOE BAY, OREGON 
 
 
Request for Planned Development Amendment ) Case File: #1-PD-PC-23 
In the Retail Commercial (C-1PD) and 
Residential (R-1PD) Zones  ) Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 
 
APPLICANT/OWNER:  The Hills of Depoe Bay, LLC 

REQUEST:  The applicant requests approval of an amendment to the Whale Watch planned development 
to reflect changes in the configuration and phasing of the planned development to address and protect 
cultural and riparian resources identified on the undeveloped 42.71-acre site.  The amendment does not 
propose to change the number of dwelling units and/or the mix of allowed commercial uses approved for 
the Whale Watch planned development in 2018.1 

A. REPORT OF FACTS: 
 

1. Property Location:  The subject property is located at 1032 N Highway 101, and is further identified on 
Lincoln County Assessor’s Map 09-11-05B0 as Tax Lot 01200. 

 

 
1 Whale Watch Phase 1 was also approved in 2018, encompassing 6.20 acres at the south end of the 
planned development along NE Lillian Lane. Phase 1 has been partially constructed at this time, and 
consists of eighteen (18) single-family lots, a 16-unit multi-family development on a 1.43-acre site, and a 
0.77-acre commercial site at the northeasterly corner of N Highway 101 and NE Lillian Lane.  
 

Map & Tax Lot No. 09-11-05B0-01200 



#1-PD-PC-23 (Whale Watch Master Plan Amendment) 
Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH/FINAL ORDERS  Page 2 of 14 

2. Lot Size:  The subject property totals 42.71 acres.   

3. Zoning Designation: Retail Commercial (C-1), Residential (R-1) and Planned Development (P-D).   

4. Plan Designation: Commercial and Residential. 

5. Surrounding Land Use:  Vacant, undeveloped land is located to the east of the site, including Phase 1 
of the Depoe Hills Planned Development.  Single-family residential uses in Whale Watch Phase 1 are 
located to the south, and commercial development (timeshare condominiums) are located across 
N Highway 101 to the west.  Boiler Bay State Park is located just outside City limits to the north. 

6. Topography and Vegetation:  The site generally slopes from east to west with the eastern third of 
the site and a portion of the north end of the site having slopes exceeding 20% in some areas.  The 
western third of the site, near the highway, generally has a gentle slope.  The property has been logged 
in the past however there are numerous trees in the western and northern portions of the site. 

7. Existing Structures: None 

8. Utilities:  The following utilities are currently available to serve the subject property: 
a. Sewer:  City sewer service. 
b. Water:  City water service.   
c. Electricity:  Central Lincoln P.U.D.  

9. Development Constraints:   
a. Slopes exceeding 20% steepness 
b. Riparian resources 
c. Cultural resources 

 
B. EVALUATION OF THE REQUEST: 

1. Relevant Criteria: 
• DBZO Section 152.025 Residential Zone R-1 
• DBZO Section 152.030 Retail Commercial Zone C-1 
• DBZO Section 152.042 Planned Development Zone P-D 
• DBZO Section 152.058 Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements 
• DBZO Sections 152.185-152.188 Amendments 
• DBZO Sections 152.225-152.235 Development Guidelines 
• DBZO Sections 152.250-152.265 Land Division 

Complete descriptions of the relevant criteria are attached to this Staff report. In addition, site 
development is subject to the current criteria of the Whale Watch Phase 1 Master Plan. 

2. Applicant’s Proposal:  The applicant submitted the application forms and fee/deposit for an 
amendment to the Whale Watch Planned Development Master Plan on June 14, 2023, along with the 
following material: 
• Master Plan Amendment narrative 
• Master Plan Amendment exhibits  



#1-PD-PC-23 (Whale Watch Master Plan Amendment) 
Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH/FINAL ORDERS  Page 3 of 14 

The applicant’s narrative describes the following justification and scope of the proposed master plan 
amendment: 
The Whale Watch approved PUD in the city of Depoe Bay, Oregon, occupies a 51-acre site along the 
Oregon Coast Highway (Hwy 101). In 2014, the site received master plan approval for a mix of uses, 
with specified quantities for each use outlined. This approval was revised by the original owner and 
reapproved by the city in 2018. 
 
In February of 2021, the site was purchased by Depoe Hills LLC, the adjacent landowner of The Hills 
of Depoe Bay. Between March 2021 and November 2021, Depoe Hills LLC completed the wetlands 
and archaeological studies for the property. The reports provided us with information about important 
archeological findings on the site as well as a better understanding of the wetlands. Following a 
careful analysis of the reports, we turned to our land planners, Duany Plater-Zyberg and our 
engineering team at Parametrix to help us revise the original plans to be responsive to the findings, 
working toward less impact overall to the site. The amended plan that we are submitting maintains 
the original approved uses and quantities, however, it makes adjustments to protect the entire 
Archaeological area, adjusts some wetlands development to reduce it as much as possible and 
implements a slightly different approach to the commercial area. 
 
Additionally, this proposed amendment to the Whale Watch Master Plan maintains the essential 
features of the 2018 plan but adopts a focus on creating a walkable mixed-use village neighborhood. 
With a central village green, a network of small blocks, a main street retail/commercial area, and a 
variety of housing types. We believe this plan will create a more cohesive, walkable neighborhood 
environment. The neighborhoods to the east of the village will provide the opportunity to develop a 
variety of housing types as well: a four-plex apartment, cottages, single family attached homes, single 
family detached and live-work units. 
 
This Master Plan Amendment creates a slightly different phasing plan that also responds to the study 
results. While the two primary entries to the site - Shoreline Drive (off Lillian Lane), and Baleen Drive 
(off Hwy 101) are in the same locations there are slight shifts designed to accommodate grade 
challenges. As you will see in the attached proposal, the open space percentages, hotel location, 
commercial square footage, and pedestrian connectivity are unchanged. There is also a chart that 
demonstrates that the unit counts remain the same. 
 
The revisions involve the following items: 
 
1. Roads and accesses: 

a. Slight revisions to the interior road configuration have been made to improve the 
constructability and slope. We are focusing on using the old logging roads, which already exist 
on the site. 

b. The other 2 entries to the site have been slightly realigned: the northwest entry from Hwy 101 
and the northeast entry from upper Lillian Lane. 

c. Note: The southwest entry from Lillian Lane just above Lot 19 (Phase 1) was removed in 
previous application because of safety concerns about its location at a curve and its steep 
slope. 

 
2. Commercial area layout/main entry, Main Street and village green: 



#1-PD-PC-23 (Whale Watch Master Plan Amendment) 
Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH/FINAL ORDERS  Page 4 of 14 

a. The creation of a main street on 'Baleen Drive', the primary entry off Hwy 101, with 
symmetrical building setbacks and welcoming plazas on each side creates a walkable 
experience offering a variety of commercial opportunities for residents and travelers alike. 

b. The shop-lined main street leads to a small civic building - a village hall, community center or 
even museum - situated at the base of the hill, overlooking the central green. The green is 
flanked by retail/live work. We have also included space for a small market. 

c. This layout also preserves many of the existing mature trees - especially at the primary 
entrance to Whale Watch off Hwy 101. They will provide separation from the highway and 
help to create a welcoming transition from the highway to main street. 

 
3. Archaeological area: To protect the large cultural site, changes to the original plans are required 

for the road configuration, commercial building location and wetland/water management 
planning. Emerging at the north end of the green, Baleen Drive now turns to skirt the large open 
space that preserves the Native American archaeological site and a wetland area. 

 
4. Hotel and restaurant site: Our change to the hotel area is to propose a more intimate cabin/cottage 

style of lodging experience to take advantage of site's proximity to the state park on the north and 
rerouting the access road to the highway to keep it out of the sensitive areas. 

 
As you are aware, Phase I of Whale Watch has already been approved and development is well 
underway. Several homes have been completed, and several are under construction. Lillian Lane, the 
current primary access road has been constructed into Phase 1 of The Hills of Depoe Bay (Depoe 
Hills). In 2017, an amendment to the Phase 1 site plan allowed the 16 condominiums slated for Lots 
19 and 20 to be substituted with 16 rental apartments. Those two lots have received approval for 
consolidation and the plans for the 16 units are in for permit review while final wetland mitigation 
reviews are being completed by the appropriate agencies with an anticipated approval date of October 
2023. 

 
3. Public Hearing.  A public hearing was held on August 9, 2023, before the Depoe Bay Planning 

Commission. All interested parties – including the property owner/applicant and surrounding property 
owners – were given an opportunity to provide written and oral testimony. 

 At the outset of the public hearing, Commissioner Imbrie recused himself from participating in the 
public hearing due to previous professional services that he had provided to the developer of the Whale 
Watch planned development. With the absence of Commissioner Moreland from the meeting, only 
three (3) Commissioners remained to consider the application (President Faucett, Vice President 
Sherman, and Commissioner Steinke), which did not constitute a quorum of the Commission (Depoe 
Bay Municipal Code Section 32.02(B)(4)). Following brief discussion with Staff and consultation of 
the League of Oregon Cities website, the Commission invoked the “Rule of Necessity” under ORS 
244.120(2)(b)(B) to allow Commissioner Imbrie to participate for the purpose of achieving a quorum. 
Commissioner Imbrie was directed to refrain from discussion or deliberation, but was allowed to vote. 

4. Public Testimony: Notice of this public hearing was mailed to property owners within a 250-foot 
radius of the subject property on July 19, 2023, and was published in the Newport News-Times on July 
21, 2023. As of the date that this report was completed, Staff had received no public testimony 
regarding this proposal. The applicant provided oral testimony in favor of the proposal at the public 
hearing. Fran Recht provided oral testimony in opposition to the proposal at the public hearing. 



#1-PD-PC-23 (Whale Watch Master Plan Amendment) 
Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH/FINAL ORDERS  Page 5 of 14 

 
 



#1-PD-PC-23 (Whale Watch Master Plan Amendment) 
Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH/FINAL ORDERS  Page 6 of 14 

C. STAFF ANALYSIS: The Planning Commission reviews the proposal for conformance with the 
appropriate standards of the Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance (DBZO).  The Planning Commission 
should evaluate the evidence provided in the record, as well as testimony given at the public hearing, 
to determine whether the facts justify that relevant criteria are satisfied. 

 
1. General Description of Proposed Whale Watch Planned Development: The Whale Watch Planned 

Development is described in the attached Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order for Case File #2-
PD-PC-17, dated January 11, 2018. It includes a hotel, 71,250 square feet of commercial space, and 
161 residential dwelling units, including live/work units, attached and detached single-family units, 
and multi-family units.  Thirty-nine percent (39%) of the total site is proposed to be open space. Whale 
Watch Phase 1 has commenced construction, and includes eighteen (18) single-family lots, a 16-unit 
multi-family development on a 1.43-acre site, and a 0.77-acre commercial site. 
As described above in the applicant’s narrative, the proposed amendments under Case File #1-PD-PC-
23 are primarily for site plan reconfiguration to avoid impacts upon riparian and cultural resource 
areas. The amended master plan would allow for a hotel, 71,250 square feet of commercial space, and 
161 dwelling units. Site open space would increase slightly from 39% to 39.4%. Parking requirements 
and provisions for the use of certain dwelling units as tourist accommodations would remain the same 
as approved in 2018. 

2. Amending an Approved Planned Development Master Plan, Preliminary Plan: DBZO Section 
152.042(J) states that the process for amending an approved plan is a new approval by the Planning 
Commission.  The foregoing written narrative and the attached exhibits describe and depict the scope 
of the proposed amendments to the Whale Watch Planned Development Master Plan under Case File 
#1-PD-PC-23. Unless otherwise modified in the attached narrative and exhibits, the previous findings, 
conclusions, and final order for Case File #2-PD-PC-17 remain in effect. 

3. General Requirements of a Planned Development: DBZO Section 152.042(B) lays out the general 
requirements that govern planned developments. As described above, the proposed master plan 
amendments involve reconfiguring the site layout to avoid impacts upon riparian and cultural 
resources. The approved zoning designations, development standards (setbacks and building height), 
mix of uses, numbers of dwelling units (including units that may be used as tourist accommodations), 
off-street parking, vehicular access from N Highway 101, open space requirements and other project 
characteristics will not change with the approval of this master plan amendment. 

4. Master Plan Compliance with Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance: DBZO Section 152.042(D) describes 
the Master Plan Review Procedure and states that the content of a Master Plan shall include all items 
described in DBZO Section 152.042(F), including (but not limited to) plans/maps, drawings of 
architectural styles, narrative, additional maps or narrative needed to determine compliance, phasing, 
requested exceptions, and desired variances, zone changes, etc.  As described above, the proposed 
master plan amendments primarily involve reconfiguring the site layout to avoid impacts upon riparian 
and cultural resources. The previously-approved mix of uses in the Whale Watch Planned 
Development will not change as a result of this master plan amendment. 
The reconfiguration of the site layout does result in changes to the phasing of the project, both in terms 
of the location and the timing of future development phases. As described above, Whale Watch Phase 
1 was approved in 2018 and is under construction. In September 2022, the Planning Commission 
approved 1-year time extensions for future phases of Whale Watch as follows: 



#1-PD-PC-23 (Whale Watch Master Plan Amendment) 
Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH/FINAL ORDERS  Page 7 of 14 

• Phase A1: 2021-2024 
• Phase A2: 2024-2027 
• Phase B1: 2027-2030 
• Phase B2: 2030-2033 
• Phase B3: 2033-2036 
• Phase C1: 2036-2039 
• Phase C2: 2039-2042 
• Phase C3: 2042-2045 

 
With the reconfigured site layout, the following project phasing is now proposed: 

• Phase 2: 2022-2025 
• Phase 3: 2024-2027 
• Phase 4: 2027-2030 
• Phase 5: 2030-2033 
• Phase 6: 2033-2036 
• Phase 7: 2036-2039 
• Phase 8: 2039-2042 

 
As mentioned in the narrative above, the applicant is still working on final approval of the wetland 
mitigation plan. As such, Staff recommends granting an additional year for Whale Watch Phase 2, 
which would otherwise expire in January 2024. 

5. Common Master Plan Approval Criteria: DBZO Section 152.042(G) describes Common Master 
Plan Approval Criteria including planned development standards; Comprehensive Plan consistency; 
zoning ordinance provisions; land division criteria; providing amenities and protections at a higher 
level than otherwise provided under conventional land development procedures; encouraging and 
promoting creativity and innovation; and proposing development in substantial harmony with the 
surrounding area.  These criteria were found to be satisfied with the approval of the Whale Watch 
Master Plan in 2018, and the scope of the proposed master plan amendments under Case File #1-PD-
PC-23 do not conflict with this previous determination. As described above, the proposed master plan 
amendments involve reconfiguring the site layout to avoid impacts upon riparian and cultural 
resources. The approved zoning designations, development standards (setbacks and building height), 
mix of uses, numbers of dwelling units (including units that may be used as tourist accommodations), 
off-street parking, vehicular access from N Highway 101, open space requirements and other project 
characteristics will not change with the approval of this master plan amendment. 

6. Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements: DBZO Section 152.058 describes off-
street parking and loading requirements.  Specific parking requirements for the Whale Watch Master 
Plan were approved in 2018, including provisions specific to the use of certain dwellings as tourist 
accommodations. These previsions remain in effect as a part of the requested master plan amendment 
under Case File #1-PD-PC-23. 
 

7. Zone Change Request: The subject property is zoned Retail Commercial C-1 along N Highway 101, 
with the remainder of the site zoned Residential R-1. Implementing the new site zoning under the 
Whale Watch Planned Development involves adding the ‘PD’ suffix to the underlying zones. In 



#1-PD-PC-23 (Whale Watch Master Plan Amendment) 
Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH/FINAL ORDERS  Page 8 of 14 

addition, based upon the 2018 approval of Case File #2-PD-PC-17, 9.35 acres of R-1 zoned land is to 
be rezoned to C-1.  This rezoning is to be accomplished as final approval is granted for each future 
phase of development. The reconfigured site layout will slightly alter the zoning boundary between 
the C-1 and R-1 portions of the site. These zone changes will be reviewed by the Planning Commission 
as future development phases are presented for final approval. 

8. Steep Slopes: The subject property includes areas of steep slope in excess of 20%.  DBZO Section 
152.225-152.235 establish the requirement for geologic hazards permits in these steep slope areas. 
This requirement will continue to apply to the reconfigured master plan area, including the 
construction of both future streets and buildings. Site specific geologic hazards permits are required 
prior to approval of building permits on sites with slopes exceeding 20%. 

9. Comprehensive Plan - 2017 Depoe Bay Transportation System Plan (TSP): The 2017 TSP 
identifies six projects in the vicinity of the Whale Watch Planned Development.  The six projects are 
identified below. 
 

• Project S1. US 101 Sidewalk Infill – North Segment East Side: North city limits to Lane St. on 
the east side of US 101. 

• Project S3. Lillian Ln. Sidewalk Extension:  Extends the existing sidewalk on Lillian Lane east. 
• Project M1. Lillian Lane Extension Multi-use Path:  Separate path along Lillian Lane 

extension. 
• Project B5. Lillian Lane Bike Route:  Lillian Ln., from US 101 to the beginning of multi-use 

path M1. 
• Project X1. Worldmark Crosswalk: US 101 at Worldmark main entrance. 
• Project T8. New Northbound Whale Watch Bus Stop:  East side of US 101, near planned Whale 

Watch entrance. 
The findings, conclusions, and final order for Case File #2-PD-PC-17 describe how these TSP projects 
are to be implemented with the future development of the Whale Watch Planned Development. These 
requirements continue to be in effect for the amended Whale Watch Master Plan under Case File #1-
PD-PC-23. 
In conclusion, the Planning Commission finds that, other than for the reconfiguration of the site 
layout to avoid impacts to riparian and cultural resources, the general description of the 
proposed amendment of the Whale Watch planned development master plan is consistent with 
the previous 2018 approval. The Zoning Ordinance requirements to amend the master plan have 
been satisfied by the public hearing process through which this request has been reviewed. The 
amended master plan remains consistent with applicable provisions of Section 152.042 of the 
Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance for planned developments. The timing of the next phase of the 
Whale Watch planned development (Phase 2) has been extended for an additional year to 2025, 
but the subsequent phasing is consistent with the time extensions granted by the Planning 
Commission in 2022. Off-street parking and loading standards will continue to comply with the 
provisions of Section 152.058 of the Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance. The implementation of future 
zone changes to adjust boundaries between the C-1 and R-1 zones, and to append the PD suffix, 
shall be accomplished as final approval is granted for each phase of development. Development 
in areas of steep slopes shall be subject to the provisions of Sections 152.225-152.235 of the Depoe 
Bay Zoning Ordinance. The amended master plan shall also include the implementation of six 
(6) adjacent and nearby projects identified in the 2017 Transportation System Plan.  



#1-PD-PC-23 (Whale Watch Master Plan Amendment) 
Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH/FINAL ORDERS  Page 9 of 14 

D. CONCLUSION: In evaluating the request, the Planning Commission bases its decision on 
compliance with the applicable code standards.  The Planning Commission finds the request satisfies 
the applicable criteria, and tentatively approves the requested replat subject to the following conditions 
of approval: 

 
1. Planned Development Master Plan Approval.  Approval of the amended Whale Watch Master Plan 

is based on the submitted narrative and plans dated June 14, 2023, and other submitted materials.  The 
approved master plan includes a hotel, 71,250 square feet of commercial, and 161 residential dwelling 
units including 20 live/work units, 116 single-family units (attached and detached), and 25 multi-
family units (apartments and condominiums). Vehicular access and circulation are substantially the 
same as approved in the original Master Plan.  39.4% of the total site is proposed to be open space.  
The Master Plan approval allows for 9.35 acres to be rezoned from R-1 Residential to C-1 Retail 
Commercial. 
 

2. Phasing.  The timing of the Master Plan approval for the entire development is based on the following 
phasing schedule.  Preliminary Plan approval for each phase of development is valid for a period of 
three years that run concurrently in no particular sequence as follows:  

 
Phase 

No. 
 

Substantial Completion 
1 Approved 2018 
2 2022-2025 
3 2024-2027 
4 2027-2030 
5 2030-2033 
6 2033-2036 
7 2036-2039 
8 2039-2042 

The Phasing Plan is delineated on Sheets 19 and 20 of the submitted Plans.  Each phase shall extend 
streets and services in a systematic and orderly fashion.  The Phasing Plan may be accelerated. Master 
Plan approval is no longer effective if the phasing schedule is not adhered to. 

3. Subsequent Review and Approval.  Per DBZO Section 152.042, each phase of development requires 
preliminary plan approval by the Depoe Bay Planning Commission through a public hearing process.  
Planned development exceptions may be requested at the time preliminary plans for each phase are 
submitted.  The Planning Commission shall review and make a determination on requested exceptions.  
Changes to the Master Plan require a Master Plan amendment. 

4. Zone Changes.  Upon Preliminary Plan approvals for each phase of development, a zone change will 
occur that adds the ‘PD’ suffix to the underlying zone, e.g. “C-1 PD” and “R-1 PD”.   
This Master Plan includes a requested zone change for 9.35 acres from R-1 Residential to C-1 Retail 
Commercial.  The Master Plan approval does not guarantee approval of the zone change from R-1 



#1-PD-PC-23 (Whale Watch Master Plan Amendment) 
Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH/FINAL ORDERS  Page 10 of 14 

Residential to C-1 Retail Commercial.  The zone change request will be reviewed by the Planning 
Commission during the Preliminary Plan submittal process, and a recommendation will be made for a 
final decision by the City Council. 

5. Tourist Accommodations.  Approved Tourist Accommodations shall be in accordance with the 
following table. 

Tourist Accommodation Requirements for a Planned Development Master Plan 
Requirement Proposed Whale Watch PD 

Max. 15% of total land area of underlying R-1 
through R-5 zones. 

Total proposed residential zoned land = 24.79 acres 
15% = 3.72 acres 
Proposed tourist accommodation area = 3.75 acres 
(15.13%) 

PD shall have a minimum 5 acres. PD totals 49.22 acres 
Tourist accommodations in residential zones 
are limited to single family and two-family 
dwellings with a maximum of 5 bedrooms. 

Applicant is requesting a PD exception to allow up to 
16 condominiums and one 4-plex to be occupied as 
tourist accommodations.  One building in Area 1 is 
initially proposed as a sales office with 3 guestrooms 
and eventually a single-family tourist accommodation. 

Tourist accommodations shall be contiguous, 
cohesive, and compatible with the entire 
development. 

Applicant Sheet #7 (for Case File #2-PD-PC-17) 
identifies the groupings of tourist accommodation areas.  
Architectural style is proposed to be subject to the same 
architectural review as other residential homes. 

Tourist Accommodation CC&Rs A requirement of subsequent preliminary plans for 
phases is to include specific tourist accommodation 
standards in CC&Rs. 

 
Areas Proposed for Tourist Accommodation 

Area Number, Type of Residential Units Acres Phase 
1 10 detached homes, 1 detached home is initially proposed as a sales 

office with 3 guestrooms. 
1.31 1 

2 6 detached homes 0.74 1 
3 16 condominiums 1.10 1 
4 4-plex 0.60 3 

Totals 16 detached homes (1 initially with 3 guest rooms) 16-
condominiums, 4-plex 

3.75  

 
Tourist accommodations shall be subject to the same architectural review as owner-occupied homes 
in later phases of Whale Watch. They would be buffered by distance, elevation, and orientation from 
other homes. To mitigate the potential impacts of tourist accommodations, the following standards 
would apply to each tourist accommodation: 

• Guests would be informed in the rental agreement of the “house rules” including a prohibition 
against excessive noise, lights, dust, smoke, odors, and electromagnetic frequencies.  



#1-PD-PC-23 (Whale Watch Master Plan Amendment) 
August 9, 2023, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH/FINAL ORDERS  Page 11 of 14 

• CC&Rs would inform each Owner that only low voltage lighting and/or motion sensor lighting is 
allowed. 

• CC&Rs would inform each Owner that on-site parking would be provided at the time of 
construction, including one space per bedroom (two spaces minimum per unit) plus one additional 
parking space per unit. See Preliminary Plan Sheet 3 (for Case File #2-PD-PC-17). 

• Guests would be informed in the rental agreement that a garbage and recycling enclosure would 
be sited on Lot 21 for the use of detached homes. This arrangement would be temporary, at least 
for Phase 1. A permanent location would be designated in a future phase. The condominiums 
would have a similar enclosure. 

• CC&Rs would inform each Owner of their responsibility to remain in substantial compliance with 
applicable provisions of state laws. 

• Guests would be informed in the rental agreement that the number of occupants is limited to two 
persons per bedroom plus one additional person per unit. 

• CC&Rs would inform each Owner of their responsibility to maintain a sign posted inside the 
tourist accommodation unit that identifies a local contact person by name and by license number 
who is available anytime day or night. An exterior sign shall be posted in the tourist 
accommodation area containing the same information. 

• CC&Rs would inform each Owner of their responsibility to obtain a business from the City of 
Depoe Bay; to ensure that the property management company has a City business license; and to 
ensure that transient room taxes are collected and paid to the City. CC&Rs would further notify 
each Owner that violation of applicable requirements or standards may result in revocation of the 
business license. 

The Master Plan approval does not guarantee approval of the tourist accommodations.  The Planning 
Commission will review and make decisions during the Preliminary Plan submittals when additional 
detail for the requested tourist accommodations is provided, e.g. size of buildings, number of 
bedrooms per dwelling, etc. 

6. Traffic Impact Study.  Development shall occur in accordance with recommendations identified in 
the June 2017 Whale Watch and Hills of Depoe Bay Traffic Impact Study (TIS) and in accordance 
with ODOT and City of Depoe Bay recommendations and approvals.  The TIS includes, but is not 
limited to, the need for traffic signals on Hwy 101 when the developments generate enough trips to 
warrant the signal(s), sidewalks, crosswalks, and transit facilities.  A transportation compliance letter 
shall be submitted with each Preliminary Plan submittal in order to address on-site transportation, 
access and pedestrian standards, and to ensure that mitigation measures provided in the TIS are applied 
at the appropriate phase of development.  
The developer and/or homeowners association shall be responsible for maintenance of all streets. 

7. Parking.  Detailed parking plans shall be provided with each Preliminary Plan submittal.  Parking 
plans shall conform to DBZO Section 152.058 and Diagram A. Additionally, parking regulations 
identified in DBZO Section 152.042 Planned Development shall be addressed, i.e. tourist 
accommodation parking requirements and that all parking areas shall be paved within the planned 
development.  This Master Plan approval does not grant approval of parking for any phase.  With each 
Preliminary Plan submittal, the Planning Commission will review parking plans and determine if plans 



#1-PD-PC-23 (Whale Watch Master Plan Amendment) 
August 9, 2023, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH/FINAL ORDERS  Page 12 of 14 

are approved or revisions are required.  The applicant stated that preliminary plans will meet DBZO 
parking requirements. 

8. Open Space.  As identified in the Master Plan, a minimum 39.4% of the site shall be dedicated or 
reserved for outdoor recreation, park or natural land. 

9. Pedestrian Plan.  The connected public pedestrian network shall be provided as described in the 
application submittal and illustrated on Sheet 8 of the Plans (for Case File #2-PD-PC-17). 

10. Utilities.  Engineered plans, including capacity analyses of existing and planned city utility systems, 
shall be submitted with any phase of development for water, sewer, and storm drainage.  The City 
Superintendent shall review and approve water, sewer, and storm drain facilities for each phase of 
development.  Adequate utilities facilities must be provided both on-site and off-site.  For example, 
the wastewater treatment plant must have capacity to accommodate sewer for each phase of 
development.  The applicant shall be responsible for all costs the City may incur by hiring a 
professional engineer to review and comment on engineering plans.  The applicant shall be responsible 
for obtaining applicable state agency review and approval.  The applicant will be responsible for 
obtaining approval of other utilities, i.e. power, gas, cable, telephone, etc. 

11. Zoning and Requested Exceptions.  Per the Amended Master Plan submittal of June 14, 2023, the 
applicant may request exceptions at the time a Preliminary Plan is submitted for each phase.  
Requested zoning amendments and exceptions that may be requested include:  

a. Along the Oregon Coast Highway approximately 15.5 acres is zoned Commercial. Within that area, 
four low-lying areas are unsuitable for development and would be enhanced as natural areas. To 
the east, 33.7 acres are zoned R-1. Proposed Shoreline Drive is aligned with the current zoning 
boundary between C-1 and R-1. The proposed master plan would refine the location of this zoning 
boundary according to planned uses. A zone change would be proposed in conjunction with the 
preliminary plan for Areas A and B to rezone 9.2 acres from R-1 to C-1. 

b. A Planned Development overlay would be proposed in conjunction with the preliminary plan for 
each Area. This would allow clustering of home sites which preserves larger tracts of natural areas. 

c. A limited use overlay would be proposed in conjunction with the preliminary plan for Areas A 
and B to allow live/work units.  

d. Exceptions may be requested to standards for front, side, and rear yards, lot area, lot width, and 
lot depth for topographic reasons. 

e. Exceptions may be requested to limit building height by CC&Rs to protect view corridors. 

f. Exceptions may be requested to forested hillsides standards in DBZO Section 152.074(B)(4). It is 
unclear where this provision is applicable. Merchantable timber was harvested in 2003. Remaining 
stands of trees are located along the highway frontage. Isolated trees are found throughout the site. 
The hillside is densely vegetated with blackberries and other opportunistic vegetation.  

g. An exception may be requested to allow a retirement center as an alternative use to commercial 
or attached single-family homes. The location would be dependent on compatibility and 
operational characteristics according to conditional use standards. 



#1-PD-PC-23 (Whale Watch Master Plan Amendment) 
August 9, 2023, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH/FINAL ORDERS  Page 13 of 14 

h. A mixed-use building would span Lots 1-3 as shown on Master Plan Sheet 5 (for Case File #2-
PD-PC-17). This two-story mixed-use building would be occupied initially as a sales office on 
the ground floor with guest rooms on the second floor for overnight accommodations. As Hills of 
Depoe Bay expands at the end of Lillian Lane, the sales office could be replaced by another 
commercial use. 

i. An exception is proposed in Phase 1 to allow mixed use buildings and condominiums to be 
occupied as tourist accommodations, a use that is currently limited to single-family and two-family 
dwellings in a residential zone. 

j. An exception is proposed in Phase 1 to increase on-site parking by one space per unit in lieu of 
providing an overflow parking lot. 

With each requested exception, the Planning Commission will review and determine if any requested 
exceptions are granted.  The applicant acknowledges that the summary of proposed exceptions is 
simply a declaration for possible future requests, and that approval of the master plan does not 
constitute approval of any particular exception or zone change. 

12. General Architectural Style. General architectural style of the Whale Watch Planned Development 
shall in accordance with the submitted Exhibit 5 (six photographs, for Case File #2-PD-PC-17).  
Architectural features include large windows for viewing, exposed timber framing, and more recently, 
use of architectural details appropriated from the American Craftsman style that was popular in the 
early 1900s. 

13. Covenants, Conditions & Restrictions (CC&Rs).  In accordance with DBZO Section 
152.042(E)(4), Content of Preliminary Plan, application for Preliminary Plan approval of a Planned 
Development shall include proposed covenants, restrictions, bylaws, etc. of any homeowners’ 
associations and any taxing districts. 

14. Geologic Hazard Permits.  Any preliminary plan submittal for an area within identified faults or that 
includes slopes exceeding 20% shall include a geologic hazard report in accordance with DBZO 
Sections 152.225-152.235 Development Guidelines. 

15. Land Division.  The applicant shall be aware that approval of this Master Plan does not guarantee 
approval of land division standards.  Each phase of development shall be reviewed by the Planning 
Commission for conformance with DBZO Sections 152.250-152.265 Land Development. 

16. Archaeological Resources.  Development shall be conducted in a manner so as to minimize site 
disturbance and prevent irreversible loss of archaeological resources.  Before and during excavation, 
any discovery of archaeological resources shall mean that the applicant shall cease excavation 
activities, notify the State Historic Preservation Office and the Confederated Tribes of Siletz Indians, 
and meet State statutes before proceeding. 

  



































M

MM

O R E G O N     C O A S T      H I G H W A Y      1 0 1

SP
-1

SP
-2

SP
-3

SP
-5

SP
-4

SP
-6 SP

-7

SP
-9 SP

-8
SP

-1
1

SP
-1

6

SP
-1

8

SP
-1

7

SP
-1

2 SP
-1

3

SP
-1

5
SP

-1
4

O
 R

 E G
 O

 N
     C

 O
 A S T      H

 I G
 H

 W
 A Y      1 0 1

SP-1

SP-2
SP-3

SP-5

SP-4

SP-6

SP-7

SP-11

SP-18

SP-17

SP

O
 R

 E G
 O

 N
     C

 O
 A S T      H

 I G
 H

 W
 A Y      1 0 1

SP-18

SP-17

M

M
M

G
 H

 W
 A Y      1 0 1

SP-1

SP-2
SP-3

SP-5

SP-4

SP-6

SP-7

SP-9
SP-8

SP-11

SP-16

SP-18

SP-17

SP-12

SP-13

SP-15
SP-14

SP-1

SP-2
SP-3

SP-5

SP-9
SP-8

SP-11

SP-16

SP-12

SP-13

SP-15
SP-14

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

SP-16

SP-15
SP-14

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY
Site BoundarySite Boundary
Archeological SiteArcheological Site
WetlandWetland
Logging RoadLogging Road
Water FlowlinesWater Flowlines

Lillian Lane
Lillian Lane











A

C
D

H

H

H

H

B

E

F

G

J

J
J

J

J

J

J

J

J

J

J

J

K

K

K

K

K

K

L

L

K
N

N

N

N
N

N

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

H

J

I

I

I
I

J

O

N

D E P O E  H I L L S

O R E G O N  C O A S T  H W Y  1 0 1

B O S T O N  T I M B E R  O P P O R T U N I T I E S ,  L L C

LILLIAN LANE

L
IL

L
IA

N
 L

A
N

E

FIRE LANE

FIRE LANE

LAGUNA LANE

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

SHORELINE DRIVE

SHORELINE DRIVE

B
A

L
E
A

N
 D

R
IV

E

C
A

P
T
A

IN
'S

 C
O

U
R

T

ALLEY 1

ALLEY 2

ALLEY 3

ALLEY 4

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

J

MAIN SQUARE

VILLAGE HALL

CIVIC

RETAIL

VILLAGE ENTRY

LODGE / PARKING

CABINS

APARTMENTS (4-PLEX UNIT)

LIVE-WORK

SINGLE-FAMILY (ATTACHED OR DETACHED)

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITE

OPEN SPACE

GENERAL COMMERCIAL

APARTMENTS ABOVE COMMERCIAL

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

K

L

M

LEGEND:

N

O

PROPOSED MASTER PLAN AMENDMENT
Whale Watch Master Plan AmendmentJune 2023 15



S
D

S
D

S
D

STORM OUTFALL:
ODOT 18" CULVERT

D034406

S
D

STORM OUTFALL:
ODOT 18" CULVERT

D034406

STORM OUTFALL:
ODOT 18" CULVERT

D034406

D E P O E  H I L L S

O R E G O N  C O A S T  H W Y  1 0 1

B O S T O N  T I M B E R  O P P O R T U N I T I E S ,  L L C

LILLIAN LANE

L
IL

L
IA

N
 L

A
N

E

FIRE LANE

FIRE LANE

LAGUNA LANE

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

SHORELINE DRIVE

SHORELINE DRIVE

B
A

L
E
A

N
 D

R
IV

E

C
A

P
T
A

IN
'S

 C
O

U
R

T

ALLEY 1

ALLEY 2

ALLEY 3

ALLEY 4

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

DELINEATED WETLAND

IMPACTED WETLAND AREA

ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITE

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

LEGEND:

PROPOSED WETLAND IMPACTS:

TOTAL: 62,487 SQ. FT.

WATER MANAGEMENT & WETLAND STUDY PLANS
Whale Watch Master Plan AmendmentJune 2023 16



D E P O E  H I L L S

O R E G O N  C O A S T  H W Y  1 0 1

B O S T O N  T I M B E R  O P P O R T U N I T I E S ,  L L C

LILLIAN LANE

L
IL

L
IA

N
 L

A
N

E

FIRE LANE

FIRE LANE

LAGUNA LANE

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

SHORELINE DRIVE

SHORELINE DRIVE

B
A

L
E
A

N
 D

R
IV

E

C
A

P
T
A

IN
'S

 C
O

U
R

T

ALLEY 1

ALLEY 2

ALLEY 3

ALLEY 4

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

PRIMARY ROAD

SECONDARY ROAD

ALLEY

PEDESTRIAN WALK/PATH

LEGEND:

STREET & PEDESTRIAN PLANS
Whale Watch Master Plan AmendmentJune 2023 17



O1

O2

O3

O4

O5

O6

O7

O8

O9

O10

O10

O10

O11

O11

O12

O13

O14

O14

O15

O16

O17

O18

O19

O20

O21

O23

O22

O22

D E P O E  H I L L S

O R E G O N  C O A S T  H W Y  1 0 1

B O S T O N  T I M B E R  O P P O R T U N I T I E S ,  L L C

LILLIAN LANE

L
IL

L
IA

N
 L

A
N

E

FIRE LANE

FIRE LANE

LAGUNA LANE

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

SHORELINE DRIVE

SHORELINE DRIVE

B
A

L
E
A

N
 D

R
IV

E

C
A

P
T
A

IN
'S

 C
O

U
R

T

ALLEY 1

ALLEY 2

ALLEY 3

ALLEY 4

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

OPEN SPACE
Whale Watch Master Plan AmendmentJune 2023 18



PHASE 1

PHASE 2PHASE 3

PHASE 4

PHASE 5

PHASE 2

PHASE 7

PHASE 7

PHASE 8

PHASE 6

A

C
D

H

H

H

H

B

E

F

G

J

J
J

J

J

J

J

J

J

J

J

J

K

K

K

K

K

K

L

L

K
N

N

N

N
N

N

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

H

J

I

I

I
I

J

O

N

D E P O E  H I L L S

O R E G O N  C O A S T  H W Y  1 0 1

B O S T O N  T I M B E R  O P P O R T U N I T I E S ,  L L C

LILLIAN LANE

L
IL

L
IA

N
 L

A
N

E

FIRE LANE

FIRE LANE

LAGUNA LANE

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

SHORELINE DRIVE

SHORELINE DRIVE

B
A

L
E
A

N
 D

R
IV

E

C
A

P
T
A

IN
'S

 C
O

U
R

T

ALLEY 1

ALLEY 2

ALLEY 3

ALLEY 4

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

J

MAIN SQUARE

VILLAGE HALL

CIVIC

RETAIL

VILLAGE ENTRY

LODGE / PARKING

CABINS

APARTMENTS (4-PLEX UNIT)

LIVE-WORK

SINGLE-FAMILY (ATTACHED OR DETACHED)

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITE

OPEN SPACE

GENERAL COMMERCIAL

APARTMENTS ABOVE COMMERCIAL

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

K

L

M

LEGEND:

N

O

PHASING PLAN
Whale Watch Master Plan AmendmentJune 2023 19



Table 2, Summary of Land Uses in Revised Phases 

Phase Acres Units
Parking 

Spaces
Phase Acres

Single-Family 

Dwelling Units

Apartment/Condo 

Dwelling Units

Commercial 

SF

Live/Work 

Dwelling Units
Units Parking Spaces

(A-3) 6.12

16 detached homes, 

16 condominiums, 

3,500 SF commercial

108 1 8.44 18 16 4,800

As platted on 06/28/18, 

18 detached homes*,  

16 

condominimuns/apartments

, 3,500 SF commerical

108

A-1 5.8 31,250 SF retail/office 123 2 8.19 32
Retail moved to Phase 4; 32 

single-family
2/Dwelling Unit

A-2 2.08 10 live work units 44 3 4.09 25 4 2,450 6
25 single-family; 4 

apartments; 6 live work
2/Dwelling Unit

B-1 4.67

Hotel, 4,000 SF 

restaurant, 10,000 SF 

retail/office

100 4 3.94 4 5 20,000 14

Hotel/cabinets moved to 

Phase 8; 4 single-family; 5 

apartments; 14 live work 

2/Dwelling Unit; 

1/350 SF Retail

B-2 6.6

7,500 SF retail, 

15,000 SF grocery or 

community center

114 5 5.09 16
Retail moved to Phase 6; 16 

single-family
2/Dwelling Unit

B-3 2.26
Restaurant, 10 live 

work
104 6 3.15 30,000

No Change; 15,000 SF 

retail, 15,000 SF grocery or 

community 

center/commercial

1/350 SF Retail

C-1 4.71 30 attached homes 4/home 7 10.34 21 21 single-family 2/Dwelling Unit

C-2 3.86 32 attached homes 4/home 8 7.91 14,000

No Change: Hotel cabins, 

4000 SF restaurant, 10,000 

SF retail/office

1/100 SF 

Restaurant; 

1/Guest

C-3 11.13
40 detached homes, 5-

plex
4/home

Summary of Total 47.23***

161 Units, 

71,250 SF 

commercial 51.15 116 25 71,250 20

161 Units, 

71,300 SF commercial 

* Note: 18 detached homes recorded in Phase 1

** miscalculated in 2018 when 3,500 SF moved from A-1 to Phase 1 (A-3)

***Missing 2 acres; 2018 MP approved as 49.23 Acres; Overall Site is 51.15 Acres

Proposed Master Plan Amendment 2023Approved 2018

Table 1, Master Plan Land Uses 

Land Use As Approved in 2018 Proposed Amendment 2023

Hotel Yes Hotel Cabins, No Change

Commercial 71,250 SF No Change

Live Work 20 20

Attached Homes (Dwelling Units) 64 -

Detached Homes (Dwelling Units) 55 -

**Subtotal of Single-Family Dwelling Units 119 116

Condominiums/Apartments 22 25

Open Space* 39% 39.4%

Summary of Total Dwelling Units 161 161

Summary of Total Commercial 71,250 SF 71,250 SF

*computed before deducting for streets



































































§ 152.025 RESIDENTIAL ZONE R-1.

   In an R-1 Zone, the following regulations shall apply.

   (A)   Uses permitted outright. In an R-1 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.225 through 152.235 where applicable:

      (1)   A single-family dwelling built on the site;

      (2)   Manufactured home;

      (3)   Pre-fab heated or modular dwelling;

      (4)   A temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used for dwelling purposes during the construction of a
permitted use for which a building permit has been issued, provided the temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational
vehicle:

         (a)   Is located during the time the construction is underway; and

         (b)   Will not remain more than one year from date of placement or 30 days following substantial completion, whichever
is earlier.

      (5)   Agricultural use of land provided that no livestock shall be raised or kept on the premises and provided further that
no commercial structure shall be constructed or maintained on the premises;

      (6)   Recreational vehicle (unoccupied) or boat, stored on a lot in combination with an approved building;

      (7)   Residential homes;

      (8)   Family day care provider;

      (9)   Transparent occupation; and

      (10)   Commercial fishing gear storage at the gear owner’s dwelling or adjacent lot under the same ownership. The gear
must be stored in a neat and orderly manner and must be non-toxic, non-hazardous, and cause no odor off-site.

   (B)   Conditional uses permitted. In an R-1 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, 152.130 through 152.136, and 152.225 through
152.235 where applicable:

      (1)   Cemetery;

      (2)   Church;

      (3)   Community center;

      (4)   Day nursery, nursery school, kindergarten, or similar facility;

      (5)   Governmental structure or use of land;

      (6)   Home occupation;

      (7)   Golf course or country club, but excluding golf driving range, miniature golf course, or similar facility;

      (8)   Private non-commercial recreation club, such as tennis, swimming, or archery club, but excluding commercial
amusement or recreation enterprises;

      (9)   Public park, playground, or swimming pool;

      (10)   Public school or private school offering curricula similar to public school;

      (11)   Public or private utility facility;

      (12)   Radio or television transmitter or tower; and

      (13)   Solid waste disposal transfer station.

   (C)   Standards. Except as provided in §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.130 through
152.136, in an R-1 Zone, the following standards shall apply.

      (1)   Lot size and dimension. The minimum lot size and dimension in an R-1 Zone shall be as follows:

         (a)   The minimum lot area shall be 5,000 square feet;

         (b)   The minimum lot width at the front lot line shall be 50 feet for an interior lot and 55 feet for a corner lot, except flag
lots. The staff of a flag lot shall have a minimum width and frontage of not less than 25 feet;

         (c)   The minimum lot depth shall be 80 feet; and

         (d)   Lot area for ocean front lots or lots with intervening ownership which does not prevent coastal erosion from
progressive deterioration of the property shall be determined by the amount of area from the line of mean high water to the



landward extent of the property.

      (2)   Yards. The minimum yard requirements in the R-1 Zone shall be as follows:

         (a)   The front yard shall be a minimum of 20 feet;

         (b)   Each side yard shall be a minimum of either five feet or one foot for each three feet of building height, whichever is
the greater;

         (c)   The street side yard shall be a minimum of 20 feet except this may be reduced by one foot for each foot the
average lot width is less than 60 feet, however, no street side yard shall be less than ten feet (see LOT WIDTH in § 152.003
of this chapter for method of calculation);

         (d)   The rear yard shall be a minimum of ten feet, except that on a corner lot, it shall be a minimum of either five feet or
one foot for each three feet of building height, whichever requirement is the greater; and

         (e)   No structure shall be located closer than 60 feet from the centerline of any state highway.

      (3)   Building height. No building in the R-1 Zone shall exceed a height of 30 feet.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 71, passed 8-19-1980; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord.
187, passed 2-16-1993; Ord. 236, passed 12-16-1996; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 268, passed 11-2-2004; Ord. 287,
passed 5-4-2010) Penalty, see § 152.999 



§ 152.030 RETAIL COMMERCIAL ZONE C-1.

   In a C-1 Zone, the following regulations shall apply.

   (A)   Uses permitted outright. In a C-1 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.225 through 152.235 where applicable:

      (1)   A single-family dwelling built on the site;

      (2)   Manufactured dwelling;

      (3)   A temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used for dwelling purposes during the construction of a
permitted use for which a building permit has been issued, provided the temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational
vehicle:

         (a)   Is located during the time the construction is underway; and

         (b)   Will not remain more than one year from date of placement or 30 days following substantial completion, whichever
is earlier.

      (4)   Agricultural use of land provided that no livestock shall be raised or kept on the premises;

      (5)   Recreational vehicle (unoccupied) or boat, stored on a lot in combination with an approved building;

      (6)   Pre-fabricated or modular dwelling;

      (7)   Two-family dwelling;

      (8)   Multi-family dwelling;

      (9)   Retail store or shop, such as food store, gift shop, drug store, apparel store, hardware store, furniture store, or
similar establishment;

      (10)   Repair shop for the type of goods offered for sale in those retail trade establishments permitted in a C-1 Zone
provided all repair shall occur entirely within an enclosed building;

      (11)   The manufacture, fabrication, and/or assembly of those goods offered for sale on the premises, provided all
manufacturing, fabricating, assembling, and storage not exceed 50% of the total floor area of the establishment, and
provided further that it shall occur within an enclosed building;

      (12)   Personal or business service establishment, such as barber or beauty shop, laundry or dry cleaning
establishment, tailor shop, or similar establishment;

      (13)   Clinic;

      (14)   Club, lodge, or fraternal organization;

      (15)   Financial institution;

      (16)   Indoor commercial amusement or recreation establishment, such as a bowling alley, theater, pool hall, or
aquarium;

      (17)   Mortuary;

      (18)   Newspaper office or print shop;

      (19)   Office;

      (20)   Private museum, art gallery, or similar facility;

      (21)   Restaurant, bar, or tavern;

      (22)   Home occupation;

      (23)   Automobile service station, including minor repair, provided it is conducted entirely within an enclosed building;

      (24)   Laundromat;

      (25)   Retail sale of sporting goods or bait;

      (26)   Condominiums;

      (27)   Public or private parking lots;

      (28)   Residential facility;

      (29)   Time share project;

      (30)   Tourist accommodation or resort; and

      (31)   Commercial fishing gear storage in the part of the zone adjacent to the harbor (Tax Map 09-11-08 AB, tax lots



600, 700, 800, 900, 1000, 1100, 1101, 1200, 1201, 7900, 8000, 8100, 8200, 90000, 90001, 90002, and 90003).

   (B)   Conditional uses permitted. In a C-1 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, 152.130 through 152.136, and 152.225 through
152.235, where applicable:

      (1)   Church, non-profit religious, or philanthropic institution;

      (2)   Community center;

      (3)   Day nursery, nursery school, kindergarten, or similar activity;

      (4)   Governmental structure or use of land;

      (5)   Mobile vending stand;

      (6)   Private non-commercial recreation club, such as tennis, swimming, or archery club;

      (7)   Public park, playground, or swimming pool;

      (8)   Public school or private school offering curricula similar to public school;

      (9)   Public or private utility facility;

      (10)   Radio or television transmitter or tower;

      (11)   Solid waste disposal transfer station;

      (12)   Recreational vehicle park;

      (13)   Outdoor commercial amusement or recreation establishment, such as miniature golf course or drive-in theater, but
not including uses, such as race track or automobile speedway;

      (14)   Hospital and/or nursing home;

      (15)   Drive-in services, such as a drive-in restaurant;

      (16)   Billboards;

      (17)   Kennel;

      (18)   Animal hospital;

      (19)   Automobile repair garage, provided all repair shall be conducted entirely within an enclosed building;

      (20)   Boat or marine equipment sales, service, storage, or rental; boat or marine equipment minor repair, provided all
such repair be conducted entirely within an enclosed building;

      (21)   Lumber or building materials, sales, and storage;

      (22)   Warehouse or storage area; and

      (23)   Child care.

   (C)   Standards. Except as provided in §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.130 through
152.136, in any C-1 Zone, the following standards shall apply:

      (1)   All yards abutting a lot in a residential zone shall be a minimum of ten feet;

      (2)   No building in the C-1 Zone shall exceed a height of 35 feet;

      (3)   Outdoor storage shall be screened with a sight-obscuring fence; and

      (4)   Kennels shall be located:

         (a)   No closer than 75 feet from a residential zone; and

         (b)   No closer than 20 feet from a property line.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 71, passed 8-19-1980; Ord. 92, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 130, passed 4-6-1987; Ord. 154,
passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 186, passed 12-22-1992; Ord. 187,
passed 2-16-1993; Ord. 217, passed 4-17-1995; Ord. 234, passed 12-16-1996; Ord. 268, passed 11-2-2004; Ord. 279,
passed - -2007; Ord. 327-21, passed 4-20-2021) Penalty, see § 152.999



§ 152.042 PLANNED DEVELOPMENT ZONE (P-D).

   (A)   Purpose. The purpose of the planned development procedure is to encourage and promote creativity and innovation
in site planning, design, and development through the application of flexible land development standards. Application of the
planned development procedure is intended to:

      (1)   Allow for and encourage development designs which provide suitable recognition of the physical, topographic,
cultural, historical, and natural resource values and constraints present on a particular site;

      (2)   Respect the surrounding context and enhance community character;

      (3)   Provide open space;

      (4)   Provide pedestrian and bicycle facilities, such as sidewalks in commercial and high density areas, hiking trails, and
bicycle trails;

      (5)   Permit greater flexibility in the siting of buildings and other physical improvements, and in the mixing of housing
types, in order to accomplish desirable design objectives;

      (6)   Provide adequate, structurally sound public and private streets and utilities;

      (7)   Ensure that development occurs in a manner consistent with the intent and purpose of the goals and policies of the
Comprehensive Plan;

      (8)   Ensure the safety of the residents of the city and visitors to the city;

      (9)   Allow logical, efficient development or redevelopment of adjacent properties within the P-D and properties adjacent
to the P-D;

      (10)   Supersede the provisions of §§ 152.250 through 152.265 of this chapter when the latter are expressly contrary to a
specific provision of this section, or upon application to and approval by the Planning Commission, provided such approval
is consistent with the purpose of this section; and

      (11)   Allow for flexibility of land uses, such as allow tourist accommodations in residential zones with standards and
ensure the developer and/or management company is responsible for all management of the tourist accommodation,
including but not limited to responding to noise, trash, overcrowding, and parking complaints. The intent is to place all
responsibility on the developer, management, HOA, or property owner, provide the public with easily-accessible
management contact, and minimize city time and expense related to the tourist accommodation use.

   (B)   General requirements. The following general requirements shall govern planned developments.

      (1)   A planned development may be established in any zone other than the T-C Zone.

      (2)   On land subject to an approved planned development, only those uses, structures, and other forms of development,
which have been set forth and authorized in a development plan approved in accordance with the provisions of this section,
or accessory use to such forms of development, may be established.

      (3)   (a)   A planned development may include any uses permitted outright or conditionally in the underlying zone. Where
the underlying zone is residential, any uses permitted in R-1 through R-5 Zones may be permitted when compatible with
each other and harmonious with adjacent uses.

         (b)   The one exception to division (B)(3)(a) above is the possible approval of short-term rentals (tourist
accommodations per § 152.003 of this chapter and including time shares) to the planned development. The total area of the
development that may be allocated to tourist accommodations in residential zoned areas shall be equal to or less than 15%
of the total land area of the underlying R-1 through R5 Zones. A planned development with tourist accommodations in
residential zones shall have a minimum of five contiguous acres. Tourist accommodations in residential zones shall be
limited to single-family and two-family dwellings with a maximum number of five bedrooms. The tourist accommodation area
shall be contiguous, cohesive, compatible with the entire development (use, architectural, traffic, and the like), buffered
(space, sight, and sound buffered) from all adjacent uses other than commercial uses, and buffered from adjacent properties
that are outside of the P-D. The following city standards shall apply, and the management entity may establish additional
standards. These following standards shall be part of the tourist accommodation area CC&Rs.

            1.   Nuisance control. No noise, lights, dust, smoke, odors, and electromagnetic frequencies generated on-site in
excess of the amounts normally associated with residential uses shall emanate off-site or interfere with surrounding
residential or commercial uses.

            2.   Lighting. Outside lighting shall be restricted to low voltage lighting and/or motion sensor lighting for security.

            3.   Off-street parking. For tourist accommodation dwelling uses, off-street parking space requirements are:

               a.   A single-family or two-family dwelling shall have one on-site parking space for each bedroom. A minimum of
two parking spaces shall be provided per dwelling;

               b.   A multi-family dwelling shall have one parking space for each bedroom located immediately adjacent to the
unit. A minimum of two parking spaces shall be provided per dwelling;

               c.   A parking lot for overflow vehicles, consisting of one additional space per dwelling unit, that shall be in the



immediate area of the tourist accommodations; and

               d.   If a dwelling unit is a residence plus a tourist accommodation, two additional spaces are required on the same
property.

            4.   Solid waste disposal. For tourist accommodation dwelling uses, a minimum 96-gallon vessel shall be provided for
each unit, and the unit shall have “carry-out”/“valet” (no need to put vessels at curb) service. A multi-unit dumpster type unit
may be substituted, it must be enclosed to the sight-line. Weekly solid waste pick-up is required during all months of the
year.

            5.   State law compliance. It is the property owner’s responsibility to ensure that a tourist accommodation dwelling
use remains in substantial compliance with state regulations for the following: health, safety, Building Code, Fire Code,
tourist accommodation statutes, and the Uniform Housing Code.

            6.   Occupancy. Tourist accommodation dwellings shall not exceed two persons per bedroom plus one additional
person per dwelling.

            7.   Signage. The management entity shall only have one exterior on-site sign for the tourist accommodation area.
The sign shall identify the site as a tourist accommodation area; identify a local contact person; state that the local contact
person is available 24 hours each day, seven days a week to handle rentals and complaints; and identify the local contact
person’s business license number. An interior sign with this same information shall be placed inside each tourist
accommodation in a noticeable location, such as, near the front door or in the kitchen.

            8.   Business license. For a tourist accommodation dwelling, the property owner and property management company
are required to have a city business license. In addition, for tourist accommodation dwelling uses, transient room tax
ordinance provisions shall apply.

            9.   Revocation. Any violation of the requirements or standards of this P-D Zone or any other city ordinance may
result in revocation of the transient rental unit business license.

      (4)   Overall residential density shall be as provided for in the underlying zone or zones. Density shall be computed
based on the total gross land area of the subject property, excluding area devoted to commercial or other non-residential
uses allowed in the underlying zone and resources protected under Goal 5, but including common areas.

      (5)   No building shall exceed the height allowed in the underlying zone.

      (6)   Yards, setbacks, lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements may be reduced, adjusted, or
otherwise modified upon application to, and approval by the Planning Commission, consistent with the design objectives of
the proposed development.

      (7)   In the event of a conflict between any applicable use zone provision and the allowances, limitations, or requirements
of an approved preliminary plan, the approved preliminary plan shall control.

      (8)   A planned development shall have a minimum of two contiguous acres, exclusive of street right-of-way. A planned
development with tourist accommodations in residential zones shall have a minimum of five contiguous acres.

      (9)   Excluding streets and parking, at least 35% of the land will be dedicated or reserved for outdoor recreation, park, or
natural land.

      (10)   Paved concrete sidewalks shall be provided in commercial areas and along Highway 101. The exception to this is
the Highway 101 right-of-way and the adjacent 40-foot wide designated forested corridor on both sides of Highway 101
right-of-way from south point street south to the city limits which shall instead include a four-foot wide walking/biking path (§
152.074(B)(3) of this chapter applies). The planned development shall also include a connected pedestrian system/network.

      (11)   Parking shall conform to § 152.058 and Diagram A of § 152.031, with the exception that all parking areas shall be
paved.

      (12)   A minimum 5% of a parking area shall be landscaped. Landscaping in parking and common open space areas
shall be installed according to plans approved by the city. Landscaping shall be installed in all yards adjacent to a public or
private street prior to final building inspections.

      (13)   Natural existing landscaping may be used to meet landscaping requirements. Landscape design and landscaping
areas shall serve their intended functions and shall not adversely impact surrounding areas. Required landscaping shall
include a mix of vertical elements (trees) and horizontal elements (grass, shrubs, ground cover, and the like). Section
152.074 of this chapter applies. Landscaped areas and open space shall be maintained. Invasive plant materials, as
identified by the USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service state listed noxious weeds shall be removed and shall not
be planted.

   (C)   General approval process. At a minimum, a preliminary plan and lastly a final plan shall be submitted for approval for
all planned developments. Once the preliminary plan is approved and the final engineered plans are reviewed and approved
by the city, work on the development’s infrastructure may proceed. The final plan is primarily an as-built of the streets and
infrastructure, and no building permits shall be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the plan. If the
planned development is to be developed in a number of individual sections or phases, each which is developed separate
from the others (a phased planned development), a master plan shall first be submitted for approval. Once the master plan
for the entire development is approved, each phase (section) of the development shall follow the standard preliminary plan



and final plan process.

      (1)   If the planned development is a phased planned development, the initial step is the submission of the master plan
for the entire development, which shall be submitted for approval as per division (D) below.

         (a)   The master plan is the over-arching plan of the entire development and of all phases. The primary purpose of a
master plan is to propose and establish the development’s overall concept, overall planning, and the integration of all
phases. Master plan approval does not permit development or construction to occur.

         (b)   If a master plan for a phased development is approved, the applicant or its successor shall obtain separate
preliminary and final approvals for each phase. For each individual phase, a preliminary plan shall be submitted for approval
as per division (E) below prior to any work starting on the infrastructure of that phase.

         (c)   If a preliminary plan for an individual phase impacts the master plan, an updated master plan shall be submitted
with that preliminary plan.

         (d)   A master plan is not required for a planned development that is not using a phased development approach.

      (2)   For a planned development that is not a phased planned development, the initial step of a planned development is
the submission of a preliminary plan for the complete development, which shall be submitted for approval as per division (E)
below. Work on the development’s infrastructure may only proceed once the preliminary plan is approved.

      (3)   A final plan shall be submitted for approval as per division (H) below upon completion of all conditions and
requirements of the individual phase preliminary plan or the entire development’s preliminary plan. No building permits shall
be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the final plan.

   (D)   Master plan. A master plan for planned developments shall be developed as follows.

      (1)   Master plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a master plan shall be as set forth in §
152.204(C) of this chapter.

      (2)   Content of master plan. Application for master plan approval of a planned development shall include all items
described in division (F) below. In addition, the following shall be included:

         (a)   A narrative describing the plans for phasing (if applicable);

         (b)   A summary describing the general locations for any reducing, adjusting, or otherwise modifying yards, setbacks,
lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements of this chapter; and

         (c)   A summary describing the general locations for any desired variances, exceptions, deviations, waivers, conditional
uses, zone changes, and the like, and a supporting narrative that acknowledges the zoning application procedure and
criteria order to obtain each approval.

      (3)   Approval on findings. Master plan approval by the Planning Commission shall be based on findings that criteria
described in division (G) below are satisfied.

      (4)   Approval date. Master plan approval is valid from the date all legal appeals are exhausted. Changes to an approved
master plan require an application for a master plan amendment to be reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission
as set forth in § 152.204(C) of this chapter.

   (E)   Preliminary plan. A preliminary plan for planned developments shall be developed as follows.

      (1)   Submittal. A preliminary plan shall be submitted for a non-phased planned development.

      (2)   Phase development. For a phased development, a preliminary plan shall be submitted for each phase of
development.

         (a)   A preliminary plan may be submitted for a phase concurrent with a master plan application. The Planning
Commission will review the preliminary plan the meeting after the master plan is approved.

         (b)   Each phase shall meet the criteria of divisions (E)(4), (F), and (G) below independently of the other phases.

      (3)   Preliminary plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a preliminary plan, which shall be as
set forth in § 152.204(C).

      (4)   Content of preliminary plan. Application for preliminary plan approval of a planned development shall include all
items described in division (F) below. In addition, the following shall be included:

         (a)   Proposed covenants, restrictions, bylaws, and the like of any homeowners associations and any taxing districts;

         (b)   A narrative describing the locations for any divergence from this chapter in the form of reducing, adjusting, or
otherwise modifying yards, setbacks, lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements;

         (c)   Submittal of any requests for variances, exceptions, deviations, waivers, conditional uses, and the like; and

         (d)   A narrative describing the specific area of any short-term rentals and describing how the rentals will be managed,
policed, the city transient room tax (TRT) and the city transient occupancy tax (TOT) are collected, and city TRT and TOT
are forwarded to the city.



      (5)   Approval; findings. Preliminary plan approval by the Planning Commission shall be based on findings that criteria
described in division (G) below are satisfied.

      (6)   Approval; final engineering plans. Based on the preliminary plan approval, the applicant is required to submit final
engineering plans to be reviewed and approved by the city prior to any construction. The applicant shall be responsible for all
costs the city may incur by hiring a professional engineer to review and comment on the final engineering plans.

      (7)   Time limit of preliminary plan approval. Approval of a preliminary plan in accordance with this section is valid after
the exhaustion of all appeals (see § 152.208). Infrastructure (streets and utilities) shall be designed and constructed in
accordance with current design standards unless specific exceptions are granted by the Planning Commission.

   (F)   Common content of master plan and preliminary plan. In addition to the forms prescribed by the city, an application
for master plan approval or a preliminary plan approval of a planned development shall include the following:

      (1)   A site plan map or maps depicting:

         (a)   All proposed residential and non-residential land uses;

         (b)   Any proposed tourist accommodation area in a residential zoned area, describing the type, location, and number
of each type of tourist accommodation (house, apartment, hotel, condo, time-share, and the like), also showing and
describing the buffering from adjacent uses;

         (c)   Parking areas and lots, showing number of spaces;

         (d)   Proposed lot or parcel boundaries;

         (e)   Proposed roads;

         (f)   Proposed pedestrian system and facilities;

         (g)   Significant natural features, such as wetland, streams courses, environmental hazards, and fish and wildlife
habitat areas; and

         (h)   Proposed open space, recreation areas, or other common elements, and approximate topography with contour
intervals of not more than ten feet.

      (2)   Drawings of the architectural styles of the different areas of the development;

      (3)   A written narrative describing the character of the proposed development, the manner in which it has been designed
to conform to divisions (A) and (B) above, including detailed discussion of how the proposal conforms to the requirements of
division (G) below, how the development meets the parking requirements of the § 152.058 of this chapter, proposed
methods of providing sewer, water, storm drainage, and other utility services, the method proposed for ownership, funding,
and maintenance of common areas, buildings, structures, roads, open space, landscaping, parking areas, fences, buffers
and/or sight, sound barriers to adjacent properties, or other facilities, public access to and use of the aforementioned, and
the proposed time schedule of development; and

      (4)   Other maps or narrative materials needed to determine compliance with any applicable provisions of this chapter, as
determined by initial review of the application for completeness.

   (G)   Common master plan and preliminary plan approval criteria. Approval by the Planning Commission of a master plan
or a preliminary plan of a planned development shall be based on findings that the following criteria are satisfied:

      (1)   All applicable requirements of this section are met;

      (2)   The proposed development is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and policies, and zoning provisions for
the area;

      (3)   Per § 152.251 of this chapter, the provisions of §§ 152.250 through 152.265 of this chapter shall be applicable to
approval criteria unless expressly contrary to a specific provision of this section;

      (4)   The proposed development will provide the following amenities or protections at a higher level than would otherwise
be provided under conventional land development procedure: protection of significant natural and cultural features and
resources, such as historical, scientific, and cultural resources, fish and wildlife habitats, stream corridors, riparian areas,
and wetlands; maintenance, enhancement or establishment of natural vegetation, especially indigenous plant communities;
protection of scenic and aesthetic qualities; and creation of a high quality built environment which harmonizes with the
natural and physical features of the site and includes design features such as, as examples only, suitably located open
space, recreation facilities, and other common facilities for inhabitants of the planned development; includes pedestrian
oriented development which reduces reliance on automobile travel, and provides similar measures to promote energy
conservation, or avoidance of risks and costs associated with environmental hazards;

      (5)   In acting to approve, the Commission shall be mindful of the purposes of this section by encouraging and promoting
creativity and innovation in site planning, and by allowing for flexibility in the application of design standards. The
Commission may also impose any conditions or limitations it finds necessary to achieve compliance with any provisions of
this section; and

      (6)   The proposed development is in substantial harmony with the area at least 250 feet outside the boundary of the



proposed development. In the case of a phased planned development, all phases shall also be in visible agreement with
each other architecturally and otherwise.

   (H)   Final plan. Upon completion of all conditions and requirements of a preliminary plan, application may be made for
final approval in accordance with the provisions of this section.

      (1)   Final plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a request for final plan approval shall be
as set forth in § 152.204(C).

      (2)   Certifications required for final plan approval. Requests for final plan approval shall be accompanied by the following
certifications, as applicable:

         (a)   A copy of all covenants and restrictions;

         (b)   Copies of legal documents required for dedication of public facilities or for the creation of a homeowner’s
association;

         (c)   As-built certifications for all required roads and utilities;

         (d)   If the planned development involves a division of land, the certifications required by §§ 152.250 through 152.265
of this chapter; and

         (e)   Other certifications required as a condition of the preliminary plan approval.

      (3)   Final plan approval criteria. The Commission shall approve a final plan provided that:

         (a)   The submitted final plan is in substantial conformance with the approved preliminary plan and master plan (if a
phased planned development); and

         (b)   All of the certifications required by division (H)(2) above have been submitted in proper form.

      (4)   Permits. No building permits shall be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the final plan.

   (I)   Retroactivity. The provisions in this section shall not apply to planned developments, or phases thereof, which were
granted preliminary plan approval prior to the effective date of this section. In those cases the prior version of this section
shall apply, unless said approval expires without applicant having obtained the final approval.

   (J)   Amending an approved planned development master plan or preliminary plan. When a developer or owner desires to
deviate from an approved master plan or preliminary plan, any applicable documents that would result in modification from
that change shall be submitted for approval. The review process is identical as a new planned development approval. As a
result of the change, the Planning Commission may require changes to approved uses, structures, and other forms of
development to ensure the proposed development remains consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals, policies, and
zoning ordinance provisions for the area, and to ensure all areas of the planned development remain in harmony following
division (A) and (B) of this section.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 310, passed 11-1-2016) Penalty, see § 152.999



§ 152.058 OFF-STREET PARKING AND OFF-STREET LOADING REQUIREMENTS.

   At the time a new structure is erected or the square footage is increased, or the use of the structure is changed, off-street
parking spaces, loading areas, and access thereto shall be provided as set forth in this section.

   (A)   Requirements for types of buildings and uses not specifically listed herein shall be determined by the Planning
Commission, based upon the requirements of comparable uses listed.

   (B)   In the event several uses occupy a single structure or parcel of land, the total requirements shall be the sum of the
several uses computed separately.

   (C)   Owners of two or more uses, structures, or parcels of land may agree to jointly utilize the same parking and loading
spaces when the hours of operation do not overlap, provided that satisfactory legal evidence is presented to the Planning
Commission in the form of deeds, leases, or contracts to establish the joint use and hours of operation.

   (D)   Off-street parking spaces for dwellings, hotels, motels, resorts, and time-shares shall be located on the same lot or on
a lot immediately adjacent to the lot served by such parking.

   (E)   Required parking spaces shall be available for the parking of operable passenger automobiles of residents,
customers, patrons, and employees only, and shall not be used for storage of vehicles or materials or for the parking of
trucks used in conducting the business or use.

   (F)   Areas used for standing and maneuvering of vehicles shall have durable and dustless surfaces improved adequately
for all-weather use, and shall be adequately maintained. Drainage shall conform to the city’s storm water master plan and a
drainage plan shall be approved the city field superintendent.

   (G)   Except for parking to serve dwelling uses, parking and loading areas adjacent to or within residential zones, or
adjacent to Highway 101, or residential uses shall be designed to minimize visual impacts by use of landscaping or by a
fence screened by landscaping.

   (H)   Parking areas used for public or private parking lots under the conditional use in an R-4 Zone must have garbage
containers available for garbage which may be generated by users of the parking lot. Such garbage containers must be
emptied on a regular basis and not less than weekly. Parking lots shall be posted with the following sign: “no camping or
overnight use” and shall have their hours posted. Parking lot hours shall not extend beyond 10:00 p.m. or open earlier than
4:00 a.m. If the property fails to enforce the parking prohibitions, the Planning Commission may review and consider
whether or not to revoke the conditional use permit.

   (I)   Parking spaces along the outer boundaries of a lot shall contain a curb or bumper rail at least four inches high and set
back four feet from the front of the space.

   (J)   Artificial lighting may be used in parking areas provided it is of low intensity, is pointed generally downward, and is
shielded if necessary so as to not create light or glare off-site.

   (K)   Except with respect to approved driveways, required off-street parking areas shall not be provided in the required
front or street side yard areas in a residential zone.

   (L)   Groups of more than four parking spaces shall be served by a driveway so that no backing movements or other
maneuvering within a street, other than an alley, will be required.

   (M)   A driveway designed for continuous forward flow of passenger vehicles for the purpose of loading and unloading
children shall be located on the site of any school having a capacity greater than 25 students.

   (N)   Buildings or structures which receive and distribute material or merchandise by truck shall provide and maintain off-
street loading berths of sufficient numbers and size to handle the needs of the particular use. Off-street parking areas used
to fulfill the requirements of this section may be used for loading and unloading operations during periods of the day when
not required to take care of parking needs.

   (O)   All spaces shall be permanently and clearly marked. Markings which guide safe and efficient traffic flow shall also be
permanently and clearly marked. All markings shall be replaced regularly to remain visible.

   (P)   All improvements, including surfacing, storm water management, striping, and landscaping shall be fully maintained
for the life of the parking facility. Failure to maintain such improvements shall constitute a violation of this chapter.

   (Q)   All parking lots shall be designed with spaces for handicapped drivers as provided for in the Building Code.

   (R)   The clear vision requirements set forth in § 152.055 of this subchapter shall apply to all parking lots at the intersection
of two streets or a street and an alley.

   (S)   For C-1 Retail Commercial Zoned properties, off-street parking requirements shall be located on the same lot or
within 500 feet (as measured by a direct line from the nearest property line to the nearest property line of the parking lot).

      (1)   On-street parking spaces that front the lot and are adjacent (on the same side of the street) may be counted in the
required parking. Over one-half of the parking space shall be directly within the street frontage of the lot in order to be
counted in the required parking.

      (2)   When the square footage of a business or structure is increased, or the use is changed, only the spaces associated



with the increased square footage or area of change must be added.

      (3)   No person who works or resides in properties fronting Highway 101 shall park a vehicle on Highway 101 while in his
or her place of employment, or in his or her residence between 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on any day. Single-family dwellings
are exempt.

      (4)   Parking on Highway 101 is limited to four hours between 6:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m.

      (5)   All parking shall be general purpose parking/public parking with the exception of residential uses which may have
designated off-street parking spaces. If required parking is off-site but within 500 feet, the applicant must provide written
documentation from the property owner authorizing the parking. If a variance to parking requirements is pursued, the
applicant shall demonstrate that off-site parking is not available within 500 feet.

   (T)   Off-street parking space requirements:

Animal hospital or kennel 1 space per 500 square feet
Any single- or multi-family residential use, including
condominium or time share 2 spaces per unit

Church, auditorium, meeting place, theater, gymnasium,
mortuary, or similar place of assembly

1 space for each 50 square feet of floor area used for
assembly

Dance hall, skating rink, pool hall, aquarium, bowling alley,
or similar commercial amusement enterprise 1 space for each 100 square feet of floor area

Day care, nursery school, kindergarten, elementary and
middle schools, and similar uses

2 spaces per classroom or instructional area, plus
requirements for offices, places of assembly, and the like

Financial institution, laboratory, or office 1 space for each 300 square feet of floor area

Golf courses 5 spaces per hole, plus the 75% the ancillary parking
requirements

High schools 8 spaces per classroom or instructional area, plus
requirements for offices, places of assembly, and the like

Hospital 3 spaces for each 2 beds
Laundromat 1 space per three machines
Library or similar facility 1 space for each 300 square feet of floor area
Manufacturing, fabrication, assembly, processing,
cabinetry, or similar use 1 space for each 1,000 square feet of floor area

Marina or other moorage facility 1 space per boat mooring space
Medical or dental clinic 1 space for each 200 square feet of floor area
Miniature golf 1.5 spaces per hole
Nursing home, residential facility, residential home, or
retirement home 1 space for each 3 beds

Personal or business service 1 space per 250 square feet
Public or private swimming pool 1 space per 100 square feet
Recreational vehicle park 3 spaces for each two RV spaces

Restaurants and bars
1 space for each 100 square feet of serving area (total floor
area where public is allowed, excluding restrooms and
other specified uses, such as designated retail space)

Retail store not handling bulky merchandise 1 space for each 350 square feet of floor area
Service or repair shop; retail store handling bulky
merchandise, such as automobiles, furniture, boats, marine
equipment, and the like; automobile service station, feed
and seed; heavy equipment; lumber or building supplies; or
similar uses

1 space for each 600 square feet of sales, storage, or repair
area

Tourist accommodation 1 space for each guest accommodation
Warehouse, storage, and wholesale business 1 space for each 2000 square feet of area

 

   (U)   The required size of parking spaces, aisles, driveways, and similar design features are set forth in Diagram A.
Required landscaping areas are not shown.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 71, passed 8-19-1980; Ord. 92, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 124, passed 7-1-1985; Ord. 130,
passed 4-6-1987; Ord. 145, passed 1-3-1989; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 234, passed
12-16-1996; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 279, passed - -2007)



AMENDMENTS
§ 152.185 AUTHORIZATION TO INITIATE AMENDMENTS.

   An amendment to the text of this chapter or to a zoning map may be initiated by the City Council, by the Planning
Commission, or by application of a property owner.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976)

§ 152.186 AMENDMENT PROCEDURE.

   (A)   The procedure for amending the zoning ordinance specified in §§ 152.200 through 152.210 of this chapter shall be
followed.

   (B)   In considering an amendment to a zoning map, the Planning Commission shall seek to determine the following:

      (1)   That the change is in accord with the land use plan for the area; and

      (2)   (a)   That there has either been a substantial change in the character of the area since zoning was adopted and
which warrants changing the zone; or that the zoning adopted for the area was in error.

         (b)   If the proposed change is not in accord with the land use plan for the area, the Planning Commission and the City
Council shall seek to determine that an alteration of the plan can be justified on the basis that there has been a substantial
change in the character of the area since the plan was adopted and which warrants a change in the plan, or that the plan
adopted for the area was in error.

   (C)   The office of the City Recorder shall maintain records of amendments to the text and map of this chapter in a form
convenient for use by the public.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004)

§ 152.187 LIMITATION.

   No application of a property owner for an amendment to the text of this chapter or to the zoning map shall be considered
by the Planning Commission within the one-year period immediately following a previous denial of such request, except the
Planning Commission may permit a new application, if in the opinion of the Planning Commission, new evidence or a
change of circumstances warrant it.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976)

§ 152.188 TIME LIMIT ON A ZONING MAP AMENDMENT.

   Approval of a zoning map amendment may be voided after two years, unless otherwise specified, by the Planning
Commission upon finding at a public hearing that substantial construction has not taken place on the rezoned property.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976)



DEVELOPMENT GUIDELINES
§ 152.225 PURPOSE.

   Some areas of the city are located on steep slopes, have erosion or landslide potential, or are otherwise of concern. The
purpose of this section is to minimize hazards and threats to life and property by regulating building, grading, land clearing,
and other human activities in areas identified with landslide topography, steep slopes, areas subject to erosion, high
groundwater table, and other hazards. It is also the intent of this subchapter to protect life and property by reducing building
density in these areas, by requiring special construction techniques, and by requiring the study of such areas by a state-
registered engineering geologist prior to any activity.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.226 WEAK FOUNDATION SOILS.

   (A)   Many areas within the city are located on areas described by the soil conservation service as containing “weak
foundation soils” or other soils limitations.

   (B)   Construction techniques, through the Building Code, require the effect of weak foundation soils or other soil
limitations to be considered in the construction process.

   (C)   Construction of structures on areas of weak foundation soils or other soils limitations is not deemed to pose a
significant hazard to life or property outside the property boundaries. The manner provided in the Building Code to address
problems arising from weak foundation soils or other soils limitations is deemed to be an adequate means of protection of
life and property. This statement serves as a warning for development on weak foundation soils.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.227 DISCHARGE OF SEDIMENT OR WATER.

   (A)   Property owners or other persons in charge of property shall not cause, or permit to be caused, the discharge of
sediment or water onto adjoining property or the public right-of-way unless the permit application is accompanied by a
drainage plan accepted by the affected property owners, or the applicant has demonstrated compliance with state laws
regarding discharge of sediment or water.

   (B)   The following measures are suggested as possible means to prevent such discharges:

      (1)   Minimal removal of vegetative cover, particularly trees;

      (2)   Temporary measures for controlling run-off, such as berms or holding ponds;

      (3)   The planting of vegetative cover as soon as possible after each phase of construction, including excavation,
grading, and/or land clearing; and

      (4)   Design of the site to avoid steep areas or other hazards.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.228 AFFECTED AREAS.

   The following areas and activities shall be subject to the requirements of this subchapter:

   (A)   Areas identified as being geologically hazardous by Environmental Geology of Lincoln County, Oregon, 1973, Oregon
Department of Geology and Mineral Industries, or Environmental Hazard Inventory, Coastal Lincoln County Oregon, RNKR
Associates, 1978. These documents are referenced as part of the Comprehensive Plan and are available in the office of the
City Recorder;

   (B)   Areas identified by the Natural Resource Conservation Service as having high groundwater;

   (C)   Areas containing slopes in excess of 20%. (Areas generally containing significant slopes are identified on the
attached map. Sites in this area are “affected” unless shown otherwise per § 152.233 of this subchapter); and

   (D)   Areas fronting the ocean or coastal bluff that are seaward from the line set by the coastal setback requirements of §
152.234 of this subchapter.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.229 GEOLOGIC PERMIT REQUIRED.

   A geologic permit shall be obtained for any development within the affected areas. For subsequent building permits, such
as for decks or room additions, the original geologic permit is acceptable, if it is no older than five years and the report
author evaluates the new building permit plans and sends a letter to the city that bears the stamp of the licensed geologist or



engineering geologist, acknowledging that the submitted plans have been reviewed and that such building activity can be
safely accomplished. In areas having slopes greater than 20%, a geologic permit shall also be obtained before removing
vegetation from or grading an area in excess of 20,000 square feet or adding or removing 90 cubic yards of earth in an area
of 5,000 square feet. Minimal accessory uses that do not require a building permit (playground equipment, small gazebo,
and the like) are excluded from the requirements of this subchapter.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.230 PERMIT PROCEDURES.

   In order to obtain a geologic permit, the applicant shall submit, along with the appropriate fee, a geologic hazard report
which shall be prepared by a registered geologist or a certified engineering geologist recognized by the state and dated no
more than one year prior to the application date. The report shall explain fully the activity for which the permit is being
sought. If the purpose of the geologic hazard report is for a building permit, then the report shall accompany and address
final building plans. Any activities not specifically covered in the report will not be covered by the permit. The report shall
also identify the nature, extent, and location of all geologic hazards associated with the proposed site and activity. Finally,
the report shall detail exact measures to be taken so as to avoid the occurrence of landslides, erosion, sloughing, puddling,
or other identified geologic hazards on the subject and surrounding property or any prohibited activity identified above. For
uses requiring removal of vegetation or excavation, plans for the legal disposal of such materials shall be submitted.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.231 SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS FOR GEOLOGIC HAZARD REPORTS.

   Geologic hazard reports provided pursuant to this subchapter shall conform to the following requirements from the
Guidelines for Preparing Engineering Geologic Reports in Oregon. The geologist’s report shall have reviewed these specific
requirements and the applicant shall address the applicable conditions in the proposal. Sections that are not applicable shall
be identified as not applicable.

   (A)   General information.

      (1)   Client or party that commissioned the report;

      (2)   Name(s) of geologist(s) who did the mapping and other investigation on which the report is based, and dates when
the work was done;

      (3)   Location and size of area, and its general setting with respect to major or regional geographic and geologic
features, including a statement of existing surrounding and on-site land uses and public facilities, utilities, and easements.
The location shall be identified by the tax map, tax lot number, and the street address to eliminate confusion in identifying
the property;

      (4)   Purpose and scope of the report and geologic investigation, including the proposed use of the site. Also, identify the
level of the study, such as, feasibility, preliminary, final, and the like;

      (5)   Topography and drainage within or affecting the area;

      (6)   General nature, distribution, and abundance of exposures of earth materials within the area;

      (7)   Nature and source of available subsurface information and geologic reports or maps. Suitable explanations of the
available data should provide a technical reviewer with the means of evaluating the reliability. Reference to cited works or
field observations should be made, to substantiate opinions and conclusions;

      (8)   Disclosure of known or suspected geologic hazards affecting the area, including a statement regarding past
performance of existing facilities (such as, buildings or utilities) in the immediate vicinity;

      (9)   Locations of test holes and excavations (drill holes, test pits, and trenches) shown on maps and sections described
in the text of the report. The actual data, or processed data upon which interpretations are based, should be included in the
report to permit technical reviewers to make their own assessments regarding reliability and interpretation;

      (10)   All field and laboratory testing procedures (by ASTM designation, if appropriate) and test results; and

      (11)   The signature and seal of the certified engineering geologist who prepared the report.

   (B)   Geologic mapping and investigation.

      (1)   Geologic mapping of the area should be done at a scale which shows sufficient detail to adequately define the
geologic conditions present.

         (a)   For many purposes, available published geologic maps are unsuitable to provide a basis for understanding the
site conditions, so independent geologic mapping is needed.

         (b)   If available published geologic maps are used to portray site conditions, they must be updated to reflect geologic
or topographic changes which have occurred since map publication.



         (c)   It may be necessary for the geologist to extend mapping into adjacent areas to adequately define significant
geologic conditions.

      (2)   Mapping should be done on a suitable topographic base or aerial photograph, at an appropriate scale with
satisfactory horizontal and vertical control. The date and source of the base should be included on each map or photo.

      (3)   The geologist doing the investigation and preparing the map should report the nature of bedrock and surficial
materials, the structural features and relationships, and the three-dimensional distribution of earth materials exposed and
inferred within the area. A clear distinction should be made between observed and inferred features and relationship.

      (4)   The report should include one or more appropriately positioned and scaled cross-sections to show subsurface
relationships that cannot be adequately described in words alone. Fence or block diagrams may also be appropriate.

   (C)   Geologic descriptions.

      (1)   The report should contain brief but complete descriptions of all natural materials and structural features recognized
or inferred within the subject area. Where interpretations are added to the recording of direct observations, the basis for
such interpretations should be clearly stated. Describe all field mapping and exploration procedures (surface geologic
reconnaissance, drilling, trenching, geophysical survey, and the like).

      (2)   The following checklist may be useful as a general, though not necessarily complete, guide for descriptions:

         (a)   Bedrock.

            1.   Identification of rock types;

            2.   Relative and absolute age and, where possible, correlation with named formations and other stratigraphic units;

            3.   Surface and subsurface expression, areal distribution, and thickness;

            4.   Pertinent physical characteristics (such as, color, grain size, nature of stratification, strength, and variability);

            5.   Distribution and extent of zones of weathering; significant differences between fresh and weathered rock; and

            6.   Special engineering geologic characteristics or concerns (such as, factors affecting proposed grading,
construction, and land use).

         (b)   Structural features: stratification, faults, discontinuities, foliation, schistosity, and folds.

            1.   Occurrence, distribution, dimensions, orientation, and variability; both within and projecting into the area;

            2.   Relative ages, where pertinent;

            3.   Special features of faults (such as, topographic expression, zones of gouge and breccia, nature of offsets, age of
movements, youngest faulted unit, and oldest unfaulted unit); and

            4.   Other significant structural characteristics or concerns.

         (c)   Surficial deposits: alluvial, colluvial, eolian, glacial, lacustrine, marine, residual, mass movement, volcanic (such
as, cinders and ash), and fill.

            1.   Identification of material, grain size, relative age, and degree of activity of originating process;

            2.   Distribution, dimensional characteristics, variations in thickness, degree of soil development, and surface
expression;

            3.   Pertinent physical and engineering characteristics (such as, color, grain size, lithology, compactness,
cementation, strength, thickness, and variability);

            4.   Special physical or chemical features (such as, indications of volume change or instability, such as expansive
clays or peat); and

            5.   Other significant engineering geologic characteristics or concerns.

         (d)   Surface and shallow subsurface hydrologic conditions, including groundwater, springs, and streams and their
possible effect on site. Indicate how conditions may be affected by variations in precipitation, temperature, and the like:

            1.   Distribution, occurrence, and variations (such as, drainage courses, ponds, swamps, springs, seeps, and
aquifers);

            2.   Identification and characterization of aquifers; depth to groundwater and seasonal fluctuations, flow direction,
gradient, recharge, and discharge areas;

            3.   Relationships to topographic and geologic features;

            4.   Evidence for earlier occurrence of water at localities now dry (such as, vegetation, mineral deposits, and historic
records); and

            5.   Other significant engineering geologic characteristics or concerns, such as fluctuating water table and the effects



of proposed modifications on future hydrologic processes.

         (e)   Seismic considerations.

            1.   Description of the seismotectonic setting of the area (including size, frequency, and location of historic
earthquakes), current seismic zoning, and expected seismic risk;

            2.   Potential for area to be affected by surface rupture (including sense and amount of displacement, and width of
surface deformation zone);

            3.   Probable response of site to likely earthquakes (estimated ground motion);

            4.   Potential for area to be affected by earthquake-induced landslides or liquefaction; and

            5.   Potential for area to be affected by regional tectonic deformation (subsidence or uplift).

   (D)   Assessment of geologic factors.

      (1)   Assessment of existing geologic conditions and processes with respect to intended use of the site constitutes the
principal contribution of the report. It involves the effects of the geologic features upon the proposed grading, construction,
and land use; and the effects of these proposed modifications upon future geologic conditions and processes in the area.

      (2)   The following checklist includes topics that ordinarily should be considered in discussions, conclusions, and
recommendations in geologic reports:

         (a)   General suitability of proposed land use to geologic conditions.

            1.   Areas to be avoided, if any, and mitigation alternatives;

            2.   Topography and slope;

            3.   Stability of geologic units;

            4.   Flood and tidal inundation, erosion, and deposition;

            5.   Problems caused by geologic features or conditions in adjacent properties;

            6.   Problems related to coastal erosion; and

            7.   Other general problems.

         (b)   Identification and extent. Identification and extent of known or probable geologic conditions which may result in
risk to the proposed land use (such as, flood inundation, shallow groundwater, storm surge, surface and groundwater
pollution, snow avalanche, landslide, debris flow, rock fall, expansive soil, collapsible soil, subsidence, erosion, deposition,
earthquake shaking, fault rupture, tectonic deformation, liquefaction, seiche, tsunami, and volcanic eruption).

         (c)   Recommendations for site grading.

            1.   Prediction of what materials and structural features will be encountered in proposed cuts;

            2.   Prediction of stability based on geologic factors; recommended avoidance or mitigation alternatives to cope with
existing or potential landslide masses;

            3.   Excavation considerations (hard or massive rock and groundwater flows);

            4.   General considerations of proposed fill masses in canyons or on hillsides;

            5.   Suitability of on-site material for use as compacted fill;

            6.   Recommendations for positioning fill masses, provision for subdrainage, buttressing, and the need for erosion
protection on fill slopes; and

            7.   Other recommendations required by the proposed land use, such as the angle of cut slopes, position of drainage
terraces, need for rock-fall, and/or erosion protection on cut slopes.

         (d)   Drainage considerations.

            1.   Protection from inundation or wave erosion along shorelines;

            2.   Soil permeability and suitability for septic systems; and

            3.   Protection from sheet flood or gully erosion, and debris flows or mud flows.

         (e)   Limitations of study and recommendations for additional investigations. Considering the scope of work and
intended use of the site, provide a statement of the limitations of the study and the need for additional studies outside the
stated scope of work.

            1.   Borings, test pits, and/or trenches needed for additional geologic information;

            2.   Percolation tests needed for design;



            3.   Program of subsurface exploration and testing that is most likely to provide data needed by the soils or civil
engineer; and

            4.   Program for long-term monitoring of the site to evaluate geologic conditions (survey hubs, inclinometers,
extensometers, and the like).

   (E)   Conclusions and recommendations. The reports shall provide a concise set of conclusions and recommendations,
including specifics regarding the acceptable locations of structures (addressing setbacks where appropriate) and the
acceptable nature and density of development.

   (F)   Inspection and monitoring. Reports shall specify inspections and/or monitoring required to verify that the development
and construction on the site have been completed according to the recommendations contained in the report. Inspection
records and/or “as built” certifications shall be provided for all geologic hazard reports.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.232 DETERMINATION OF COMPLIANCE.

   (A)   Geologic hazard reports submitted for review in accordance with §§ 152.200 through 152.210 of this chapter, shall be
reviewed by the Planning Commission, which shall determine whether the report addresses the provisions of this subchapter
as it reviews the entire application. Land use applications before the Planning Commission shall not be approved until such
a determination has been made. Regardless of approval by the city, liability remains with the report signator and the
applicant, who must conform with the report’s requirements. Signed acceptance of this liability shall accompany the permit
application.

   (B)   In determining compliance, the Planning Commission shall evaluate:

      (1)   If the report appears to adequately recognize the causes, extent, and potential of the hazards and conforms
substantively with the requirements found in § 152.231 of this subchapter;

      (2)   If the recommendations to overcome the recognized hazards are set out clearly and specifically and are included in
the engineered plans of the development;

      (3)   If the geologic hazard report indicates that possible future danger may exist from a hazard, the applicant or property
owner shall complete and sign the declaration of covenants and conditions of responsibility and indemnity (the declaration)
provided by the city. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant or property owner shall execute and record the
declaration in the deed records of the county;

      (4)   If the geologic hazard report and the associated plans contain the signature and professional stamp of a licensed
geologist or engineering geologist qualified to certify such reports and plans; and

      (5)   Authorization of a geologic hazards permit shall be void after five years unless substantial construction pursuant
thereto has taken place.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.233 PROVISIONS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

   There may be instances in which specific sites within the area mapped “as having significant slopes” may have topography
not exceeding the 20% criterion. Property owners who can demonstrate, through a survey completed within a calendar year
of the date of application by a surveyor registered in the state, that their property, or the specific site to be developed, has
slopes of less than 20%, shall be exempt from any requirements pertaining to that specific characteristic.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.234 CALCULATION OF COASTAL SETBACKS.

   Two areas shall be considered in establishing coastal setback requirements and may simultaneously apply to a given
piece of property.

   (A)   Areas of coastal erosion. 

      (1)   The following categories of coastal erosion are recognized (coastal erosion rates and the methodology used are
outlined in the document entitled Geologic Hazards Associated with Lincoln County Coastal Shoreline, prepared by CH2M
Hill, Inc., and RNKR Associates, 1977):

 
Less than 2.8 inches/year Slight
2.8 to 11.3 inches/year Moderate
More that 11.3 inches/year Severe

 



      (2)   The following coastal setbacks are required for the categories listed above in order to limit the need for structural
solutions to coastal erosion. All setbacks shall be measured from the mean higher high water line and/or the base of the
bank, whichever requires the greater setback.

 
Slight erosion 1 foot of setback for each 1 foot of bank height
Moderate erosion 2.15 feet of setback for each 1 foot of bank height
Severe erosion 2.75 feet of setback for each 1 foot of bank height

 

   Example of How to Determine Geologic Setback

   (B)   Areas of visual concern. This is an area 25 feet landward from the top of a coastal bluff measured on the horizontal,
where the top of bluff is the uppermost break in slope (see diagram in division (A) above). Where there is no coastal bluff or
no clear break in slope, for example on a smoothly sloping lot, the area of visual concern is an area 25 feet landward
(measured on the horizontal) from the line of mean higher high water or the line of non-aquatic vegetation, whichever is the
furthest landward.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.235 PROHIBITED ACTIVITIES IN COASTAL SETBACKS.

   (A)   (1)   In the areas of coastal erosion, no excavating, filling, or placement of retaining walls, deck posts, or other
permanent structures is allowed, unless based on a geological hazard report approved by the Commission.

      (2)   Vegetation removal is also prohibited except as allowed in division (A)(2) below with prompt replacement with plants
that will stabilize the ground. In this area, such vegetation removal must be in accordance with any required geological
hazard report and with a landscaping plan adequately addressing ground stabilization.

      (3)   In the areas of visual concern, no grading, excavating, or filling that changes the profile of the top of the bluff or the
slope seaward from its top; vegetation removal; or placement of a building is allowed except for:

         (a)   Minor pruning to maintain views;

         (b)   Removal of brush and trees smaller than six inches in diameter measured four feet above ground in preparation
for prompt landscape replanting in the area landward from the top of the bluff;

         (c)   Removal of vegetation within ten feet of a building allowed per division (A)(1) above;

         (d)   Placement of benches, tables, and chairs; and

         (e)   Placement of a single gazebo, provided such a structure is less than 100 square feet in size.

   (B)   If a geological hazard report is required per division (A)(1) above, any vegetation removal or gazebo placement must
comply with this section and recommendations of the geological hazard report.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010) Penalty, see § 152.999



LAND DIVISION
§ 152.250 PURPOSE.

   (A)   (1)   As authorized by law, including O.R.S. Chapter 92, the following requirements and standards relating to the
division of land apply to all land within the city.

      (2)   This subchapter is necessary for the protection of the health, safety, and welfare of the city’s citizens, and is
designed to promote coordinated and appropriate development of land and to carry out the city’s Comprehensive Plan.

   (B)   These regulations have the following objectives:

      (1)   To allow for the proper location of utilities;

      (2)   To specify the width, location, and improvement of streets;

      (3)   To provide for adequate sewage disposal facilities;

      (4)   To provide for adequate water supplies;

      (5)   To provide for adequate drainage facilities;

      (6)   To reduce danger from geologic hazards, floods, fire, and pollution; and

      (7)   To provide for adequate open space.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.251 EXCEPTIONS FOR PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS.

   The provisions of §§ 152.250 through 152.261 of this subchapter shall be applicable to § 152.042 of this chapter, unless
expressly contrary to a specific provision of § 152.042 of this chapter.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.252 APPROVAL OF PARTITIONS.

   (A)   A partition of land shall not be valid until it has been approved and recorded as provided for in this subchapter. No
person shall convey any interest in a parcel in any partition, or replat of a partition, until the plat of the partition has been
recorded as provided for in this chapter. A person may negotiate to sell any parcel in a partition or replat of a partition upon
approval of the tentative plan of the partition.

   (B)   A person may negotiate to sell any parcel in a partition prior to the approval of the tentative plan for such partition,
however, no person may sell any parcel in a partition prior to tentative approval.

   (C)   No building permits shall be approved for any parcel in a partition until the partition has been recorded.

   (D)   Partitions shall not be approved that will create a lot smaller than the minimum lot dimensions for the zone in which
the partition occurs. If a road divides a parcel, the land on each side of the road shall be considered separately for purposes
of calculating minimum lot sizes.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010) Penalty, see §
152.999

§ 152.253 APPROVAL OF SUBDIVISIONS.

   (A)   No plat or replat of a subdivision of land shall be recorded or have any validity unless and until it has the approval of
the city, as provided for in this subchapter.

   (B)   No person shall negotiate to sell any lot in a subdivision until a tentative plan of that subdivision has been approved,
however, no person shall sell any lot in the subdivision prior to final subdivision approval.

   (C)   No person shall dispose of, transfer, or sell any lot in any subdivision until final approval is obtained and the plat of
that subdivision recorded.

   (D)   No person shall accomplish a property line adjustment without having first secured the approval of the city as
provided for in this chapter.

   (E)   Approval of street or road creations:

      (1)   No person shall create a street or road for the purpose of partitioning an area or tract of land without the approval of
the city as provided for in this chapter.

      (2)   No instrument dedicating land to public use shall have any validity unless such instrument bears the approval of the
city as accepting such dedication.



(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010) Penalty, see §
152.999

§ 152.254 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS AND MINIMUM STANDARDS OF DEVELOPMENT DESIGN.

   The following are the minimum requirements and standards to which subdivisions and partitions must conform.

   (A)   Conformity to the Comprehensive Plan. All subdivisions and partitions shall conform to applicable portions of §§
152.225 through 152.235 of this chapter, and the purposes of the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan.

   (B)   Relation to adjoining street system. If development of a subdivision or partition would otherwise impede or interfere
with access to or through existing streets and rights-of-way, a subdivision or partition shall provide for the continuation of
said streets and rights-of-way. If physical conditions make such continuation impractical, exceptions may be made.

      (1)   If the city finds that the off-site effects of a subdivision warrant the necessity of improved streets or rights-of-way,
the city may require that the subdivision or partition provide for them. If no such off-site effects are found, the city may
require that the lay-out of the subdivision or partition take into account the future development of streets and rights-of-way
with regard to setback, access, parks, and open spaces, as well as other requirements of this subchapter.

      (2)   When a tract is divided into lots or parcels of a size which could allow for further redivision under current zoning, the
city may require an arrangements of lots and streets such as to permit a later redivision in conformance with the street
requirements and other requirements contained in this subchapter.

   (C)   Access.

      (1)   A subdivision, partition, or replat shall provide each lot or parcel with not less than 25 feet of frontage on a public or
private road or street, except that where necessitated by adverse sight distances or other factors, greater frontage may be
required.

      (2)   A subdivision or partition shall consider vehicular access to the parcel of existing or proposed roads that addresses
traffic congestion, speed, stop signs, and turn lanes for the orderly development of traffic accessing the area.

   (D)   Private streets.

      (1)   No street or road which would serve as a collector from existing public streets shall be approved as a private street.

      (2)   The establishment of a private street shall not be allowed if it will deny the public access to public areas such as
beaches or parks.

      (3)   No road or street shall be approved as a private road in a case where such a road or street presently is or will in the
future be needed to provide access to development on adjacent properties or to serve as a collector for other subdivisions
or partitions in the area.

      (4)   All private streets or roads established for the purpose of subdividing, partitioning, or replatting land shall be
surveyed and monumented.

      (5)   Yard setbacks shall be determined from the road right-of-way or access easement line in instances where private
roads are considered.

      (6)   Private road rights-of-way may be approved of less than 50 feet in width but in no instance shall the road right-of-
way be less than 30 feet, except that a private road to two lots may be 20 feet in width. In instances where the road access
to more than three lots is less than 50 feet in width, utility/slope easements may be required.

      (7)   Private road standards shall be the same as those for public streets. No more than three lots shall be exempt from
standards for improvements.

   (E)   Public streets.

      (1)   Right-of-way and improvement requirements for public streets shall conform to the widths as specified in §§ 152.260
and 152.261 of this subchapter.

      (2)   If topographical requirements necessitate either cuts or fills for the proper grading of roads, additional right-of-way
or slope easements shall be provided.

      (3)   The layout of streets shall give suitable recognition to surrounding topographical conditions in accordance with the
purpose of this chapter.

      (4)   Street improvements, street grades, and center line radii on curves shall meet the minimum requirements as
specified in §§ 152.260 and 152.251 of this subchapter.

      (5)   The city shall only be responsible for maintenance of a public street when the street is accepted by the City Council
through dedication. A street that is accepted by the City Council through dedication shall be referred to as a “city street.”

   (F)   Street intersections.

      (1)   Streets shall intersect one another at an angle as near to a right angle as is practical considering the topography of



the area and previous adjacent layout.

      (2)   Intersections shall be designed so that no danger to the traveling public is created as a result of staggered
intersections.

   (G)   Cul-de-sacs and turnarounds.

      (1)   Dead-end (cul-de-sac) streets in partitions and subdivisions shall terminate in a turnaround with a minimum property
line radius of 40 feet, or other type of turnaround approved by the city.

      (2)   Approved turnarounds shall be provided on all dead-end streets.

      (3)   No dead-end street may be established without Fire Marshal approval.

   (H)   Easements. Where alleys are not provided, easements of not less than six feet in width may be required on each side
of the rear line or side line for necessary utility lines, wires, conduits, storm and sanitary sewers, gas, and water. Easements
of the same or greater widths may be required along boundary lines or across lots or parcels where necessary for the
extension of utility lines, waterways, and walkways, and to provide necessary drainageways or channels.

   (I)   Blocks. Normally, no block shall be longer than 600 feet between street lines. Approval for longer blocks can be given
where topographical conditions constrain development.

   (J)   Public accessways. When necessary for public convenience and safety, the Planning Commission may require the
developer to dedicate to the public reasonable accessways to connect to cul-de-sacs, pass through oddly shaped blocks,
provide for networks of public paths according to adopted plans, or to provide access to schools, parks, beaches, or other
public areas, or for other such design and location as reasonably required to facilitate public use. A subdivision, partition, or
replat shall maintain existing public access points to shorelands as required by § 152.039(E)(4) of this chapter. Such access
points shall be ascertained as follows:

      (1)   By examination of a standard title report;

      (2)   By consulting city inventory of such points; or

      (3)   Through presentation of other lawful information.

   (K)   Lots and parcels.

      (1)   Every lot/parcel shall abut a public street or private road. A flag lot with the staff that does not comply with the
required minimum lot widths for the zone it is located in is permitted, but the staff measurement shall not be less than 25 feet
minimum frontage.

      (2)   Each side line shall be as close to perpendicular to the adjacent street/road or radial to a curved street/road as
possible.

      (3)   Lots/parcels with double frontage shall not be permitted unless, in the opinion of the city, the physical characteristics
of the land prohibit any other plan for a subdivision.

      (4)   The staff portion of a flag lot shall not be used in computing lot size for zoning and building purposes.

   (L)   Utility easements.

      (1)   Where alleys are not provided, easements of not less than ten feet in width may be required on side or rear lines if
determined to be necessary for utility lines, wires, conduits, storm and sanitary sewers, gas, and water.

      (2)   Easements of the same or greater widths may be required along boundary lines or across lots where necessary for
the extension of utility lines, waterways, and walkways, and to provide necessary drainageways or channels.

   (M)   Water. No partition or subdivision shall receive final approval unless the city has received and accepted:

      (1)   A certification by the Public Works Director, or such other city official as the city may designate, that water will be
available to the boundary line of each, and every lot or parcel depicted in the proposed subdivision or partition; or

      (2)   A performance agreement, bond, contract, or other assurance that a water supply system will be installed to the
boundary line of each and every lot or parcel depicted in the proposed subdivision or partition.

   (N)   Sewer. No partition or subdivision shall receive final approval unless the city has received and accepted:

      (1)   A certification by the Public Works Director, or other officials as the city may designate, that sewer will be available
to the boundary line of each and every lot or parcel depicted in the proposed subdivision or partition; or

      (2)   A performance agreement, bond, contract, or other assurance that sewage disposal lines will be installed by or on
behalf of the developer to the boundary line of each and every lot or parcel depicted in the proposed subdivision or partition.

   (O)   Surface drainage and storm sewer.

      (1)   Drainage facilities shall be provided within subdivisions and partitions, and to connect the subdivision or partition
drainage to drainageways or storm sewer outside the subdivision or partition. The connection to the city system shall be
engineered using standard practices and shall be approved by the city.



      (2)   Design of drainage within subdivisions and partitions shall consider the capacity and grade necessary to maintain
unrestricted flow from areas draining through the development, as well as to allow extension of the system to serve those
areas.

   (P)   Phase development. A plat may be filed on a portion or phase of an approved tentative plan. Each phase of a
subdivision must be able to qualify for approval independent of the balance of the approved tentative plan.

   (Q)   Geologic hazards. All land divisions shall comply with the procedures and standards set forth in §§ 152.225 through
152.235 of this chapter, where applicable.

   (R)   Parks and open spaces. Excluding streets and parking, at least 35% of the land will be dedicated or reserved for
outdoor recreation, park, or natural land, for use by the residents of the subdivision.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.255 TRANSPORTATION IMPACT STUDY (TIS).

   The purpose of this section is to implement § 660-012-0045(2)(b) and (e) of the State Transportation Planning Rule that
requires the city to adopt standards to protect the future operations of roadways and transit corridors and a process to apply
conditions to development proposals in order to protect and minimize adverse impacts to transportation facilities. This
section establishes when a TIS must be submitted with a land use application in order to determine whether conditions are
needed to minimize impacts to and protect transportation facilities.

   (A)   Applicability; TIS letter. A TIS letter shall be required to be submitted with a land use application if the proposal is
expected to generate ten to 30 peak hour trips or 100 to 300 daily trips.

   (B)   Applicability; TIS report. A TIS report shall be required to be submitted with a land use application if the proposal is
expected to involve one or more of the following:

      (1)   The proposed development would generate more than 30 peak hour trips or more than 300 daily trips;

      (2)   The proposal is immediately adjacent to an intersection that is functioning at a poor level of service, as determined
by the city;

      (3)   An increase in use of any direct property approach road to Highway 101 by ten vehicles or more per day that
exceed 20,000 pounds gross vehicle weight;

      (4)   A new direct approach to Highway 101 is proposed;

      (5)   A proposed development or land use action that the road authority states may contribute to operational or safety
concerns on its facility(ies); and

      (6)   An amendment to the Comprehensive Plan or zoning map is proposed.

   (C)   Preparation.

      (1)   The TIS letter or TIS report shall be prepared by a state registered professional engineer qualified to perform traffic
engineering analysis and will be paid for by the applicant.

      (2)   The TIS letter or report shall include trip generation estimates that are based on the Institute of Transportation
Engineers (ITE) trip generation manual.

   (D)   Determination. Consistent with the city’s traffic impact study (TIS) guidelines, the city will determine the project study
area, intersections for analysis, scenarios to be evaluated, and any other pertinent information concerning the study that
must be addressed in either a TIS letter or a TIS report.

   (E)   Approval criteria. When a TIS letter or report is required, a proposal is subject to the following:

      (1)   The TIS addresses the applicable elements identified by the city, consistent with the traffic impact study guidelines;

      (2)   The TIS demonstrates that adequate transportation facilities exist to serve the proposed development or, in the case
of a TIS report, identifies mitigation measures that resolve identified traffic safety problems in a manner that is satisfactory to
the city and, when state highway facilities are affected, to ODOT;

      (3)   For affected non-highway facilities, the TIS report establishes that mobility standards adopted by the city have been
met; and

      (4)   Proposed public improvements are designed and will be constructed consistent with city street design standards
and access standards in the transportation system plan.

   (F)   Conditions of approval.

      (1)   Where the existing transportation system will be impacted by the proposed development, dedication of land for
streets, transit facilities, sidewalks, bikeways, paths, or accessways may be required to ensure that the transportation
system is adequate to handle the additional burden caused by the proposed use.

      (2)   Where the existing transportation system is shown to be impacted by the proposed use, improvements such as



paving, curbing, installation, or contribution to traffic signals, construction of sidewalks, bikeways, accessways, paths, or
streets that serve the proposed use may be required.

      (3)   Improvements required as a condition of development approval, when not voluntarily provided by the applicant, shall
be roughly proportional to the impact of the development on transportation facilities. Findings in the development approval
shall indicate how the required improvements directly relate to and are roughly proportional to the impact of development.

(Ord. 326-20, passed 7-7-2020)

§ 152.256 DEDICATION OF PUBLIC STREETS APPLICATION.

   Any person wishing to create a public road or street which is not a part of a subdivision shall make written application to
the City Council. The application shall consist of a letter addressed to the Council requesting acceptance of the dedication; a
dedication deed with a proper description of the proposed dedication signed by all owners of the property being dedicated;
and a map showing the proposed road and property intended to be served by the road.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.257 REVIEW.

   The City Council shall refer the dedication application to the following:

   (A)   The Public Works Director, or other designated person, who shall check the proposal for grade and conformance to
city road standards;

   (B)   A title insurance company for a standard preliminary title report; and

   (C)   The Planning Commission which shall review the proposal for compatibility with the city’s Comprehensive Plan,
transportation plan, and any adjacent approved tentative plans, plats, or maps.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.258 APPROVAL.

   The above reports shall be forwarded to the City Council along with the application for dedication. The dedicator shall
furnish a standard title insurance policy insuring title of the dedicated street to the city. A public street will not be maintained
by the city unless that street is accepted by the city into the city’s road system.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.259 PROCEDURE FOR ENSURING COMPLETION OF ROADS AND/OR UTILITIES IN SUBDIVISIONS AND
PARTITIONS.

   (A)   The developer’s engineer will prepare cost estimates for completion of roads and/or utilities. Road cost estimates
shall be based upon road standards as designated herein. All cost estimates shall be stamped by a registered professional
engineer, licensed in the state.

   (B)   All estimates shall be submitted to the Public Works Director; water and/or sewer cost estimates shall be sent to the
Water and Sewer Department for review and approval.

   (C)   The Public Works Director shall notify the developer as to the amount of bond or other performance agreement
required and as to any changes necessary for bond acceptance or other performance agreement.

   (D)   The developer shall submit the bond or performance agreement and three copies thereof written in favor of the city to
city hall for approval.

   (E)   Upon completion of construction of roads and utilities, the applicant’s engineer shall certify that such improvements
are built to the standards approved. This certification of completion shall be submitted prior to the release of any bond or
performance agreement.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.260 STREET WIDTH IN SUBDIVISIONS AND PARTITIONS.

 
Type of Street Right-of-Way Width (Feet) Surface Widths (Feet) +

Arterials 80 to 150 ++ 40 to 52 ++

Collector streets and all streets other
than arterials 40 to 50 ++ 28 to 38 ++



Cul-de-sacs 40 28
Circular ends of cul-de-sacs 80 +++ 60 +++
+   Surface width is that measured from face to face of curbs or shoulders
++   The Planning Commission may require a width within the limits shown based upon adjacent physical conditions,
safety of the public, and the traffic needs of the community
+++   Measured by diameter of circle constituting circular end

 

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.261 STREET IMPROVEMENTS IN SUBDIVISIONS AND PARTITIONS.

   Improvements shall meet the following minimum standards unless increased at the request of the Planning Commission:

   (A)   All streets shall be rough graded for the full surface width;

   (B)   All streets shall have a minimum of eight inches of base material to a minimum width of 28 feet;

   (C)   All streets shall have a leveling course of three-fourths inch crushed rock, two inches deep compacted; and

   (D)   All streets shall be paved with two inches of asphalt concrete to a minimum of the width required by the Planning
Commission.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.262 PROCEDURE FOR SUBDIVIDING, PARTITIONING, OR REPLATTING LAND.

   (A)   Pre-application conference. Prior to submitting a tentative plan of a subdivision, partition, or replat, the applicant
should confer with the City Planner regarding the requisites of the tentative plan application and the applicable standards
and criteria of this chapter.

   (B)   Tentative plan requirements. The submitted tentative plan for a subdivision, partition, or replat shall contain all of the
information listed on the applicable city application form. If the proposal includes new access from a state highway, the
applicant shall submit documentation that the Oregon Department of Transportation will be willing to issue the requested
road approach permits.

   (C)   Tentative plan application and review for subdivisions and partitions. The procedure for application and review of the
tentative plan of a subdivision, and the procedure for application and review of the tentative plan for a partition shall be as
set forth in § 152.204(C) of this chapter.

   (D)   Tentative plan application and review for replats.

      (1)   The procedure for review and approval of the tentative plan shall be set forth in § 152.204(C).

      (2)   For replats of previously recorded partition plats, the procedure for review and approval of the tentative plan shall be
as set forth in § 152.204(A).

   (E)   Time limit for tentative approval. Approval of a tentative plan in accordance with this section is valid for a period of
three years. A single time limit extension may be granted by the Planning Commission only if the development is
substantially completed within the three-year time period. A development is deemed to be substantially completed when
utilities, streets, and drainage are in and stubbed to the lot line.

   (F)   Revision of tentative plan. If an approved tentative plan for a subdivision is revised in any way, the Planning
Commission shall review the proposed revisions to determine if a new application for tentative approval will be required.
Such review will be limited to those issues impacted by the revision. If an approved tentative plan is substantially revised,
such revision shall be filed as a new application for tentative plan approval.

   (G)   Certifications required for final approval. Requests for final approval of a subdivision, partition, or replat shall be
accompanied by the following:

      (1)   A copy of all covenants and restrictions;

      (2)   Copies of all legal documents required for dedication of public facilities and/or for the creation of a homeowner’s
association;

      (3)   The certification, bond, performance agreement, or statement regarding the installation of water and sewer
services;

      (4)   As-built certifications for all required roads and/or utilities, unless otherwise guaranteed by a bond or performance
agreement;

      (5)   A plat and one exact copy meeting the requirements of § 152.263 of this subchapter and the applicable state
statute;



      (6)   When access from a state highway is proposed, a copy of the approach road permit issued by the Oregon
Department of Transportation confirming that all required improvements have been satisfactorily completed; and

      (7)   Such other information as is deemed necessary by the City Planner or Commission to verify conformance with the
conditions of tentative approval.

   (H)   Procedure for final approval of partitions.

      (1)   The procedure for application and review of a request for final approval of a partition shall be as set forth in §
152.204(A) of this chapter. All such applications shall be accompanied by the certifications set forth in division (G) above.

      (2)   Upon granting of final approval, the City Planner shall sign the plat and its exact copy.

      (3)   Upon signing, the City Planner shall deliver the plat and its exact copy to the County Surveyor who shall follow
established procedures for obtaining recordation of the plat.

   (I)   Procedure for final approval of replats.

      (1)   If the proposed replat involves three lots or less and is for the purpose of lot boundary changes only, procedure for
review of final approval shall be as set forth in § 152.204(A) of this chapter.

      (2)   If the proposed replat involves four lots or more or includes changes to street rights-of-way, utilities, or any other
features besides boundary lines, procedures for review of final approval shall be as set forth in § 152.204(B) of this chapter.

      (3)   Following the signature of the City Planner or Planning Commission chairperson, the city shall deliver the replat and
its exact copy to the County Surveyor who shall follow established procedures for obtaining recordation of the plat.

   (J)   Procedure for final approval of subdivisions.

      (1)   (a)   When the City Planner determines that all of the certifications set forth in division (G) above have been met and
that the plat conforms in all respects to the tentative plan as approved, consideration of the plat will be placed on the
agenda of the next scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission for determination that all requirements have been met.

         (b)   The Commission shall then approve, disapprove for cause, or, when further information is required, postpone a
decision on the plat.

      (2)   Unless appealed, the decision of the Planning Commission shall become effective 15 days after the decision is
rendered. When the approval becomes effective, the Planning Commission chairperson shall sign the plat and its exact
copy.

      (3)   Following the Planning Commission chairperson’s signature, the city shall deliver the plat and its exact copy to the
County Surveyor. The County Surveyor shall review the plat for conformance with the requirements of § 152.263 of this
subchapter and the provisions of the applicable state statute.

      (4)   Upon approval of the County Surveyor, subdivision plats shall be circulated for signing to the following officials:

         (a)   The County Treasurer, whose signature shall certify that all taxes on the property have been paid; and

         (b)   The County Assessor, whose signature shall certify that the plat is signed by the owner or owners of record.

      (5)   Upon signing by the County Treasurer and County Assessor, subdivision plats shall be delivered to the County
Clerk for recording.

      (6)   The signature of the chairperson on the final subdivision plat shall be valid for a period of one year. If a plat has not
been recorded within one year of the date of the chairperson’s signature, the final approval of the plat shall expire, and a
new request for final approval shall be required.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.263 PLAT REQUIREMENTS.

   (A)   Requirements of survey plats. The surveys and plats of all subdivisions, partitions, and replats shall be made by a
registered professional land surveyor and shall conform to the requirements of the applicable state statute.

   (B)   Encroachment or hiatus. In the event that any encroachment, hiatus, or property line discrepancy exists on the
property to be platted, such encroachment, hiatus, or discrepancy shall be clearly shown on the plat.

   (C)   Elevation bench marks. Where required, the location, name, and elevation of any elevation bench marks shall be
indicated on the face of the plat. The name, year, and elevation of the bench mark upon which the elevation is based shall
also be shown.

   (D)   Easements. All recorded and proposed easements will be shown on the plat, along with the following information:

      (1)   The specific location and size by dimensions or description;

      (2)   If previously recorded, the County Clerk’s recording reference; and



      (3)   The purpose or type of easement and whether it is a public or private easement and, if private, who benefits from
the easement. Any public or private easement to be created, or any other restriction made, shall be noted in the declaration.
Public easements shall include language in the declaration which dedicates the easement to the use of the public.

   (E)   Exceptions.

      (1)   Parcels created in excess of 80 acres need not be shown on a partition plat.

      (2)   Parcels in excess of ten acres created by partition plat need not be surveyed or monumented.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.264 STANDARDS AND PROCEDURES FOR PROPERTY LINE ADJUSTMENTS.

   (A)   Tentative approval.

      (1)   The procedure for application, review, and tentative approval of property line adjustments shall be as set forth in §
152.204(A) of this chapter. A property line adjustment shall be tentatively approved provided that:

         (a)   No additional lots or parcels will be created;

         (b)   The subject lots, parcels, or tracts of land will not be reduced in size to below the minimum area required by the
applicable use zone;

         (c)   The proposed lots, parcels, or tracts of land as adjusted will comply with any required minimum width requirement
as set forth in the applicable use zone;

         (d)   The proposed property line adjustment will not reduce any yard or other setback below that required under
applicable zoning;

         (e)   The proposed property line adjustment will not reduce the street or road frontage of the subject lots or parcels to
below that required by the city code;

         (f)   The proposed property line adjustment will not reduce any setback for an existing on-site sewage disposal system
or approved replacement area below the required minimum; and

         (g)   The proposed property line adjustment will not increase the degree of non-conformity on vacant lots, parcels, or
tracts that do not conform to lot size, width, or depth requirements, or on developed lots if the increase in non-conformity
results in adjacent property becoming further dividable. The proposed property line adjustment will not increase the degree
of non-conformity for required yards.

      (2)   Tentative approval of a property line adjustment is valid for a period of one year. Tentative approval may be
extended by the City Planner prior to expiration of tentative approval. Requests shall specify reasons for requiring a time
extension, along with a specific plan and timeline for completion. Only one time extension of up to one year may be granted.

   (B)   Final approval.

      (1)   The procedure for application, review, and final approval of property line adjustments shall be as set forth in §
152.204(B) of this chapter.

      (2)   Final approval of a property line adjustment shall be granted upon submittal of the following:

         (a)   A copy of a filed survey of the property line adjustment in accordance with the applicable state statute and in
substantial conformance with the tentative approval, except that property line adjustments where all lots, tracts, or parcels
affected are greater than ten acres need not be surveyed or monumented;

         (b)   Copies of recorded conveyances conforming to the tentatively approved property line adjustment and containing
the names of the parties with proper acknowledgment; and

         (c)   Such other documentation as may be required by the City Planner to verify conformance with any requirements or
conditions of the tentative approval.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.265 PROPERTY LINE ADJUSTMENTS IN SUBDIVISIONS AND PARTITIONS.

   (A)   Except as provided for herein, all property line adjustments within recorded plats shall be accomplished by replatting
in accordance with § 152.262 of this subchapter.

   (B)   Property lines within a recorded plat may be adjusted in accordance with the procedure for property line adjustments
rather than by replatting, when the City Planner determines that:

      (1)   The property line or lines to be adjusted will not result in a substantial reconfiguration of the affected lots or parcels
so as to render them unsuitable for their previously approved purpose;

      (2)   The property line or lines to be adjusted will not result in an increase in lots;



      (3)   The property line or lines to be adjusted will not reduce the common open space or park and recreational acreage;
and

      (4)   All of the other requirements for property line adjustments set forth in § 152.250 of this subchapter will be met.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.999 PENALTY.

   (A)   A person violating a provision of this chapter shall, upon conviction, be punished by imprisonment for not more than
30 days or by a fine of not more than $500 or both. A violation of this chapter shall be considered a separate offense for
each day the violation continues. The convicted violator shall be liable for all court costs.

   (B)   A person violating a provision of § 152.040 shall, upon conviction, be punished by imprisonment for not more than 30
days or by a fine of not more than $500 or both.

   (C)   Any person who violates any of the provisions of §§ 152.090 through 152.103, as now constituted or hereafter
amended or revised shall be subject to the procedures and penalties of § 11.99 of this code of ordinances (enforcement
procedures). The city may confiscate any sign found to be in violation of§§ 152.090 through 152.103.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 314, passed 9-5-2017; Ord. 320, passed 10-15-2019)









 
 

 

 HILLS OF DEPOE BAY, LLC · 61240 SKYLINE RANCH RD, BEND OR 97702  

February 12, 2024 

 

City of Depoe Bay 

c/o Kit Fox, City Planner 

570 SE Shell Avenue 

PO Box 8 

Depoe Bay, OR 97341 

 

Dear Mr. Fox,  
Please see the narrative below for our Whale Watch Phase 2 Preliminary plan application. We are 
looking forward to working with you to get this next phase underway.  
 

Sincerely,  

 

 

Chris van der Velde 
Vice President 
Hills of Depoe Bay, LLC   



 
 

 

 HILLS OF DEPOE BAY, LLC · 61240 SKYLINE RANCH RD, BEND OR 97702  

Whale Watch Phase 2 Preliminary Plan  
 

The Whale Watch Planned Development including the proposed Phase 2 Preliminary Plan would be 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan Housing Goal, To provide for the housing needs of the (year-
around and seasonal) residents of the community. It would also be consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan Economy Goal, To enhance the economic growth of the city while preserving natural resources and 
character that make Depoe Bay the unique community it is.  
 
Construction of Phase 2 is planned for 2024 through 2025. 
 
General Description 

1. This is a request for approval of the Phase 2 Preliminary Plan and Subdivision Tentative Plat for 
the Whale Watch Planned Development. Phase 2 is proposed to build out the north/northwest 
side of Lillian Lane between Shoreline Drive and Sand Dollar Drive ending at Baleen drive. Phase 
2 consists of (40) single-family residential lots, (1) multi-family residential lot and (1) civic lot.  
 

General Requirements §§152.042 Planned Development Zone (P-D) 
1. Zoning. A Planned Development may be established in any zone other than the T-C zone. 

 
Applicant Response: The subject property is zoned R-1 that permits planned developments. No portion of 
the subject property is zoned T-C. 
 

2. Development Plan. On land subject to an approved Planned Development, only those uses, 
structures and other forms of development, which have been set forth and authorized in a 
development plan approved in accordance with the provisions of this section, or accessory use 
to such forms of development, may be established. 

 
Applicant Response: The uses, structures and other forms of development shown on the Preliminary Plan 
have changed slightly compared to those shown on the revised master plan. The approved revised 
master plan included (32) single-family lots, parking, landscaping, public pedestrian facilities, open 
space, streets, and utilities. The Phase 2 Preliminary Plan was altered to accommodate (8) additional 
single-family residential lots to the west of Shoreline Drive for the Wetlands Delineation and to include 
Baleen Drive to the North which added the multi-family residential civic building lots.  
 

3. Uses. A Planned Development may include any uses permitted outright or conditionally in the 
underlying zone. Where the underlying zone is residential, any uses permitted in R-1 through R-5 
zones may be permitted when compatible with each other and harmonious with adjacent uses.  

a. The uses proposed in the R-1 are attached or detached homes, which are permitted in 
all residential zones.  

b. Tourist Accommodations. Not applicable for this phase. Will be residential and not 
subject to the rental pool.   
 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/depoebayor/latest/depoebay_or/0-0-0-5294#JD_152.042


 
 

 

 HILLS OF DEPOE BAY, LLC · 61240 SKYLINE RANCH RD, BEND OR 97702  

4. Lot Standards. Except as provided in §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 

152.117, and 152.130 through 152.136, in an R-1 Zone, the following standards shall 
apply. 

(1) Lot size and dimension. The minimum lot size and dimension in an R-1 Zone shall be 
as follows: 
 (a) The minimum lot area shall be 5,000 square feet; 
 (b) The minimum lot width at the front of lot line shall be 50 feet for an interior 
lot and 55 feet for a corner lot, except flat lots. The staff of a flag lot shall have a 
minimum width and frontage of not less than 25 feet; 
 (c) The minimum lot depth shall be 80 feet; and 
 

Applicant Response: Proposed Lot Size and dimension 
The minimum lot area shall be 1,500 square feet. 
The minimum lot width shall be 30 feet and minimum lot depth shall be 50 feet. 
 

5. Building Height. No building shall exceed the height allowed in the underlying zone.  
 
Applicant Response: No building in the R-1 Zone shall exceed a height of 30 feet.  
 

6. Yards, Setbacks, Lot Area, Lot Coverage and Similar Dimension Requirements. Yards, setbacks, 
lot area, lot coverage and similar dimension requirements may be reduced, adjusted or 
otherwise modified upon application to, and approval by the Planning Commission, consistent 
with the design objectives of the proposed development.  

a. Yards. The minimum yard requirement in the R-1 Zone shall be as follows: 
(a) The front yard shall be a minimum of 20 feet; 
(b) Each side yard shall be a minimum of either five feet or one foot for each three feet 
of building heigh, whichever is greater; 
(c) The street side yard shall be a minimum of 20 feet except this may be reduced by 
one foot for each foot average lot width is less than 60 feet, however, no street side 
yard shall be less than ten feet (see LOT WIDTH § 152.003 of this chapter for method of 
calculation); 
(d) The rear yard shall be a minimum of ten feet, except that on a corner lot, it shall be a 
minimum of either five feet or one foot for each three feet of building height, whichever 
requirement is the greater; and 
(e) No structure shall be located closer than 60 feet from the centerline of any state 
highway. 

 
Applicant Response: Proposed Setbacks 

Front yard/Street – 5 feet. 
Side yard, Interior** – 3 feet; or Zero feet for attached zero-lot line. 
Side yard, when abutting a common area/open space tract – 3 feet. 
Rear or Alley – 5 feet. 
Garage setback from Alley – 5 feet. 
Garage setback from Street – 20 feet. 

 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/depoebayor/latest/depoebay_or/0-0-0-5401#JD_152.055
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/depoebayor/latest/depoebay_or/0-0-0-5645#JD_152.076
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/depoebayor/latest/depoebay_or/0-0-0-5834#JD_152.115
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/depoebayor/latest/depoebay_or/0-0-0-5843#JD_152.117
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/depoebayor/latest/depoebay_or/0-0-0-5847#JD_152.130
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/depoebayor/latest/depoebay_or/0-0-0-5883#JD_152.136
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/depoebayor/latest/depoebay_or/0-0-0-4002#JD_152.003


 
 

 

 HILLS OF DEPOE BAY, LLC · 61240 SKYLINE RANCH RD, BEND OR 97702  

7. Conflicting Provisions. In the event of a conflict between any applicable use zone provision and 
the allowances, limitations, or requirements of an approved preliminary plan, the approved 
preliminary plan shall control. 

 
Applicant Response: The approved Preliminary Plan for Phase 2 will prevail over the Zoning Ordinance. 
 

8. Minimum Size of Planned Development Area.  A Planned Development shall have a minimum 
of two (2) contiguous acres, exclusive of street right of way. A planned Development with tourist 
accommodations in residential zones shall have a minimum of five (5) contiguous acres.  
 

Applicant Response: This standard applies to the total Whale Watch Planned Development as was 
addressed in the amended Master Plan.  
 

9. Open Space. Excluding streets and parking, at least 39% of the land will be dedicated or 
reserved for outdoor recreation, park or natural land.  

 
Applicant Response: It is demonstrated that the gross area of Phase 2, excluding street right-of-way is 
6.95 acres. Open space would be set aside in designated Tracts per Preliminary Plan. These tracts total 
4.65 acres, or 48% of the gross Phase 2 area. 
 

10. Pedestrian Plan. The planned development shall also include a connected pedestrian 
system/network.  

Applicant Response: Phase 2 includes a connected pedestrian system as proposed on Preliminary Plan.  
 

11. Parking Requirements. Parking shall conform to §152.058 Off-street parking requirements: Any 
single or multi-family residential use, including condominium or time share: 2 spaces per unit 

 
Applicant Response: All parking spaces to conform to the standards of § 152.058. 
 

12. Parking Area Landscaping. A minimum of 5% of a parking area shall be landscaped. Landscaping 
in parking and common open space areas shall be installed according to plans approved by the 
city. Landscaping shall be installed in all yards adjacent to a public or private street prior to final 
building inspections. 

 
Applicant Response: All parking areas will be landscaped in accordance with requirements. 
 

13. Landscaping. Natural existing landscaping may be used to meet landscaping requirements. 
Landscape design and landscaping areas shall serve their intended functions and shall not 
adversely impact surrounding areas. Required landscaping shall include a mix of vertical 
elements (trees) and horizontal elements (grass, shrubs, ground cover, and the like). Section § 
152.074 of this chapter applies. Landscaped areas and open space shall be maintained. Invasive 
plant materials, as identified by the USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service state listed 
noxious weeds shall be removed and shall not be planted. 

 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/depoebayor/latest/depoebay_or/0-0-0-5419
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/depoebayor/latest/depoebay_or/0-0-0-5419
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/depoebayor/latest/depoebay_or/0-0-0-5612


 
 

 

 HILLS OF DEPOE BAY, LLC · 61240 SKYLINE RANCH RD, BEND OR 97702  

Applicant Response: All open spaces disturbed by development will be formally landscaped or re-
naturalized. Open space tracts with actively managed landscaping shall be maintained by the Depoe Hills 
Owners Association as specified in the Depoe Hills declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and 
Easements. 
 

14. § 152.068 Design Features for Single-Family Dwellings.  
(A) All single-family dwellings located within a residential zone (except for manufactured homes 
located within a manufactured home subdivision or a “mobile home park”) shall utilize at least 
two of the following design features: 

(1) Dormers; 
(2) Recessed entries; 
(3) Cupolas; 
(4) Bay or bow windows; 
(5) Window shutters; 
(6) Off-sets on building face or roof (minimum 12 inches); 
(7) Gables; 
(8) Covered porch entry or unenclosed deck; 
(9) Pillars or posts; 
(10) Tile, shake, or elongated (not corrugated) metal roofing; or 
(11) Horizontal lap siding or snakes. 

(B) Individual lots shall be residentially landscaped and maintained similar to surrounding 
neighborhood development. Use of native vegetation shall be encouraged wherever possible. 

 (C) A driveway having a durable and dustless surface shall be provided. 
(D) Single-family dwellings and other improvements shall be developed in compliance with 
applicable provisions set forth in this chapter. 

 
Applicant Response: All final plans will utilize a minimum of two elements listed in (A) (1)-(11), will be 
landscaped and have durable and dustless driveway surface. 
 
Proposed units may utilize a primary entry located on the side of the home to allow connectivity between 
streets and alley. Preliminary designs submitted are intended to show how single-family designs may be 
designed for the lot sizes and configuration proposed in the Phase 2 preliminary plan. Preliminary 
designs are subject to change and additional designs may be added prior to individual building permit 
submittal.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Exhibits: 

1. Whale Watch Amended Master Plan – Findings, Conclusions and Final Order Case File #1-PD-
PC-23, Tax Map 09-11-05B0, Tax Lot 01200 

2. Whale Watch Phase 2 Preliminary Plans by Parametrix  
3. Whale Watch Phase 2 Conceptual Architectural Plans  

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/depoebayor/latest/depoebay_or/0-0-0-5509
https://velocitycapital.box.com/s/91dk5pwx3d6pbyqjskvxsss8tbqffzde
https://velocitycapital.box.com/s/6p252172yn5ky0hcg8q4l0z9twb17538
https://velocitycapital.box.com/s/h029mc69bsi5yt10sqb1lrqexwpck218


8'
'S

S

8'
'S

S

S

8'
'S

S

8''SS

S

S

2'
'W

2'
'W

2'
'W

2'
'W

8''W 8''W

8''W

4'
'P

VC

4'
'P

VC
2'

'P
VC

3'
'P

VC

3'
'P

VC

3'
'P

VC

3'
'P

VC

2'
'P

VC

2'
'P

VC

2'
'P

VC

8''W

8''W

CO

CO

CO

CO

56
57
58
5963

62
61

60

22
23
24 25

26
27

53
52
51
50
49
48
47

46
45
44
43 32

33
34
35

36
37

38
39

40
41

42

55 54

28
29
30
31

CS00
COVER SHEET

1

WHALE WATCH VILLAGE
DEPOE BAY, OREGON

A PORTION OF THE NW  14 OF SEC . 5, T. 9 S., R. 11 W
LINCOLN COUNTY, OREGON

PHASE TWO - PRELIMINARY PLAN

PROJECT
LOCATION

LOCATION MAP
NO SCALE

PLAN
1" = 50'

DEPOE
HILLS

PROJECT
LOCATION

VICINITY MAP
NO SCALE

SHEET INDEX

SHEET NUMBER SHEET NAME
CS00 COVER SHEET

EX00 EXISTING CONDITIONS

PP00 PRELIMINARY PLAN

TP00 TENATIVE PLAT

PE00 PEDESTRIAN PLAN

RD00 PROPOSED ROAD PLANS

RD01 PARKING PLANS

EA00 EMERGENCY ACCESS PLAN

GR00 GRADING & DRAINAGE PLAN

GR01 STORM POND DETAIL

UP00 UTILITY PLAN

PR01 STREET PLAN AND PROFILE

PR02 STREET PLAN AND PROFILE

PR03 STREET PLAN AND PROFILE

PR04 STREET PLAN AND PROFILE

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

OWNER/APPLICANT:
HILLS OF DEPOE BAY, LP
61240 SKYLINE RANCH ROAD
BEND, OR 97702

ENGINEER OF RECORD: JIM FROST, P.E.
PARAMETRIX - BEND OFFICE
150 NW PACIFIC PARK, SUITE 110
BEND, OR 97701

SITE ADDRESS:
N.W.1/4 OF SEC. 5, T.9S., R.11W
LINCOLN COUNTY
PROPERTY ID(S): R531919, R531920
DEPOE BAY, OR 97341

SURVEYING:
COLE SURVEYING, INC
6765 SW PHILOMATH BLVD
P.O. BOX 2258
CORVALLIS, OR 97339
PHONE: 5419295500

HORIZONTAL DATA:
PROPERTY LINESS ARE BASED ON FOUND MONUMENTATION AND LINCOLN COUNTY SURVEY NO.
15019.

VERTICAL DATA:
ELEVATIONS ARE BASED ON THE "NGVD 29/47" DATUM.

CONTROL INFORMATION
BASIS OF BEARING:

SITE INFORMATION:

SERVICE PROVIDERS:
WATER: CITY OF DEPOE BAY

SEWER: CITY OF DEPOE BAY

POWER: CENTRAL LINCOLN P.U.D.

WASTE COLLECTION: NORTH LINCOLN SANITARY

FIRE PROTECTION: DEPOE BAY FIRE DISTRICT

UTILITIES LOCATE NOTE
THE LOCATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES SHOWN HEREON IS BASED ON INFORMATION OBTAINED FROM
THE FIELD AND FROM RECORDS.  PARAMETRIX ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR EXACT LOCATION
OF EXISTING UTILITIES SHOWN OR NOT SHOWN HEREON.  CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY THE EXACT
SIZE, DEPTH, AND LOCATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.  CONTRACTOR
SHALL CALL FOR UNDERGROUND LOCATE AT 811 PRIOR TO START OF CONSTRUCTION.
CONTRACTOR SHALL BE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE RELOCATION OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES DEPICTED OR NOT DEPICTED ON THESE PLANS.

C
A

L
L

 B E F OR E  Y OU

 D
I G

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
108

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C1.0-CS00

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: COVER SHEET     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:41:23 AMCOVER SHEET     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:41:23 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:41:23 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:41:23 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:41:23 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:41:23 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:41:23 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:41:23 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z.GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z.GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
WASHINGTON STATE PLANE GRID, NORTH ZONE (NAD83\91), BASED ON STATIC OR RAPID STATIC GPS MEASUREMENTS. ASTRONOMIC NORTH BEARS APPROXIMATELY N 00°35'22"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
POTENTIAL UNDERGROUND FACILITY OWNERS  "ONE CALL" UTILITY NOTIFICATION CENTER 1-800-332-2344



8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''
SS

8'
'S

S

8'
'S

S
8'

'S
S

S

S

2''W
2''W

2''W
2''W

2''W

8''W
8''W

8''W
8''W

8'
'W

8'
'W

8'
'W

8'
'W

8''
W

8''
W

8''W

2''PVC

2''PVC

2''PVC

2''PVC

4''PVC

4''PVC
4''PVC

4''PVC

4''PVC
4''PVC

4''PVC
4''PVC

2''PVC
2''PVC

3''PVC

3'
'P

VC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3'
'P

VC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3'
'P

VC

2''PVC
2''PVC

2''PVC
2''PVC

2''PVC
2''PVC

8'
'W

8''
W

8''
W

8'
'W

8'
'W

LO
T 

20
LO

T 
19

LO
T 

18

LO
T 

17LO
T 

16

LO
T 

15

LO
T 

14

LO
T 

13

LO
T 

2

LO
T 

3

LO
T 

4

TR
AC

T 
E

LO
T 

5

LO
T 

6

LO
T 

7

LO
T 

8

LO
T 

9

LO
T 

10
LO

T 
11

LO
T 

12
TR

AC
T 

D

LO
T 

21

W

201.33

W

75

75

100
100

125

125

150

150

175

175

200

225

55

55

60

60

65

65

70

70

80

80

85

85

90

90

9595

105
105

110
110115

115120

120
130

130
135

135

140

140

145

145
155

155

160

160
165

165
170

170180

180

185

185

190

190

195

195
205

210

215

220
125

10
5

105110

110

115

115
120

120

130
135

140

75

100

12
5

150

70

80

85

90
95

105

110

11
5

12
0

130

135

140

145

155

160

165

170

EX00
EXISTING CONDITIONS

2

LEGEND

50 100

SCALE IN FEET

0OREGON HIGHWAY 101

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

LILLIAN LANE

LOT CONSOLIDATION APPROVED.
NOT CONSTRUCTED YET.

DELINEATED WETLAND AREA

EXISTING
ROAD STUB

PHASE BOUNDARY

70
64

PROPERTY LINE
DRAINAGE CATCHMENT

MAJOR CONTOUR
MINOR CONTOUR

GRAVEL LOGGING ROAD

DELINEATED WETLAND AREA

ROADWAY CENTERLINE

EDGE OF GRAVEL

8'' WATER MAIN

FIRE HYDRANT
GATE VALVE
CHECK VALVE
END CAP

6'' FIRE LATERAL

EDGE OF ASPHALT

DRAINAGE DITCH

8" GRAVITY SEWER MAIN

18'' STORM CULVERT

REDUCER VALVE

90° BEND

ODOT CONCRETE INLET TYPE CG-2

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE

SUBJECT PROPERTY LINE

2'' DOMESTIC WATER SERVICE

12'' WATER MAIN

45° BEND
22.5° BEND

ODOT  TYPE D DITCH INLET

12'' STORM MAIN

BOULDER WALL

PIPE OUTFALL

6'' STORM MAIN

CO CLEAN OUT
SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

EDGE OF BUILDING
LOW WALL

EASEMENT LINE

GUTTER DOWNSPOUT
EXISTING DRAINAGE CHANNEL

EXISTING STORM POND

EXISTING DRAINAGE CHANNEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
108

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C2.0-EX00

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: EXISTING CONDITIONS     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:42:30 AMEXISTING CONDITIONS     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:42:30 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:42:30 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:42:30 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:42:30 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:42:30 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:42:30 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:42:30 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION



56575859
63 62 61 60

222324
25 26 27

53 52

51 50 49 48 47

46 45 44 43
32333435

36373839404142

55
54

28293031

PP00
 PRELIMINARY PLAN

3

LEGEND - LAND USES

50 100

SCALE IN FEET

0

ZONE: R-1 PD

DWELLING UNITS: 44 UNITS

DENSITY CALCULATIONS:
OVERALL DENSITY: 4.56 DU/ACRES

AREA CALCULATIONS:

PHASE GROSS AREA 9.64 - ACRES

ROADWAY RIGHT-OF-WAY 2.69 - ACRES

NET AREA 6.95 - ACRES

OPEN SPACE AREA 4.65- ACRES

OPEN SPACE REQUIREMENT 39%

OPEN SPACE PROVIDED 48%

PRELIMINARY PLAN NOTES:

OREGON HIGHWAY 101

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

LILLIAN LANE

PHASE BOUNDARY

SHORELINE DRIVE

ALLEY 2

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

BALEEN DRIVE

ALLEY 1

FUTURESTREET

FUTURESTREET

FUTURE
STREET

TRACT P

TRACT N

TRACT M TRACT I

TRACT J

CIVIC BUILDING

MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL

SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL

ROADWAY RIGHT-OF-WAY

OPEN SPACE

TRACT Q

TRACT F

TRACT K

TRACT L

TRACT O

TRACT E

TRACT G

TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C3.0-PP00

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: PRELIMINARY PLAN     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:44:07 AMPRELIMINARY PLAN     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:44:07 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:44:07 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:44:07 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:44:07 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:44:07 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:44:07 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:44:07 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION



56575859
63 62 61 60

222324
25 26 27

53 52

51 50 49 48 47

46 45 44 43
32333435

36373839404142

55
54

30.00'
30.00'

30.00'

14.14'

20.00'

30.00' 30.00' 30.00' 30.00'

38.93'

30.19'5.66'30.00'

30.00'

30.00'

30.00'

30.00'

30.00'

30.00'

30.00'

30.00'

30.00'

30.00'

30.00'

30.00'

30.00'

30.00'

14
.14

'

20.00'

30.00' 30.00'

30.00' 30.00'

30.00' 30.00'

30.00' 30.00'

30.00' 30.00'

30.00' 30.00'

30.00'
20.42'

9.58'

30.00' 30.00'

30.00' 30.03'

31.89' 32.11'

17.64'
12.42'

30.00'

30.00'

50
.0

0'

30.00'

50
.0

0'

50
.0

0'

50
.0

0'

50
.0

0'

50
.0

0'

50
.0

0'

50
.0

0'

50
.0

0'

50
.0

0'

50
.0

0'

50
.0

0'

54
.5

0' 64
.5

0'

64
.5

0'

64
.5

0'

64
.5

0'

64
.5

0'

64
.5

0'

64
.5

0'

64
.5

0'

64
.5

0'

64
.5

0'

64
.5

0'

160.21'

90
.2

2'

108.50'
88.36'

13
8.

99
'

2.06'
65.55'

45.68'

90
.2

2'

108.50'
88.36'

13
8.

99
'

78.49'

58.34'27.52'41.89'
42.41'

45.19'
6.10'

43
.08

'

10.83'

14
.4

4'
87

.6
0'

93.46'

37.37'

46
.6

2'

63
.0

9' 367.92'

15.93 ' 86.36' 29.42' 28.75'

20
.0

0' 41
.9

2'

41.
37

'

9.99'46
.4

9'

30.90'

84
.2

3'

23
0.

04
'

238.37'

15
7.

45
'

10
9.

39
'

24.11'
118.54'

4.94' 48.63'

63
.0

8'
12

.8
6'

125.86'

22
2.

15
'

55.98'

41.80'

18.42'

30.90'

49
.5

0'

30.90'

64
.7

5'

50
.0

0'

30.00'
30.00'

30.00'
30.00'

30.00' 30.00' 30.00' 20.50' 13.44'

54
.0

0'

54
.0

0'

54
.0

0'

54
.0

0'
54

.0
0'

54
.0

0'

54
.0

0'54
.0

0'

54
.1

1'

30.07' 30.07' 30.07'

30.00'

30.00'
21.39'

8.87'

58
.8

6'

9.92'7.07' 13.30'

61
.3

9'

30.00' 30.00'
30.00'

60
.9

7'

30.00' 30.00'

60
.5

5'

7.54' 13.64'

49
.4

8'

17.50'

58
.2

5'

17.50'

50
.3

1'

14.24'

7.50'

21.72'

34
.54

'

11
6.3

5'

217.69'

54.58'

172.73'

62
.6

6'

66.80'

90.33'

160.21'

90
.2

2'

108.50'
88.36'

13
8.

99
'

7.
06

'

65.55'
45.68' 15.41' 30.19' 19.89' 79.77' 43.56' 16.94'

65
.0

0'

120.00'

65
.0

0'65
.0

0'

65
.0

0'

65
.0

0'

30.00'

30.00'30.00'30.00'30.00'

30.00'30.00'30.00'

56
.1

5'

54
.0

5'

89
.4

2'

62.19'14.13'

36
.6

4'

43.76'

60.22'

50
.0

0'84.11'

80.00'

120.00'

6.83'
81.46'

45.37'

4.
32

'

48.06'

53
.6

9'
12

.2
0'

14.64' 45.78' 52.31' 27.52' 37.17'
62

.2
8'

50
.0

0'

70.00'50
.0

0'84.11'

53.03'

14
7.

34
'

45.55' 9.03' 29.56'
81.30' 44.45' 39.27

'
74

.5
0'

28293031

PP-00
TENTATIVE PLAT

4

50 100

SCALE IN FEET

0

EASEMENT DESCRIPTIONS:
1. 7' PUBLIC FRANCHISE UTILITIES EASEMENT
2. SLOPE EASEMENT

TENTATIVE PLAT NOTES:

OREGON HIGHWAY 101

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

LILLIAN LANE

PHASE BOUNDARY

SHORELINE DRIVE

ALLEY 2

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

ALLEY 1

FUTURESTREET

FUTURESTREET

FUTURE
STREET

7'

7'

7'

7'

7'

TRACT Q

LOT INFORMATION
LOT # AREA (SF):

22        1,716
23        1,653

24        1,599
25        1,828
26        1,835

27        1,823
28        1,950
29        1,950
30        1,950
31        1,950
32        1,868
33        1,500
34        1,500
35        1,500
36        1,500
37        1,500
38        1,500
39        1,500
40        1,500

41        1,500

42        1,500

43        1,988

44        1,994

45        1,935

46        1,936

47        1,935

48        1,935

49        1,935

50        1,935

51        1,935

52        1,935

53        1,885
54      18,360
55        6,509

56        1,575
57        1,620

58        1,620

59        1,620

60        1,620

61        1,620

62        1,620

63        1,570

TRACT INFORMATION
TRACT: AREA (SF): AREA (ACRE): DESCRIPTION:

E  97,256 2.23 OPEN SPACE, DRAINAGE

F  34,030 0.78 OPEN SPACE, WETLANDS

G  1,007 0.02 OPEN SPACE

H 980 0.02 OPEN SPACE

I 2,825 0.06 OPEN SPACE, DRAINAGE

J 2,397 0.06 OPEN SPACE, DRAINAGE

K 1,535 0.04 OPEN SPACE

L 1,237 0.03 OPEN SPACE

M 3,693 0.08 OPEN SPACE

N 3,598 0.08 OPEN SPACE

O 1,751 0.04 OPEN SPACE, DRAINAGE

P 48,950 1.12 OPEN SPACE, STORMWATER

Q 1,442,964 33.13 OPEN SPACE, DRAINAGE, WETLANDS

1

1

1
1

1

TRACT P

TRACT N

TRACT I

TRACT J

TRACT Q

TRACT F

TRACT K

TRACT L

TRACT O

TRACT E

TRACT G

TRACT H

TRACT M
7'

1

2

2

BALEEN DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C4.0-TP00

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: TP00     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:45:36 AMTP00     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:45:36 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:45:36 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:45:36 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:45:36 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:45:36 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:45:36 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:45:36 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION



56575859
63 62 61 60

222324
25 26 27

53 52

51 50 49 48 47

46 45 44 43
32333435

36373839404142

55
54

28293031

PE00
PEDESTRIAN PLAN

5

50 100

SCALE IN FEET

0OREGON HIGHWAY 101

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

LI
LL

IA
N 

LA
NE

PHASE BOUNDARY

SHORELINE DRIVE

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

FUTURESTREET

FUTURESTREET

FUTURE
STREET

TRAIL

SIDEWALK

LEGEND

ALLEY 1

SIDEWALK TO
CONTINUE WITH
FUTURE ROADWAY
EXTENSION

SIDEWALK TO
CONTINUE WITH
FUTURE ROADWAY
EXTENSION

TRAIL TO BE FIELD FIT

ALLEY 2BALEEN DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C5.0-PP00

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: PEDESTRIAN PLAN     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:48 AMPEDESTRIAN PLAN     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:48 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:48 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:48 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:48 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:48 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:48 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:48 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION



56575859
63 62 61 60

222324
25 26 27

53 52

51 50 49 48 47

46 45 44 43
32333435

36373839404142

55
54

28293031 CL

CL

CL

CL

RD00
PROPOSED ROAD PLANS

6

50 100

SCALE IN FEET

0

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

PHASE BOUNDARY

FUTURESTREET

FUTURESTREET

FUTURE
STREET

SHORELINE DRIVE

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

ALLEY 1

BALEEN DRIVE

ALLEY 2

PREPARE AND COMPACT
SUBGRADE IN ACCORDANCE
WITH GEOTECHNICAL
RECOMMENDATIONS

18'
10'

STANDARD ODOT CURB
(12" CURB HEIGHT WITH 6"
REVEAL) PER OSD RD700

10' 5' 3'

4" TH.
CONCRETE
SIDEWALK
(WHERE SHOWN)

5'
18'

PREPARE AND COMPACT
SUBGRADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH
GEOTECHNICAL
RECOMMENDATIONS

STANDARD ODOT
CURB
(12" CURB HEIGHT
WITH 6" REVEAL)
PER OSD RD700

4" TH.
CONCRETE
SIDEWALK
(WHERE
SHOWN)

8'
PARKING

STALL

10' DRIVE
LANE

8'
PARKING

STALL

3.5' LANDSCAPING
OR STORM PLANTER

STANDARD ODOT
CURB & GUTTER
(12" CURB HEIGHT
WITH 6" REVEAL)
PER OSD RD700

5'

PREPARE AND COMPACT SUBGRADE
IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GEOTECHNICAL RECOMMENDATIONS

18'

10' DRIVE LANE

STANDARD ODOT CURB
(12" CURB HEIGHT WITH 6"
REVEAL) PER OSD RD700

STANDARD ODOT
CURB & GUTTER
(12" CURB HEIGHT
WITH 6" REVEAL)
PER OSD RD700

10' DRIVE LANE
0.5' 5'

WALK
VARIES

5'

18'

3' 3'

12.5'
10' DRIVE LANE 10' DRIVE LANE 2.5'2.5'

12.5'

NON-WOVEN
GEOTEXTILE FOR
SEPARATION

NON-WOVEN GEOTEXTILE
FOR SEPARATION

NON-WOVEN
GEOTEXTILE FOR
SEPARATION

10' DRIVE
LANE 5'

3.5'
LANDSCAPING

0.5'0.5'

36'

56'20'

8'
8'

9'
9'

A
RD00

B
RD00

C
RD00

D
RD00

10'10'

5'

25'20'

20
' 8'

5'

17'

A
RD00

SECTION
NO SCALE

SHORELINE DRIVE

B
RD00

SECTION
NO SCALE

BALEEN DRIVE
SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

C
RD00

SECTION
NO SCALE

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE 

3'

56'

D
RD00

SECTION
NO SCALE

ALLEY

D
RD00

25
'

20
'

5'

36'

10'10'

3'
36

'

17'

36'

20'

R1
5'

R15'

56'

25'

CONCRETE SIDEWALK
OR SOFT SURFACE PATH
(WHERE SHOWN)

B
RD00

A
RD00

R15'

R15'

PREPARE AND COMPACT SUBGRADE
IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GEOTECHNICAL RECOMMENDATIONS

0.5'
10'10'

5' 5'

36'

20'
5'

5'

8'
8' 36'

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C6.0-RD00

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: PROPOSED ROAD PLANS     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:59 AMPROPOSED ROAD PLANS     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:59 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:59 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:59 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:59 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:59 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:59 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:46:59 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION



56575859
63 62 61 60

222324
25 26 27

53 52

51 50 49 48 47

46 45 44 43
32333435

36373839404142

55
54

28293031

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14

42 41 40 39 38 37 36 35 34 33 32 31 30 29

15 16

28 27 26 25 24 23 22 21
17 18 19 20

50 100

SCALE IN FEET

0

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

LILLIAN LANE

RD01
PARKING PLANS

7

OREGON HIGHWAY 101

PARKING PLAN NOTES:
PRELIMINARY TOWNHOME DESIGNS FOR LOTS 22-27, 32-53, AND
59-63 INCLUDE COVERED GARAGES PROVIDING 4 STALLS PER
UNIT.

LOT 54 APARTMENT BUILDING WILL BE DESIGNED TO PROVIDE
SUFFICIENT PARKING BASED ON AS REQUIRED PER CITY CODE.

CUSTOM HOMES ON LOTS 28-31 WILL BE DESIGNED TO PROVIDE
SUFFICIENT ON-SITE PARKING PER CITY CODE.

PHASE BOUNDARY

FUTURESTREET

FUTURESTREET

FUTURE
STREET

SHORELINE DRIVE

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

ALLEY 1

ALLEY 2

BALEEN DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C6.0-RD00

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: PARKING PLANS     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:47:17 AMPARKING PLANS     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:47:17 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:47:17 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:47:17 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:47:17 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:47:17 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:47:17 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:47:17 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST



CO

CO

W

26
'

26
'

28
'36

'

26
'

38
'

CO

2''W

C
O

CO

C
O

EA00
EMERGENCY ACCESS PLAN

8

50 100

SCALE IN FEET

0

OVERALL LENGTH  40.63FT
OVERALL WIDTH  8.000FT
OVERALL HEIGHT  12.00FT
MIN BODY GROUND CLEARANCE  0.820FT
TRACK WIDTH  8.000FT
LOCK-TO-LOCK TIME             6.00S
MAX WHEEL ANGLE 45.00

OREGON HIGHWAY 101

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

LILLIAN LANE

FUTURESTREET

FUTURESTREET

FUTURE
STREET

SHORELINE DRIVE

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

ALLEY 1

FIRE HYDRANT

250' HYDRANT RADIUS

LEGEND

FIRE TRUCK DIMENSIONS AND SPECIFICATIONS

WHERE A FIRE HYDRANT IS LOCATED ON AN EMERGENCY
ACCESS ROUTE, THE OREGON FIRE CODE ACCESS WIDTH
STANDARD OF MINIMUM 26' SHALL BE MET BY INCLUDING
MOUNTABLE CURBS AND SIDEWALKS CAPABLE OF SUPPORTING
THE FIRE APPARATUS FOR EMERGENCY USE PENDING APPROVAL
BY DEPOE BAY FIRE CHIEF.

EMERGENCY ACCESS NOTES:

BALEEN DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C7.0-EA00

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: EMERGENCY ACCESS PLAN     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:40 AMEMERGENCY ACCESS PLAN     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:40 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:40 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:40 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:40 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:40 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:40 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:40 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION



8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''
SS

8'
'S

S

8'
'S

S
8'

'S
S

S

S

2''W
2''W

2''W
2''W

2''W

8'
'W

8'
'W

8'
'W

8'
'W

8''
W

8''
W

8''W

2''PVC

2''PVC

2''PVC

2''PVC

4''PVC

4''PVC
4''PVC

4''PVC

4''PVC
4''PVC

4''PVC
4''PVC

2''PVC
2''PVC

3''PVC

3'
'P

VC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3'
'P

VC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3'
'P

VC

2''PVC
2''PVC

2''PVC
2''PVC

2''PVC
2''PVC

8'
'W

8''
W

8''
W

8'
'W

8'
'W

80

90

100

70 6668

94

56575859
63 62 61 60

222324
25 26 27

53 52

51 50 49 48 47

46 45 44 43
32333435

36373839404142

55
54

28293031

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

210

220

60

70

62

64

6464

66

68

62
CO

CO

W

80

80

80

90

10
0

100

7678

82
84

86

88

92
94

96

96

98

98

102

10
2104104

104

10
4

10
6

106

106

106

90

90

84

86

86

88

88

92

92

82

84

82

82

56
54

52
50

5454
56

58
60

62
64

66
68

70

74

86
88

102104
106

72

GR00
GRADING &

DRAINAGE PLAN

9

50 100

SCALE IN FEET

0

PRELIMINARY EARTHWORK QUANTITIES:

· RIGHT-OF-WAY:
9,666 CY CUT
15,755 CY FILL

· DETENTION POND:
4,975 CY CUT
590 CY FILL

· DRAINAGE CHANNEL:
1,158 CY CUT
35 CY FILL

NET:
· PHASE 2 TOTAL:

15,799 CY CUT
16,380 CY FILL
581 CY (EXPORT)

INDIVIDUAL LOT GRADING NOT INCLUDED IN PRELIMINARY
EARTHWORK QUANTITIES.

INDIVIDUAL LOTS SHALL CONNECT INTO THE STORMWATER MAIN VIA
DOWNSPOUT CONNECTIONS OR DIRECT DISCHARGE TO THE
BIOFILTRATION SWALE. THE REGIONAL POND INCLUDES ROOFTOP
RUNOFF IN ITS VOLUME CAPACITY DESIGN.

GRADING & DRAINAGE NOTES

OREGON HIGHWAY 101

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

LILLIAN LANE

BIOFILTRATION SWALE.
SEE SECTION B FOR
DETAILS.

CONVEYANCE DITCH.
SEE SECTION A FOR
DETAILS.

11'

4' 3' 4'

2'

BARE SOIL TO BE HYDROSEEDED WITH
WATER QUALITY SEED MIX FOLLOWING
GRADING. INSTALL RIPRAP OR RIVER
ROCK IF SCOURING OCCURS.

EXISTING SUBGRADE (TYP)

2:1 2:1

2:1

2:1

ASECTION
NOT TO SCALE

CONVEYANCE DITCH

16'

6' 6'

2H:1V MAX.

BSECTION
NOT TO SCALE

BIOFILTRATION SWALE TYPICAL

18" OF AMENDED WATER
QUALITY SOIL MIX. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER TO DETERMINE IF

EXISTING SOILS SUITABLE FOR SOIL AMENDMENT. IF
EXISTING SOILS APPROVED, PLACE 4" OF
COMPOSTED MATERIAL AND ROTOTILL INTO 14" OF
EXISTING ORGANIC AND SANDY SOILS. OTHERWISE,
IMPORT 18" OF WATER QUALITY SOIL MIX.

4'

INSTALL GEOTEXTILE FABRIC
FOR SEPERATION

2:1

2:1

2H:1V MAX.

2H:1V MAX.

2H:1V MAX.

EXISTING
SUBGRADE
TYP.

2'

3:1 (H:V) 3:1 (H:V)

BIOFILTRATION SWALE.
SEE SECTION B FOR DETAILS.

A
GR01

SEE SHEET GR01 FOR
DETENTION POND DETAILS

PERMANENT CUT
SLOPE 2:1 (H:V)

TEMPORARY CUT
SLOPE 1.5:1 (H:V)

PERMANENT FILL
SLOPE 3:1 (H:V)

PERMANENT FILL
SLOPE 3:1 (H:V)

PERMANENT FILL
SLOPE 2:1 (H:V)

PERMANENT CUT
SLOPE 2:1 (H:V)

DRAINGE PATH TO CROSS UNDER
ROAD VIA CULVERT, TYP. PIPE OR
BOX CULVERT TO BE DETERMINED
IN FINAL DESIGN.

30' X 30' STREET
CLEAR VISION ZONE

20' X 20' ALLEY
CLEAR VISION ZONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
108

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C8.0-GR00

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: GRADING PLAN     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:47 AMGRADING PLAN     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:47 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:47 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:47 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:47 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:47 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:47 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:47 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION



63

62

61

60

60

56
54 52 50

54

56

58

60

62 64
66

72

50'

60'

50'

60'

0+25 1+00 2+00

GR01
STORM POND DETAIL

10

50 100

SCALE IN FEET

0

OREGON HIGHW
AY 101

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

ASECTION
NOT TO SCALE

DETENTION POND

BDETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

OUTLET CONTROL STRUCTURE

SETTLING BASIN

BERM

POND SIDE SLOPE
3:1 (H:V)

MAINTENANCE
ROAD

OVERFLOW
SPILLWAY

OUTLET CONTROL STRUCTURE.
SEE SECTION B FOR DETAILS.

EXISTING 18"
ODOT CULVERT

DISSIPATION PAD

POND BOTTOM

30° GRATE

SIDEWALL
TRASH RACK,
TYP.

OVERFLOW EL: 55.75'

6" Ø INLET
IE: 49.50'
CORED IN
SIDEWALL

6" Ø INLET
IE: 53.25'
CORED IN
SIDEWALL

12" Ø
INLET IE:
54.25'
CORED IN
SIDEWALL

18" Ø
OUTLET
IE: 49.00'

GROUT AS
NECESSARY

DETENTION POND  - DETAILS:
FACILITY BOTTOM EL: 49.00
WQ DESIGN EL: 49.50
OVERFLOW EL: 56.25
FREEBOARD EL: 55.75
BOTTOM AREA: 12,595 SF
TOP AREA: 23,500 SF

POND EMBANKMENT
SIDE SLOPE: 3:1 (H:V)

EL: 49.50'

POND BOTTOM EL: 49.00'
CLASS 100 RIPRAP
PAD AT INLET
(MIN. 30" THICK).

TOP OF POND: 56.75'

12" INLET
IE: 55.00'

A
GR01

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C8.0-GR01

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: STORM POND DETAIL     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:55 AMSTORM POND DETAIL     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:55 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:55 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:55 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:55 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:55 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:55 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:48:55 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION



8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''
SS

8'
'S

S

8'
'S

S
8'

'S
S

S

S

2''W
2''W

2''W
2''W

2''W

8''W
8''W

8''W
8''W

8'
'W

8'
'W

8'
'W

8'
'W

8''
W

8''
W

8''W

2''PVC

2''PVC

2''PVC

2''PVC

4''PVC

4''PVC
4''PVC

4''PVC

4''PVC
4''PVC

4''PVC
4''PVC

2''PVC
2''PVC

3''PVC

3'
'P

VC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3'
'P

VC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3'
'P

VC

2''PVC
2''PVC

2''PVC
2''PVC

2''PVC
2''PVC

8'
'W

8''
W

8''
W

8'
'W

8'
'W

16
15

14
13

12
11

10
9

8

765432
31 30 29 28 27

25
24

23
22

21

20
19

18
17

26

1

CO

2''W

C
O

CO

C
O

W

201.33

W

56575859
63 62 61 60

222324
25 26 27

53 52

51 50 49 48 47

46 45 44 43
32333435

36373839404142

55
54

28293031

CO

CO

W

UP00
UTILITY PLAN

11

50 100

SCALE IN FEET

0OREGON HIGHWAY 101

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

LILLIAN LANE

PHASE BOUNDARY

FUTURESTREET

FUTURESTREET

FUTURE
STREET

SHORELINE DRIVE

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

ALLEY 1

FIRE HYDRANT
GATE VALVE
END CAP
90° BEND

ODOT CONCRETE INLET TYPE CG-2

45° BEND
22.5° BEND

ODOT  TYPE D DITCH INLET

PROPOSED DESCRIPTION

LEGEND 

PIPE OUTFALL
CO CLEANOUT

SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

8'' WATER MAIN

8'' SEWER MAIN
18" STORM CULVERT

12'' WATER MAIN

FIRE HYDRANT
GATE VALVE
CHECK VALVE
END CAP

REDUCER VALVE

90° BEND

ODOT CONCRETE INLET TYPE CG-2

45° BEND
22.5° BEND

ODOT  TYPE D DITCH INLET

EXISTING DESCRIPTION

PIPE OUTFALL
CO CLEANOUT

SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

GUTTER DOWNSPOUT

8'' WATER MAIN

8'' SEWER MAIN
18" STORM CULVERT

12'' WATER MAIN

6'' SEWER MAIN

10'' WATER MAIN

4'' SEWER MAIN

UT FRANCHISE UTILITIES SHARED TRENCH

UT UTILITY MAIN

PROPOSED 12"
WATER MAIN

PROPOSED 8"
SEWER MAIN

PROPOSED 12"
STORM MAIN

BALEEN DRIVE

PROPOSED
PRV 1-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
108

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CATCH BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM=132.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CATCH BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM=122.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C10.0-UP00

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: UTILITY PLAN     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:35 AMUTILITY PLAN     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:35 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:35 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:35 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:35 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:35 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:35 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:35 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION



8''SS
8''SS

8''W
8''W

8''W

8''W

8''W
W

56 57 58 59

22 23 24

5352515049484746454443

38

39

40

41

42

55

CO

CO

W

100+00
101+00

102+00 103+00

104+00
105+00

106+00

107+00

108+00

109+00

110+00

111+00

BP STA 100+00.00

PI STA 109+22.73

PI STA 109+57.87

PC STA 100+91.30

PC STA 102+21.08

PC STA 104+48.71
PC STA 105+70.55

PT STA 101+02.54

PT STA 102+41.75

PT STA 104+74.29

PT STA 105+84.40

60'

70'

80'

90'

100'

60'

70'

80'

90'

100'

100+00 101+00 102+00 103+00 104+00 105+00 106+00 107+00 108+00 109+00 110+00

-0.50%

-2.00%
3.25%

-1.00%

PV
I S

TA
 1

00
+0

6.
17

EL
=7

3.
89

100' VC
PVI STA 105+60.00

EL=81.71'
K=23.53

BV
C 

ST
A 

10
5+

10
.0

0
EL

=8
0.

09

EV
C 

ST
A 

10
6+

10
.0

0
EL

=8
1.

21

HIGH PT STA 105+86.47
HIGH PT EL=81.33'

100' VC
PVI STA 102+00.01

EL=70.01'
K=19.05

BV
C 

ST
A 

10
1+

50
.0

1
EL

=7
1.

01

EV
C 

ST
A 

10
2+

50
.0

1
EL

=7
1.

64

LOW PT STA 101+88.10
LOW PT EL=70.63'

50' VC
PVI STA 109+22.76

EL=78.08'
K=100.00

BV
C 

ST
A 

10
8+

97
.7

6
EL

=7
8.

33

EV
C 

ST
A 

10
9+

47
.7

6
EL

=7
7.

96

LOW PT STA 109+47.76
LOW PT EL=77.96'

73
.5

1
73

.6

73
.0

1
73

.7

72
.5

1
65

.1

72
.0

1
64

.1

71
.5

1
63

.3

71
.0

1
63

.2

70
.6

8
63

.3

70
.6

7
63

.8

70
.9

9
64

.4

71
.6

4
65

.7

72
.4

5
67

.4

73
.2

6
69

.2

74
.0

7
69

.9

74
.8

9
70

.6

75
.7

0
71

.5

76
.5

1
72

.4

77
.3

2
74

.5

78
.1

4
77

.1

78
.9

5
79

.0

79
.7

6
81

.1

80
.5

3
82

.1

81
.0

5
81

.4

81
.3

0
80

.8

81
.2

9
80

.9

81
.0

6
81

.7

80
.8

1
82

.7

80
.5

6
82

.6

80
.3

1
82

.9

80
.0

6
83

.4

79
.8

1
82

.4

79
.5

6
81

.1

79
.3

1
80

.1

79
.0

6
78

.5

78
.8

1
77

.2

78
.5

6
76

.7

78
.3

1
76

.3

78
.1

0
76

.3

77
.9

5
76

.7

77
.8

2
77

.1

PR01

SHORELINE DRIVE
PLAN & PROFILE

STA 100+00 TO 110+00

12

0

SHORELINE DRIVE PLAN
SCALE IN FEET

40' 80'

0

SHORELINE DRIVE PROFILE
SCALE IN FEET

40' 80'

10'

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

SHORELINE DRIVE

BALEEN DRIVE

FUTURE
STREET

ALLEY 2

ALLEY 1

EXISTING GROUND FINISHED GRADE

EXISTING GROUND
AT CENTERLINE

PROPOSED GRADE
AT CENTERLINE

FU
TU

RE
ST

RE
ET

CONCRETE ENCASED
SEWER MAIN UNDER
STORM CROSSING

PROPOSED 8"Ø
SEWER MAIN

PROPOSED 18"Ø
STORM MAIN

PROPOSED 12"Ø
WATER MAIN

STORM CROSSING
TO BE DETERMINED
IN FINAL DESIGN

LI
LL

IA
N 

LA
NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C9.0-PR01

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: STREET PLAN AND PROFILE     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:45 AMSTREET PLAN AND PROFILE     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:45 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:45 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:45 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:45 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:45 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:45 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:45 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION



55
54

W

158+50

154+50

155+00

156+00

157+00

158+00

BP STA 154+50.00

EP STA 158+50.00

PC STA 155+72.86

PC STA 157+11.90
PT STA 156+18.44

PT STA 157+82.54

23
+0

0
24

+0
0

25
+0

0
25

+2
5

10
9+

00

11
0+

00

11
1+

00

70'

80'

90'

100'

110'

120'

130'

70'

80'

90'

100'

110'

120'

130'

154+00 155+00 156+00 157+00 158+00 159+00

77
.0

2
75

.1

77
.5

2
75

.9

78
.0

2
76

.5

78
.5

7
77

.7

80
.0

2
78

.8

82
.6

2
79

.7

85
.5

2
80

.5

88
.4

1
82

.3

91
.3

1
83

.4

94
.2

1
84

.4

97
.1

1
86

.7

10
0.

01
89

.6

10
2.

91
94

.3

10
5.

21
99

.9

10
6.

31
10

4.
7

10
6.

81
11

0.
4

11
8.

0

2.00% 2.00%

2.00%

11.60%

PV
I S

TA
 1

54
+5

0.
00

EL
=7

7.
02

PV
I S

TA
 1

54
+9

8.
24

EL
=7

7.
98

PV
I S

TA
 1

58
+3

2.
00

EL
=1

06
.9

5

50' VC
PVI STA 157+75.00

EL=105.81'
K=5.21

BV
C 

ST
A 

15
7+

50
.0

0
EL

=1
02

.9
1

EV
C 

ST
A 

15
8+

00
.0

0
EL

=1
06

.3
1

HIGH PT STA 158+00.00
HIGH PT EL=106.31'

50' VC
PVI STA 155+42.69

EL=78.87'
K=5.21

BV
C 

ST
A 

15
5+

17
.6

9
EL

=7
8.

37 EV
C 

ST
A 

15
5+

67
.6

9
EL

=8
1.

77

LOW PT STA 155+17.69
LOW PT EL=78.37'

PR02

BALEEN DRIVE
PLAN & PROFILE

STA 154+50 TO 158+50

13

0

BALEAN DRIVE PLAN
SCALE IN FEET

40' 80'

0

BALEAN DRIVE PROFILE
SCALE IN FEET

40' 80'

10'

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

BALEEN DRIVE

FU
TU

RE
ST

RE
ET

EXISTING GROUND FINISHED GRADE

EXISTING GROUND
AT CENTERLINE

PROPOSED GRADE
AT CENTERLINE

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

FUTURE
STREET

PROPOSED 8"Ø
SEWER MAIN

FUTURE
STREET

PROPOSED 12"Ø
STORM MAIN

PROPOSED 12"Ø
WATER MAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C9.0-PR02

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: STREET PLAN AND PROFILE     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:51 AMSTREET PLAN AND PROFILE     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:51 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:51 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:51 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:51 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:51 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:51 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:51 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION



59

22 23 24
25

26

27

5352515049484746454443
32 33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

55
54

28 29 30

CO

CO

W

25+25

15
+0

0
16

+0
0

17
+0

0

18+00
19+00

20+00

21+00 22+00

23+00
24+00

25+00

BP STA 15+00.00

EP STA 25+25.00PC STA 18+85.15 PC STA 20+24.78

PC STA 21+13.56

PC STA 22+69.52
PC STA 23+47.04

PC STA 24+37.44

PC STA 16+95.84

PT STA 19+25.11

PT STA 20+52.48

PT STA 21+88.05

PT STA 23+19.52 PT STA 23+95.04

PT STA 24+97.20

PT STA 17+42.55

60'

70'

80'

90'

100'

110'

120'

60'

70'

80'

90'

100'

110'

120'

14+50 15+00 16+00 17+00 18+00 19+00 20+00 21+00 22+00 23+00 24+00 25+00 25+50

66
.2

73
.0

1
67

.9

73
.5

1
71

.1

74
.5

3
71

.9

77
.1

4
74

.9

80
.8

4
78

.7

84
.5

9
84

.3

88
.3

3
86

.8

91
.5

9
87

.9

92
.4

3
93

.9

93
.2

5
98

.3

94
.7

3
98

.1

96
.2

3
97

.8

97
.7

3
97

.9

99
.2

3
97

.2

10
0.

73
95

.7

10
2.

09
98

.3

10
3.

17
10

1.
3

10
3.

97
10

4.
7

10
4.

48
10

7.
5

10
4.

86
11

0.
3

10
5.

23
11

2.
2

10
5.

61
11

2.
9

10
5.

98
11

2.
6

10
6.

36
11

1.
0

10
6.

70
10

9.
1

10
6.

78
10

7.
2

10
6.

57
10

7.
2

10
6.

11
10

6.
5

10
5.

61
10

4.
5

10
5.

11
10

2.
7

10
4.

61
10

1.
8

10
4.

15
10

1.
9

10
3.

98
10

2.
8

10
4.

15
10

3.
8

10
4.

61
10

4.
2

10
5.

11
10

4.
6

10
5.

61
10

9.
4

10
6.

19
10

8.
6

10
7.

02
10

9.
8

10
8.

09
11

3.
3

10
9.

34
11

7.
0

-2.00% 2.00%
5.00%

1.50%

2.00%

14.97%

2.00%

6.00%

-2.00% 2.00%
5.00%

1.50%

2.00%

14.97%

2.00%

6.00%

PV
I S

TA
 1

5+
15

.5
1

EL
=7

2.
82

PV
I S

TA
 2

5+
25

.0
0

EL
=1

09
.3

4

100' VC
PVI STA 19+25.00

EL=103.73'
K=22.22

BV
C 

ST
A 

18
+7

5.
00

EL
=1

00
.7

3

EV
C 

ST
A 

19
+7

5.
00

EL
=1

04
.4

8

HIGH PT STA 19+75.00
HIGH PT EL=104.48'

75' VC
PVI STA 21+50.00

EL=107.11'
K=21.43

BV
C 

ST
A 

21
+1

2.
50

EL
=1

06
.5

5

EV
C 

ST
A 

21
+8

7.
50

EL
=1

06
.3

6

HIGH PT STA 21+44.64
HIGH PT EL=106.79'25' VC

PVI STA 16+98.96
EL=91.91'

K=1.93

BV
C 

ST
A 

16
+8

6.
46

EL
=9

0.
04

EV
C 

ST
A 

17
+1

1.
46

EL
=9

2.
16

HIGH PT STA 17+11.46
HIGH PT EL=92.16'

75' VC
PVI STA 23+25.00

EL=103.61'
K=18.75

BV
C 

ST
A 

22
+8

7.
50

EL
=1

04
.3

6

EV
C 

ST
A 

23
+6

2.
50

EL
=1

04
.3

6

LOW PT STA 23+25.00
LOW PT EL=103.98'

75' VC
PVI STA 24+67.32

EL=106.46'
K=25.00

BV
C 

ST
A 

24
+2

9.
82

EL
=1

05
.7

1

EV
C 

ST
A 

25
+0

4.
82

EL
=1

08
.3

3LOW PT STA 24+29.82
LOW PT EL=105.71'

50' VC
PVI STA 15+80.00

EL=74.11'
K=3.86

BV
C 

ST
A 

15
+5

5.
00

EL
=7

3.
61 EV

C 
ST

A 
16

+0
5.

00
EL

=7
7.

85

LOW PT STA 15+55.00
LOW PT EL=73.61'

25' VC
PVI STA 17+42.50

EL=92.78'
K=6.25

BV
C 

ST
A 

17
+3

0.
00

EL
=9

2.
53

EV
C 

ST
A 

17
+5

5.
00

EL
=9

3.
53

LOW PT STA 17+30.00
LOW PT EL=92.53'

PR03

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE
PLAN & PROFILE

STA 15+00 TO 25+25

14

0

SAND DOLLAR PLAN
SCALE IN FEET

40' 80'

0

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE PROFILE
SCALE IN FEET

40' 80'

10'

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

EXISTING GROUND FINISHED GRADE

EXISTING GROUND
AT CENTERLINE

PROPOSED GRADE
AT CENTERLINE

PROPOSED 8"Ø
SEWER MAIN

PROPOSED 12"Ø
STORM MAIN

PROPOSED 12"Ø
WATER MAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C9.0-PR03

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: STREET PLAN AND PROFILE     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:59 AMSTREET PLAN AND PROFILE     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:59 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:59 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:59 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:59 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:59 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:59 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:50:59 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION



56 57 58 59

22 23 24
25

26

27

5352515049484746454443
32 33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

55
54

CO

CO

W

15
+0

0
16

+0
0

17
+0

0

20
6+

75

200+00
201+00

202+00

203+00

204+00

205+00

20
6+

00

BP STA 200+00.00

EP STA 206+75.00

PC STA 201+06.05

PC STA 201+56.39

PC STA 202+03.70

PC STA 203+01.63

PC STA 205+23.74PT STA 201+24.54 PT STA 201+84.19

PT STA 202+08.32

PT STA 203+12.04

PT STA 205+63.01

103+00

104+00
105+00

106+00

107+00

108+00

109+00

60'

70'

80'

90'

100'

110'

120'

60'

70'

80'

90'

100'

110'

120'

200+00 201+00 202+00 203+00 204+00 205+00 206+00 206+75
82

.8
3

82
.7

83
.7

6
85

.2

84
.6

9
88

.1

85
.6

2
86

.7

86
.5

5
85

.0

87
.4

7
85

.9

88
.4

0
88

.1

89
.3

3
91

.1

90
.2

6
93

.7

91
.1

5
95

.5

91
.7

5
96

.7

92
.0

4
97

.9

92
.0

0
98

.7

91
.6

5
99

.1

90
.9

8
98

.8

90
.0

2
97

.9

89
.0

4
97

.1

88
.0

5
96

.0

87
.0

6
94

.7

86
.0

7
92

.3

85
.0

6
89

.1

83
.8

2
85

.9

82
.3

6
84

.3

80
.8

6
82

.8

79
.8

0
80

.7

78
.7

2.00%

-3.95%
3.72%

-6.00% -3.40%

PV
I S

TA
 2

00
+1

5.
50

EL
=8

2.
64

PV
I S

TA
 2

06
+0

8.
03

EL
=8

0.
38

PV
I S

TA
 2

06
+4

3.
01

EL
=7

9.
19

150' VC
PVI STA 203+12.04

EL=93.50'
K=19.56

BV
C 

ST
A 

20
2+

37
.0

4
EL

=9
0.

71

EV
C 

ST
A 

20
3+

87
.0

4
EL

=9
0.

54

HIGH PT STA 203+09.76
HIGH PT EL=92.06'

50' VC
PVI STA 205+38.37

EL=84.56'
K=24.41

BV
C 

ST
A 

20
5+

13
.3

7
EL

=8
5.

54

EV
C 

ST
A 

20
5+

63
.3

7
EL

=8
3.

06

HIGH PT STA 205+13.37
HIGH PT EL=85.54'

56 57 58 59
63626160

15
+0

0

227+75

22
5+

00

226+00
227+00

BP STA 225+00.00

EP STA 227+75.00

PC STA 225+69.50

PT STA 226+08.77

102+00
103+00 104+00

50'

60'

70'

80'

90'

100'

50'

60'

70'

80'

90'

100'

225+00 226+00 227+00 228+00

72
.0

4
64

.3

71
.5

4
62

.8

71
.0

4
61

.4

70
.7

4
61

.7

70
.8

7
62

.6

71
.2

1
64

.1

71
.5

5
65

.5

71
.8

8
66

.8

72
.2

2
68

.2

72
.5

6
69

.5

72
.9

0
70

.9

-2.00% 1.35%

PV
I S

TA
 2

25
+2

0.
50

EL
=7

2.
13

PV
I S

TA
 2

27
+7

5.
00

EL
=7

2.
90

50' VC
PVI STA 226+00.00

EL=70.54'
K=14.93

BV
C 

ST
A 

22
5+

75
.0

0
EL

=7
1.

04

EV
C 

ST
A 

22
6+

25
.0

0
EL

=7
0.

87

LOW PT STA 226+04.87
LOW PT EL=70.74'

PR04
ALLEY 1 & ALLEY 2
PLAN & PROFILE

15

0

ALLEY 1 PLAN
SCALE IN FEET

40' 80'

0

ALLEY 2 PROFILE
SCALE IN FEET

40' 80'

10'

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

SHORELINE  DRIVE

EXISTING GROUND FINISHED GRADE

EXISTING GROUND
AT CENTERLINE

PROPOSED GRADE
AT CENTERLINE

ALLEY 2

EXISTING GROUND FINISHED GRADE

EXISTING GROUND
AT CENTERLINE

PROPOSED GRADE
AT CENTERLINE

0

ALLEY 2 PLAN
SCALE IN FEET

40' 80'

0

ALLEY 1 PROFILE
SCALE IN FEET

40' 80'

10'

PROPOSED 8"Ø
SEWER MAIN

PROPOSED 12"Ø
STORM MAIN

PROPOSED 12"Ø
WATER MAIN

PROPOSED AIR
RELEASE VALVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
8249001-C9.0-PR04

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAYOUT: STREET PLAN AND PROFILE     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:53:15 AMSTREET PLAN AND PROFILE     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:53:15 AM     PATH: U:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:53:15 AMU:\Bend\Projects\Clients\8249-Hills of Depoe Bay, LP\297-8249-001 Depoe Hills\99Svcs\CADD\DWG WW  Ph2\SHEETS\Preliminary Plan     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:53:15 AM     PLOTTED BY: GarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:53:15 AMGarraWil  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:53:15 AM  DATE: Thursday, February 8, 2024 9:53:15 AMThursday, February 8, 2024 9:53:15 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z. GARRARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
J. FROST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
297-8249-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEBRUARY 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION



DISCLAIMER:
PRELIMINARY DESIGNS SUBMITTED ARE INTENDED TO SHOW HOW SINGLE-FAMILY DESIGNS
COULD BE DESIGNED FOR THE LOT SIZES AND CONFIGURATION PROPOSED IN THE PHASE
2 PRELIMINARY PLAN. PRELIMINARY DESIGNS ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AS WELL AS
ADDITIONAL DESIGNS MAY BE ADDED PRIOR TO INDIVIDUAL BUILDING PERMIT SUBMITTAL.

A1

CONCEPTUAL
PLANS

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.  ANY REPRODUCTION WITHOUT THE DESIGNER'S WRITTEN
CONSENT IS STRICTLY PROHIBITED.

NOTICE:  THESE PLANS ARE NOT STAMPED BY AN ENGINEER OR ARCHITECT.  LOCAL
BUILDING CODES AND/OR OTHER APPLICABLE LAWS, CODES, RULES OR ORDINANCES
MAY REQUIRE THESE PLANS TO BE STAMPED BY AN ENGINEER AND/OR ARCHITECT PRIOR
TO RECEIPT OF A BUILDING PERMIT.  OWNER, CONTRACTORS, AND/OR AGENTS ARE
SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING SUCH STAMPS.

ALL INFORMATION ON THESE PLANS SHOULD BE VERIFIED BY OWNER AND/OR ITS
CONTRACTORS OR AGENTS AS TRUE AND CORRECT PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF
CONSTRUCTION.  THE DESIGNER OF THESE PLANS MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR
WARRANTY REGARDING THESE PLANS AND THE OWNER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE
DESIGNER HEREOF AND THEREOF SHALL NOT IN ANY WAY BE LIABLE FOR, OR WITH
RESPECT TO, THE SUITABILITY OF THESE PLANS FOR OWNER'S AND/OR ITS CONTRACTORS'
OR AGENTS' ACTUAL OR INTENDED USE OR FOR ANY USE WHATSOEVER OR COMPLIANCE
WITH ANY APPLICABLE FEDERAL, STATE, OR LOCAL LAW, CODE, RULE, OR ORDINANCE.

exhibit

sheet description

project|client description

WHALE WATCH
PHASE 2

BIRDSEYE VIEW - LOOKING EAST

SITE SECTION LOOKING NORTH

EXISTING GRADE



A2

CONCEPTUAL
PLANS

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.  ANY REPRODUCTION WITHOUT THE DESIGNER'S WRITTEN
CONSENT IS STRICTLY PROHIBITED.

NOTICE:  THESE PLANS ARE NOT STAMPED BY AN ENGINEER OR ARCHITECT.  LOCAL
BUILDING CODES AND/OR OTHER APPLICABLE LAWS, CODES, RULES OR ORDINANCES
MAY REQUIRE THESE PLANS TO BE STAMPED BY AN ENGINEER AND/OR ARCHITECT PRIOR
TO RECEIPT OF A BUILDING PERMIT.  OWNER, CONTRACTORS, AND/OR AGENTS ARE
SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING SUCH STAMPS.

ALL INFORMATION ON THESE PLANS SHOULD BE VERIFIED BY OWNER AND/OR ITS
CONTRACTORS OR AGENTS AS TRUE AND CORRECT PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF
CONSTRUCTION.  THE DESIGNER OF THESE PLANS MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR
WARRANTY REGARDING THESE PLANS AND THE OWNER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE
DESIGNER HEREOF AND THEREOF SHALL NOT IN ANY WAY BE LIABLE FOR, OR WITH
RESPECT TO, THE SUITABILITY OF THESE PLANS FOR OWNER'S AND/OR ITS CONTRACTORS'
OR AGENTS' ACTUAL OR INTENDED USE OR FOR ANY USE WHATSOEVER OR COMPLIANCE
WITH ANY APPLICABLE FEDERAL, STATE, OR LOCAL LAW, CODE, RULE, OR ORDINANCE.

exhibit

sheet description

project|client description

WHALE WATCH
PHASE 2

DISCLAIMER:
PRELIMINARY DESIGNS SUBMITTED ARE INTENDED TO SHOW HOW SINGLE-FAMILY DESIGNS
COULD BE DESIGNED FOR THE LOT SIZES AND CONFIGURATION PROPOSED IN THE PHASE
2 PRELIMINARY PLAN. PRELIMINARY DESIGNS ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AS WELL AS
ADDITIONAL DESIGNS MAY BE ADDED PRIOR TO INDIVIDUAL BUILDING PERMIT SUBMITTAL.

FROM ALLEY - LOOKING NORTH TOWARDS WEST BLOCK - UNIT TYPE 'C'

FROM ALLEY - LOOKING NORTH TOWARDS EAST BLOCK - UNIT TYPE 'A'



A3

CONCEPTUAL
PLANS

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.  ANY REPRODUCTION WITHOUT THE DESIGNER'S WRITTEN
CONSENT IS STRICTLY PROHIBITED.

NOTICE:  THESE PLANS ARE NOT STAMPED BY AN ENGINEER OR ARCHITECT.  LOCAL
BUILDING CODES AND/OR OTHER APPLICABLE LAWS, CODES, RULES OR ORDINANCES
MAY REQUIRE THESE PLANS TO BE STAMPED BY AN ENGINEER AND/OR ARCHITECT PRIOR
TO RECEIPT OF A BUILDING PERMIT.  OWNER, CONTRACTORS, AND/OR AGENTS ARE
SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING SUCH STAMPS.

ALL INFORMATION ON THESE PLANS SHOULD BE VERIFIED BY OWNER AND/OR ITS
CONTRACTORS OR AGENTS AS TRUE AND CORRECT PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF
CONSTRUCTION.  THE DESIGNER OF THESE PLANS MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR
WARRANTY REGARDING THESE PLANS AND THE OWNER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE
DESIGNER HEREOF AND THEREOF SHALL NOT IN ANY WAY BE LIABLE FOR, OR WITH
RESPECT TO, THE SUITABILITY OF THESE PLANS FOR OWNER'S AND/OR ITS CONTRACTORS'
OR AGENTS' ACTUAL OR INTENDED USE OR FOR ANY USE WHATSOEVER OR COMPLIANCE
WITH ANY APPLICABLE FEDERAL, STATE, OR LOCAL LAW, CODE, RULE, OR ORDINANCE.

exhibit

sheet description

project|client description

WHALE WATCH
PHASE 2

DISCLAIMER:
PRELIMINARY DESIGNS SUBMITTED ARE INTENDED TO SHOW HOW SINGLE-FAMILY DESIGNS
COULD BE DESIGNED FOR THE LOT SIZES AND CONFIGURATION PROPOSED IN THE PHASE
2 PRELIMINARY PLAN. PRELIMINARY DESIGNS ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AS WELL AS
ADDITIONAL DESIGNS MAY BE ADDED PRIOR TO INDIVIDUAL BUILDING PERMIT SUBMITTAL.

FROM SHORELINE DRIVE - LOOKING UP (EAST) TOWARDS ALLEY

BIRDSEYE VIEW - LOOKING WEST



A4

CONCEPTUAL
PLANS

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.  ANY REPRODUCTION WITHOUT THE DESIGNER'S WRITTEN
CONSENT IS STRICTLY PROHIBITED.

NOTICE:  THESE PLANS ARE NOT STAMPED BY AN ENGINEER OR ARCHITECT.  LOCAL
BUILDING CODES AND/OR OTHER APPLICABLE LAWS, CODES, RULES OR ORDINANCES
MAY REQUIRE THESE PLANS TO BE STAMPED BY AN ENGINEER AND/OR ARCHITECT PRIOR
TO RECEIPT OF A BUILDING PERMIT.  OWNER, CONTRACTORS, AND/OR AGENTS ARE
SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING SUCH STAMPS.

ALL INFORMATION ON THESE PLANS SHOULD BE VERIFIED BY OWNER AND/OR ITS
CONTRACTORS OR AGENTS AS TRUE AND CORRECT PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF
CONSTRUCTION.  THE DESIGNER OF THESE PLANS MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR
WARRANTY REGARDING THESE PLANS AND THE OWNER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE
DESIGNER HEREOF AND THEREOF SHALL NOT IN ANY WAY BE LIABLE FOR, OR WITH
RESPECT TO, THE SUITABILITY OF THESE PLANS FOR OWNER'S AND/OR ITS CONTRACTORS'
OR AGENTS' ACTUAL OR INTENDED USE OR FOR ANY USE WHATSOEVER OR COMPLIANCE
WITH ANY APPLICABLE FEDERAL, STATE, OR LOCAL LAW, CODE, RULE, OR ORDINANCE.

exhibit

sheet description

project|client description

WHALE WATCH
PHASE 2

W/D

UP

REF.

P
A

N
T
R

Y

3
0
"
 R

A
N

G
E

DW

3'-0"

5
'-

0
"

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

30'-0"

5
0
'-

0
"

6'H CONC. RETAINING WALL
w/ GUARDRAIL AT STREET LEVEL

6'H 2ND CONC. RETAINING WALL w/
PLANTER AREA BETWEEN WALLS

P
U

E

PRIVATE ALLEY

DN

R
 &

 S

L
IN

E
N

R
 &

 S

3 0  8 0

BATH

E
Y
E
B

R
O

W
 R

O
O

F

EYEBROW ROOF

BEDR'M 1
11'-6" x 10'-1"

BEDR'M 1
11'-5" x 10'-8"

LIVING
14'-0" x 13'-4"

DINING
10'-5" x 8'-6"

KITCHEN
14'-0" x 19'-6"

U
P

P
E
R

 F
L
O

O
R

15'-0"

3
2
'-

0
"

L
O

W
E
R

 F
L
O

O
R

6 0 8 0

SLD. GLS

8
'-

0
"

PATIO
16'-0" x 8'-0"

COVERED/ENCLOSED STORAGE
UNIT w/ SHED ROOF; 10' x 5'

A
/
C

FG 104'

FG 91'

FG 9 6'

FG 92'

UNIT TYPE 'A'

LOTS 25-42 , 56-59

2-STORY, 2 BED, 1 BATH
960 SQ. FT.

W/D

UP

REF.

P
A

N
T
R

Y

3
0
"
 R

A
N

G
E

DW

3'-0"

1
7
'-

0
"

SHORELINE DRIVE

30'-0"

5
4
'-

0
"

PRIVATE ALLEY

DN

R
 &

 S

L
IN

E
N

R
 &

 S

3 0  8 0

BATH

E
Y
E
B

R
O

W
 R

O
O

F

EYEBROW ROOF

BEDR'M 1
11'-6" x 10'-1"

BEDR'M 1
11'-5" x 10'-8"

LIVING
14'-0" x 13'-4"

DINING
10'-5" x 8'-6"

KITCHEN
14'-0" x 19'-6"

U
P

P
E
R

 F
L
O

O
R

15'-0"

3
2
'-

0
"

L
O

W
E
R

 F
L
O

O
R

6 0 8 0

SLD. GLS

PATIO
16'-0" x 12'-0"

UNIT TYPE 'B'

LOTS 56-59

2-STORY, 2 BED, 1 BATH
960 SQ. FT.

5
'-

0
"

4'H SCREEN WALL

DISCLAIMER:
PRELIMINARY DESIGNS SUBMITTED ARE INTENDED TO SHOW HOW SINGLE-FAMILY DESIGNS
COULD BE DESIGNED FOR THE LOT SIZES AND CONFIGURATION PROPOSED IN THE PHASE
2 PRELIMINARY PLAN. PRELIMINARY DESIGNS ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AS WELL AS
ADDITIONAL DESIGNS MAY BE ADDED PRIOR TO INDIVIDUAL BUILDING PERMIT SUBMITTAL.



A5

CONCEPTUAL
PLANS

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.  ANY REPRODUCTION WITHOUT THE DESIGNER'S WRITTEN
CONSENT IS STRICTLY PROHIBITED.

NOTICE:  THESE PLANS ARE NOT STAMPED BY AN ENGINEER OR ARCHITECT.  LOCAL
BUILDING CODES AND/OR OTHER APPLICABLE LAWS, CODES, RULES OR ORDINANCES
MAY REQUIRE THESE PLANS TO BE STAMPED BY AN ENGINEER AND/OR ARCHITECT PRIOR
TO RECEIPT OF A BUILDING PERMIT.  OWNER, CONTRACTORS, AND/OR AGENTS ARE
SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING SUCH STAMPS.

ALL INFORMATION ON THESE PLANS SHOULD BE VERIFIED BY OWNER AND/OR ITS
CONTRACTORS OR AGENTS AS TRUE AND CORRECT PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF
CONSTRUCTION.  THE DESIGNER OF THESE PLANS MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR
WARRANTY REGARDING THESE PLANS AND THE OWNER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE
DESIGNER HEREOF AND THEREOF SHALL NOT IN ANY WAY BE LIABLE FOR, OR WITH
RESPECT TO, THE SUITABILITY OF THESE PLANS FOR OWNER'S AND/OR ITS CONTRACTORS'
OR AGENTS' ACTUAL OR INTENDED USE OR FOR ANY USE WHATSOEVER OR COMPLIANCE
WITH ANY APPLICABLE FEDERAL, STATE, OR LOCAL LAW, CODE, RULE, OR ORDINANCE.

exhibit

sheet description

project|client description

WHALE WATCH
PHASE 2

PRIVATE ALLEY

30'-0"

6
4
'-

6
"

SHORELINE DRIVE

P
U

E

UP

R
 &

 S
R

 &
 S

W
/
D

COAT BENCH

3 0  8 0

E
Y
E
B

R
O

W
 R

O
O

F

EYEBROW ROOF

BEDR'M 1
12'-5" x 11'-1"

BEDR'M 1
11'-10" x 11'-0"

BATH

4'H SCREEN WALL

8'H CONC. RETAINING
WALL w/ SHARED CONC.
STAIRS TO BELOW

DN

W
/
H

A
/
C

PATIO
8'-4" x 25'-0"

STOR.
8'-0" x 8'-0"

UNCOV. PARKING
20'-0" x 24'-0"

ENTRY

16'-0"

3
4
'-

0
"

M
IR

R
O

R
E
D

 U
N

IT

DN

REF.

3
0
"
 R

A
N

G
E

DW

P
A

N
T
R

Y

U
P

P
E
R

 F
L
O

O
R

LIVING
15'-0" x 12'-8"

DINING
11'-2" x 10'-4"

KITCHEN
15'-0" x 10'-0"

V
A

U
L
T
 L

IN
E

L
O

W
E
R

 F
L
O

O
R

UNIT TYPE 'C'

LOTS 22-24, 43-53

2-STORY, 2 BED, 1 BATH
1,088 SQ. FT.

7
'-

0
"

3'-6"

FG 91'

FG 9 0'

FG 82'

FG 81.5'

2
3
'-

6
"

4'-5"

30'-0"

5
4
'-

0
"

UP

R
 &

 S
R

 &
 S

W
/
D

COAT BENCH

EYEBROW ROOF

BEDR'M 1
12'-5" x 11'-1"

BEDR'M 1
11'-10" x 11'-0"

BATH

4'H SCREEN WALL

W
/
H

PATIO
10'-6" x 26'-0"

STOR.
8'-0" x 8'-0"

16'-0"

3
4
'-

0
"

DN

REF.

3
0
"
 R

A
N

G
E

DW

P
A

N
T
R

Y

U
P

P
E
R

 F
L
O

O
R

LIVING
15'-0" x 12'-8"

DINING
11'-2" x 10'-4"

KITCHEN
15'-0" x 10'-0"

V
A

U
L
T
 L

IN
E

L
O

W
E
R

 F
L
O

O
R

3
'-

0
"

3'-6"

3 0  8 0

ENTRY PORCH
7'-6" x 8'-0"

3 0  8 0

A
/
C

M
IR

R
O

R
E
D

 U
N

IT

PRIVATE ALLEY

UNCOV. PARKING
20'-0" x 24'-0"

UNIT TYPE 'D'

LOTS 60-63

2-STORY, 2 BED, 1 BATH
1,088 SQ. FT.

DISCLAIMER:
PRELIMINARY DESIGNS SUBMITTED ARE INTENDED TO SHOW HOW SINGLE-FAMILY DESIGNS
COULD BE DESIGNED FOR THE LOT SIZES AND CONFIGURATION PROPOSED IN THE PHASE
2 PRELIMINARY PLAN. PRELIMINARY DESIGNS ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AS WELL AS
ADDITIONAL DESIGNS MAY BE ADDED PRIOR TO INDIVIDUAL BUILDING PERMIT SUBMITTAL.



8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''SS

8''
SS

8'
'S

S

8'
'S

S
8'

'S
S

S

S

2''W
2''W

2''W
2''W

2''W

8'
'W

8'
'W

8'
'W

8'
'W

8''
W

8''
W

8''W

2''PVC

2''PVC

2''PVC

2''PVC

4''PVC

4''PVC
4''PVC

4''PVC

4''PVC
4''PVC

4''PVC
4''PVC

2''PVC
2''PVC

3''PVC

3'
'P

VC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3'
'P

VC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3''PVC

3''PVC
3''PVC

3'
'P

VC

2''PVC
2''PVC

2''PVC
2''PVC

2''PVC
2''PVC

8'
'W

8''
W

8''
W

8'
'W

8'
'W

80

90

100

70 6668

94

56575859
63 62 61 60

222324
25 26 27

53 52

51 50 49 48 47

46 45 44 43
32333435

36373839404142

55
54

28293031

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

210

220

60

70

62

64

6464

66

68

62
CO

CO

W

80

80

80

90

10
0

100

7678

82
84

86

88

92
94

96

96

98

98

102

10
2104104

104

10
4

10
6

106

106

106

90

90

84

86

86

88

88

92

92

82

84

82

82

56
54

52
50

5454
56

58
60

62
64

66
68

70

74

86
88

102104
106

72

GR00
GRADING &

DRAINAGE PLAN

9

50 100

SCALE IN FEET

0

PRELIMINARY EARTHWORK QUANTITIES:

· RIGHT-OF-WAY:
9,666 CY CUT
15,755 CY FILL

· DETENTION POND:
4,975 CY CUT
590 CY FILL

· DRAINAGE CHANNEL:
1,158 CY CUT
35 CY FILL

NET:
· PHASE 2 TOTAL:

15,799 CY CUT
16,380 CY FILL
581 CY (EXPORT)

INDIVIDUAL LOT GRADING NOT INCLUDED IN PRELIMINARY
EARTHWORK QUANTITIES.

INDIVIDUAL LOTS SHALL CONNECT INTO THE STORMWATER MAIN VIA
DOWNSPOUT CONNECTIONS OR DIRECT DISCHARGE TO THE
BIOFILTRATION SWALE. THE REGIONAL POND INCLUDES ROOFTOP
RUNOFF IN ITS VOLUME CAPACITY DESIGN.

GRADING & DRAINAGE NOTES

OREGON HIGHWAY 101

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

15

100

PR
EL
IM
INA

RY

LILLIAN LANE

BIOFILTRATION SWALE.
SEE SECTION B FOR
DETAILS.

CONVEYANCE DITCH.
SEE SECTION A FOR
DETAILS.

11'

4' 3' 4'

2'

BARE SOIL TO BE HYDROSEEDED WITH
WATER QUALITY SEED MIX FOLLOWING
GRADING. INSTALL RIPRAP OR RIVER
ROCK IF SCOURING OCCURS.

EXISTING SUBGRADE (TYP)

2:1 2:1

2:1

2:1

ASECTION
NOT TO SCALE

CONVEYANCE DITCH

16'

6' 6'

2H:1V MAX.

BSECTION
NOT TO SCALE

BIOFILTRATION SWALE TYPICAL

18" OF AMENDED WATER
QUALITY SOIL MIX. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER TO DETERMINE IF

EXISTING SOILS SUITABLE FOR SOIL AMENDMENT. IF
EXISTING SOILS APPROVED, PLACE 4" OF
COMPOSTED MATERIAL AND ROTOTILL INTO 14" OF
EXISTING ORGANIC AND SANDY SOILS. OTHERWISE,
IMPORT 18" OF WATER QUALITY SOIL MIX.

4'

INSTALL GEOTEXTILE FABRIC
FOR SEPERATION

2:1

2:1

2H:1V MAX.

2H:1V MAX.

2H:1V MAX.

EXISTING
SUBGRADE
TYP.

2'

3:1 (H:V) 3:1 (H:V)

BIOFILTRATION SWALE.
SEE SECTION B FOR DETAILS.

A
GR01

SEE SHEET GR01 FOR
DETENTION POND DETAILS

PERMANENT CUT
SLOPE 2:1 (H:V)

TEMPORARY CUT
SLOPE 1.5:1 (H:V)

PERMANENT FILL
SLOPE 3:1 (H:V)

PERMANENT FILL
SLOPE 3:1 (H:V)

PERMANENT FILL
SLOPE 2:1 (H:V)

PERMANENT CUT
SLOPE 2:1 (H:V)

DRAINGE PATH TO CROSS UNDER
ROAD VIA CULVERT, TYP. PIPE OR
BOX CULVERT TO BE DETERMINED
IN FINAL DESIGN.

30' X 30' STREET
CLEAR VISION ZONE

20' X 20' ALLEY
CLEAR VISION ZONE

ATTACHED UNIT

EXAMPLES

CONCEPTUAL SITE /
COMMUNITY LAYOUT

960 SF - UNIT TYPE 'A'

1,088 SF - UNIT TYPE 'C'

1,088 SF - UNIT TYPE 'D'

UNIT TYPE LEGEND

960 SF - UNIT TYPE 'B'



 
 

 

 HILLS OF DEPOE BAY, LLC · 61240 SKYLINE RANCH RD, BEND OR 97702  

 

February 23, 2024 

 

 

Kit Fox, ACIP, City Planner 

City of Depoe Bay 

570 SE Shell Avenue   

Depoe Bay, OR 97341 

 

Dear Mr. Fox:  

The Hills of Depoe Bay, LLC is requesting a zone change for Whale Watch Phase 2 to append the 

Planned Development (PD) suffix to the underlying R-1 and C-1 zones. We are also requesting a 

boundary change as necessary for the building types proposed which is a combination of single 

family, multi-family, and a civic building.   

 

 

Sincerely,  

 

 
Chris van der Velde  

Vice President 

 

Enclosure: Whale Watch Phase 2 – Zone Change Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 



56575859
63 62 61 60

222324
25 26 27

53 52 51 50 49 48 47

46 45 44 43
32333435

36373839404142

55
54

28293031

ZN00
 ZONE CHANGE

16

LEGEND - LAND USES

50 100

SCALE IN FEET

0

EXISTING ZONING: 
R-1, C-1

PROPOSED ZONING: 
R-1 PD LOT(S): 22-54, 56-63
C-1 PD LOT(S): 55

AREA CALCULATIONS:

R-1 PD 9.49 - ACRES
C-1 PD 0.15 - ACRES

ZONE CHANGE NOTES:

OREGON HIGHWAY 101

OF

% REVIEW SUBMITTAL

IF NOT, SCALE ACCORDINGLY
ONE INCH AT FULL SCALE. WHALE WATCH

PHASE TWO
PRELIMINARY PLAN

DEPOE BAY, OR

16

100

PRELIM
INARY

LILLIAN LANE

PHASE BOUNDARY

SHORELINE DRIVE

ALLEY 2

SAND DOLLAR DRIVE

BALEEN DRIVE

ALLEY 1

TRACT P

TRACT N

CIVIC BUILDING

MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL

SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL

ROADWAY RIGHT-OF-WAY

OPEN SPACE

C1-PD

R1-PD

R1-PD

R1-PD

ZONE BOUNDARY

ZONE BOUNDARY

ZONE BOUNDARY

C1

R1

EXISTING C1
PROPOSED C1-PD

APPROXIMATE
EXISTING ZONE

BOUNDARY LINE

EXISTING C1
PROPOSED R1-PD

EXISTING R1
PROPOSED C1-PD

EXISTING R1
PROPOSED R1-PD

EXISTING R1
PROPOSED R1-PD

EXISTING R1                                                  6.81 - ACRES
EXISTING C1                                                  2.83 - ACRES

PROPOSED R1-PD                                        7.19 - ACRES
PROPOSED C1-PD                                        2.45 - ACRES



§ 152.025 RESIDENTIAL ZONE R-1.

   In an R-1 Zone, the following regulations shall apply.

   (A)   Uses permitted outright. In an R-1 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.225 through 152.235 where applicable:

      (1)   A single-family dwelling built on the site;

      (2)   Manufactured home;

      (3)   Pre-fab heated or modular dwelling;

      (4)   A temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used for dwelling purposes during the construction of a
permitted use for which a building permit has been issued, provided the temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational
vehicle:

         (a)   Is located during the time the construction is underway; and

         (b)   Will not remain more than one year from date of placement or 30 days following substantial completion, whichever
is earlier.

      (5)   Agricultural use of land provided that no livestock shall be raised or kept on the premises and provided further that
no commercial structure shall be constructed or maintained on the premises;

      (6)   Recreational vehicle (unoccupied) or boat, stored on a lot in combination with an approved building;

      (7)   Residential homes;

      (8)   Family day care provider;

      (9)   Transparent occupation; and

      (10)   Commercial fishing gear storage at the gear owner’s dwelling or adjacent lot under the same ownership. The gear
must be stored in a neat and orderly manner and must be non-toxic, non-hazardous, and cause no odor off-site.

   (B)   Conditional uses permitted. In an R-1 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, 152.130 through 152.136, and 152.225 through
152.235 where applicable:

      (1)   Cemetery;

      (2)   Church;

      (3)   Community center;

      (4)   Day nursery, nursery school, kindergarten, or similar facility;

      (5)   Governmental structure or use of land;

      (6)   Home occupation;

      (7)   Golf course or country club, but excluding golf driving range, miniature golf course, or similar facility;

      (8)   Private non-commercial recreation club, such as tennis, swimming, or archery club, but excluding commercial
amusement or recreation enterprises;

      (9)   Public park, playground, or swimming pool;

      (10)   Public school or private school offering curricula similar to public school;

      (11)   Public or private utility facility;

      (12)   Radio or television transmitter or tower; and

      (13)   Solid waste disposal transfer station.

   (C)   Standards. Except as provided in §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.130 through
152.136, in an R-1 Zone, the following standards shall apply.

      (1)   Lot size and dimension. The minimum lot size and dimension in an R-1 Zone shall be as follows:

         (a)   The minimum lot area shall be 5,000 square feet;

         (b)   The minimum lot width at the front lot line shall be 50 feet for an interior lot and 55 feet for a corner lot, except flag
lots. The staff of a flag lot shall have a minimum width and frontage of not less than 25 feet;

         (c)   The minimum lot depth shall be 80 feet; and

         (d)   Lot area for ocean front lots or lots with intervening ownership which does not prevent coastal erosion from
progressive deterioration of the property shall be determined by the amount of area from the line of mean high water to the



landward extent of the property.

      (2)   Yards. The minimum yard requirements in the R-1 Zone shall be as follows:

         (a)   The front yard shall be a minimum of 20 feet;

         (b)   Each side yard shall be a minimum of either five feet or one foot for each three feet of building height, whichever is
the greater;

         (c)   The street side yard shall be a minimum of 20 feet except this may be reduced by one foot for each foot the
average lot width is less than 60 feet, however, no street side yard shall be less than ten feet (see LOT WIDTH in § 152.003
of this chapter for method of calculation);

         (d)   The rear yard shall be a minimum of ten feet, except that on a corner lot, it shall be a minimum of either five feet or
one foot for each three feet of building height, whichever requirement is the greater; and

         (e)   No structure shall be located closer than 60 feet from the centerline of any state highway.

      (3)   Building height. No building in the R-1 Zone shall exceed a height of 30 feet.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 71, passed 8-19-1980; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord.
187, passed 2-16-1993; Ord. 236, passed 12-16-1996; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 268, passed 11-2-2004; Ord. 287,
passed 5-4-2010) Penalty, see § 152.999 



§ 152.030 RETAIL COMMERCIAL ZONE C-1.

   In a C-1 Zone, the following regulations shall apply.

   (A)   Uses permitted outright. In a C-1 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.225 through 152.235 where applicable:

      (1)   A single-family dwelling built on the site;

      (2)   Manufactured dwelling;

      (3)   A temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used for dwelling purposes during the construction of a
permitted use for which a building permit has been issued, provided the temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational
vehicle:

         (a)   Is located during the time the construction is underway; and

         (b)   Will not remain more than one year from date of placement or 30 days following substantial completion, whichever
is earlier.

      (4)   Agricultural use of land provided that no livestock shall be raised or kept on the premises;

      (5)   Recreational vehicle (unoccupied) or boat, stored on a lot in combination with an approved building;

      (6)   Pre-fabricated or modular dwelling;

      (7)   Two-family dwelling;

      (8)   Multi-family dwelling;

      (9)   Retail store or shop, such as food store, gift shop, drug store, apparel store, hardware store, furniture store, or
similar establishment;

      (10)   Repair shop for the type of goods offered for sale in those retail trade establishments permitted in a C-1 Zone
provided all repair shall occur entirely within an enclosed building;

      (11)   The manufacture, fabrication, and/or assembly of those goods offered for sale on the premises, provided all
manufacturing, fabricating, assembling, and storage not exceed 50% of the total floor area of the establishment, and
provided further that it shall occur within an enclosed building;

      (12)   Personal or business service establishment, such as barber or beauty shop, laundry or dry cleaning
establishment, tailor shop, or similar establishment;

      (13)   Clinic;

      (14)   Club, lodge, or fraternal organization;

      (15)   Financial institution;

      (16)   Indoor commercial amusement or recreation establishment, such as a bowling alley, theater, pool hall, or
aquarium;

      (17)   Mortuary;

      (18)   Newspaper office or print shop;

      (19)   Office;

      (20)   Private museum, art gallery, or similar facility;

      (21)   Restaurant, bar, or tavern;

      (22)   Home occupation;

      (23)   Automobile service station, including minor repair, provided it is conducted entirely within an enclosed building;

      (24)   Laundromat;

      (25)   Retail sale of sporting goods or bait;

      (26)   Condominiums;

      (27)   Public or private parking lots;

      (28)   Residential facility;

      (29)   Time share project;

      (30)   Tourist accommodation or resort; and

      (31)   Commercial fishing gear storage in the part of the zone adjacent to the harbor (Tax Map 09-11-08 AB, tax lots



600, 700, 800, 900, 1000, 1100, 1101, 1200, 1201, 7900, 8000, 8100, 8200, 90000, 90001, 90002, and 90003).

   (B)   Conditional uses permitted. In a C-1 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, 152.130 through 152.136, and 152.225 through
152.235, where applicable:

      (1)   Church, non-profit religious, or philanthropic institution;

      (2)   Community center;

      (3)   Day nursery, nursery school, kindergarten, or similar activity;

      (4)   Governmental structure or use of land;

      (5)   Mobile vending stand;

      (6)   Private non-commercial recreation club, such as tennis, swimming, or archery club;

      (7)   Public park, playground, or swimming pool;

      (8)   Public school or private school offering curricula similar to public school;

      (9)   Public or private utility facility;

      (10)   Radio or television transmitter or tower;

      (11)   Solid waste disposal transfer station;

      (12)   Recreational vehicle park;

      (13)   Outdoor commercial amusement or recreation establishment, such as miniature golf course or drive-in theater, but
not including uses, such as race track or automobile speedway;

      (14)   Hospital and/or nursing home;

      (15)   Drive-in services, such as a drive-in restaurant;

      (16)   Billboards;

      (17)   Kennel;

      (18)   Animal hospital;

      (19)   Automobile repair garage, provided all repair shall be conducted entirely within an enclosed building;

      (20)   Boat or marine equipment sales, service, storage, or rental; boat or marine equipment minor repair, provided all
such repair be conducted entirely within an enclosed building;

      (21)   Lumber or building materials, sales, and storage;

      (22)   Warehouse or storage area; and

      (23)   Child care.

   (C)   Standards. Except as provided in §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.130 through
152.136, in any C-1 Zone, the following standards shall apply:

      (1)   All yards abutting a lot in a residential zone shall be a minimum of ten feet;

      (2)   No building in the C-1 Zone shall exceed a height of 35 feet;

      (3)   Outdoor storage shall be screened with a sight-obscuring fence; and

      (4)   Kennels shall be located:

         (a)   No closer than 75 feet from a residential zone; and

         (b)   No closer than 20 feet from a property line.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 71, passed 8-19-1980; Ord. 92, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 130, passed 4-6-1987; Ord. 154,
passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 186, passed 12-22-1992; Ord. 187,
passed 2-16-1993; Ord. 217, passed 4-17-1995; Ord. 234, passed 12-16-1996; Ord. 268, passed 11-2-2004; Ord. 279,
passed - -2007; Ord. 327-21, passed 4-20-2021) Penalty, see § 152.999



§ 152.042 PLANNED DEVELOPMENT ZONE (P-D).

   (A)   Purpose. The purpose of the planned development procedure is to encourage and promote creativity and innovation
in site planning, design, and development through the application of flexible land development standards. Application of the
planned development procedure is intended to:

      (1)   Allow for and encourage development designs which provide suitable recognition of the physical, topographic,
cultural, historical, and natural resource values and constraints present on a particular site;

      (2)   Respect the surrounding context and enhance community character;

      (3)   Provide open space;

      (4)   Provide pedestrian and bicycle facilities, such as sidewalks in commercial and high density areas, hiking trails, and
bicycle trails;

      (5)   Permit greater flexibility in the siting of buildings and other physical improvements, and in the mixing of housing
types, in order to accomplish desirable design objectives;

      (6)   Provide adequate, structurally sound public and private streets and utilities;

      (7)   Ensure that development occurs in a manner consistent with the intent and purpose of the goals and policies of the
Comprehensive Plan;

      (8)   Ensure the safety of the residents of the city and visitors to the city;

      (9)   Allow logical, efficient development or redevelopment of adjacent properties within the P-D and properties adjacent
to the P-D;

      (10)   Supersede the provisions of §§ 152.250 through 152.265 of this chapter when the latter are expressly contrary to a
specific provision of this section, or upon application to and approval by the Planning Commission, provided such approval
is consistent with the purpose of this section; and

      (11)   Allow for flexibility of land uses, such as allow tourist accommodations in residential zones with standards and
ensure the developer and/or management company is responsible for all management of the tourist accommodation,
including but not limited to responding to noise, trash, overcrowding, and parking complaints. The intent is to place all
responsibility on the developer, management, HOA, or property owner, provide the public with easily-accessible
management contact, and minimize city time and expense related to the tourist accommodation use.

   (B)   General requirements. The following general requirements shall govern planned developments.

      (1)   A planned development may be established in any zone other than the T-C Zone.

      (2)   On land subject to an approved planned development, only those uses, structures, and other forms of development,
which have been set forth and authorized in a development plan approved in accordance with the provisions of this section,
or accessory use to such forms of development, may be established.

      (3)   (a)   A planned development may include any uses permitted outright or conditionally in the underlying zone. Where
the underlying zone is residential, any uses permitted in R-1 through R-5 Zones may be permitted when compatible with
each other and harmonious with adjacent uses.

         (b)   The one exception to division (B)(3)(a) above is the possible approval of short-term rentals (tourist
accommodations per § 152.003 of this chapter and including time shares) to the planned development. The total area of the
development that may be allocated to tourist accommodations in residential zoned areas shall be equal to or less than 15%
of the total land area of the underlying R-1 through R5 Zones. A planned development with tourist accommodations in
residential zones shall have a minimum of five contiguous acres. Tourist accommodations in residential zones shall be
limited to single-family and two-family dwellings with a maximum number of five bedrooms. The tourist accommodation area
shall be contiguous, cohesive, compatible with the entire development (use, architectural, traffic, and the like), buffered
(space, sight, and sound buffered) from all adjacent uses other than commercial uses, and buffered from adjacent properties
that are outside of the P-D. The following city standards shall apply, and the management entity may establish additional
standards. These following standards shall be part of the tourist accommodation area CC&Rs.

            1.   Nuisance control. No noise, lights, dust, smoke, odors, and electromagnetic frequencies generated on-site in
excess of the amounts normally associated with residential uses shall emanate off-site or interfere with surrounding
residential or commercial uses.

            2.   Lighting. Outside lighting shall be restricted to low voltage lighting and/or motion sensor lighting for security.

            3.   Off-street parking. For tourist accommodation dwelling uses, off-street parking space requirements are:

               a.   A single-family or two-family dwelling shall have one on-site parking space for each bedroom. A minimum of
two parking spaces shall be provided per dwelling;

               b.   A multi-family dwelling shall have one parking space for each bedroom located immediately adjacent to the
unit. A minimum of two parking spaces shall be provided per dwelling;

               c.   A parking lot for overflow vehicles, consisting of one additional space per dwelling unit, that shall be in the



immediate area of the tourist accommodations; and

               d.   If a dwelling unit is a residence plus a tourist accommodation, two additional spaces are required on the same
property.

            4.   Solid waste disposal. For tourist accommodation dwelling uses, a minimum 96-gallon vessel shall be provided for
each unit, and the unit shall have “carry-out”/“valet” (no need to put vessels at curb) service. A multi-unit dumpster type unit
may be substituted, it must be enclosed to the sight-line. Weekly solid waste pick-up is required during all months of the
year.

            5.   State law compliance. It is the property owner’s responsibility to ensure that a tourist accommodation dwelling
use remains in substantial compliance with state regulations for the following: health, safety, Building Code, Fire Code,
tourist accommodation statutes, and the Uniform Housing Code.

            6.   Occupancy. Tourist accommodation dwellings shall not exceed two persons per bedroom plus one additional
person per dwelling.

            7.   Signage. The management entity shall only have one exterior on-site sign for the tourist accommodation area.
The sign shall identify the site as a tourist accommodation area; identify a local contact person; state that the local contact
person is available 24 hours each day, seven days a week to handle rentals and complaints; and identify the local contact
person’s business license number. An interior sign with this same information shall be placed inside each tourist
accommodation in a noticeable location, such as, near the front door or in the kitchen.

            8.   Business license. For a tourist accommodation dwelling, the property owner and property management company
are required to have a city business license. In addition, for tourist accommodation dwelling uses, transient room tax
ordinance provisions shall apply.

            9.   Revocation. Any violation of the requirements or standards of this P-D Zone or any other city ordinance may
result in revocation of the transient rental unit business license.

      (4)   Overall residential density shall be as provided for in the underlying zone or zones. Density shall be computed
based on the total gross land area of the subject property, excluding area devoted to commercial or other non-residential
uses allowed in the underlying zone and resources protected under Goal 5, but including common areas.

      (5)   No building shall exceed the height allowed in the underlying zone.

      (6)   Yards, setbacks, lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements may be reduced, adjusted, or
otherwise modified upon application to, and approval by the Planning Commission, consistent with the design objectives of
the proposed development.

      (7)   In the event of a conflict between any applicable use zone provision and the allowances, limitations, or requirements
of an approved preliminary plan, the approved preliminary plan shall control.

      (8)   A planned development shall have a minimum of two contiguous acres, exclusive of street right-of-way. A planned
development with tourist accommodations in residential zones shall have a minimum of five contiguous acres.

      (9)   Excluding streets and parking, at least 35% of the land will be dedicated or reserved for outdoor recreation, park, or
natural land.

      (10)   Paved concrete sidewalks shall be provided in commercial areas and along Highway 101. The exception to this is
the Highway 101 right-of-way and the adjacent 40-foot wide designated forested corridor on both sides of Highway 101
right-of-way from south point street south to the city limits which shall instead include a four-foot wide walking/biking path (§
152.074(B)(3) of this chapter applies). The planned development shall also include a connected pedestrian system/network.

      (11)   Parking shall conform to § 152.058 and Diagram A of § 152.031, with the exception that all parking areas shall be
paved.

      (12)   A minimum 5% of a parking area shall be landscaped. Landscaping in parking and common open space areas
shall be installed according to plans approved by the city. Landscaping shall be installed in all yards adjacent to a public or
private street prior to final building inspections.

      (13)   Natural existing landscaping may be used to meet landscaping requirements. Landscape design and landscaping
areas shall serve their intended functions and shall not adversely impact surrounding areas. Required landscaping shall
include a mix of vertical elements (trees) and horizontal elements (grass, shrubs, ground cover, and the like). Section
152.074 of this chapter applies. Landscaped areas and open space shall be maintained. Invasive plant materials, as
identified by the USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service state listed noxious weeds shall be removed and shall not
be planted.

   (C)   General approval process. At a minimum, a preliminary plan and lastly a final plan shall be submitted for approval for
all planned developments. Once the preliminary plan is approved and the final engineered plans are reviewed and approved
by the city, work on the development’s infrastructure may proceed. The final plan is primarily an as-built of the streets and
infrastructure, and no building permits shall be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the plan. If the
planned development is to be developed in a number of individual sections or phases, each which is developed separate
from the others (a phased planned development), a master plan shall first be submitted for approval. Once the master plan
for the entire development is approved, each phase (section) of the development shall follow the standard preliminary plan



and final plan process.

      (1)   If the planned development is a phased planned development, the initial step is the submission of the master plan
for the entire development, which shall be submitted for approval as per division (D) below.

         (a)   The master plan is the over-arching plan of the entire development and of all phases. The primary purpose of a
master plan is to propose and establish the development’s overall concept, overall planning, and the integration of all
phases. Master plan approval does not permit development or construction to occur.

         (b)   If a master plan for a phased development is approved, the applicant or its successor shall obtain separate
preliminary and final approvals for each phase. For each individual phase, a preliminary plan shall be submitted for approval
as per division (E) below prior to any work starting on the infrastructure of that phase.

         (c)   If a preliminary plan for an individual phase impacts the master plan, an updated master plan shall be submitted
with that preliminary plan.

         (d)   A master plan is not required for a planned development that is not using a phased development approach.

      (2)   For a planned development that is not a phased planned development, the initial step of a planned development is
the submission of a preliminary plan for the complete development, which shall be submitted for approval as per division (E)
below. Work on the development’s infrastructure may only proceed once the preliminary plan is approved.

      (3)   A final plan shall be submitted for approval as per division (H) below upon completion of all conditions and
requirements of the individual phase preliminary plan or the entire development’s preliminary plan. No building permits shall
be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the final plan.

   (D)   Master plan. A master plan for planned developments shall be developed as follows.

      (1)   Master plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a master plan shall be as set forth in §
152.204(C) of this chapter.

      (2)   Content of master plan. Application for master plan approval of a planned development shall include all items
described in division (F) below. In addition, the following shall be included:

         (a)   A narrative describing the plans for phasing (if applicable);

         (b)   A summary describing the general locations for any reducing, adjusting, or otherwise modifying yards, setbacks,
lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements of this chapter; and

         (c)   A summary describing the general locations for any desired variances, exceptions, deviations, waivers, conditional
uses, zone changes, and the like, and a supporting narrative that acknowledges the zoning application procedure and
criteria order to obtain each approval.

      (3)   Approval on findings. Master plan approval by the Planning Commission shall be based on findings that criteria
described in division (G) below are satisfied.

      (4)   Approval date. Master plan approval is valid from the date all legal appeals are exhausted. Changes to an approved
master plan require an application for a master plan amendment to be reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission
as set forth in § 152.204(C) of this chapter.

   (E)   Preliminary plan. A preliminary plan for planned developments shall be developed as follows.

      (1)   Submittal. A preliminary plan shall be submitted for a non-phased planned development.

      (2)   Phase development. For a phased development, a preliminary plan shall be submitted for each phase of
development.

         (a)   A preliminary plan may be submitted for a phase concurrent with a master plan application. The Planning
Commission will review the preliminary plan the meeting after the master plan is approved.

         (b)   Each phase shall meet the criteria of divisions (E)(4), (F), and (G) below independently of the other phases.

      (3)   Preliminary plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a preliminary plan, which shall be as
set forth in § 152.204(C).

      (4)   Content of preliminary plan. Application for preliminary plan approval of a planned development shall include all
items described in division (F) below. In addition, the following shall be included:

         (a)   Proposed covenants, restrictions, bylaws, and the like of any homeowners associations and any taxing districts;

         (b)   A narrative describing the locations for any divergence from this chapter in the form of reducing, adjusting, or
otherwise modifying yards, setbacks, lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements;

         (c)   Submittal of any requests for variances, exceptions, deviations, waivers, conditional uses, and the like; and

         (d)   A narrative describing the specific area of any short-term rentals and describing how the rentals will be managed,
policed, the city transient room tax (TRT) and the city transient occupancy tax (TOT) are collected, and city TRT and TOT
are forwarded to the city.



      (5)   Approval; findings. Preliminary plan approval by the Planning Commission shall be based on findings that criteria
described in division (G) below are satisfied.

      (6)   Approval; final engineering plans. Based on the preliminary plan approval, the applicant is required to submit final
engineering plans to be reviewed and approved by the city prior to any construction. The applicant shall be responsible for all
costs the city may incur by hiring a professional engineer to review and comment on the final engineering plans.

      (7)   Time limit of preliminary plan approval. Approval of a preliminary plan in accordance with this section is valid after
the exhaustion of all appeals (see § 152.208). Infrastructure (streets and utilities) shall be designed and constructed in
accordance with current design standards unless specific exceptions are granted by the Planning Commission.

   (F)   Common content of master plan and preliminary plan. In addition to the forms prescribed by the city, an application
for master plan approval or a preliminary plan approval of a planned development shall include the following:

      (1)   A site plan map or maps depicting:

         (a)   All proposed residential and non-residential land uses;

         (b)   Any proposed tourist accommodation area in a residential zoned area, describing the type, location, and number
of each type of tourist accommodation (house, apartment, hotel, condo, time-share, and the like), also showing and
describing the buffering from adjacent uses;

         (c)   Parking areas and lots, showing number of spaces;

         (d)   Proposed lot or parcel boundaries;

         (e)   Proposed roads;

         (f)   Proposed pedestrian system and facilities;

         (g)   Significant natural features, such as wetland, streams courses, environmental hazards, and fish and wildlife
habitat areas; and

         (h)   Proposed open space, recreation areas, or other common elements, and approximate topography with contour
intervals of not more than ten feet.

      (2)   Drawings of the architectural styles of the different areas of the development;

      (3)   A written narrative describing the character of the proposed development, the manner in which it has been designed
to conform to divisions (A) and (B) above, including detailed discussion of how the proposal conforms to the requirements of
division (G) below, how the development meets the parking requirements of the § 152.058 of this chapter, proposed
methods of providing sewer, water, storm drainage, and other utility services, the method proposed for ownership, funding,
and maintenance of common areas, buildings, structures, roads, open space, landscaping, parking areas, fences, buffers
and/or sight, sound barriers to adjacent properties, or other facilities, public access to and use of the aforementioned, and
the proposed time schedule of development; and

      (4)   Other maps or narrative materials needed to determine compliance with any applicable provisions of this chapter, as
determined by initial review of the application for completeness.

   (G)   Common master plan and preliminary plan approval criteria. Approval by the Planning Commission of a master plan
or a preliminary plan of a planned development shall be based on findings that the following criteria are satisfied:

      (1)   All applicable requirements of this section are met;

      (2)   The proposed development is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and policies, and zoning provisions for
the area;

      (3)   Per § 152.251 of this chapter, the provisions of §§ 152.250 through 152.265 of this chapter shall be applicable to
approval criteria unless expressly contrary to a specific provision of this section;

      (4)   The proposed development will provide the following amenities or protections at a higher level than would otherwise
be provided under conventional land development procedure: protection of significant natural and cultural features and
resources, such as historical, scientific, and cultural resources, fish and wildlife habitats, stream corridors, riparian areas,
and wetlands; maintenance, enhancement or establishment of natural vegetation, especially indigenous plant communities;
protection of scenic and aesthetic qualities; and creation of a high quality built environment which harmonizes with the
natural and physical features of the site and includes design features such as, as examples only, suitably located open
space, recreation facilities, and other common facilities for inhabitants of the planned development; includes pedestrian
oriented development which reduces reliance on automobile travel, and provides similar measures to promote energy
conservation, or avoidance of risks and costs associated with environmental hazards;

      (5)   In acting to approve, the Commission shall be mindful of the purposes of this section by encouraging and promoting
creativity and innovation in site planning, and by allowing for flexibility in the application of design standards. The
Commission may also impose any conditions or limitations it finds necessary to achieve compliance with any provisions of
this section; and

      (6)   The proposed development is in substantial harmony with the area at least 250 feet outside the boundary of the



proposed development. In the case of a phased planned development, all phases shall also be in visible agreement with
each other architecturally and otherwise.

   (H)   Final plan. Upon completion of all conditions and requirements of a preliminary plan, application may be made for
final approval in accordance with the provisions of this section.

      (1)   Final plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a request for final plan approval shall be
as set forth in § 152.204(C).

      (2)   Certifications required for final plan approval. Requests for final plan approval shall be accompanied by the following
certifications, as applicable:

         (a)   A copy of all covenants and restrictions;

         (b)   Copies of legal documents required for dedication of public facilities or for the creation of a homeowner’s
association;

         (c)   As-built certifications for all required roads and utilities;

         (d)   If the planned development involves a division of land, the certifications required by §§ 152.250 through 152.265
of this chapter; and

         (e)   Other certifications required as a condition of the preliminary plan approval.

      (3)   Final plan approval criteria. The Commission shall approve a final plan provided that:

         (a)   The submitted final plan is in substantial conformance with the approved preliminary plan and master plan (if a
phased planned development); and

         (b)   All of the certifications required by division (H)(2) above have been submitted in proper form.

      (4)   Permits. No building permits shall be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the final plan.

   (I)   Retroactivity. The provisions in this section shall not apply to planned developments, or phases thereof, which were
granted preliminary plan approval prior to the effective date of this section. In those cases the prior version of this section
shall apply, unless said approval expires without applicant having obtained the final approval.

   (J)   Amending an approved planned development master plan or preliminary plan. When a developer or owner desires to
deviate from an approved master plan or preliminary plan, any applicable documents that would result in modification from
that change shall be submitted for approval. The review process is identical as a new planned development approval. As a
result of the change, the Planning Commission may require changes to approved uses, structures, and other forms of
development to ensure the proposed development remains consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals, policies, and
zoning ordinance provisions for the area, and to ensure all areas of the planned development remain in harmony following
division (A) and (B) of this section.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 310, passed 11-1-2016) Penalty, see § 152.999



SUPPLEMENTARY REGULATIONS
§ 152.055 CLEAR VISION AREAS.

   A clear vision area shall be maintained on the corners of all property at the intersection of two streets or a street and an
alley.

   (A)   A clear vision area shall consist of a triangular area, two sides of which are lot lines measured from the corner
intersection of the street lot lines for a distance specified in this regulation, or, where the lot lines have rounded corners, the
lot lines extended in a straight line to a point of intersection and so measured, and the third side of which is a line across the
corner of the lot joining the non-intersecting end of the other two sides.

   (B)   A clear vision area shall contain no planting, fence, wall, structure, or temporary or permanent obstruction exceeding
three and one-half feet in height measured from the top of the curb or, where no curb exists, from the established street
center line grade, except that trees exceeding this height may be located in this area, provided all branches and foliage are
removed to a height eight feet above grade.

   (C)   The following measurements shall establish clear vision areas:

      (1)   In a residential zone, the minimum distance shall be 30 feet; and

      (2)   In all other zones where yards are required, the minimum distance shall be 15 feet except that when the angle of
intersection is less than 30 degrees, the distance shall be 25 feet.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004)

§ 152.056 MANAGER/OWNER/CARETAKER RESIDENCE.

   In the M-C and L-I Zones, a residence secondary to the main use of the property is allowed for the sole purpose of
providing living quarters for the owner, operator, or caretaker of a new or ongoing commercial or industrial enterprise,
provided that:

   (A)   The living space shall be located in the same building as the principal use of the property;

   (B)   Non-owner/manager inhabitation of the living space is prohibited; and

   (C)   The Planning Commission shall review each approval granted under the provisions of this section annually unless
determined otherwise by the Planning Commission.

(Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004)

§ 152.057 STREET VENDOR PROHIBITED.

   (A)   No person shall sell any items, including but not limited to food, beverages, flowers, balloons, or other items, or offer
them for sale, from any street, sidewalk, public right-of-way, or public property within the city limits; provided however that
items permitted to be sold from a “mobile vending stand” may be sold from public property or public right-of-way which has
been closed by motion or resolution of the City Council if the mobile vending stand is doing business in conjunction with a
festival/community event.

   (B)   A “festival or community event” is a temporary use of land for the purpose of providing general community
amusement, recognition of historical events or traditions, or celebration of community-wide local products, which are
organized by non-profit organizations and the proceeds of the festival or event are used to promote the purposes of the non-
profit organization or donated to other non-profit organizations.

(Ord. 93, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 222, passed 8-7-1995) Penalty, see § 152.999

§ 152.058 OFF-STREET PARKING AND OFF-STREET LOADING REQUIREMENTS.

   At the time a new structure is erected or the square footage is increased, or the use of the structure is changed, off-street
parking spaces, loading areas, and access thereto shall be provided as set forth in this section.

   (A)   Requirements for types of buildings and uses not specifically listed herein shall be determined by the Planning
Commission, based upon the requirements of comparable uses listed.

   (B)   In the event several uses occupy a single structure or parcel of land, the total requirements shall be the sum of the
several uses computed separately.

   (C)   Owners of two or more uses, structures, or parcels of land may agree to jointly utilize the same parking and loading
spaces when the hours of operation do not overlap, provided that satisfactory legal evidence is presented to the Planning
Commission in the form of deeds, leases, or contracts to establish the joint use and hours of operation.

   (D)   Off-street parking spaces for dwellings, hotels, motels, resorts, and time-shares shall be located on the same lot or on
a lot immediately adjacent to the lot served by such parking.

   (E)   Required parking spaces shall be available for the parking of operable passenger automobiles of residents,
customers, patrons, and employees only, and shall not be used for storage of vehicles or materials or for the parking of



trucks used in conducting the business or use.

   (F)   Areas used for standing and maneuvering of vehicles shall have durable and dustless surfaces improved adequately
for all-weather use, and shall be adequately maintained. Drainage shall conform to the city’s storm water master plan and a
drainage plan shall be approved the city field superintendent.

   (G)   Except for parking to serve dwelling uses, parking and loading areas adjacent to or within residential zones, or
adjacent to Highway 101, or residential uses shall be designed to minimize visual impacts by use of landscaping or by a
fence screened by landscaping.

   (H)   Parking areas used for public or private parking lots under the conditional use in an R-4 Zone must have garbage
containers available for garbage which may be generated by users of the parking lot. Such garbage containers must be
emptied on a regular basis and not less than weekly. Parking lots shall be posted with the following sign: “no camping or
overnight use” and shall have their hours posted. Parking lot hours shall not extend beyond 10:00 p.m. or open earlier than
4:00 a.m. If the property fails to enforce the parking prohibitions, the Planning Commission may review and consider
whether or not to revoke the conditional use permit.

   (I)   Parking spaces along the outer boundaries of a lot shall contain a curb or bumper rail at least four inches high and set
back four feet from the front of the space.

   (J)   Artificial lighting may be used in parking areas provided it is of low intensity, is pointed generally downward, and is
shielded if necessary so as to not create light or glare off-site.

   (K)   Except with respect to approved driveways, required off-street parking areas shall not be provided in the required
front or street side yard areas in a residential zone.

   (L)   Groups of more than four parking spaces shall be served by a driveway so that no backing movements or other
maneuvering within a street, other than an alley, will be required.

   (M)   A driveway designed for continuous forward flow of passenger vehicles for the purpose of loading and unloading
children shall be located on the site of any school having a capacity greater than 25 students.

   (N)   Buildings or structures which receive and distribute material or merchandise by truck shall provide and maintain off-
street loading berths of sufficient numbers and size to handle the needs of the particular use. Off-street parking areas used
to fulfill the requirements of this section may be used for loading and unloading operations during periods of the day when
not required to take care of parking needs.

   (O)   All spaces shall be permanently and clearly marked. Markings which guide safe and efficient traffic flow shall also be
permanently and clearly marked. All markings shall be replaced regularly to remain visible.

   (P)   All improvements, including surfacing, storm water management, striping, and landscaping shall be fully maintained
for the life of the parking facility. Failure to maintain such improvements shall constitute a violation of this chapter.

   (Q)   All parking lots shall be designed with spaces for handicapped drivers as provided for in the Building Code.

   (R)   The clear vision requirements set forth in § 152.055 of this subchapter shall apply to all parking lots at the intersection
of two streets or a street and an alley.

   (S)   For C-1 Retail Commercial Zoned properties, off-street parking requirements shall be located on the same lot or
within 500 feet (as measured by a direct line from the nearest property line to the nearest property line of the parking lot).

      (1)   On-street parking spaces that front the lot and are adjacent (on the same side of the street) may be counted in the
required parking. Over one-half of the parking space shall be directly within the street frontage of the lot in order to be
counted in the required parking.

      (2)   When the square footage of a business or structure is increased, or the use is changed, only the spaces associated
with the increased square footage or area of change must be added.

      (3)   No person who works or resides in properties fronting Highway 101 shall park a vehicle on Highway 101 while in his
or her place of employment, or in his or her residence between 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on any day. Single-family dwellings
are exempt.

      (4)   Parking on Highway 101 is limited to four hours between 6:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m.

      (5)   All parking shall be general purpose parking/public parking with the exception of residential uses which may have
designated off-street parking spaces. If required parking is off-site but within 500 feet, the applicant must provide written
documentation from the property owner authorizing the parking. If a variance to parking requirements is pursued, the
applicant shall demonstrate that off-site parking is not available within 500 feet.

   (T)   Off-street parking space requirements:

Animal hospital or kennel 1 space per 500 square feet
Any single- or multi-family residential use, including
condominium or time share 2 spaces per unit



Church, auditorium, meeting place, theater, gymnasium,
mortuary, or similar place of assembly

1 space for each 50 square feet of floor area used for
assembly

Dance hall, skating rink, pool hall, aquarium, bowling alley,
or similar commercial amusement enterprise 1 space for each 100 square feet of floor area

Day care, nursery school, kindergarten, elementary and
middle schools, and similar uses

2 spaces per classroom or instructional area, plus
requirements for offices, places of assembly, and the like

Financial institution, laboratory, or office 1 space for each 300 square feet of floor area

Golf courses 5 spaces per hole, plus the 75% the ancillary parking
requirements

High schools 8 spaces per classroom or instructional area, plus
requirements for offices, places of assembly, and the like

Hospital 3 spaces for each 2 beds
Laundromat 1 space per three machines
Library or similar facility 1 space for each 300 square feet of floor area
Manufacturing, fabrication, assembly, processing,
cabinetry, or similar use 1 space for each 1,000 square feet of floor area

Marina or other moorage facility 1 space per boat mooring space
Medical or dental clinic 1 space for each 200 square feet of floor area

Miniature golf 1.5 spaces per hole
Nursing home, residential facility, residential home, or
retirement home 1 space for each 3 beds

Personal or business service 1 space per 250 square feet
Public or private swimming pool 1 space per 100 square feet
Recreational vehicle park 3 spaces for each two RV spaces

Restaurants and bars
1 space for each 100 square feet of serving area (total floor
area where public is allowed, excluding restrooms and
other specified uses, such as designated retail space)

Retail store not handling bulky merchandise 1 space for each 350 square feet of floor area
Service or repair shop; retail store handling bulky
merchandise, such as automobiles, furniture, boats, marine
equipment, and the like; automobile service station, feed
and seed; heavy equipment; lumber or building supplies; or
similar uses

1 space for each 600 square feet of sales, storage, or repair
area

Tourist accommodation 1 space for each guest accommodation
Warehouse, storage, and wholesale business 1 space for each 2000 square feet of area

 

   (U)   The required size of parking spaces, aisles, driveways, and similar design features are set forth in Diagram A.
Required landscaping areas are not shown.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 71, passed 8-19-1980; Ord. 92, passed 7-7-1982; Ord. 124, passed 7-1-1985; Ord. 130,
passed 4-6-1987; Ord. 145, passed 1-3-1989; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord. 234, passed
12-16-1996; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 279, passed - -2007)

§ 152.059 DISTANCE FROM PROPERTY LINE.

   In areas where a side or rear yard is not required and a structure is not to be erected at the property line, it shall be set
back at least three feet from the property line.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976)

§ 152.060 EXTERIOR LIGHTING.

   Exterior lighting for uses in commercial and industrial zones shall be located in such a manner so as not to face or shine
directly onto a lot in a residential zone, street, or highway.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976)

§ 152.061 GENERAL PROVISIONS REGARDING ACCESSORY USES, FENCES, RETAINING WALLS, HEDGES, AND
DECKS.

   An accessory use shall comply with all requirements for a principal use, except as this chapter specifically allows to the
contrary, and shall comply with the following limitations:



   (A)   An accessory structure not used for human habitation and separated from the main building may be located in the
required rear and side yard, except in the required street side yard of a corner lot, provided it is not closer to a property line
than the minimum setback required for the zone;

   (B)   One single-wide manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle may be located as a temporary accessory use to a
legally established dwelling under medical hardship provisions subject to the following requirements:

      (1)   The medical hardship be established in writing by a medical doctor;

      (2)   The placement of the unit comply with all residential setback requirements;

      (3)   A sight-obscuring fence or ornamental hedge may be required to screen the accessory use from other uses off the
property;

      (4)   All appropriate permits, such as placement permits and those required by the city or special districts for water and
sewer service be obtained prior to moving the unit on the property;

      (5)   The mobile home or travel trailer be disconnected from all services and removed as appropriate when the hardship
no longer exists; and

      (6)   The use be reviewed annually to insure compliance with the above.

   (C)   (1)   In a residential area, fences, hedges, and walls extending above the finished grade of an approved dwelling may
be located within required yards, but shall not exceed three and one-half feet in height in any required front yard which abuts
a street other than an alley or any street side yard, or as otherwise provided for in this chapter.

      (2)   Fences constructed on vacant lots or parcels may be located anywhere within a parcel’s boundary lines but shall
not exceed a height of six feet and shall not interfere with clear vision areas. When dwelling construction begins, changes to
these fences shall be required, if necessary, to comply with division (C)(1) above.

   (D)   Unenclosed decks may be located within required yards except for clear vision areas, but shall encroach no further
than one-third of the required setback distance;

   (E)   This provision is to protect the city and adjacent property owners from undesirable, potentially hazardous, and
unnecessary development through the use of retaining walls.

      (1)   No retaining wall shall be constructed for the purpose of back filling to artificially heighten a lot’s ground elevation to
improve views from the subject property.

      (2)   No retaining wall shall be constructed to elevate the grade of a lot unless necessary to establish a use or structure
permitted in the underlying zone.

      (3)   Proposed retaining walls over eight feet in height shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission at a public hearing,
following the conditional use procedure. Approval of any retaining wall in excess of eight feet in height shall be based on the
following findings:

         (a)   The retaining wall is reasonably necessary for construction of a structure or to establish a use permitted in the
underlying zone;

         (b)   The retaining wall will not be materially detrimental to adjacent or nearby property, or to public safety or welfare;

         (c)   The retaining wall does not preclude future access to adjacent undeveloped property;

         (d)   If the retaining wall is a component of a building’s foundation, it will comply with setback requirements from side
and rear property lines; and

         (e)   The retaining wall does not conflict with any other provisions of this chapter.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 71, passed 8-19-1980; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord.
256, passed 4-6-2004) Penalty, see § 152.999

§ 152.062 APPROVAL OF CITY INSPECTOR.

   No building shall be erected, altered, enlarged, or rebuilt or moved unless it has city-approved domestic water supply and
sewage disposal.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 71, passed 8-19-1980) Penalty, see § 152.999

§ 152.063 REVIEW OF FIRE DEPARTMENT.

   (A)   With the exception of single-family detached dwellings, all development proposals involving structures shall be
submitted to the Fire Department for review, comment, and recommendation.

   (B)   If no response is received within ten days from the Fire Department, the city may proceed as it deems appropriate.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976)

§ 152.064 BUILDING PERMIT APPROVALS.



   No building or structure shall be erected, enlarged, altered, rebuilt, remodeled, or moved unless in conformance with the
requirements of all state and local ordinances applicable to the structure and the land upon which it is proposed.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976) Penalty, see § 152.999

§ 152.065 DEVELOPMENT GUIDELINES.

   In order to protect the quality of the city which makes it a desirable place in which to live, the Planning Commission may
recommend and the City Council may adopt as ordinances such development guidelines and accompanying maps as may
be necessary for the conservation and development of natural resources; the protection of areas having historical or
aesthetic importance; the safe and desirable use of geologically hazardous areas; and utilization and development of any
other air, land, or water uses which may have significant impact on the quality of the city. Such development guideline
ordinances will be made as addendums to this chapter. Areas to which such ordinances apply will be so designated on the
zoning maps of the city.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976)

§ 152.066 STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS FOR CONDOMINIUMS AND TIME SHARE PROJECTS.

   Each condominium and time share project shall comply with the following additional standards and requirements.

   (A)   An association of unit owners shall be organized to serve as a means through which the unit owners shall administer,
manage, and operate the condominium, as required by the applicable state statute.

   (B)   Each time share project shall establish an owners’ association or designate another form of managing entity, as
required by the applicable state statute.

   (C)   The owners’ association for condominiums, or the owners’ association or managing entity for time share projects,
shall maintain on record with the City Recorder the name and address of the representative or agent of the owners’
association or a natural person as managing entity. That designated person shall receive all notices or orders by the city to
the owners’ association or managing entity, and shall also thereby be as the agent of the owners’ association or managing
entity for purposes of service of process.

   (D)   The person designated by the owners’ association or managing entity, as provided above, shall file, from time to time,
any required reports or records with the city as may be required, including but not limited to §§ 34.20 through 34.37, the
transient room tax ordinance.

(Ord. 130, passed 4-6-1987; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.067 TEMPORARY PLACEMENT OF A MANUFACTURED DWELLING.

   A manufactured dwelling may be temporarily placed upon an individual lot upon compliance with the following conditions:

   (A)   The lot owner shall file an application with the city, requesting a permit to temporarily place a manufactured dwelling
upon the lot. The applicant shall certify that the applicant is diligently undertaking efforts to place the manufactured dwelling
permanently upon a lot within the city, that the lot upon which the manufactured dwelling will be placed both temporarily and
permanently are properly zoned for placement of a manufactured dwelling, that the applicant is the owner or vendee
purchaser under contract of the manufactured dwelling, and that if the temporary placement permit is granted, the owner
shall comply with the conditions of this section and with such additional conditions as may be imposed by the Planning
Commission upon issuance of the temporary placement permit;

   (B)   The temporary placement of a manufactured dwelling is permitted only in those zones which permit placement of
manufactured dwellings; a single-wide manufactured dwelling may be temporarily placed only in an R-3 Zone;

   (C)   The temporary placement permit shall be valid for a period of 60 days from the date of issuance of the temporary
placement permit. If the manufactured dwelling is not permanently sited upon a lot within the city prior to expiration of the 60-
day period of the temporary placement permit, the owner may apply to the Planning Commission for an additional 60 days
for temporary placement of the manufactured dwelling;

   (D)   No utilities other than electrical shall be connected to the manufactured dwelling nor shall any person occupy the
manufactured dwelling;

   (E)   The applicant shall comply with other requirements of this chapter, including but not limited to setback requirements,
floodplain development, and geologic setbacks and requirements;

   (F)   Notwithstanding §§ 152.205 through 152.208 of this chapter, the Planning Commission shall not be required to hold a
public hearing prior to issuance of the original temporary placement permit if the application complies with all provision of
this section. In the event the applicant applies for an extension, the Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing
pursuant to § 152.206 of this chapter; and

   (G)   The applicant shall pay the applicable action fee as provided in § 152.205 of this chapter and by resolution of the City
Council.

(Ord. 163, passed 9-16-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991) Penalty, see § 152.999

§ 152.068 DESIGN FEATURES FOR SINGLE-FAMILY DWELLINGS.



   (A)   All single-family dwellings located within a residential zone (except for manufactured homes located within a
manufactured home subdivision or a “mobile home park”) shall utilize at least two of the following design features:

      (1)   Dormers;

      (2)   Recessed entries;

      (3)   Cupolas;

      (4)   Bay or bow windows;

      (5)   Window shutters;

      (6)   Off-sets on building face or roof (minimum 12 inches);

      (7)   Gables;

      (8)   Covered porch entry or unenclosed deck;

      (9)   Pillars or posts;

      (10)   Tile, shake, or elongated (not corrugated) metal roofing; or

      (11)   Horizontal lap siding or snakes.

   (B)   Individual lots shall be residentially landscaped and maintained similar to surrounding neighborhood development.
Use of native vegetation shall be encouraged wherever possible.

   (C)   A driveway having a durable and dustless surface shall be provided.

   (D)   Single-family dwellings and other improvements shall be developed in compliance with applicable provisions set forth
in this chapter.

(Ord. 194, passed 12-6-1993)

§ 152.069 TRANSIENT OCCUPANCY OF DWELLING UNITS.

   (A)   The purpose of this section is to protect the character of the city’s residential neighborhoods by prohibiting transient
occupancy of dwelling units therein and by implementing the Comprehensive Plan policies relating to housing and transient
occupancy. Use of dwellings for transient occupancy purposes has unmitigatable adverse impacts on surrounding
residential uses and is therefore prohibited, except as provided for in these zoning regulations. The city finds that transient
occupancy of dwelling units has been permitted in the past and that the lawful use of property may continue subject to
certain standards contained in these zoning regulations. These regulations include, for transient use of dwellings located
within a residential zone, an amortization period of four years and the provision for individualized determinations that lawful
investments specifically committed to transient occupancy have been made.

   (B)   Sections 152.150 through 152.158 (non-conforming uses) shall not apply to uses and structures subject to this
section.

   (C)   No person shall occupy, use, operate, or manage, nor offer or negotiate to use, lease, or rent a dwelling unit in any
residential zone for transient occupancy, except a dwelling lawfully used for transient occupancy purposes on the effective
date of this section which meets the requirements of § 152.070 of this subchapter.

   (D)   In the commercial or industrial zones, the rental of a dwelling, or portion thereof, for transient occupancy shall be
considered a tourist accommodation and subject to the requirements for tourist accommodations, including compliance with
the requirements of § 152.070 of this subchapter.

   (E)   The use of dwellings or residences within any residential zone for transient occupancy purposes shall be deemed
terminated upon the effective date of this section unless the provisions of § 152.070 of this subchapter are met. Persons
who fail to register and substantiate the non-conforming use of their property, within the period described, shall be precluded
from further use of their dwellings for transient occupancy under the provisions of these zoning regulations.

(Ord. 234, passed 12-16-1996)

§ 152.070 TRANSIENT OCCUPANCY BUSINESS REGISTRATION/AMORTIZATION OF SHORT-TERM RENTALS OF
DWELLINGS.

   (A)   Any person who rented a dwelling unit located within any residential zone to transients between December 1, 1995
and the effective date of this section, or who otherwise claims a non-conforming transient occupancy use, shall establish the
non-conforming transient occupancy use status by substantiating their actual use of the property for transient occupancy
purposes. Evidence, of a type which provides written documentation and is more than a statement of use, shall be provided
to the city within 60 days of the effective date of section, together with the transient occupancy business registration
required in division (B) below.

   (B)   No person shall operate, manage, or maintain a tourist accommodation or be the agent for the owner or operator for
the purpose of assisting in the use or maintenance of a tourist accommodation or dwelling in the transient occupancy
business or, during the amortization period of use of dwellings for transient occupancy, dwellings for transient occupancy



without registering as a transient occupancy business with the City Recorder. No fee shall be required to register as a
transient occupancy business.

   (C)   The City Recorder shall require such information as convenient or necessary for the registration of transient
occupancy businesses, including but not limited to the name of the owner, the name of the operator, the address of the
structure or building, and that either the business holds a business license to engage in the transient occupancy business or
evidence that the structure or building has been used for transient occupancy business during the period from December
1,1995 to the effective date of this section or the real property is being held with the expectation of engaging in the transient
occupancy business by August 1, 1997. A transient occupancy business license review committee, establishing by
resolution or motion of the City Council, shall review the registration application and determine whether the application for
registration substantiates transient occupancy use for the required period. Written notice of the decision shall be mailed to
the registration applicant. Decisions of the committee may be appealed to the City Council within 20 calendar days of the
date of mailing of the written decision of the committee.

   (D)   Persons shall be permitted 60 days from the date of adoption of this section amendment to register as required
above. Within 15 days following the adoption of this section, the City Recorder shall give notice of the adoption of this
section and the requirement to register as a transient occupancy business by the following:

      (1)   Mailing a copy of this section and a form for registration as a transient occupancy business to all persons or
businesses who have filed a transient room tax report within the past eight months;

      (2)   Posting a notice, in the form prescribed below, at the public bulletin board at the post office and at the city hall;

      (3)   Including a notice, in the form prescribed below, with the next water/sewer billing; and

      (4)   Publishing notice of adoption of this section in the News Times and News Guard newspapers, legal notice section,
with the following text in the notice:

   Notice to all persons who rent or intend to rent to transients, tourists, or short-term (less than 30 days) renters or lodgers.
The city has adopted Ordinance 234, which restricts or prohibits the rental or occupancy of lodging facilities or dwellings to
short-term renters, transients, or lodgers. Registration as a transient occupancy business is required by February 14, 1997.
A copy of the ordinance and registration form may be obtained: in person at the City Hall, 570 SE Shell Ave., Depoe Bay,
OR 97341, during regular business hours; by mailing a request for the “transient occupancy business restrictions and
registration” to the City Recorder, PO Box 8, Depoe Bay, OR 97341; or by telephone (541-765-2361), requesting the
“transient occupancy business restrictions and registration” be mailed to you. Failure to register shall result in the cessation
of the transient occupancy business. There is no fee for registering.

   (E)   The transient occupancy business shall be in compliance with the city business license and the transient room tax
ordinances, and shall not be delinquent with each of the requirements of these ordinances.

   (F)   The non-conforming use of dwellings for transient occupancy shall be amortized within a four-year period from the
effective date of this section. At the conclusion of the amortization period, all transient occupancy of dwelling units shall be
prohibited, whether or not such use existed prior to the adoption of this section unless hardship relief has been granted
pursuant to (G) below.

   (G)   A hardship provision is established for property owners who can substantiate that an investment made exclusively in
the non-conforming use of a dwelling for transient occupancy cannot be adequately amortized within the period of time
specified in division (F) above. The purpose of this hardship provision is to permit those who have made substantial
investments in transient occupancy improvements to dwellings structures to recover their investment, but only in those
cases in which the improvements have committed the structure to transient occupancy, as opposed to long-term residential
use. If the improvement may be utilized both for transient occupancy and long-term residential use, this provision shall not
apply. An application for hardship relief under the provisions of this section shall also provide information on the specific
investments that were made with respect to the non-conforming, short-term rental use of the property. Anyone seeking
hardship relief shall file an application for such relief with the City Recorder not later than 60 days from the effective date of
this section. The City Council shall determine, based on accepted accounting practices, whether there is a basis for hardship
relief and the establishment of a longer amortization period. The hearing upon the hardship petition shall be in accordance
with the procedure set forth in § 152.206(B) of this chapter. If the City Council determines that a longer amortization period is
warranted, it shall establish a period of time that permits the reasonable amortization, based on accepted accounting
practices, of the investment of the property owner. At the conclusion of that specific amortization period, the transient
occupancy of the dwelling shall be terminated. If the City Council determines that a longer amortization period is not
warranted by nature of the investment, the amortization period specified in division (F) above shall be met. Persons who fail
to file an application within the time period established in this section shall be precluded from applying for hardship relief
under the provisions of these zoning regulations.

(Ord. 234, passed 12-16-1996) Penalty, see § 152.999

§ 152.071 SITING STANDARDS FOR MANUFACTURED HOMES.

   In addition to compliance with provisions set forth under § 152.068 of this subchapter, a manufactured home shall be
permitted on individual lots in all residential and commercial zones permitting single-family dwellings, subject to the following
standards:

   (A)   The manufactured home shall be multi-sectional and enclose an area of not less than 1,000 square feet; except, in



the R-3 Zone, a single-wide or multi-sectional home enclosing a floor area of not less than 700 square feet shall be
permitted. A manufactured home shall not be considered multi-sectional (double-wide or larger) by virtue of having a tip-out
section;

   (B)   The manufactured home shall be placed on an excavated and back-filled foundation, enclosed at the perimeter with
skirting of concrete, concrete block, or masonry. Where the building site has a sloped grade, no more than 12 inches of the
enclosing material shall be exposed on the uphill side of the home, if the manufactured home is placed on a basement or a
garage, the 12-inch limitation will not apply;

   (C)   The manufactured home shall have a pitched roof, except that no standard shall require a slope grater than a nominal
three feet in height for each 12 feet in width;

   (D)   The manufactured home shall not have corrugated metal but shall have exterior siding and roofing which in color,
material, and appearance is similar to the exterior siding and roofing material commonly used on residential dwellings within
the community or which is comparable to the predominant materials used on surrounding dwellings as determined by the
City Planner or Planning Commission;

   (E)   The manufactured home shall be certified by the manufacturer to have an exterior thermal envelope meeting
performance standards which reduce heat loss levels to the performance standards required of single-family dwellings
constructed under the State Building Code as defined in the applicable state statute;

   (F)   The manufactured dwelling shall have a driveway, which driveway shall have a durable and dustless surface; and

   (G)   Manufactured dwellings shall not be sited adjacent to any structure listed on the register of historic landmarks and
districts.

(Ord. 194, passed 12-6-1993; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.072 PROTECTION OF STREAMS, PONDS, WETLANDS, AND RIPARIAN AREAS.

   (A)   Purpose. The purpose of this section is to provide procedures necessary to secure the desirable attributes of the city
from depletion by recognizing the value of streams, ponds, wetlands, and riparian vegetation for fish and wildlife habitat,
maintenance of water quality and quantity, alleviation of flooding hazards, storm water control, recreation and aesthetics,
and to provide for open space. Protection of the natural drainageways as an integral part of the city environment in
accordance with the Local Wetlands and Riparian Inventory (2004) (LWI) is also important in order to manage stormwater
drainage, minimize maintenance costs, and protect properties adjacent to drainageways.

   (B)   Application. The provisions of this section shall apply to the streams, significant wetlands, ponds, and riparian areas
identified in the Comprehensive Plan’s LWI. The provisions of this section shall also apply to existing streams, significant
wetlands, and riparian areas that are not yet identified in the LWI. The provisions of this section are to be applied in
conjunction with the provisions of the underlying zone and are also subject to the applicable provisions of §§ 152.039,
152.040, 152.076, 152.130 through 152.136, 152.150 through 152.158, 152.170 through 152.173, 152.185 through 152.188,
152.200 through 152.210, and 152.225 through 152.235. Where the provisions of this section and the underlying zone
conflict, the more restrictive regulations shall apply. Forestry activities subject to the riparian regulations of the Oregon
Forest Practices Act, being O.R.S. 527.610 through 527.810, are exempt from regulation under this section. Forestry
activities not subject to the riparian regulations of the Oregon Forest Practices Act are subject to regulation under this
section.

   (C)   Procedure for development applications. Applicants requesting approval for any development permit in an area which
contains a designated resource identified in division (D) below shall submit, along with any application, a detailed site plan
and written statement demonstrating how the proposed activities will conform to each of the applicable standards of this
section. The Planning Commission shall review the application in a public hearing and determine if all of the applicable
criteria are met.

   (D)   Definitions. For the purpose of this section, the following definitions shall apply unless the context clearly indicates or
requires a different meaning.

      DRAINAGEWAYS. The streams, channels, springs, lakes, ponds, reservoirs, ponding areas, and wetlands indicated in
the LWI and the stormwater master plan maps of existing facilities.

      FISH HABITAT. The areas upon which fish depend in order to meet their requirements for spawning, rearing, food
supply, and migration.

      POND. A small body of intermittent or perennial standing water that is a persistent feature of the landscape.

      RIPARIAN AREA. The area adjacent to a river, lake, or stream, consisting of the area of transition from an aquatic
ecosystem to a terrestrial ecosystem.

      RIPARIAN CORRIDOR. Includes the water areas, fish habitat, adjacent riparian areas, and wetlands within the riparian
area boundary.

      RIPARIAN CORRIDOR BOUNDARY.

         (a)   An imaginary line that lies 50 feet inland (or upland), measured on the horizontal, from the top of the bank of an
inland stream, or where no bank is discernible, that lies 50 feet inland from the outer edge of non-aquatic vegetation.



         (b)   Where a wetland or pond is contiguous to a stream, the riparian area shall be measured 50 feet inland (or upland)
from the upland edge of the wetland or pond. Where a wetland or pond is not contiguous to a stream, the riparian area shall
be measured 25 feet inland (or upland) from the upland edge of the wetland or pond.

      STREAM. A channel, such as a river or creek, that carries flowing surface water, including perennial streams and
intermittent streams with defined channels, and excluding human-made irrigation and drainage channels.

      WATER AREA. The area between the banks of a lake, pond, river, or perennial or fish-bearing intermittent stream,
excluding human-made farm ponds.

      WETLAND. An area that is inundated or saturated by surface or ground water at a frequency and duration sufficient to
support, and that under normal circumstances does support, a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated
soil conditions.

   (E)   Riparian corridor protection standards.

      (1)   The actual location of streams, wetlands, ponds, and riparian areas, shall be delineated in the field by a person
qualified to do such a delineation, following procedures accepted by the state. A report and map shall be submitted which
documents the boundaries of the resource and its buffer.

      (2)   The outer boundaries of the riparian corridor shall be clearly marked in the field, and such markings shall remain
visible for inspection until all development on the site is complete.

      (3)   No filling, grading, excavating, or draining is permitted in a wetland area unless such is performed for restoration
purposes. Valid permits from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and from the Oregon Department of State Lands, or written
proof of exemption from these permit programs must be obtained and presented to the city prior to any such work.

      (4)   The flow from springs, drainages, streams, and other features providing the water necessary to maintain wetlands
hydrology, shall not be diminished or substantially increased.

      (5)   Within the riparian corridor boundary, no grading shall occur, no impermeable surfaces or structures shall be
placed, and no vegetation shall be removed or destroyed, except that the following are allowed, provided they are designed
and constructed to minimize intrusion into the riparian area:

         (a)   Removal of riparian vegetation necessary for a use that requires direct access to the water;

         (b)   Placement of utilities, drainage facilities, and irrigation pumps;

         (c)   Replacement or enlargement of existing structures with structures in the same location that do not disturb
additional riparian surface area;

         (d)   The placement of walking paths and road crossings;

         (e)   Removal of non-native noxious vegetation, such as scotch broom, blackberries, and ivy, and replacement with
native plant species;

         (f)   Fish and habitat restoration activities approved by Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife; and

         (g)   Removal of vegetation necessary for the development of water related and water dependent uses.

      (6)   Before any development activity occurs within a riparian corridor, there must be a review and report prepared by a
licensed, certified arborist. The arborist’s report must be submitted to the city before any development activity occurs. The
responsibility for this review lies with the applicant.

      (7)   Valid permits from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and from the Oregon Division of State Lands, or written proof
of exemption from these permit programs, must be obtained and presented to the city before commencement of any of the
activities associated with allowed uses which will impact the streams, ponds, wetlands, and riparian areas.

      (8)   Development activities shall not change the natural drainage or substantially increase the water flow.

      (9)   Development activities shall not create erosion into the stream, wetland, pond, or riparian area.

   (F)   Drainageway protection standards.

      (1)   To prevent new development from significantly increasing the amount or flow rate of surface water run-off destined
for the drainageway, any new development or redevelopment proposed on land on or adjoining a drainageway shall:

         (a)   Avoid filling in, disturbing, or changing the location of the natural drainageway;

         (b)   Avoid placing impervious surfaces within 15 feet of the drainageway;

         (c)   Not “hardline” roof and perimeter drains into the drainageway, but provide for infiltration or run-off on site before
allowing it to enter the natural drainageway; and

         (d)   For subdivisions, provide for engineered stormwater plans that provide for on-site storm water detention and
treatment.

      (2)   This section is not intended to repeal, abrogate, or impair any existing easements, covenants, or deed restrictions.



However, where this section and any other ordinance, easement, covenant, or deed restriction conflict or overlap, whichever
imposes the more stringent restrictions shall prevail.

   (G)   Hardship variances.

      (1)   Applicability. This section applies to lots existing prior to January 1, 1982 in the Coastal Shorelands Overlay Zone or
along North and South Depoe Bay Creeks, or prior to January 1, 2001 in other areas of the city.

      (2)   Where a minimum building footprint of less than 800 square feet would result from application of the rules of this
section, reduction or removal of the restrictions under this section can be granted to allow the building of a structure within
such a building footprint through the variance procedure. Applicants for variance from this section should demonstrate, in
addition to the criteria found in the variance ordinance (§§ 152.170 through 152.173 of this chapter), that intrusion into the
required riparian corridor, wetland, or drainageway protection areas has been minimized by maximizing setback variances
on property line boundaries away from these resources. Applicants shall consult with a fish biologist regarding impacts to the
riparian corridor and stream, and provide that documentation to the city, when requesting intrusion into the required riparian
corridor associated with North Depoe Bay Creek or South Depoe Bay Creek.

   (H)   Map error. If the resource is not located on a subject property, although the inventory map indicates it to be, the
applicant for a building permit shall follow the following procedure:

      (1)   The boundary of the property with proximity to the resource area shall be marked between surveyed property
markers with a visible string or tape;

      (2)   The applicant shall contact the City Planner and request a site visit;

      (3)   The City Planner shall inspect the property and, if the resource is not on the subject property, issue the applicant a
note stating the resource is not on the subject property and is exempt from the provisions of this section; and

      (4)   When the extent of the resource area cannot be determined by the city, the applicant shall seek prompt assistance
from a natural resource agency in making that determination, or provide a written report from a properly-qualified specialist
describing the boundaries of the resource area in relationship to the property boundaries.

(Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 278, passed 3-21-2007) Penalty, see § 152.999

§ 152.073 PROTECTION OF PUBLICLY-OWNED LANDS.

   (A)   Application. This section shall apply to all publicly-owned lands in the city.

   (B)   Standards. Publicly- owned lands, including street rights-of-way, shall be evaluated before their disposition as to their
possible uses as open space or park land or pedestrian and bike pathways, and wherever possible, be retained for those
uses.

(Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004)

§ 152.074 PROTECTION OF COASTAL HEADLANDS; AREAS OF EXCEPTIONAL AESTHETIC RESOURCES.

   (A)   Application. This section’s standards shall apply to lands identified as coastal headlands and exceptional aesthetic
resources found in the Comprehensive Plan inventory section entitled “open spaces, scenic and historic areas, and natural
resources”, item f.

   (B)   Standards. Development in areas of exceptional aesthetic resources or coastal headlands shall substantially maintain
the existing visual character of the areas. The visual character of the area is deemed to be substantially maintained if the
following standards are met.

      (1)   For coastal headlands, coastal scenic areas, and the harbor area.

         (a) The coastal headlands remain in their natural state.

         (b)   The shorelands, cliffs, and immediate environs of the coastal scenic areas comply with the requirements of §§
152.234 and 152.235 of this chapter, except that the “area of visual concern” for Whale Cove, Pirate’s Cove, and the
designated faces of north and south points shall extend 40 feet rather than 25 feet landward from the top of the coastal bluff.

         (c)   In these same areas, the outer coverings of structures that will be visible from within the aesthetic resource area,
including the roofing materials, are of natural wood materials or designed to look like natural wood materials or are painted
or stained in subdued colors.

         (d)   Around the city harbor and adjacent park, developments are compatible with the existing character of the area
and with the atmosphere of the harbor for boats, and are for water dependent uses.

         (e)   Lights from any development are shielded and directed downward so as not to illuminate or cause glare outside of
their local area. External lighting on structures, streets, signage, or for other uses are restricted to low wattage ground lights
less than 12 feet tall.

         (f)   All communication and utility lines and structures are either underground or not visible over or around a vegetative
buffer.

         (g)   Where a permitted use of a lot existing prior to the establishment of this chapter would be precluded by strict



adherence to these requirements, the applicant can ask for an exception to these standards if the applicant meets the
following standards:

            1.   The request is the minimum necessary;

            2.   Disruption of the visual character of the area has been minimized; and

            3.   That options such as clustering of improvements, maximizing variance setbacks on the sides of the development
away from the aesthetic resource, or other design methods to minimize impact have been exercised or are not feasible.

      (2)   For scenic view corridors.

         (a)   For the corridor along the west side of Highway 101 between Sunset Street and the bridge, the property owner,
whether public or private, maintains vegetation pruned to not obstruct the view.

         (b)   Developments are to be designed to intrude into the view corridor the minimum necessary and at least 15 feet per
100 feet of frontage remains with an unobstructed view.

      (3)   For forested corridors.

         (a)   Trees six inches in diameter or greater at four feet above ground shall be retained within 40 feet either side of the
Highway 101 right-of-way from South Point Street south to the city limits. This area may be considered part of the required
common space provided in a planned development or land division.

         (b)   Trees within ten feet of a building may be removed providing the building meets all setback provisions. Trees may
also be removed where ingress or egress to a development can only be achieved by access across the corridor. The
accessway must be the minimum width allowable and designed to minimize the amount of intrusion along the corridor (such
as, by alignment perpendicular to the highway).

         (c)   Within forested corridors, trees may be removed if determined to be unsafe by a registered, certified arborist. If
trees are removed due to unsafe conditions, those areas shall be immediately replanted with trees that will reestablish the
forested corridor.

      (4)   For forested hillsides.

         (a)   In any plan for a subdivision greater than three acres, specific measures are outlined to assure that at least 20%
of the area with trees six inches or greater at four feet above ground shall be protected. These areas shall be mapped in the
plan, and may be considered part of the required common space provided in a planned development.

         (b)   Where a permitted use of a lot existing prior to the establishment of this chapter would be precluded by strict
adherence to these requirements, the development is the minimum necessary and the forested resource is maintained to
the maximum extent possible.

(Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004)

§ 152.075 PROTECTION OF HISTORIC AND ARCHEOLOGICAL SITES.

   (A)   Application. Sites subject to this section are identified in the Comprehensive Plan inventory “open spaces, scenic and
historic areas, natural resources”, § i.

   (B)   Standards. These standards shall apply when an archeological site is observed, located, or unearthed or there is
indication that an archeological site exists or when the city notifies the applicant it is a known site.

      (1)   Development in areas with archeological sites shall be conducted in a manner so as to avoid site disturbance to the
archeological sites and prevent irreversible loss of archeological resources.

      (2)   Development in areas with archeological sites shall comply with the applicable state statute.

      (3)   Development on historic sites shall not diminish the value of such sites as historic resources as determined by the
County Historical Society, the State Advisory Committee on Historical Preservation, or other knowledgeable persons or
agencies in the identification and preservation of historically important resources.

      (4)   Alterations to identified historic structures shall be conducted in a manner so as to maintain the historic value of
such structures.

(Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.076 CLEARING, FILLING, EXCAVATING, AND GRADING.

   (A)   Purpose. The purpose of this section is to assure that during pre-development activities (such as, clearing a
subdivision or a property in preparation for sales to individual home builders) soil disturbance and vegetation removal are
kept to the minimum necessary and that soil particles are prevented from moving off the site onto adjoining properties,
streets, storm drain systems, or into waterways, wetlands, or other natural areas.

   (B)   Definitions. For the purpose of this section, the following definitions shall apply unless the context clearly indicates or
requires a different meaning.



      CLEARING. The removal of vegetation from a site wherein the root system of the vegetation is disturbed. CLEARING,
for the purpose of this section, does not include gardening activities.

      EROSION. The wearing away of the ground surface as a result of the movement of wind or water.

      EXCAVATION. The mechanical removal of earth material.

      FILL. The deposit of earth material placed by artificial means.

      GRADING. The process of changing the topography of the ground surface.

      STREAM. A channel, such as a river or creek that carries flowing surface water, including perennial streams and
intermittent streams with defined channels, and excluding human-made irrigation and drainage channels.

      VEGETATION. Plants of all types, including grasses, ground cover, flowers, bushes, shrubs, and trees.

   (C)   Application. This section applies to any pre-development activity within the city that:

      (1)   Involves the clearing, grading, filling, or excavation of more than 5,000 square feet of surface area;

      (2)   Involves the felling of more than five trees measuring six inches diameter or greater, at four feet height from the
ground surface, within a five thousand square foot area;

      (3)   Are conducted within areas of geologic hazards; or

      (4)   Are conducted in areas within 100 feet, measured on the horizontal, of the bank of streams or the top of bank
whichever distance is greater, or the mean high tide level of the estuary or ocean.

   (D)   Standards.

      (1)   Charing, grading, filling, or excavation of the site shall not be permitted until approval permits have been issued.

      (2)   Clearing, grading, filling, or excavation of the site shall be the minimum required to complete the project.

      (3)   Prior to site disturbance, markings identifying the limits of clearing, grading, filling, or excavation, and/or safety
fencing shall be placed on the site. Such markings or fencing shall remain in place until the clearing, filling, excavating, or
grading is completed.

      (4)   Pre-development in forested areas (areas larger than one acre containing trees measuring six inches diameter or
greater, at four feet height from the ground surface) shall maintain a minimum of 20% of the trees measuring six inches
diameter or greater, at four feet height from the ground surface on the site, which can be in the required setback areas.
Maintained trees shall be preserved in tree groves where feasible.

      (5)   Erosion prevention measures shall be properly installed as per manufacturer’s specifications or standards specified
in this section to ensure that soil does not leave the property or enter surface water. Erosion prevention and sediment control
measures shall remain in place until final landscaping is installed and well established.

      (6)   Any soil that leaves the site is the responsibility of the property owner and shall be promptly removed from the off-
site area, unless that area is owned by the same property owner, and placed back on the site, or properly disposed of.

      (7)   The applicant shall specify the tax lot and location where soil and vegetation removed from the site will be taken for
disposal, and shall provide evidence that the owner of the site is willing to accept the material.

   (E)   Procedure. Applicants requesting approval for any pre-development activity subject to the provisions of this section
shall clearly show on their application at least the following:

      (1)   Areas where soils and vegetation will not be disturbed;

      (2)   Areas where clearing, grading, filling, or excavation will occur;

      (3)   The location of silt fencing placed along contour lines and constructed to city specified standards;

      (4)   A gravel construction entrance constructed to city specified standards;

      (5)   The location of natural drainageways and nearby storm drain inlets and the method used to protect the inlet;

      (6)   The location of drains, drainage systems, or other outfalls on the property and methods of assuring that soil
particles cannot leave the site through these outfall locations; and

      (7)   If a site lies within a designated geologically hazardous area, contains slopes of 20% or more, or involves the
clearing, grading, filling, or excavation, of more than 15,000 square feet of soil surface, the following additional erosion
prevention and sediment control requirements shall also apply. In such situations:

         (a)   All disturbed soils and all soil stockpiles shall be covered between October 1 and March 15 with two-inch depth of
mulch (straw, hay, or bark dust), erosion control blankets, or have ground covering (such as, grass) that is well-established
and that provides full coverage of the ground surface; or

         (b)   Shall have an erosion prevention and sediment control plan prepared by a person with experience and training in
this field. Such a plan must be submitted to the city and the required measures shown on the plans. Such plans shall



describe the qualifications of the person preparing the report and, at a minimum, specify methods to be employed, the timing
of ground disturbance, the frequency of inspection during the work period, and the maintenance requirements for each of
the control methods used.

(Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004)



AMENDMENTS
§ 152.185 AUTHORIZATION TO INITIATE AMENDMENTS.

   An amendment to the text of this chapter or to a zoning map may be initiated by the City Council, by the Planning
Commission, or by application of a property owner.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976)

§ 152.186 AMENDMENT PROCEDURE.

   (A)   The procedure for amending the zoning ordinance specified in §§ 152.200 through 152.210 of this chapter shall be
followed.

   (B)   In considering an amendment to a zoning map, the Planning Commission shall seek to determine the following:

      (1)   That the change is in accord with the land use plan for the area; and

      (2)   (a)   That there has either been a substantial change in the character of the area since zoning was adopted and
which warrants changing the zone; or that the zoning adopted for the area was in error.

         (b)   If the proposed change is not in accord with the land use plan for the area, the Planning Commission and the City
Council shall seek to determine that an alteration of the plan can be justified on the basis that there has been a substantial
change in the character of the area since the plan was adopted and which warrants a change in the plan, or that the plan
adopted for the area was in error.

   (C)   The office of the City Recorder shall maintain records of amendments to the text and map of this chapter in a form
convenient for use by the public.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004)

§ 152.187 LIMITATION.

   No application of a property owner for an amendment to the text of this chapter or to the zoning map shall be considered
by the Planning Commission within the one-year period immediately following a previous denial of such request, except the
Planning Commission may permit a new application, if in the opinion of the Planning Commission, new evidence or a
change of circumstances warrant it.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976)

§ 152.188 TIME LIMIT ON A ZONING MAP AMENDMENT.

   Approval of a zoning map amendment may be voided after two years, unless otherwise specified, by the Planning
Commission upon finding at a public hearing that substantial construction has not taken place on the rezoned property.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976)



DEVELOPMENT GUIDELINES
§ 152.225 PURPOSE.

   Some areas of the city are located on steep slopes, have erosion or landslide potential, or are otherwise of concern. The
purpose of this section is to minimize hazards and threats to life and property by regulating building, grading, land clearing,
and other human activities in areas identified with landslide topography, steep slopes, areas subject to erosion, high
groundwater table, and other hazards. It is also the intent of this subchapter to protect life and property by reducing building
density in these areas, by requiring special construction techniques, and by requiring the study of such areas by a state-
registered engineering geologist prior to any activity.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.226 WEAK FOUNDATION SOILS.

   (A)   Many areas within the city are located on areas described by the soil conservation service as containing “weak
foundation soils” or other soils limitations.

   (B)   Construction techniques, through the Building Code, require the effect of weak foundation soils or other soil
limitations to be considered in the construction process.

   (C)   Construction of structures on areas of weak foundation soils or other soils limitations is not deemed to pose a
significant hazard to life or property outside the property boundaries. The manner provided in the Building Code to address
problems arising from weak foundation soils or other soils limitations is deemed to be an adequate means of protection of
life and property. This statement serves as a warning for development on weak foundation soils.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.227 DISCHARGE OF SEDIMENT OR WATER.

   (A)   Property owners or other persons in charge of property shall not cause, or permit to be caused, the discharge of
sediment or water onto adjoining property or the public right-of-way unless the permit application is accompanied by a
drainage plan accepted by the affected property owners, or the applicant has demonstrated compliance with state laws
regarding discharge of sediment or water.

   (B)   The following measures are suggested as possible means to prevent such discharges:

      (1)   Minimal removal of vegetative cover, particularly trees;

      (2)   Temporary measures for controlling run-off, such as berms or holding ponds;

      (3)   The planting of vegetative cover as soon as possible after each phase of construction, including excavation,
grading, and/or land clearing; and

      (4)   Design of the site to avoid steep areas or other hazards.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.228 AFFECTED AREAS.

   The following areas and activities shall be subject to the requirements of this subchapter:

   (A)   Areas identified as being geologically hazardous by Environmental Geology of Lincoln County, Oregon, 1973, Oregon
Department of Geology and Mineral Industries, or Environmental Hazard Inventory, Coastal Lincoln County Oregon, RNKR
Associates, 1978. These documents are referenced as part of the Comprehensive Plan and are available in the office of the
City Recorder;

   (B)   Areas identified by the Natural Resource Conservation Service as having high groundwater;

   (C)   Areas containing slopes in excess of 20%. (Areas generally containing significant slopes are identified on the
attached map. Sites in this area are “affected” unless shown otherwise per § 152.233 of this subchapter); and

   (D)   Areas fronting the ocean or coastal bluff that are seaward from the line set by the coastal setback requirements of §
152.234 of this subchapter.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.229 GEOLOGIC PERMIT REQUIRED.

   A geologic permit shall be obtained for any development within the affected areas. For subsequent building permits, such
as for decks or room additions, the original geologic permit is acceptable, if it is no older than five years and the report
author evaluates the new building permit plans and sends a letter to the city that bears the stamp of the licensed geologist or



engineering geologist, acknowledging that the submitted plans have been reviewed and that such building activity can be
safely accomplished. In areas having slopes greater than 20%, a geologic permit shall also be obtained before removing
vegetation from or grading an area in excess of 20,000 square feet or adding or removing 90 cubic yards of earth in an area
of 5,000 square feet. Minimal accessory uses that do not require a building permit (playground equipment, small gazebo,
and the like) are excluded from the requirements of this subchapter.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.230 PERMIT PROCEDURES.

   In order to obtain a geologic permit, the applicant shall submit, along with the appropriate fee, a geologic hazard report
which shall be prepared by a registered geologist or a certified engineering geologist recognized by the state and dated no
more than one year prior to the application date. The report shall explain fully the activity for which the permit is being
sought. If the purpose of the geologic hazard report is for a building permit, then the report shall accompany and address
final building plans. Any activities not specifically covered in the report will not be covered by the permit. The report shall
also identify the nature, extent, and location of all geologic hazards associated with the proposed site and activity. Finally,
the report shall detail exact measures to be taken so as to avoid the occurrence of landslides, erosion, sloughing, puddling,
or other identified geologic hazards on the subject and surrounding property or any prohibited activity identified above. For
uses requiring removal of vegetation or excavation, plans for the legal disposal of such materials shall be submitted.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.231 SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS FOR GEOLOGIC HAZARD REPORTS.

   Geologic hazard reports provided pursuant to this subchapter shall conform to the following requirements from the
Guidelines for Preparing Engineering Geologic Reports in Oregon. The geologist’s report shall have reviewed these specific
requirements and the applicant shall address the applicable conditions in the proposal. Sections that are not applicable shall
be identified as not applicable.

   (A)   General information.

      (1)   Client or party that commissioned the report;

      (2)   Name(s) of geologist(s) who did the mapping and other investigation on which the report is based, and dates when
the work was done;

      (3)   Location and size of area, and its general setting with respect to major or regional geographic and geologic
features, including a statement of existing surrounding and on-site land uses and public facilities, utilities, and easements.
The location shall be identified by the tax map, tax lot number, and the street address to eliminate confusion in identifying
the property;

      (4)   Purpose and scope of the report and geologic investigation, including the proposed use of the site. Also, identify the
level of the study, such as, feasibility, preliminary, final, and the like;

      (5)   Topography and drainage within or affecting the area;

      (6)   General nature, distribution, and abundance of exposures of earth materials within the area;

      (7)   Nature and source of available subsurface information and geologic reports or maps. Suitable explanations of the
available data should provide a technical reviewer with the means of evaluating the reliability. Reference to cited works or
field observations should be made, to substantiate opinions and conclusions;

      (8)   Disclosure of known or suspected geologic hazards affecting the area, including a statement regarding past
performance of existing facilities (such as, buildings or utilities) in the immediate vicinity;

      (9)   Locations of test holes and excavations (drill holes, test pits, and trenches) shown on maps and sections described
in the text of the report. The actual data, or processed data upon which interpretations are based, should be included in the
report to permit technical reviewers to make their own assessments regarding reliability and interpretation;

      (10)   All field and laboratory testing procedures (by ASTM designation, if appropriate) and test results; and

      (11)   The signature and seal of the certified engineering geologist who prepared the report.

   (B)   Geologic mapping and investigation.

      (1)   Geologic mapping of the area should be done at a scale which shows sufficient detail to adequately define the
geologic conditions present.

         (a)   For many purposes, available published geologic maps are unsuitable to provide a basis for understanding the
site conditions, so independent geologic mapping is needed.

         (b)   If available published geologic maps are used to portray site conditions, they must be updated to reflect geologic
or topographic changes which have occurred since map publication.



         (c)   It may be necessary for the geologist to extend mapping into adjacent areas to adequately define significant
geologic conditions.

      (2)   Mapping should be done on a suitable topographic base or aerial photograph, at an appropriate scale with
satisfactory horizontal and vertical control. The date and source of the base should be included on each map or photo.

      (3)   The geologist doing the investigation and preparing the map should report the nature of bedrock and surficial
materials, the structural features and relationships, and the three-dimensional distribution of earth materials exposed and
inferred within the area. A clear distinction should be made between observed and inferred features and relationship.

      (4)   The report should include one or more appropriately positioned and scaled cross-sections to show subsurface
relationships that cannot be adequately described in words alone. Fence or block diagrams may also be appropriate.

   (C)   Geologic descriptions.

      (1)   The report should contain brief but complete descriptions of all natural materials and structural features recognized
or inferred within the subject area. Where interpretations are added to the recording of direct observations, the basis for
such interpretations should be clearly stated. Describe all field mapping and exploration procedures (surface geologic
reconnaissance, drilling, trenching, geophysical survey, and the like).

      (2)   The following checklist may be useful as a general, though not necessarily complete, guide for descriptions:

         (a)   Bedrock.

            1.   Identification of rock types;

            2.   Relative and absolute age and, where possible, correlation with named formations and other stratigraphic units;

            3.   Surface and subsurface expression, areal distribution, and thickness;

            4.   Pertinent physical characteristics (such as, color, grain size, nature of stratification, strength, and variability);

            5.   Distribution and extent of zones of weathering; significant differences between fresh and weathered rock; and

            6.   Special engineering geologic characteristics or concerns (such as, factors affecting proposed grading,
construction, and land use).

         (b)   Structural features: stratification, faults, discontinuities, foliation, schistosity, and folds.

            1.   Occurrence, distribution, dimensions, orientation, and variability; both within and projecting into the area;

            2.   Relative ages, where pertinent;

            3.   Special features of faults (such as, topographic expression, zones of gouge and breccia, nature of offsets, age of
movements, youngest faulted unit, and oldest unfaulted unit); and

            4.   Other significant structural characteristics or concerns.

         (c)   Surficial deposits: alluvial, colluvial, eolian, glacial, lacustrine, marine, residual, mass movement, volcanic (such
as, cinders and ash), and fill.

            1.   Identification of material, grain size, relative age, and degree of activity of originating process;

            2.   Distribution, dimensional characteristics, variations in thickness, degree of soil development, and surface
expression;

            3.   Pertinent physical and engineering characteristics (such as, color, grain size, lithology, compactness,
cementation, strength, thickness, and variability);

            4.   Special physical or chemical features (such as, indications of volume change or instability, such as expansive
clays or peat); and

            5.   Other significant engineering geologic characteristics or concerns.

         (d)   Surface and shallow subsurface hydrologic conditions, including groundwater, springs, and streams and their
possible effect on site. Indicate how conditions may be affected by variations in precipitation, temperature, and the like:

            1.   Distribution, occurrence, and variations (such as, drainage courses, ponds, swamps, springs, seeps, and
aquifers);

            2.   Identification and characterization of aquifers; depth to groundwater and seasonal fluctuations, flow direction,
gradient, recharge, and discharge areas;

            3.   Relationships to topographic and geologic features;

            4.   Evidence for earlier occurrence of water at localities now dry (such as, vegetation, mineral deposits, and historic
records); and

            5.   Other significant engineering geologic characteristics or concerns, such as fluctuating water table and the effects



of proposed modifications on future hydrologic processes.

         (e)   Seismic considerations.

            1.   Description of the seismotectonic setting of the area (including size, frequency, and location of historic
earthquakes), current seismic zoning, and expected seismic risk;

            2.   Potential for area to be affected by surface rupture (including sense and amount of displacement, and width of
surface deformation zone);

            3.   Probable response of site to likely earthquakes (estimated ground motion);

            4.   Potential for area to be affected by earthquake-induced landslides or liquefaction; and

            5.   Potential for area to be affected by regional tectonic deformation (subsidence or uplift).

   (D)   Assessment of geologic factors.

      (1)   Assessment of existing geologic conditions and processes with respect to intended use of the site constitutes the
principal contribution of the report. It involves the effects of the geologic features upon the proposed grading, construction,
and land use; and the effects of these proposed modifications upon future geologic conditions and processes in the area.

      (2)   The following checklist includes topics that ordinarily should be considered in discussions, conclusions, and
recommendations in geologic reports:

         (a)   General suitability of proposed land use to geologic conditions.

            1.   Areas to be avoided, if any, and mitigation alternatives;

            2.   Topography and slope;

            3.   Stability of geologic units;

            4.   Flood and tidal inundation, erosion, and deposition;

            5.   Problems caused by geologic features or conditions in adjacent properties;

            6.   Problems related to coastal erosion; and

            7.   Other general problems.

         (b)   Identification and extent. Identification and extent of known or probable geologic conditions which may result in
risk to the proposed land use (such as, flood inundation, shallow groundwater, storm surge, surface and groundwater
pollution, snow avalanche, landslide, debris flow, rock fall, expansive soil, collapsible soil, subsidence, erosion, deposition,
earthquake shaking, fault rupture, tectonic deformation, liquefaction, seiche, tsunami, and volcanic eruption).

         (c)   Recommendations for site grading.

            1.   Prediction of what materials and structural features will be encountered in proposed cuts;

            2.   Prediction of stability based on geologic factors; recommended avoidance or mitigation alternatives to cope with
existing or potential landslide masses;

            3.   Excavation considerations (hard or massive rock and groundwater flows);

            4.   General considerations of proposed fill masses in canyons or on hillsides;

            5.   Suitability of on-site material for use as compacted fill;

            6.   Recommendations for positioning fill masses, provision for subdrainage, buttressing, and the need for erosion
protection on fill slopes; and

            7.   Other recommendations required by the proposed land use, such as the angle of cut slopes, position of drainage
terraces, need for rock-fall, and/or erosion protection on cut slopes.

         (d)   Drainage considerations.

            1.   Protection from inundation or wave erosion along shorelines;

            2.   Soil permeability and suitability for septic systems; and

            3.   Protection from sheet flood or gully erosion, and debris flows or mud flows.

         (e)   Limitations of study and recommendations for additional investigations. Considering the scope of work and
intended use of the site, provide a statement of the limitations of the study and the need for additional studies outside the
stated scope of work.

            1.   Borings, test pits, and/or trenches needed for additional geologic information;

            2.   Percolation tests needed for design;



            3.   Program of subsurface exploration and testing that is most likely to provide data needed by the soils or civil
engineer; and

            4.   Program for long-term monitoring of the site to evaluate geologic conditions (survey hubs, inclinometers,
extensometers, and the like).

   (E)   Conclusions and recommendations. The reports shall provide a concise set of conclusions and recommendations,
including specifics regarding the acceptable locations of structures (addressing setbacks where appropriate) and the
acceptable nature and density of development.

   (F)   Inspection and monitoring. Reports shall specify inspections and/or monitoring required to verify that the development
and construction on the site have been completed according to the recommendations contained in the report. Inspection
records and/or “as built” certifications shall be provided for all geologic hazard reports.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.232 DETERMINATION OF COMPLIANCE.

   (A)   Geologic hazard reports submitted for review in accordance with §§ 152.200 through 152.210 of this chapter, shall be
reviewed by the Planning Commission, which shall determine whether the report addresses the provisions of this subchapter
as it reviews the entire application. Land use applications before the Planning Commission shall not be approved until such
a determination has been made. Regardless of approval by the city, liability remains with the report signator and the
applicant, who must conform with the report’s requirements. Signed acceptance of this liability shall accompany the permit
application.

   (B)   In determining compliance, the Planning Commission shall evaluate:

      (1)   If the report appears to adequately recognize the causes, extent, and potential of the hazards and conforms
substantively with the requirements found in § 152.231 of this subchapter;

      (2)   If the recommendations to overcome the recognized hazards are set out clearly and specifically and are included in
the engineered plans of the development;

      (3)   If the geologic hazard report indicates that possible future danger may exist from a hazard, the applicant or property
owner shall complete and sign the declaration of covenants and conditions of responsibility and indemnity (the declaration)
provided by the city. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant or property owner shall execute and record the
declaration in the deed records of the county;

      (4)   If the geologic hazard report and the associated plans contain the signature and professional stamp of a licensed
geologist or engineering geologist qualified to certify such reports and plans; and

      (5)   Authorization of a geologic hazards permit shall be void after five years unless substantial construction pursuant
thereto has taken place.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.233 PROVISIONS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

   There may be instances in which specific sites within the area mapped “as having significant slopes” may have topography
not exceeding the 20% criterion. Property owners who can demonstrate, through a survey completed within a calendar year
of the date of application by a surveyor registered in the state, that their property, or the specific site to be developed, has
slopes of less than 20%, shall be exempt from any requirements pertaining to that specific characteristic.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.234 CALCULATION OF COASTAL SETBACKS.

   Two areas shall be considered in establishing coastal setback requirements and may simultaneously apply to a given
piece of property.

   (A)   Areas of coastal erosion. 

      (1)   The following categories of coastal erosion are recognized (coastal erosion rates and the methodology used are
outlined in the document entitled Geologic Hazards Associated with Lincoln County Coastal Shoreline, prepared by CH2M
Hill, Inc., and RNKR Associates, 1977):

 
Less than 2.8 inches/year Slight
2.8 to 11.3 inches/year Moderate
More that 11.3 inches/year Severe

 



      (2)   The following coastal setbacks are required for the categories listed above in order to limit the need for structural
solutions to coastal erosion. All setbacks shall be measured from the mean higher high water line and/or the base of the
bank, whichever requires the greater setback.

 
Slight erosion 1 foot of setback for each 1 foot of bank height
Moderate erosion 2.15 feet of setback for each 1 foot of bank height
Severe erosion 2.75 feet of setback for each 1 foot of bank height

 

   Example of How to Determine Geologic Setback

   (B)   Areas of visual concern. This is an area 25 feet landward from the top of a coastal bluff measured on the horizontal,
where the top of bluff is the uppermost break in slope (see diagram in division (A) above). Where there is no coastal bluff or
no clear break in slope, for example on a smoothly sloping lot, the area of visual concern is an area 25 feet landward
(measured on the horizontal) from the line of mean higher high water or the line of non-aquatic vegetation, whichever is the
furthest landward.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.235 PROHIBITED ACTIVITIES IN COASTAL SETBACKS.

   (A)   (1)   In the areas of coastal erosion, no excavating, filling, or placement of retaining walls, deck posts, or other
permanent structures is allowed, unless based on a geological hazard report approved by the Commission.

      (2)   Vegetation removal is also prohibited except as allowed in division (A)(2) below with prompt replacement with plants
that will stabilize the ground. In this area, such vegetation removal must be in accordance with any required geological
hazard report and with a landscaping plan adequately addressing ground stabilization.

      (3)   In the areas of visual concern, no grading, excavating, or filling that changes the profile of the top of the bluff or the
slope seaward from its top; vegetation removal; or placement of a building is allowed except for:

         (a)   Minor pruning to maintain views;

         (b)   Removal of brush and trees smaller than six inches in diameter measured four feet above ground in preparation
for prompt landscape replanting in the area landward from the top of the bluff;

         (c)   Removal of vegetation within ten feet of a building allowed per division (A)(1) above;

         (d)   Placement of benches, tables, and chairs; and

         (e)   Placement of a single gazebo, provided such a structure is less than 100 square feet in size.

   (B)   If a geological hazard report is required per division (A)(1) above, any vegetation removal or gazebo placement must
comply with this section and recommendations of the geological hazard report.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 85, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 239, passed 6-2-1997; Ord. 256,
passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010) Penalty, see § 152.999



LAND DIVISION
§ 152.250 PURPOSE.

   (A)   (1)   As authorized by law, including O.R.S. Chapter 92, the following requirements and standards relating to the
division of land apply to all land within the city.

      (2)   This subchapter is necessary for the protection of the health, safety, and welfare of the city’s citizens, and is
designed to promote coordinated and appropriate development of land and to carry out the city’s Comprehensive Plan.

   (B)   These regulations have the following objectives:

      (1)   To allow for the proper location of utilities;

      (2)   To specify the width, location, and improvement of streets;

      (3)   To provide for adequate sewage disposal facilities;

      (4)   To provide for adequate water supplies;

      (5)   To provide for adequate drainage facilities;

      (6)   To reduce danger from geologic hazards, floods, fire, and pollution; and

      (7)   To provide for adequate open space.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.251 EXCEPTIONS FOR PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS.

   The provisions of §§ 152.250 through 152.261 of this subchapter shall be applicable to § 152.042 of this chapter, unless
expressly contrary to a specific provision of § 152.042 of this chapter.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.252 APPROVAL OF PARTITIONS.

   (A)   A partition of land shall not be valid until it has been approved and recorded as provided for in this subchapter. No
person shall convey any interest in a parcel in any partition, or replat of a partition, until the plat of the partition has been
recorded as provided for in this chapter. A person may negotiate to sell any parcel in a partition or replat of a partition upon
approval of the tentative plan of the partition.

   (B)   A person may negotiate to sell any parcel in a partition prior to the approval of the tentative plan for such partition,
however, no person may sell any parcel in a partition prior to tentative approval.

   (C)   No building permits shall be approved for any parcel in a partition until the partition has been recorded.

   (D)   Partitions shall not be approved that will create a lot smaller than the minimum lot dimensions for the zone in which
the partition occurs. If a road divides a parcel, the land on each side of the road shall be considered separately for purposes
of calculating minimum lot sizes.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010) Penalty, see §
152.999

§ 152.253 APPROVAL OF SUBDIVISIONS.

   (A)   No plat or replat of a subdivision of land shall be recorded or have any validity unless and until it has the approval of
the city, as provided for in this subchapter.

   (B)   No person shall negotiate to sell any lot in a subdivision until a tentative plan of that subdivision has been approved,
however, no person shall sell any lot in the subdivision prior to final subdivision approval.

   (C)   No person shall dispose of, transfer, or sell any lot in any subdivision until final approval is obtained and the plat of
that subdivision recorded.

   (D)   No person shall accomplish a property line adjustment without having first secured the approval of the city as
provided for in this chapter.

   (E)   Approval of street or road creations:

      (1)   No person shall create a street or road for the purpose of partitioning an area or tract of land without the approval of
the city as provided for in this chapter.

      (2)   No instrument dedicating land to public use shall have any validity unless such instrument bears the approval of the
city as accepting such dedication.



(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010) Penalty, see §
152.999

§ 152.254 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS AND MINIMUM STANDARDS OF DEVELOPMENT DESIGN.

   The following are the minimum requirements and standards to which subdivisions and partitions must conform.

   (A)   Conformity to the Comprehensive Plan. All subdivisions and partitions shall conform to applicable portions of §§
152.225 through 152.235 of this chapter, and the purposes of the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan.

   (B)   Relation to adjoining street system. If development of a subdivision or partition would otherwise impede or interfere
with access to or through existing streets and rights-of-way, a subdivision or partition shall provide for the continuation of
said streets and rights-of-way. If physical conditions make such continuation impractical, exceptions may be made.

      (1)   If the city finds that the off-site effects of a subdivision warrant the necessity of improved streets or rights-of-way,
the city may require that the subdivision or partition provide for them. If no such off-site effects are found, the city may
require that the lay-out of the subdivision or partition take into account the future development of streets and rights-of-way
with regard to setback, access, parks, and open spaces, as well as other requirements of this subchapter.

      (2)   When a tract is divided into lots or parcels of a size which could allow for further redivision under current zoning, the
city may require an arrangements of lots and streets such as to permit a later redivision in conformance with the street
requirements and other requirements contained in this subchapter.

   (C)   Access.

      (1)   A subdivision, partition, or replat shall provide each lot or parcel with not less than 25 feet of frontage on a public or
private road or street, except that where necessitated by adverse sight distances or other factors, greater frontage may be
required.

      (2)   A subdivision or partition shall consider vehicular access to the parcel of existing or proposed roads that addresses
traffic congestion, speed, stop signs, and turn lanes for the orderly development of traffic accessing the area.

   (D)   Private streets.

      (1)   No street or road which would serve as a collector from existing public streets shall be approved as a private street.

      (2)   The establishment of a private street shall not be allowed if it will deny the public access to public areas such as
beaches or parks.

      (3)   No road or street shall be approved as a private road in a case where such a road or street presently is or will in the
future be needed to provide access to development on adjacent properties or to serve as a collector for other subdivisions
or partitions in the area.

      (4)   All private streets or roads established for the purpose of subdividing, partitioning, or replatting land shall be
surveyed and monumented.

      (5)   Yard setbacks shall be determined from the road right-of-way or access easement line in instances where private
roads are considered.

      (6)   Private road rights-of-way may be approved of less than 50 feet in width but in no instance shall the road right-of-
way be less than 30 feet, except that a private road to two lots may be 20 feet in width. In instances where the road access
to more than three lots is less than 50 feet in width, utility/slope easements may be required.

      (7)   Private road standards shall be the same as those for public streets. No more than three lots shall be exempt from
standards for improvements.

   (E)   Public streets.

      (1)   Right-of-way and improvement requirements for public streets shall conform to the widths as specified in §§ 152.260
and 152.261 of this subchapter.

      (2)   If topographical requirements necessitate either cuts or fills for the proper grading of roads, additional right-of-way
or slope easements shall be provided.

      (3)   The layout of streets shall give suitable recognition to surrounding topographical conditions in accordance with the
purpose of this chapter.

      (4)   Street improvements, street grades, and center line radii on curves shall meet the minimum requirements as
specified in §§ 152.260 and 152.251 of this subchapter.

      (5)   The city shall only be responsible for maintenance of a public street when the street is accepted by the City Council
through dedication. A street that is accepted by the City Council through dedication shall be referred to as a “city street.”

   (F)   Street intersections.

      (1)   Streets shall intersect one another at an angle as near to a right angle as is practical considering the topography of



the area and previous adjacent layout.

      (2)   Intersections shall be designed so that no danger to the traveling public is created as a result of staggered
intersections.

   (G)   Cul-de-sacs and turnarounds.

      (1)   Dead-end (cul-de-sac) streets in partitions and subdivisions shall terminate in a turnaround with a minimum property
line radius of 40 feet, or other type of turnaround approved by the city.

      (2)   Approved turnarounds shall be provided on all dead-end streets.

      (3)   No dead-end street may be established without Fire Marshal approval.

   (H)   Easements. Where alleys are not provided, easements of not less than six feet in width may be required on each side
of the rear line or side line for necessary utility lines, wires, conduits, storm and sanitary sewers, gas, and water. Easements
of the same or greater widths may be required along boundary lines or across lots or parcels where necessary for the
extension of utility lines, waterways, and walkways, and to provide necessary drainageways or channels.

   (I)   Blocks. Normally, no block shall be longer than 600 feet between street lines. Approval for longer blocks can be given
where topographical conditions constrain development.

   (J)   Public accessways. When necessary for public convenience and safety, the Planning Commission may require the
developer to dedicate to the public reasonable accessways to connect to cul-de-sacs, pass through oddly shaped blocks,
provide for networks of public paths according to adopted plans, or to provide access to schools, parks, beaches, or other
public areas, or for other such design and location as reasonably required to facilitate public use. A subdivision, partition, or
replat shall maintain existing public access points to shorelands as required by § 152.039(E)(4) of this chapter. Such access
points shall be ascertained as follows:

      (1)   By examination of a standard title report;

      (2)   By consulting city inventory of such points; or

      (3)   Through presentation of other lawful information.

   (K)   Lots and parcels.

      (1)   Every lot/parcel shall abut a public street or private road. A flag lot with the staff that does not comply with the
required minimum lot widths for the zone it is located in is permitted, but the staff measurement shall not be less than 25 feet
minimum frontage.

      (2)   Each side line shall be as close to perpendicular to the adjacent street/road or radial to a curved street/road as
possible.

      (3)   Lots/parcels with double frontage shall not be permitted unless, in the opinion of the city, the physical characteristics
of the land prohibit any other plan for a subdivision.

      (4)   The staff portion of a flag lot shall not be used in computing lot size for zoning and building purposes.

   (L)   Utility easements.

      (1)   Where alleys are not provided, easements of not less than ten feet in width may be required on side or rear lines if
determined to be necessary for utility lines, wires, conduits, storm and sanitary sewers, gas, and water.

      (2)   Easements of the same or greater widths may be required along boundary lines or across lots where necessary for
the extension of utility lines, waterways, and walkways, and to provide necessary drainageways or channels.

   (M)   Water. No partition or subdivision shall receive final approval unless the city has received and accepted:

      (1)   A certification by the Public Works Director, or such other city official as the city may designate, that water will be
available to the boundary line of each, and every lot or parcel depicted in the proposed subdivision or partition; or

      (2)   A performance agreement, bond, contract, or other assurance that a water supply system will be installed to the
boundary line of each and every lot or parcel depicted in the proposed subdivision or partition.

   (N)   Sewer. No partition or subdivision shall receive final approval unless the city has received and accepted:

      (1)   A certification by the Public Works Director, or other officials as the city may designate, that sewer will be available
to the boundary line of each and every lot or parcel depicted in the proposed subdivision or partition; or

      (2)   A performance agreement, bond, contract, or other assurance that sewage disposal lines will be installed by or on
behalf of the developer to the boundary line of each and every lot or parcel depicted in the proposed subdivision or partition.

   (O)   Surface drainage and storm sewer.

      (1)   Drainage facilities shall be provided within subdivisions and partitions, and to connect the subdivision or partition
drainage to drainageways or storm sewer outside the subdivision or partition. The connection to the city system shall be
engineered using standard practices and shall be approved by the city.



      (2)   Design of drainage within subdivisions and partitions shall consider the capacity and grade necessary to maintain
unrestricted flow from areas draining through the development, as well as to allow extension of the system to serve those
areas.

   (P)   Phase development. A plat may be filed on a portion or phase of an approved tentative plan. Each phase of a
subdivision must be able to qualify for approval independent of the balance of the approved tentative plan.

   (Q)   Geologic hazards. All land divisions shall comply with the procedures and standards set forth in §§ 152.225 through
152.235 of this chapter, where applicable.

   (R)   Parks and open spaces. Excluding streets and parking, at least 35% of the land will be dedicated or reserved for
outdoor recreation, park, or natural land, for use by the residents of the subdivision.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.255 TRANSPORTATION IMPACT STUDY (TIS).

   The purpose of this section is to implement § 660-012-0045(2)(b) and (e) of the State Transportation Planning Rule that
requires the city to adopt standards to protect the future operations of roadways and transit corridors and a process to apply
conditions to development proposals in order to protect and minimize adverse impacts to transportation facilities. This
section establishes when a TIS must be submitted with a land use application in order to determine whether conditions are
needed to minimize impacts to and protect transportation facilities.

   (A)   Applicability; TIS letter. A TIS letter shall be required to be submitted with a land use application if the proposal is
expected to generate ten to 30 peak hour trips or 100 to 300 daily trips.

   (B)   Applicability; TIS report. A TIS report shall be required to be submitted with a land use application if the proposal is
expected to involve one or more of the following:

      (1)   The proposed development would generate more than 30 peak hour trips or more than 300 daily trips;

      (2)   The proposal is immediately adjacent to an intersection that is functioning at a poor level of service, as determined
by the city;

      (3)   An increase in use of any direct property approach road to Highway 101 by ten vehicles or more per day that
exceed 20,000 pounds gross vehicle weight;

      (4)   A new direct approach to Highway 101 is proposed;

      (5)   A proposed development or land use action that the road authority states may contribute to operational or safety
concerns on its facility(ies); and

      (6)   An amendment to the Comprehensive Plan or zoning map is proposed.

   (C)   Preparation.

      (1)   The TIS letter or TIS report shall be prepared by a state registered professional engineer qualified to perform traffic
engineering analysis and will be paid for by the applicant.

      (2)   The TIS letter or report shall include trip generation estimates that are based on the Institute of Transportation
Engineers (ITE) trip generation manual.

   (D)   Determination. Consistent with the city’s traffic impact study (TIS) guidelines, the city will determine the project study
area, intersections for analysis, scenarios to be evaluated, and any other pertinent information concerning the study that
must be addressed in either a TIS letter or a TIS report.

   (E)   Approval criteria. When a TIS letter or report is required, a proposal is subject to the following:

      (1)   The TIS addresses the applicable elements identified by the city, consistent with the traffic impact study guidelines;

      (2)   The TIS demonstrates that adequate transportation facilities exist to serve the proposed development or, in the case
of a TIS report, identifies mitigation measures that resolve identified traffic safety problems in a manner that is satisfactory to
the city and, when state highway facilities are affected, to ODOT;

      (3)   For affected non-highway facilities, the TIS report establishes that mobility standards adopted by the city have been
met; and

      (4)   Proposed public improvements are designed and will be constructed consistent with city street design standards
and access standards in the transportation system plan.

   (F)   Conditions of approval.

      (1)   Where the existing transportation system will be impacted by the proposed development, dedication of land for
streets, transit facilities, sidewalks, bikeways, paths, or accessways may be required to ensure that the transportation
system is adequate to handle the additional burden caused by the proposed use.

      (2)   Where the existing transportation system is shown to be impacted by the proposed use, improvements such as



paving, curbing, installation, or contribution to traffic signals, construction of sidewalks, bikeways, accessways, paths, or
streets that serve the proposed use may be required.

      (3)   Improvements required as a condition of development approval, when not voluntarily provided by the applicant, shall
be roughly proportional to the impact of the development on transportation facilities. Findings in the development approval
shall indicate how the required improvements directly relate to and are roughly proportional to the impact of development.

(Ord. 326-20, passed 7-7-2020)

§ 152.256 DEDICATION OF PUBLIC STREETS APPLICATION.

   Any person wishing to create a public road or street which is not a part of a subdivision shall make written application to
the City Council. The application shall consist of a letter addressed to the Council requesting acceptance of the dedication; a
dedication deed with a proper description of the proposed dedication signed by all owners of the property being dedicated;
and a map showing the proposed road and property intended to be served by the road.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.257 REVIEW.

   The City Council shall refer the dedication application to the following:

   (A)   The Public Works Director, or other designated person, who shall check the proposal for grade and conformance to
city road standards;

   (B)   A title insurance company for a standard preliminary title report; and

   (C)   The Planning Commission which shall review the proposal for compatibility with the city’s Comprehensive Plan,
transportation plan, and any adjacent approved tentative plans, plats, or maps.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.258 APPROVAL.

   The above reports shall be forwarded to the City Council along with the application for dedication. The dedicator shall
furnish a standard title insurance policy insuring title of the dedicated street to the city. A public street will not be maintained
by the city unless that street is accepted by the city into the city’s road system.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.259 PROCEDURE FOR ENSURING COMPLETION OF ROADS AND/OR UTILITIES IN SUBDIVISIONS AND
PARTITIONS.

   (A)   The developer’s engineer will prepare cost estimates for completion of roads and/or utilities. Road cost estimates
shall be based upon road standards as designated herein. All cost estimates shall be stamped by a registered professional
engineer, licensed in the state.

   (B)   All estimates shall be submitted to the Public Works Director; water and/or sewer cost estimates shall be sent to the
Water and Sewer Department for review and approval.

   (C)   The Public Works Director shall notify the developer as to the amount of bond or other performance agreement
required and as to any changes necessary for bond acceptance or other performance agreement.

   (D)   The developer shall submit the bond or performance agreement and three copies thereof written in favor of the city to
city hall for approval.

   (E)   Upon completion of construction of roads and utilities, the applicant’s engineer shall certify that such improvements
are built to the standards approved. This certification of completion shall be submitted prior to the release of any bond or
performance agreement.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.260 STREET WIDTH IN SUBDIVISIONS AND PARTITIONS.

 
Type of Street Right-of-Way Width (Feet) Surface Widths (Feet) +

Arterials 80 to 150 ++ 40 to 52 ++

Collector streets and all streets other
than arterials 40 to 50 ++ 28 to 38 ++



Cul-de-sacs 40 28
Circular ends of cul-de-sacs 80 +++ 60 +++
+   Surface width is that measured from face to face of curbs or shoulders
++   The Planning Commission may require a width within the limits shown based upon adjacent physical conditions,
safety of the public, and the traffic needs of the community
+++   Measured by diameter of circle constituting circular end

 

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.261 STREET IMPROVEMENTS IN SUBDIVISIONS AND PARTITIONS.

   Improvements shall meet the following minimum standards unless increased at the request of the Planning Commission:

   (A)   All streets shall be rough graded for the full surface width;

   (B)   All streets shall have a minimum of eight inches of base material to a minimum width of 28 feet;

   (C)   All streets shall have a leveling course of three-fourths inch crushed rock, two inches deep compacted; and

   (D)   All streets shall be paved with two inches of asphalt concrete to a minimum of the width required by the Planning
Commission.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.262 PROCEDURE FOR SUBDIVIDING, PARTITIONING, OR REPLATTING LAND.

   (A)   Pre-application conference. Prior to submitting a tentative plan of a subdivision, partition, or replat, the applicant
should confer with the City Planner regarding the requisites of the tentative plan application and the applicable standards
and criteria of this chapter.

   (B)   Tentative plan requirements. The submitted tentative plan for a subdivision, partition, or replat shall contain all of the
information listed on the applicable city application form. If the proposal includes new access from a state highway, the
applicant shall submit documentation that the Oregon Department of Transportation will be willing to issue the requested
road approach permits.

   (C)   Tentative plan application and review for subdivisions and partitions. The procedure for application and review of the
tentative plan of a subdivision, and the procedure for application and review of the tentative plan for a partition shall be as
set forth in § 152.204(C) of this chapter.

   (D)   Tentative plan application and review for replats.

      (1)   The procedure for review and approval of the tentative plan shall be set forth in § 152.204(C).

      (2)   For replats of previously recorded partition plats, the procedure for review and approval of the tentative plan shall be
as set forth in § 152.204(A).

   (E)   Time limit for tentative approval. Approval of a tentative plan in accordance with this section is valid for a period of
three years. A single time limit extension may be granted by the Planning Commission only if the development is
substantially completed within the three-year time period. A development is deemed to be substantially completed when
utilities, streets, and drainage are in and stubbed to the lot line.

   (F)   Revision of tentative plan. If an approved tentative plan for a subdivision is revised in any way, the Planning
Commission shall review the proposed revisions to determine if a new application for tentative approval will be required.
Such review will be limited to those issues impacted by the revision. If an approved tentative plan is substantially revised,
such revision shall be filed as a new application for tentative plan approval.

   (G)   Certifications required for final approval. Requests for final approval of a subdivision, partition, or replat shall be
accompanied by the following:

      (1)   A copy of all covenants and restrictions;

      (2)   Copies of all legal documents required for dedication of public facilities and/or for the creation of a homeowner’s
association;

      (3)   The certification, bond, performance agreement, or statement regarding the installation of water and sewer
services;

      (4)   As-built certifications for all required roads and/or utilities, unless otherwise guaranteed by a bond or performance
agreement;

      (5)   A plat and one exact copy meeting the requirements of § 152.263 of this subchapter and the applicable state
statute;



      (6)   When access from a state highway is proposed, a copy of the approach road permit issued by the Oregon
Department of Transportation confirming that all required improvements have been satisfactorily completed; and

      (7)   Such other information as is deemed necessary by the City Planner or Commission to verify conformance with the
conditions of tentative approval.

   (H)   Procedure for final approval of partitions.

      (1)   The procedure for application and review of a request for final approval of a partition shall be as set forth in §
152.204(A) of this chapter. All such applications shall be accompanied by the certifications set forth in division (G) above.

      (2)   Upon granting of final approval, the City Planner shall sign the plat and its exact copy.

      (3)   Upon signing, the City Planner shall deliver the plat and its exact copy to the County Surveyor who shall follow
established procedures for obtaining recordation of the plat.

   (I)   Procedure for final approval of replats.

      (1)   If the proposed replat involves three lots or less and is for the purpose of lot boundary changes only, procedure for
review of final approval shall be as set forth in § 152.204(A) of this chapter.

      (2)   If the proposed replat involves four lots or more or includes changes to street rights-of-way, utilities, or any other
features besides boundary lines, procedures for review of final approval shall be as set forth in § 152.204(B) of this chapter.

      (3)   Following the signature of the City Planner or Planning Commission chairperson, the city shall deliver the replat and
its exact copy to the County Surveyor who shall follow established procedures for obtaining recordation of the plat.

   (J)   Procedure for final approval of subdivisions.

      (1)   (a)   When the City Planner determines that all of the certifications set forth in division (G) above have been met and
that the plat conforms in all respects to the tentative plan as approved, consideration of the plat will be placed on the
agenda of the next scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission for determination that all requirements have been met.

         (b)   The Commission shall then approve, disapprove for cause, or, when further information is required, postpone a
decision on the plat.

      (2)   Unless appealed, the decision of the Planning Commission shall become effective 15 days after the decision is
rendered. When the approval becomes effective, the Planning Commission chairperson shall sign the plat and its exact
copy.

      (3)   Following the Planning Commission chairperson’s signature, the city shall deliver the plat and its exact copy to the
County Surveyor. The County Surveyor shall review the plat for conformance with the requirements of § 152.263 of this
subchapter and the provisions of the applicable state statute.

      (4)   Upon approval of the County Surveyor, subdivision plats shall be circulated for signing to the following officials:

         (a)   The County Treasurer, whose signature shall certify that all taxes on the property have been paid; and

         (b)   The County Assessor, whose signature shall certify that the plat is signed by the owner or owners of record.

      (5)   Upon signing by the County Treasurer and County Assessor, subdivision plats shall be delivered to the County
Clerk for recording.

      (6)   The signature of the chairperson on the final subdivision plat shall be valid for a period of one year. If a plat has not
been recorded within one year of the date of the chairperson’s signature, the final approval of the plat shall expire, and a
new request for final approval shall be required.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.263 PLAT REQUIREMENTS.

   (A)   Requirements of survey plats. The surveys and plats of all subdivisions, partitions, and replats shall be made by a
registered professional land surveyor and shall conform to the requirements of the applicable state statute.

   (B)   Encroachment or hiatus. In the event that any encroachment, hiatus, or property line discrepancy exists on the
property to be platted, such encroachment, hiatus, or discrepancy shall be clearly shown on the plat.

   (C)   Elevation bench marks. Where required, the location, name, and elevation of any elevation bench marks shall be
indicated on the face of the plat. The name, year, and elevation of the bench mark upon which the elevation is based shall
also be shown.

   (D)   Easements. All recorded and proposed easements will be shown on the plat, along with the following information:

      (1)   The specific location and size by dimensions or description;

      (2)   If previously recorded, the County Clerk’s recording reference; and



      (3)   The purpose or type of easement and whether it is a public or private easement and, if private, who benefits from
the easement. Any public or private easement to be created, or any other restriction made, shall be noted in the declaration.
Public easements shall include language in the declaration which dedicates the easement to the use of the public.

   (E)   Exceptions.

      (1)   Parcels created in excess of 80 acres need not be shown on a partition plat.

      (2)   Parcels in excess of ten acres created by partition plat need not be surveyed or monumented.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.264 STANDARDS AND PROCEDURES FOR PROPERTY LINE ADJUSTMENTS.

   (A)   Tentative approval.

      (1)   The procedure for application, review, and tentative approval of property line adjustments shall be as set forth in §
152.204(A) of this chapter. A property line adjustment shall be tentatively approved provided that:

         (a)   No additional lots or parcels will be created;

         (b)   The subject lots, parcels, or tracts of land will not be reduced in size to below the minimum area required by the
applicable use zone;

         (c)   The proposed lots, parcels, or tracts of land as adjusted will comply with any required minimum width requirement
as set forth in the applicable use zone;

         (d)   The proposed property line adjustment will not reduce any yard or other setback below that required under
applicable zoning;

         (e)   The proposed property line adjustment will not reduce the street or road frontage of the subject lots or parcels to
below that required by the city code;

         (f)   The proposed property line adjustment will not reduce any setback for an existing on-site sewage disposal system
or approved replacement area below the required minimum; and

         (g)   The proposed property line adjustment will not increase the degree of non-conformity on vacant lots, parcels, or
tracts that do not conform to lot size, width, or depth requirements, or on developed lots if the increase in non-conformity
results in adjacent property becoming further dividable. The proposed property line adjustment will not increase the degree
of non-conformity for required yards.

      (2)   Tentative approval of a property line adjustment is valid for a period of one year. Tentative approval may be
extended by the City Planner prior to expiration of tentative approval. Requests shall specify reasons for requiring a time
extension, along with a specific plan and timeline for completion. Only one time extension of up to one year may be granted.

   (B)   Final approval.

      (1)   The procedure for application, review, and final approval of property line adjustments shall be as set forth in §
152.204(B) of this chapter.

      (2)   Final approval of a property line adjustment shall be granted upon submittal of the following:

         (a)   A copy of a filed survey of the property line adjustment in accordance with the applicable state statute and in
substantial conformance with the tentative approval, except that property line adjustments where all lots, tracts, or parcels
affected are greater than ten acres need not be surveyed or monumented;

         (b)   Copies of recorded conveyances conforming to the tentatively approved property line adjustment and containing
the names of the parties with proper acknowledgment; and

         (c)   Such other documentation as may be required by the City Planner to verify conformance with any requirements or
conditions of the tentative approval.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.265 PROPERTY LINE ADJUSTMENTS IN SUBDIVISIONS AND PARTITIONS.

   (A)   Except as provided for herein, all property line adjustments within recorded plats shall be accomplished by replatting
in accordance with § 152.262 of this subchapter.

   (B)   Property lines within a recorded plat may be adjusted in accordance with the procedure for property line adjustments
rather than by replatting, when the City Planner determines that:

      (1)   The property line or lines to be adjusted will not result in a substantial reconfiguration of the affected lots or parcels
so as to render them unsuitable for their previously approved purpose;

      (2)   The property line or lines to be adjusted will not result in an increase in lots;



      (3)   The property line or lines to be adjusted will not reduce the common open space or park and recreational acreage;
and

      (4)   All of the other requirements for property line adjustments set forth in § 152.250 of this subchapter will be met.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.999 PENALTY.

   (A)   A person violating a provision of this chapter shall, upon conviction, be punished by imprisonment for not more than
30 days or by a fine of not more than $500 or both. A violation of this chapter shall be considered a separate offense for
each day the violation continues. The convicted violator shall be liable for all court costs.

   (B)   A person violating a provision of § 152.040 shall, upon conviction, be punished by imprisonment for not more than 30
days or by a fine of not more than $500 or both.

   (C)   Any person who violates any of the provisions of §§ 152.090 through 152.103, as now constituted or hereafter
amended or revised shall be subject to the procedures and penalties of § 11.99 of this code of ordinances (enforcement
procedures). The city may confiscate any sign found to be in violation of§§ 152.090 through 152.103.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 314, passed 9-5-2017; Ord. 320, passed 10-15-2019)



 
 

APPS PD/#2-PD-PC-24 DEPOE HILLS PH 1 AMENDMENT/STAFF REPORT Page 1 of 6 

 Planned Development Application  
 Case File: #2-PD-PC-24 
 Date Filed: Feb. 13, 2024 
 Application Complete: Feb. 14, 2024 
 Meeting Date: Mar. 13, 2024, 6:00 pm 
 120-day Decision Date: Jun. 12, 2024 
 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Depoe Bay Planning Commission Action 
 
OWNER/APPLICANT:  The Hills of Depoe Bay, LLC 

REQUEST:  The applicant requests approval of an amendment to Phase 1 of the Depoe Hills planned 
development to accommodate development of eleven (11) townhomes on Lots 9 through 19, inclusive, 
and Tract J. The proposed amendments would allow a zero-foot (0’) property line setback along the 
interior side property lines between attached townhouse dwellings; and a minimum five-foot (5’) garage 
entry setback from an alley. The proposed townhomes may be used as tourist accommodations (vacation 
rentals) in accordance with the adopted provisions of the Depoe Hills Phase 1 master plan. 

A. REPORT OF FACTS: 
 

1. Property Location:  The subject property is located at NE Seascape Drive and NE Moonwake 
Lane, and is further identified on Lincoln County Assessor’s Map 09-11-05AB as Tax Lots 00900 
through 01900 (townhouse lots) and Tax Lot 02700 (alley). 
 

 

2. Lot Size:  The subject properties total 0.54 acres (23,596 sq. ft.).   

3. Zoning Designation: Residential (R-2) and Planned Development (P-D).   

4. Plan Designation: Residential 

Map & Tax Lot Nos. 09-11-05AB 
-00900 through -01900 & -02700 



#2-PD-PC-24 (Depoe Hills Phase 1 Amendment) 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#2-PD-PC-24 DEPOE HILLS PH 1 AME3NDMENT/STAFF REPORT Page 2 of 6 

5. Surrounding Land Use:  Developed and undeveloped lots in Phase 1 of the Depoe Hills Planned 
Development surround the subject properties on all sides. Streets surrounding the block include NE 
Seascape Avenue, NE Marmoris Avenue and NE Moonwake Lane. 

6. Topography and Vegetation:  The site has been rough graded for eleven (11) residential lots (Lots 
9-19) and an alley (Tract J). There is no site vegetation.  

7. Existing Structures: None 

8. Utilities:  The following utilities are currently available to serve the subject property: 
a. Sewer:  City sewer service. 
b. Water:  City water service.   
c. Electricity:  Central Lincoln P.U.D.  

9. Development Constraints:  None 
 
B. EVALUATION OF THE REQUEST: 

1. Relevant Criteria: 
• DBZO Section 152.026 Residential Zone R-2 
• DBZO Section 152.042 Planned Development Zone P-D 
• Depoe Bay Comprehensive Plan 

Complete descriptions of the relevant criteria are attached to this Staff report. In addition, site 
development is subject to the current criteria of the Depoe Hills Phase 1 Master Plan. 

2. Applicant’s Proposal:  The applicant submitted the application forms and fee/deposit for an 
amendment to the Depoe Hills Phase 1 Master Plan on February 13, 2024, along with the following 
material: 
• Depoe Hills Phase 1 Amendment narrative 
• Townhouse site and building plans 

The applicant’s narrative describes the following justification and scope of the proposed master plan 
amendment: 
When the final plat of Phase 1 was approved in 2022, it was discussed that there was an issue 
regarding the 11 townhouse lots and the minimum property line setbacks specified in the Phase 1 
master plan. Condition No. 4 of the final order for Case File #1-PD-PC-18 establishes 5-foot 
minimum setbacks along the front, rear and side property lines of all lots in Phase 1. Although 
[previous city planners] (Larry [Lewis] and Jaime [White]) had approved modifications to the 
layout of Phase 1 (in 2019 and 2020) to incorporate the 11 townhouse lots, Condition No. 4 was 
never modified to allow zero lot lines between the attached townhouse units. 
 
Condition No. 4 of the Final Order for Case File #1-PD-PC-18: 
 
“Minimum front, rear, and side yard setbacks are permitted to be five feet which is consistent with 
traditional neighborhood design parameters and will minimize the disruption of steep slopes. 
Garage openings shall comply with the minimum 20-foot front setback.” 
 



#2-PD-PC-24 (Depoe Hills Phase 1 Amendment) 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#2-PD-PC-24 DEPOE HILLS PH 1 AMENDMENT/STAFF REPORT Page 3 of 6 

Proposed Amendment to the final order for Case File #1-PD-PC-18: (new language underlined) 
 
“Minimum front, rear, and side yard setbacks are permitted to be five feet which is consistent with 
traditional neighborhood design parameters and will minimize the disruption of steep slopes. 
Garage openings shall comply with the minimum 20-foot front setback.” 
 
For townhouse dwelling units, zero property line setbacks are allowed at the interior side property 
lines between attached units. Garages or carports accessed from a private alley are permitted to 
meet minimum five-foot setback. 
 
As depicted in the site and building plans submitted by the applicant, zero setbacks would be 
provided between the attached townhouses on Lots 9-13 and Lots 14-19. Exterior side and front 
setbacks would comply with the existing 5-foot requirement. From the proposed alley (Tract J), the 
garage/carport setback at the rear of each townhouse would be 27’-2” for Lots 9-13 and 7’-0” for 
Lots 14-19. 
 

3. Public Testimony: Notice of this public hearing was mailed to property owners within a 250-foot 
radius of the subject property on February 20, 2024, and was published in the Lincoln County 
Leader on February 24, 2024. As of the date that this report was completed, Staff had received no 
public testimony regarding this proposal. 

 
Site Plan 



#2-PD-PC-24 (Depoe Hills Phase 1 Amendment) 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#2-PD-PC-24 DEPOE HILLS PH 1 AMENDMENT/STAFF REPORT Page 4 of 6 

 
Perspective Elevation (along NE Moonwake Lane) 

 
C. STAFF ANALYSIS: The Planning Commission reviews the proposal for conformance with the 

appropriate standards of the Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance (DBZO).  The Planning Commission 
should evaluate the evidence provided in the record, as well as testimony given at the public hearing, 
to determine whether the facts justify that relevant criteria are satisfied. 

 
1. General Description of Depoe Hills Phase 1 Master Plan: The Preliminary Plan for Depoe Hills 

Phase 1 was approved on April 12, 2018. Depoe Hills Phase 1 has commenced construction, and 
includes thirteen (13) detached, single-family lots, eleven (11) attached, single-family (townhouse) 
lot, a 0.35-acre park site, and a 0.25-acre public parking lot/plaza, and other open space and 
common area lots. The townhouse lots and eleven (11) of the detached, single-family lots are 
allowed to be used as tourist accommodations. 
As described above in the applicant’s narrative, the proposed amendments under Case File #2-PD-
PC-24 are to adjust the setbacks applicable to Lots 9-19 to allow the construction of attached 
townhouses. Otherwise, the development standards and permitted uses within Depoe Hills Phase 1 
would remain the same as approved in 2018. 

2. Amending an Approved Planned Development Master Plan, Preliminary Plan: DBZO Section 
152.042(J) states that the process for amending an approved plan is a new approval by the Planning 
Commission.  The foregoing written narrative and the attached exhibits describe and depict the 
scope of the proposed amendments to the Depoe Hills Phase 1 Master Plan under Case File #2-PD-
PC-24. Unless otherwise modified in the attached narrative and exhibits, the previous findings, 
conclusions, and final order for Case File #1-PD-PC-18 remain in effect. 

3. General Requirements of a Planned Development: DBZO Section 152.042(B) lays out the 
general requirements that govern planned developments. As described above, the proposed master 



#2-PD-PC-24 (Depoe Hills Phase 1 Amendment) 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#2-PD-PC-24 DEPOE HILLS PH 1 AMENDMENT/STAFF REPORT Page 5 of 6 

plan amendments involve revising setbacks applicable to Lots 9-19 for the development of attached 
townhouses. The approved zoning designations, development standards (setbacks and building 
height), mix of uses, numbers of dwelling units (including units that may be used as tourist 
accommodations), off-street parking, vehicular access, open space requirements and other project 
characteristics will not change with the approval of this master plan amendment. 

4. Preliminary Plan Compliance with Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance: DBZO Section 152.042(E) 
describes the Preliminary Plan Review Procedure and states that the content of a Preliminary Plan 
shall include all items described in DBZO Section 152.042(F), including (but not limited to) 
plans/maps, drawings of architectural styles, narrative, additional maps or narrative needed to 
determine compliance, phasing, requested exceptions, and desired variances, zone changes, etc.  As 
described above, the proposed master plan amendments involve revising setbacks applicable to Lots 
9-19 for the development of attached townhouses. The previously-approved mix of uses in the 
Depoe Hills Planned Development will not change as a result of this master plan amendment. 

5. Common Master Plan Approval Criteria: DBZO Section 152.042(G) describes Common Master 
Plan Approval Criteria including planned development standards; Comprehensive Plan consistency; 
zoning ordinance provisions; land division criteria; providing amenities and protections at a higher 
level than otherwise provided under conventional land development procedures; encouraging and 
promoting creativity and innovation; and proposing development in substantial harmony with the 
surrounding area.  These criteria were found to be satisfied with the approval of the Depoe Hills 
Master Plan in 2018, and the scope of the proposed master plan amendments under Case File #2-
PD-PC-24 do not conflict with this previous determination. As described above, the proposed 
amendments involve revising setbacks for the attached townhouses to be constructed on Lots 9-19 in 
Depoe Hills Phase 1. No other provisions of this plan will be amended as a part of this amendment.   

6. Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements: DBZO Section 152.058 describes off-
street parking and loading requirements.  Specific parking requirements for the Depoe Hills Master 
Plan were approved in 2018, including provisions specific to the use of certain dwellings as tourist 
accommodations. These previsions remain in effect as a part of the requested master plan 
amendment under Case File #2-PD-PC-24. 
 

7. Zone Change Request: The subject property was rezoned Residential R-2 with the Planning 
Development P-D overlay by the adoption of Ordinance No. 318 in 2018. There is no change of 
zoning proposed nor required as a part of the requested amendment to Depoe Hills Phase 1. 

 
8. Comprehensive Plan - 2017 Depoe Bay Transportation System Plan (TSP): A traffic impact 

study (TIS) was conducted for the Whale Watch and Depoe Hills master plans. The TIS identified 
several projects from the 2017 Depoe Bay Transportation System Plan Update to be implemented as 
the master plans are built out. The revised setbacks for Lots 9-19 in Depoe Hills Phase 1 do not 
change the number of dwelling units originally analyzed in the TIS, so they do not trigger the need 
for any additional or revised conditions related to transportation facilities.  

 
9. Townhouse Development Standards: Ordinance No. 336-23 enacted development standards for 

townhouse developments. The development of Lots 9-19 of Depoe Hills Phase 1 is subject to these 
standards. Staff has reviewed the site and building plans prepared by the applicant, and found that 
they meet all of the applicable development standards of DBZO Section 152.136(Q). As such, the 
proposed townhouse development is allowed as an outright use of Lots 9-19 of Depoe Hills Phase 1, 
rather than requiring approval of a separate conditional use permit (CUP). 



#2-PD-PC-24 (Depoe Hills Phase 1 Amendment) 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 

APPS PD/#2-PD-PC-24 DEPOE HILLS PH 1 AMENDMENT/STAFF REPORT Page 6 of 6 

 
D. CONCLUSION: In evaluating the request, the Planning Commission bases its decision on 

compliance with the applicable code standards.  If the Commission finds the request fails to satisfy 
the ordinance standards, it can move to deny the request, articulating the basic conclusions and 
rationale for the decision and directing Staff to prepare findings. 

   
If the Planning Commission finds the request satisfies the applicable criteria, it can move to approve 
the request and direct Staff to prepare findings.  In the event of an approval, Staff suggests the 
following conditions of approval for Case File #2-PD-PC-24: 

1. Revised Setbacks for Townhouses in Depoe Hills Phase 1. Condition No. 4 of the Preliminary 
Plan for Depoe Hills Phase 1 is revised to read as follows (additions underlined): 
 

 “Minimum front, rear, and side yard setbacks are permitted to be five feet which is consistent with 
traditional neighborhood design parameters and will minimize the disruption of steep slopes. Garage 
openings shall comply with the minimum 20-foot front setback. 

 
For townhouse dwelling units, zero property line setbacks are allowed at the interior side property 
lines between attached units. Garages or carports accessed from a private alley are permitted to meet 
minimum five-foot setback.” 
 

2. Previous Conditions Remain in Full Force and Effect.  Notwithstanding Condition No. 1 above, 
all other conditions of approval for the Preliminary Plan of Depoe Hills Phase 1 remain in full force 
in effect, as original approved and adopted pursuant to Ordinance No. 318 and Case File #1-PD-PC-
18.  

 
Submitted by, 
 
Kit Fox, AICP 
City Planner 
 
 
Attachments:  Master Plan Amendment application and narrative 
 Townhouse site and building plans 
 Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order for Case File #1-PD-PC-18 
 Relevant DBZO criteria: 

• DBZO Section 152.026 Residential Zone R-2 
• DBZO Section 152.042 Planned Development Zone P-D 
• DBZO Section 152.136(Q) Townhouse Developments (Ordinance No. 336-23) 



§ 152.026 RESIDENTIAL ZONE R-2.

   In an R-2 Zone, the following regulations shall apply.

   (A)   Uses permitted outright. In an R-2 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.130 through 152.136 where applicable:

      (1)   A single-family dwelling built on the site;

      (2)   Manufactured home;

      (3)   A temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used for dwelling purposes during the construction of a
permitted use for which a building permit has been issued, provided the temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational
vehicle:

         (a)   Is located during the time the construction is underway; and

         (b)   Will not remain more than one year from date of placement or 30 days following substantial completion, whichever
is earlier.

      (4)   Agricultural use of land provided that no livestock shall be raised or kept on the premises and provided further than
no commercial structure shall be constructed or maintained on the premises;

      (5)   Recreational vehicle (unoccupied) or boat, stored on a lot in combination with an approved building;

      (6)   Two-family dwelling;

      (7)   Pre-fab heated or modular dwelling;

      (8)   Residential homes;

      (9)   Family day care provider;

      (10)   Transparent occupation; and

      (11)   Commercial fishing gear storage at the gear owner’s dwelling or adjacent lot under the same ownership. The gear
must be stored in a neat and orderly manner and must be non-toxic, non-hazardous, and cause no odor off-site.

   (B)   Conditional uses permitted. In an R-2 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, 152.130 through 152.136, and 152.225 through
152.235 where applicable.

      (1)   Cemetery;

      (2)   Church;

      (3)   Community center;

      (4)   Day nursery, nursery school, kindergarten, or similar facility;

      (5)   Governmental structure or use of land;

      (6)   Home occupation;

      (7)   Golf course or country club, but excluding golf driving range, miniature golf course, or similar facility;

      (8)   Private non-commercial recreation club, such as tennis, swimming, or archery club, but excluding commercial
amusement or recreation enterprises;

      (9)   Public park, playground, or swimming pool;

      (10)   Public school or private school offering curricula similar to public school;

      (11)   Public or private utility facility;

      (12)   Radio or television transmitter or tower; and

      (13)   Solid waste disposal transfer station.

   (C)   Standards. Except as provided in §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.130 through
152.136 in an R-2 Zone, the following standards shall apply.

      (1)   Lot size and dimension. The minimum lot size and dimensions in an R-2 Zone shall be as follows:

         (a)   The lot area shall be 5,000 square feet for a one-family dwelling and 10,000 square feet for a two-family dwelling;

         (b)   The minimum lot width at the front lot line shall be 50 feet for an interior lot and 55 feet for a corner lot, except flag
lots. The staff of a flag lot shall have a minimum width and frontage of not less than 25 feet;

         (c)   The minimum lot depth shall be 80 feet; and



         (d)   Lot area for ocean front lots or lots with intervening ownership which does not prevent coastal erosion from
progressive deterioration of the property shall be determined by the amount of area from the line of mean high water to the
landward extent of the property.

      (2)   Yards. The minimum yard requirements in the R-2 Zone shall be as follows:

         (a)   The front yard shall be a minimum of 20 feet;

         (b)   Each side yard shall be a minimum of either five feet or one foot for each three feet of building height, whichever
requirement is the greater;

         (c)   The street side yard shall be a minimum of 20 feet. except this may be reduced by one foot for each foot the
average lot width is less than 60 feet, however, no street side yard shall be less than ten feet (see LOT WIDTH in § 152.003
of this chapter for method of calculation);

         (d)   The rear yard shall be a minimum of ten feet, except that on a corner lot, it shall be a minimum of either five feet or
one foot for each three feet of building height, whichever requirement is the greater; and

         (e)   No structure shall be located closer than 60 feet from the center line of any state highway.

      (3)   Building height. No building in the R-2 Zone shall exceed a height of 30 feet.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 71, passed 8-19-1980; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord.
187, passed 2-16-1993; Ord. 236, passed 12-16-1996; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 268, passed 11-2-2004; Ord. 287,
passed 5-4-2010) Penalty, see § 152.999



§ 152.042 PLANNED DEVELOPMENT ZONE (P-D).

   (A)   Purpose. The purpose of the planned development procedure is to encourage and promote creativity and innovation
in site planning, design, and development through the application of flexible land development standards. Application of the
planned development procedure is intended to:

      (1)   Allow for and encourage development designs which provide suitable recognition of the physical, topographic,
cultural, historical, and natural resource values and constraints present on a particular site;

      (2)   Respect the surrounding context and enhance community character;

      (3)   Provide open space;

      (4)   Provide pedestrian and bicycle facilities, such as sidewalks in commercial and high density areas, hiking trails, and
bicycle trails;

      (5)   Permit greater flexibility in the siting of buildings and other physical improvements, and in the mixing of housing
types, in order to accomplish desirable design objectives;

      (6)   Provide adequate, structurally sound public and private streets and utilities;

      (7)   Ensure that development occurs in a manner consistent with the intent and purpose of the goals and policies of the
Comprehensive Plan;

      (8)   Ensure the safety of the residents of the city and visitors to the city;

      (9)   Allow logical, efficient development or redevelopment of adjacent properties within the P-D and properties adjacent
to the P-D;

      (10)   Supersede the provisions of §§ 152.250 through 152.265 of this chapter when the latter are expressly contrary to a
specific provision of this section, or upon application to and approval by the Planning Commission, provided such approval
is consistent with the purpose of this section; and

      (11)   Allow for flexibility of land uses, such as allow tourist accommodations in residential zones with standards and
ensure the developer and/or management company is responsible for all management of the tourist accommodation,
including but not limited to responding to noise, trash, overcrowding, and parking complaints. The intent is to place all
responsibility on the developer, management, HOA, or property owner, provide the public with easily-accessible
management contact, and minimize city time and expense related to the tourist accommodation use.

   (B)   General requirements. The following general requirements shall govern planned developments.

      (1)   A planned development may be established in any zone other than the T-C Zone.

      (2)   On land subject to an approved planned development, only those uses, structures, and other forms of development,
which have been set forth and authorized in a development plan approved in accordance with the provisions of this section,
or accessory use to such forms of development, may be established.

      (3)   (a)   A planned development may include any uses permitted outright or conditionally in the underlying zone. Where
the underlying zone is residential, any uses permitted in R-1 through R-5 Zones may be permitted when compatible with
each other and harmonious with adjacent uses.

         (b)   The one exception to division (B)(3)(a) above is the possible approval of short-term rentals (tourist
accommodations per § 152.003 of this chapter and including time shares) to the planned development. The total area of the
development that may be allocated to tourist accommodations in residential zoned areas shall be equal to or less than 15%
of the total land area of the underlying R-1 through R5 Zones. A planned development with tourist accommodations in
residential zones shall have a minimum of five contiguous acres. Tourist accommodations in residential zones shall be
limited to single-family and two-family dwellings with a maximum number of five bedrooms. The tourist accommodation area
shall be contiguous, cohesive, compatible with the entire development (use, architectural, traffic, and the like), buffered
(space, sight, and sound buffered) from all adjacent uses other than commercial uses, and buffered from adjacent properties
that are outside of the P-D. The following city standards shall apply, and the management entity may establish additional
standards. These following standards shall be part of the tourist accommodation area CC&Rs.

            1.   Nuisance control. No noise, lights, dust, smoke, odors, and electromagnetic frequencies generated on-site in
excess of the amounts normally associated with residential uses shall emanate off-site or interfere with surrounding
residential or commercial uses.

            2.   Lighting. Outside lighting shall be restricted to low voltage lighting and/or motion sensor lighting for security.

            3.   Off-street parking. For tourist accommodation dwelling uses, off-street parking space requirements are:

               a.   A single-family or two-family dwelling shall have one on-site parking space for each bedroom. A minimum of
two parking spaces shall be provided per dwelling;

               b.   A multi-family dwelling shall have one parking space for each bedroom located immediately adjacent to the
unit. A minimum of two parking spaces shall be provided per dwelling;

               c.   A parking lot for overflow vehicles, consisting of one additional space per dwelling unit, that shall be in the



immediate area of the tourist accommodations; and

               d.   If a dwelling unit is a residence plus a tourist accommodation, two additional spaces are required on the same
property.

            4.   Solid waste disposal. For tourist accommodation dwelling uses, a minimum 96-gallon vessel shall be provided for
each unit, and the unit shall have “carry-out”/“valet” (no need to put vessels at curb) service. A multi-unit dumpster type unit
may be substituted, it must be enclosed to the sight-line. Weekly solid waste pick-up is required during all months of the
year.

            5.   State law compliance. It is the property owner’s responsibility to ensure that a tourist accommodation dwelling
use remains in substantial compliance with state regulations for the following: health, safety, Building Code, Fire Code,
tourist accommodation statutes, and the Uniform Housing Code.

            6.   Occupancy. Tourist accommodation dwellings shall not exceed two persons per bedroom plus one additional
person per dwelling.

            7.   Signage. The management entity shall only have one exterior on-site sign for the tourist accommodation area.
The sign shall identify the site as a tourist accommodation area; identify a local contact person; state that the local contact
person is available 24 hours each day, seven days a week to handle rentals and complaints; and identify the local contact
person’s business license number. An interior sign with this same information shall be placed inside each tourist
accommodation in a noticeable location, such as, near the front door or in the kitchen.

            8.   Business license. For a tourist accommodation dwelling, the property owner and property management company
are required to have a city business license. In addition, for tourist accommodation dwelling uses, transient room tax
ordinance provisions shall apply.

            9.   Revocation. Any violation of the requirements or standards of this P-D Zone or any other city ordinance may
result in revocation of the transient rental unit business license.

      (4)   Overall residential density shall be as provided for in the underlying zone or zones. Density shall be computed
based on the total gross land area of the subject property, excluding area devoted to commercial or other non-residential
uses allowed in the underlying zone and resources protected under Goal 5, but including common areas.

      (5)   No building shall exceed the height allowed in the underlying zone.

      (6)   Yards, setbacks, lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements may be reduced, adjusted, or
otherwise modified upon application to, and approval by the Planning Commission, consistent with the design objectives of
the proposed development.

      (7)   In the event of a conflict between any applicable use zone provision and the allowances, limitations, or requirements
of an approved preliminary plan, the approved preliminary plan shall control.

      (8)   A planned development shall have a minimum of two contiguous acres, exclusive of street right-of-way. A planned
development with tourist accommodations in residential zones shall have a minimum of five contiguous acres.

      (9)   Excluding streets and parking, at least 35% of the land will be dedicated or reserved for outdoor recreation, park, or
natural land.

      (10)   Paved concrete sidewalks shall be provided in commercial areas and along Highway 101. The exception to this is
the Highway 101 right-of-way and the adjacent 40-foot wide designated forested corridor on both sides of Highway 101
right-of-way from south point street south to the city limits which shall instead include a four-foot wide walking/biking path (§
152.074(B)(3) of this chapter applies). The planned development shall also include a connected pedestrian system/network.

      (11)   Parking shall conform to § 152.058 and Diagram A of § 152.031, with the exception that all parking areas shall be
paved.

      (12)   A minimum 5% of a parking area shall be landscaped. Landscaping in parking and common open space areas
shall be installed according to plans approved by the city. Landscaping shall be installed in all yards adjacent to a public or
private street prior to final building inspections.

      (13)   Natural existing landscaping may be used to meet landscaping requirements. Landscape design and landscaping
areas shall serve their intended functions and shall not adversely impact surrounding areas. Required landscaping shall
include a mix of vertical elements (trees) and horizontal elements (grass, shrubs, ground cover, and the like). Section
152.074 of this chapter applies. Landscaped areas and open space shall be maintained. Invasive plant materials, as
identified by the USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service state listed noxious weeds shall be removed and shall not
be planted.

   (C)   General approval process. At a minimum, a preliminary plan and lastly a final plan shall be submitted for approval for
all planned developments. Once the preliminary plan is approved and the final engineered plans are reviewed and approved
by the city, work on the development’s infrastructure may proceed. The final plan is primarily an as-built of the streets and
infrastructure, and no building permits shall be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the plan. If the
planned development is to be developed in a number of individual sections or phases, each which is developed separate
from the others (a phased planned development), a master plan shall first be submitted for approval. Once the master plan
for the entire development is approved, each phase (section) of the development shall follow the standard preliminary plan



and final plan process.

      (1)   If the planned development is a phased planned development, the initial step is the submission of the master plan
for the entire development, which shall be submitted for approval as per division (D) below.

         (a)   The master plan is the over-arching plan of the entire development and of all phases. The primary purpose of a
master plan is to propose and establish the development’s overall concept, overall planning, and the integration of all
phases. Master plan approval does not permit development or construction to occur.

         (b)   If a master plan for a phased development is approved, the applicant or its successor shall obtain separate
preliminary and final approvals for each phase. For each individual phase, a preliminary plan shall be submitted for approval
as per division (E) below prior to any work starting on the infrastructure of that phase.

         (c)   If a preliminary plan for an individual phase impacts the master plan, an updated master plan shall be submitted
with that preliminary plan.

         (d)   A master plan is not required for a planned development that is not using a phased development approach.

      (2)   For a planned development that is not a phased planned development, the initial step of a planned development is
the submission of a preliminary plan for the complete development, which shall be submitted for approval as per division (E)
below. Work on the development’s infrastructure may only proceed once the preliminary plan is approved.

      (3)   A final plan shall be submitted for approval as per division (H) below upon completion of all conditions and
requirements of the individual phase preliminary plan or the entire development’s preliminary plan. No building permits shall
be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the final plan.

   (D)   Master plan. A master plan for planned developments shall be developed as follows.

      (1)   Master plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a master plan shall be as set forth in §
152.204(C) of this chapter.

      (2)   Content of master plan. Application for master plan approval of a planned development shall include all items
described in division (F) below. In addition, the following shall be included:

         (a)   A narrative describing the plans for phasing (if applicable);

         (b)   A summary describing the general locations for any reducing, adjusting, or otherwise modifying yards, setbacks,
lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements of this chapter; and

         (c)   A summary describing the general locations for any desired variances, exceptions, deviations, waivers, conditional
uses, zone changes, and the like, and a supporting narrative that acknowledges the zoning application procedure and
criteria order to obtain each approval.

      (3)   Approval on findings. Master plan approval by the Planning Commission shall be based on findings that criteria
described in division (G) below are satisfied.

      (4)   Approval date. Master plan approval is valid from the date all legal appeals are exhausted. Changes to an approved
master plan require an application for a master plan amendment to be reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission
as set forth in § 152.204(C) of this chapter.

   (E)   Preliminary plan. A preliminary plan for planned developments shall be developed as follows.

      (1)   Submittal. A preliminary plan shall be submitted for a non-phased planned development.

      (2)   Phase development. For a phased development, a preliminary plan shall be submitted for each phase of
development.

         (a)   A preliminary plan may be submitted for a phase concurrent with a master plan application. The Planning
Commission will review the preliminary plan the meeting after the master plan is approved.

         (b)   Each phase shall meet the criteria of divisions (E)(4), (F), and (G) below independently of the other phases.

      (3)   Preliminary plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a preliminary plan, which shall be as
set forth in § 152.204(C).

      (4)   Content of preliminary plan. Application for preliminary plan approval of a planned development shall include all
items described in division (F) below. In addition, the following shall be included:

         (a)   Proposed covenants, restrictions, bylaws, and the like of any homeowners associations and any taxing districts;

         (b)   A narrative describing the locations for any divergence from this chapter in the form of reducing, adjusting, or
otherwise modifying yards, setbacks, lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements;

         (c)   Submittal of any requests for variances, exceptions, deviations, waivers, conditional uses, and the like; and

         (d)   A narrative describing the specific area of any short-term rentals and describing how the rentals will be managed,
policed, the city transient room tax (TRT) and the city transient occupancy tax (TOT) are collected, and city TRT and TOT
are forwarded to the city.



      (5)   Approval; findings. Preliminary plan approval by the Planning Commission shall be based on findings that criteria
described in division (G) below are satisfied.

      (6)   Approval; final engineering plans. Based on the preliminary plan approval, the applicant is required to submit final
engineering plans to be reviewed and approved by the city prior to any construction. The applicant shall be responsible for all
costs the city may incur by hiring a professional engineer to review and comment on the final engineering plans.

      (7)   Time limit of preliminary plan approval. Approval of a preliminary plan in accordance with this section is valid after
the exhaustion of all appeals (see § 152.208). Infrastructure (streets and utilities) shall be designed and constructed in
accordance with current design standards unless specific exceptions are granted by the Planning Commission.

   (F)   Common content of master plan and preliminary plan. In addition to the forms prescribed by the city, an application
for master plan approval or a preliminary plan approval of a planned development shall include the following:

      (1)   A site plan map or maps depicting:

         (a)   All proposed residential and non-residential land uses;

         (b)   Any proposed tourist accommodation area in a residential zoned area, describing the type, location, and number
of each type of tourist accommodation (house, apartment, hotel, condo, time-share, and the like), also showing and
describing the buffering from adjacent uses;

         (c)   Parking areas and lots, showing number of spaces;

         (d)   Proposed lot or parcel boundaries;

         (e)   Proposed roads;

         (f)   Proposed pedestrian system and facilities;

         (g)   Significant natural features, such as wetland, streams courses, environmental hazards, and fish and wildlife
habitat areas; and

         (h)   Proposed open space, recreation areas, or other common elements, and approximate topography with contour
intervals of not more than ten feet.

      (2)   Drawings of the architectural styles of the different areas of the development;

      (3)   A written narrative describing the character of the proposed development, the manner in which it has been designed
to conform to divisions (A) and (B) above, including detailed discussion of how the proposal conforms to the requirements of
division (G) below, how the development meets the parking requirements of the § 152.058 of this chapter, proposed
methods of providing sewer, water, storm drainage, and other utility services, the method proposed for ownership, funding,
and maintenance of common areas, buildings, structures, roads, open space, landscaping, parking areas, fences, buffers
and/or sight, sound barriers to adjacent properties, or other facilities, public access to and use of the aforementioned, and
the proposed time schedule of development; and

      (4)   Other maps or narrative materials needed to determine compliance with any applicable provisions of this chapter, as
determined by initial review of the application for completeness.

   (G)   Common master plan and preliminary plan approval criteria. Approval by the Planning Commission of a master plan
or a preliminary plan of a planned development shall be based on findings that the following criteria are satisfied:

      (1)   All applicable requirements of this section are met;

      (2)   The proposed development is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and policies, and zoning provisions for
the area;

      (3)   Per § 152.251 of this chapter, the provisions of §§ 152.250 through 152.265 of this chapter shall be applicable to
approval criteria unless expressly contrary to a specific provision of this section;

      (4)   The proposed development will provide the following amenities or protections at a higher level than would otherwise
be provided under conventional land development procedure: protection of significant natural and cultural features and
resources, such as historical, scientific, and cultural resources, fish and wildlife habitats, stream corridors, riparian areas,
and wetlands; maintenance, enhancement or establishment of natural vegetation, especially indigenous plant communities;
protection of scenic and aesthetic qualities; and creation of a high quality built environment which harmonizes with the
natural and physical features of the site and includes design features such as, as examples only, suitably located open
space, recreation facilities, and other common facilities for inhabitants of the planned development; includes pedestrian
oriented development which reduces reliance on automobile travel, and provides similar measures to promote energy
conservation, or avoidance of risks and costs associated with environmental hazards;

      (5)   In acting to approve, the Commission shall be mindful of the purposes of this section by encouraging and promoting
creativity and innovation in site planning, and by allowing for flexibility in the application of design standards. The
Commission may also impose any conditions or limitations it finds necessary to achieve compliance with any provisions of
this section; and

      (6)   The proposed development is in substantial harmony with the area at least 250 feet outside the boundary of the



proposed development. In the case of a phased planned development, all phases shall also be in visible agreement with
each other architecturally and otherwise.

   (H)   Final plan. Upon completion of all conditions and requirements of a preliminary plan, application may be made for
final approval in accordance with the provisions of this section.

      (1)   Final plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a request for final plan approval shall be
as set forth in § 152.204(C).

      (2)   Certifications required for final plan approval. Requests for final plan approval shall be accompanied by the following
certifications, as applicable:

         (a)   A copy of all covenants and restrictions;

         (b)   Copies of legal documents required for dedication of public facilities or for the creation of a homeowner’s
association;

         (c)   As-built certifications for all required roads and utilities;

         (d)   If the planned development involves a division of land, the certifications required by §§ 152.250 through 152.265
of this chapter; and

         (e)   Other certifications required as a condition of the preliminary plan approval.

      (3)   Final plan approval criteria. The Commission shall approve a final plan provided that:

         (a)   The submitted final plan is in substantial conformance with the approved preliminary plan and master plan (if a
phased planned development); and

         (b)   All of the certifications required by division (H)(2) above have been submitted in proper form.

      (4)   Permits. No building permits shall be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the final plan.

   (I)   Retroactivity. The provisions in this section shall not apply to planned developments, or phases thereof, which were
granted preliminary plan approval prior to the effective date of this section. In those cases the prior version of this section
shall apply, unless said approval expires without applicant having obtained the final approval.

   (J)   Amending an approved planned development master plan or preliminary plan. When a developer or owner desires to
deviate from an approved master plan or preliminary plan, any applicable documents that would result in modification from
that change shall be submitted for approval. The review process is identical as a new planned development approval. As a
result of the change, the Planning Commission may require changes to approved uses, structures, and other forms of
development to ensure the proposed development remains consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals, policies, and
zoning ordinance provisions for the area, and to ensure all areas of the planned development remain in harmony following
division (A) and (B) of this section.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 310, passed 11-1-2016) Penalty, see § 152.999

















§ 152.026 RESIDENTIAL ZONE R-2.

   In an R-2 Zone, the following regulations shall apply.

   (A)   Uses permitted outright. In an R-2 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.130 through 152.136 where applicable:

      (1)   A single-family dwelling built on the site;

      (2)   Manufactured home;

      (3)   A temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used for dwelling purposes during the construction of a
permitted use for which a building permit has been issued, provided the temporary manufactured dwelling or recreational
vehicle:

         (a)   Is located during the time the construction is underway; and

         (b)   Will not remain more than one year from date of placement or 30 days following substantial completion, whichever
is earlier.

      (4)   Agricultural use of land provided that no livestock shall be raised or kept on the premises and provided further than
no commercial structure shall be constructed or maintained on the premises;

      (5)   Recreational vehicle (unoccupied) or boat, stored on a lot in combination with an approved building;

      (6)   Two-family dwelling;

      (7)   Pre-fab heated or modular dwelling;

      (8)   Residential homes;

      (9)   Family day care provider;

      (10)   Transparent occupation; and

      (11)   Commercial fishing gear storage at the gear owner’s dwelling or adjacent lot under the same ownership. The gear
must be stored in a neat and orderly manner and must be non-toxic, non-hazardous, and cause no odor off-site.

   (B)   Conditional uses permitted. In an R-2 Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted, subject to the
provisions of §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, 152.130 through 152.136, and 152.225 through
152.235 where applicable.

      (1)   Cemetery;

      (2)   Church;

      (3)   Community center;

      (4)   Day nursery, nursery school, kindergarten, or similar facility;

      (5)   Governmental structure or use of land;

      (6)   Home occupation;

      (7)   Golf course or country club, but excluding golf driving range, miniature golf course, or similar facility;

      (8)   Private non-commercial recreation club, such as tennis, swimming, or archery club, but excluding commercial
amusement or recreation enterprises;

      (9)   Public park, playground, or swimming pool;

      (10)   Public school or private school offering curricula similar to public school;

      (11)   Public or private utility facility;

      (12)   Radio or television transmitter or tower; and

      (13)   Solid waste disposal transfer station.

   (C)   Standards. Except as provided in §§ 152.055 through 152.076, 152.115 through 152.117, and 152.130 through
152.136 in an R-2 Zone, the following standards shall apply.

      (1)   Lot size and dimension. The minimum lot size and dimensions in an R-2 Zone shall be as follows:

         (a)   The lot area shall be 5,000 square feet for a one-family dwelling and 10,000 square feet for a two-family dwelling;

         (b)   The minimum lot width at the front lot line shall be 50 feet for an interior lot and 55 feet for a corner lot, except flag
lots. The staff of a flag lot shall have a minimum width and frontage of not less than 25 feet;

         (c)   The minimum lot depth shall be 80 feet; and



         (d)   Lot area for ocean front lots or lots with intervening ownership which does not prevent coastal erosion from
progressive deterioration of the property shall be determined by the amount of area from the line of mean high water to the
landward extent of the property.

      (2)   Yards. The minimum yard requirements in the R-2 Zone shall be as follows:

         (a)   The front yard shall be a minimum of 20 feet;

         (b)   Each side yard shall be a minimum of either five feet or one foot for each three feet of building height, whichever
requirement is the greater;

         (c)   The street side yard shall be a minimum of 20 feet. except this may be reduced by one foot for each foot the
average lot width is less than 60 feet, however, no street side yard shall be less than ten feet (see LOT WIDTH in § 152.003
of this chapter for method of calculation);

         (d)   The rear yard shall be a minimum of ten feet, except that on a corner lot, it shall be a minimum of either five feet or
one foot for each three feet of building height, whichever requirement is the greater; and

         (e)   No structure shall be located closer than 60 feet from the center line of any state highway.

      (3)   Building height. No building in the R-2 Zone shall exceed a height of 30 feet.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 71, passed 8-19-1980; Ord. 172, passed 10-7-1991; Ord. 173, passed 12-2-1991; Ord.
187, passed 2-16-1993; Ord. 236, passed 12-16-1996; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 268, passed 11-2-2004; Ord. 287,
passed 5-4-2010) Penalty, see § 152.999



§ 152.042 PLANNED DEVELOPMENT ZONE (P-D).

   (A)   Purpose. The purpose of the planned development procedure is to encourage and promote creativity and innovation
in site planning, design, and development through the application of flexible land development standards. Application of the
planned development procedure is intended to:

      (1)   Allow for and encourage development designs which provide suitable recognition of the physical, topographic,
cultural, historical, and natural resource values and constraints present on a particular site;

      (2)   Respect the surrounding context and enhance community character;

      (3)   Provide open space;

      (4)   Provide pedestrian and bicycle facilities, such as sidewalks in commercial and high density areas, hiking trails, and
bicycle trails;

      (5)   Permit greater flexibility in the siting of buildings and other physical improvements, and in the mixing of housing
types, in order to accomplish desirable design objectives;

      (6)   Provide adequate, structurally sound public and private streets and utilities;

      (7)   Ensure that development occurs in a manner consistent with the intent and purpose of the goals and policies of the
Comprehensive Plan;

      (8)   Ensure the safety of the residents of the city and visitors to the city;

      (9)   Allow logical, efficient development or redevelopment of adjacent properties within the P-D and properties adjacent
to the P-D;

      (10)   Supersede the provisions of §§ 152.250 through 152.265 of this chapter when the latter are expressly contrary to a
specific provision of this section, or upon application to and approval by the Planning Commission, provided such approval
is consistent with the purpose of this section; and

      (11)   Allow for flexibility of land uses, such as allow tourist accommodations in residential zones with standards and
ensure the developer and/or management company is responsible for all management of the tourist accommodation,
including but not limited to responding to noise, trash, overcrowding, and parking complaints. The intent is to place all
responsibility on the developer, management, HOA, or property owner, provide the public with easily-accessible
management contact, and minimize city time and expense related to the tourist accommodation use.

   (B)   General requirements. The following general requirements shall govern planned developments.

      (1)   A planned development may be established in any zone other than the T-C Zone.

      (2)   On land subject to an approved planned development, only those uses, structures, and other forms of development,
which have been set forth and authorized in a development plan approved in accordance with the provisions of this section,
or accessory use to such forms of development, may be established.

      (3)   (a)   A planned development may include any uses permitted outright or conditionally in the underlying zone. Where
the underlying zone is residential, any uses permitted in R-1 through R-5 Zones may be permitted when compatible with
each other and harmonious with adjacent uses.

         (b)   The one exception to division (B)(3)(a) above is the possible approval of short-term rentals (tourist
accommodations per § 152.003 of this chapter and including time shares) to the planned development. The total area of the
development that may be allocated to tourist accommodations in residential zoned areas shall be equal to or less than 15%
of the total land area of the underlying R-1 through R5 Zones. A planned development with tourist accommodations in
residential zones shall have a minimum of five contiguous acres. Tourist accommodations in residential zones shall be
limited to single-family and two-family dwellings with a maximum number of five bedrooms. The tourist accommodation area
shall be contiguous, cohesive, compatible with the entire development (use, architectural, traffic, and the like), buffered
(space, sight, and sound buffered) from all adjacent uses other than commercial uses, and buffered from adjacent properties
that are outside of the P-D. The following city standards shall apply, and the management entity may establish additional
standards. These following standards shall be part of the tourist accommodation area CC&Rs.

            1.   Nuisance control. No noise, lights, dust, smoke, odors, and electromagnetic frequencies generated on-site in
excess of the amounts normally associated with residential uses shall emanate off-site or interfere with surrounding
residential or commercial uses.

            2.   Lighting. Outside lighting shall be restricted to low voltage lighting and/or motion sensor lighting for security.

            3.   Off-street parking. For tourist accommodation dwelling uses, off-street parking space requirements are:

               a.   A single-family or two-family dwelling shall have one on-site parking space for each bedroom. A minimum of
two parking spaces shall be provided per dwelling;

               b.   A multi-family dwelling shall have one parking space for each bedroom located immediately adjacent to the
unit. A minimum of two parking spaces shall be provided per dwelling;

               c.   A parking lot for overflow vehicles, consisting of one additional space per dwelling unit, that shall be in the



immediate area of the tourist accommodations; and

               d.   If a dwelling unit is a residence plus a tourist accommodation, two additional spaces are required on the same
property.

            4.   Solid waste disposal. For tourist accommodation dwelling uses, a minimum 96-gallon vessel shall be provided for
each unit, and the unit shall have “carry-out”/“valet” (no need to put vessels at curb) service. A multi-unit dumpster type unit
may be substituted, it must be enclosed to the sight-line. Weekly solid waste pick-up is required during all months of the
year.

            5.   State law compliance. It is the property owner’s responsibility to ensure that a tourist accommodation dwelling
use remains in substantial compliance with state regulations for the following: health, safety, Building Code, Fire Code,
tourist accommodation statutes, and the Uniform Housing Code.

            6.   Occupancy. Tourist accommodation dwellings shall not exceed two persons per bedroom plus one additional
person per dwelling.

            7.   Signage. The management entity shall only have one exterior on-site sign for the tourist accommodation area.
The sign shall identify the site as a tourist accommodation area; identify a local contact person; state that the local contact
person is available 24 hours each day, seven days a week to handle rentals and complaints; and identify the local contact
person’s business license number. An interior sign with this same information shall be placed inside each tourist
accommodation in a noticeable location, such as, near the front door or in the kitchen.

            8.   Business license. For a tourist accommodation dwelling, the property owner and property management company
are required to have a city business license. In addition, for tourist accommodation dwelling uses, transient room tax
ordinance provisions shall apply.

            9.   Revocation. Any violation of the requirements or standards of this P-D Zone or any other city ordinance may
result in revocation of the transient rental unit business license.

      (4)   Overall residential density shall be as provided for in the underlying zone or zones. Density shall be computed
based on the total gross land area of the subject property, excluding area devoted to commercial or other non-residential
uses allowed in the underlying zone and resources protected under Goal 5, but including common areas.

      (5)   No building shall exceed the height allowed in the underlying zone.

      (6)   Yards, setbacks, lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements may be reduced, adjusted, or
otherwise modified upon application to, and approval by the Planning Commission, consistent with the design objectives of
the proposed development.

      (7)   In the event of a conflict between any applicable use zone provision and the allowances, limitations, or requirements
of an approved preliminary plan, the approved preliminary plan shall control.

      (8)   A planned development shall have a minimum of two contiguous acres, exclusive of street right-of-way. A planned
development with tourist accommodations in residential zones shall have a minimum of five contiguous acres.

      (9)   Excluding streets and parking, at least 35% of the land will be dedicated or reserved for outdoor recreation, park, or
natural land.

      (10)   Paved concrete sidewalks shall be provided in commercial areas and along Highway 101. The exception to this is
the Highway 101 right-of-way and the adjacent 40-foot wide designated forested corridor on both sides of Highway 101
right-of-way from south point street south to the city limits which shall instead include a four-foot wide walking/biking path (§
152.074(B)(3) of this chapter applies). The planned development shall also include a connected pedestrian system/network.

      (11)   Parking shall conform to § 152.058 and Diagram A of § 152.031, with the exception that all parking areas shall be
paved.

      (12)   A minimum 5% of a parking area shall be landscaped. Landscaping in parking and common open space areas
shall be installed according to plans approved by the city. Landscaping shall be installed in all yards adjacent to a public or
private street prior to final building inspections.

      (13)   Natural existing landscaping may be used to meet landscaping requirements. Landscape design and landscaping
areas shall serve their intended functions and shall not adversely impact surrounding areas. Required landscaping shall
include a mix of vertical elements (trees) and horizontal elements (grass, shrubs, ground cover, and the like). Section
152.074 of this chapter applies. Landscaped areas and open space shall be maintained. Invasive plant materials, as
identified by the USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service state listed noxious weeds shall be removed and shall not
be planted.

   (C)   General approval process. At a minimum, a preliminary plan and lastly a final plan shall be submitted for approval for
all planned developments. Once the preliminary plan is approved and the final engineered plans are reviewed and approved
by the city, work on the development’s infrastructure may proceed. The final plan is primarily an as-built of the streets and
infrastructure, and no building permits shall be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the plan. If the
planned development is to be developed in a number of individual sections or phases, each which is developed separate
from the others (a phased planned development), a master plan shall first be submitted for approval. Once the master plan
for the entire development is approved, each phase (section) of the development shall follow the standard preliminary plan



and final plan process.

      (1)   If the planned development is a phased planned development, the initial step is the submission of the master plan
for the entire development, which shall be submitted for approval as per division (D) below.

         (a)   The master plan is the over-arching plan of the entire development and of all phases. The primary purpose of a
master plan is to propose and establish the development’s overall concept, overall planning, and the integration of all
phases. Master plan approval does not permit development or construction to occur.

         (b)   If a master plan for a phased development is approved, the applicant or its successor shall obtain separate
preliminary and final approvals for each phase. For each individual phase, a preliminary plan shall be submitted for approval
as per division (E) below prior to any work starting on the infrastructure of that phase.

         (c)   If a preliminary plan for an individual phase impacts the master plan, an updated master plan shall be submitted
with that preliminary plan.

         (d)   A master plan is not required for a planned development that is not using a phased development approach.

      (2)   For a planned development that is not a phased planned development, the initial step of a planned development is
the submission of a preliminary plan for the complete development, which shall be submitted for approval as per division (E)
below. Work on the development’s infrastructure may only proceed once the preliminary plan is approved.

      (3)   A final plan shall be submitted for approval as per division (H) below upon completion of all conditions and
requirements of the individual phase preliminary plan or the entire development’s preliminary plan. No building permits shall
be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the final plan.

   (D)   Master plan. A master plan for planned developments shall be developed as follows.

      (1)   Master plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a master plan shall be as set forth in §
152.204(C) of this chapter.

      (2)   Content of master plan. Application for master plan approval of a planned development shall include all items
described in division (F) below. In addition, the following shall be included:

         (a)   A narrative describing the plans for phasing (if applicable);

         (b)   A summary describing the general locations for any reducing, adjusting, or otherwise modifying yards, setbacks,
lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements of this chapter; and

         (c)   A summary describing the general locations for any desired variances, exceptions, deviations, waivers, conditional
uses, zone changes, and the like, and a supporting narrative that acknowledges the zoning application procedure and
criteria order to obtain each approval.

      (3)   Approval on findings. Master plan approval by the Planning Commission shall be based on findings that criteria
described in division (G) below are satisfied.

      (4)   Approval date. Master plan approval is valid from the date all legal appeals are exhausted. Changes to an approved
master plan require an application for a master plan amendment to be reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission
as set forth in § 152.204(C) of this chapter.

   (E)   Preliminary plan. A preliminary plan for planned developments shall be developed as follows.

      (1)   Submittal. A preliminary plan shall be submitted for a non-phased planned development.

      (2)   Phase development. For a phased development, a preliminary plan shall be submitted for each phase of
development.

         (a)   A preliminary plan may be submitted for a phase concurrent with a master plan application. The Planning
Commission will review the preliminary plan the meeting after the master plan is approved.

         (b)   Each phase shall meet the criteria of divisions (E)(4), (F), and (G) below independently of the other phases.

      (3)   Preliminary plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a preliminary plan, which shall be as
set forth in § 152.204(C).

      (4)   Content of preliminary plan. Application for preliminary plan approval of a planned development shall include all
items described in division (F) below. In addition, the following shall be included:

         (a)   Proposed covenants, restrictions, bylaws, and the like of any homeowners associations and any taxing districts;

         (b)   A narrative describing the locations for any divergence from this chapter in the form of reducing, adjusting, or
otherwise modifying yards, setbacks, lot area, lot coverage, and similar dimensional requirements;

         (c)   Submittal of any requests for variances, exceptions, deviations, waivers, conditional uses, and the like; and

         (d)   A narrative describing the specific area of any short-term rentals and describing how the rentals will be managed,
policed, the city transient room tax (TRT) and the city transient occupancy tax (TOT) are collected, and city TRT and TOT
are forwarded to the city.



      (5)   Approval; findings. Preliminary plan approval by the Planning Commission shall be based on findings that criteria
described in division (G) below are satisfied.

      (6)   Approval; final engineering plans. Based on the preliminary plan approval, the applicant is required to submit final
engineering plans to be reviewed and approved by the city prior to any construction. The applicant shall be responsible for all
costs the city may incur by hiring a professional engineer to review and comment on the final engineering plans.

      (7)   Time limit of preliminary plan approval. Approval of a preliminary plan in accordance with this section is valid after
the exhaustion of all appeals (see § 152.208). Infrastructure (streets and utilities) shall be designed and constructed in
accordance with current design standards unless specific exceptions are granted by the Planning Commission.

   (F)   Common content of master plan and preliminary plan. In addition to the forms prescribed by the city, an application
for master plan approval or a preliminary plan approval of a planned development shall include the following:

      (1)   A site plan map or maps depicting:

         (a)   All proposed residential and non-residential land uses;

         (b)   Any proposed tourist accommodation area in a residential zoned area, describing the type, location, and number
of each type of tourist accommodation (house, apartment, hotel, condo, time-share, and the like), also showing and
describing the buffering from adjacent uses;

         (c)   Parking areas and lots, showing number of spaces;

         (d)   Proposed lot or parcel boundaries;

         (e)   Proposed roads;

         (f)   Proposed pedestrian system and facilities;

         (g)   Significant natural features, such as wetland, streams courses, environmental hazards, and fish and wildlife
habitat areas; and

         (h)   Proposed open space, recreation areas, or other common elements, and approximate topography with contour
intervals of not more than ten feet.

      (2)   Drawings of the architectural styles of the different areas of the development;

      (3)   A written narrative describing the character of the proposed development, the manner in which it has been designed
to conform to divisions (A) and (B) above, including detailed discussion of how the proposal conforms to the requirements of
division (G) below, how the development meets the parking requirements of the § 152.058 of this chapter, proposed
methods of providing sewer, water, storm drainage, and other utility services, the method proposed for ownership, funding,
and maintenance of common areas, buildings, structures, roads, open space, landscaping, parking areas, fences, buffers
and/or sight, sound barriers to adjacent properties, or other facilities, public access to and use of the aforementioned, and
the proposed time schedule of development; and

      (4)   Other maps or narrative materials needed to determine compliance with any applicable provisions of this chapter, as
determined by initial review of the application for completeness.

   (G)   Common master plan and preliminary plan approval criteria. Approval by the Planning Commission of a master plan
or a preliminary plan of a planned development shall be based on findings that the following criteria are satisfied:

      (1)   All applicable requirements of this section are met;

      (2)   The proposed development is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals and policies, and zoning provisions for
the area;

      (3)   Per § 152.251 of this chapter, the provisions of §§ 152.250 through 152.265 of this chapter shall be applicable to
approval criteria unless expressly contrary to a specific provision of this section;

      (4)   The proposed development will provide the following amenities or protections at a higher level than would otherwise
be provided under conventional land development procedure: protection of significant natural and cultural features and
resources, such as historical, scientific, and cultural resources, fish and wildlife habitats, stream corridors, riparian areas,
and wetlands; maintenance, enhancement or establishment of natural vegetation, especially indigenous plant communities;
protection of scenic and aesthetic qualities; and creation of a high quality built environment which harmonizes with the
natural and physical features of the site and includes design features such as, as examples only, suitably located open
space, recreation facilities, and other common facilities for inhabitants of the planned development; includes pedestrian
oriented development which reduces reliance on automobile travel, and provides similar measures to promote energy
conservation, or avoidance of risks and costs associated with environmental hazards;

      (5)   In acting to approve, the Commission shall be mindful of the purposes of this section by encouraging and promoting
creativity and innovation in site planning, and by allowing for flexibility in the application of design standards. The
Commission may also impose any conditions or limitations it finds necessary to achieve compliance with any provisions of
this section; and

      (6)   The proposed development is in substantial harmony with the area at least 250 feet outside the boundary of the



proposed development. In the case of a phased planned development, all phases shall also be in visible agreement with
each other architecturally and otherwise.

   (H)   Final plan. Upon completion of all conditions and requirements of a preliminary plan, application may be made for
final approval in accordance with the provisions of this section.

      (1)   Final plan review procedure. The procedure for application and review of a request for final plan approval shall be
as set forth in § 152.204(C).

      (2)   Certifications required for final plan approval. Requests for final plan approval shall be accompanied by the following
certifications, as applicable:

         (a)   A copy of all covenants and restrictions;

         (b)   Copies of legal documents required for dedication of public facilities or for the creation of a homeowner’s
association;

         (c)   As-built certifications for all required roads and utilities;

         (d)   If the planned development involves a division of land, the certifications required by §§ 152.250 through 152.265
of this chapter; and

         (e)   Other certifications required as a condition of the preliminary plan approval.

      (3)   Final plan approval criteria. The Commission shall approve a final plan provided that:

         (a)   The submitted final plan is in substantial conformance with the approved preliminary plan and master plan (if a
phased planned development); and

         (b)   All of the certifications required by division (H)(2) above have been submitted in proper form.

      (4)   Permits. No building permits shall be approved until the effective date of the final approval of the final plan.

   (I)   Retroactivity. The provisions in this section shall not apply to planned developments, or phases thereof, which were
granted preliminary plan approval prior to the effective date of this section. In those cases the prior version of this section
shall apply, unless said approval expires without applicant having obtained the final approval.

   (J)   Amending an approved planned development master plan or preliminary plan. When a developer or owner desires to
deviate from an approved master plan or preliminary plan, any applicable documents that would result in modification from
that change shall be submitted for approval. The review process is identical as a new planned development approval. As a
result of the change, the Planning Commission may require changes to approved uses, structures, and other forms of
development to ensure the proposed development remains consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals, policies, and
zoning ordinance provisions for the area, and to ensure all areas of the planned development remain in harmony following
division (A) and (B) of this section.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 310, passed 11-1-2016) Penalty, see § 152.999

















Date: March 13, 2024 
 
To: Depoe Bay Planning Commission 
 
From: Kit Fox, AICP, City Planner 
 
Subject: Planning Process for Emergency Supply Caches 
 

 
Recently, the City Council and the Emergency Preparedness Committee have expressed 
interest in positioning caches of emergency supplies at multiple locations in the City. Staff 
is aware that a few homeowners’ associations in the City maintain emergency supply 
caches for their residents’ use, but the only City-owned and -controlled supply cache is 
located at City Hall. The City has acquired a few 9-foot containers to serve as caches. A 
photograph and dimensioned diagram of one of these containers is provided below. 
 

 
 
The tsunami evacuation maps prepared by the Oregon Department of Geology and 
Mineral Industries (DOGAMI) identify assembly areas outside of the tsunami zone that 
may be suitable sites for City caches (see attachment). However, formally-designated 
locations for City caches have yet to be identified and/or secured. 
 
In most use zones, the Depoe Base Zoning Ordinance (DBZO) allows “governmental 
structure or use of land” as a conditional use, subject to the standards for conditional 
uses under DBZO Sections 152.130-152.136.  The general provisions for conditional uses 
(DBZO Section 152.136(A)) require that the site under consideration is suitable for the 
proposed use considering: 
 

• The size, design, and operating characteristics of the use; 
• The adequacy of transportation access to the site; 
• The natural and physical features of the site, such as general topography and 

natural resource values; 
• The proposed use is compatible with existing and permitted uses on adjacent 

lands, considering the size, design, and operating characteristics of the use; 
• Any lighting provided shall not shine or glare onto adjoining streets or properties. 

Suggest using lights of low stature with shielding. The applicant shall demonstrate 
through a lighting plan that this standard is met; and, 

https://pubs.oregon.gov/dogami/tsubrochures/DepoeBay-EvacBrochure_onscreen.pdf
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/depoebayor/latest/depoebay_or/0-0-0-5846


Planning Process for Emergency Supply Caches 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 
 

20240313_PLANNING PROCESS FOR EMERGENCY SUPPLY CACHES 

• Landscaping shall be designed to provide adequate vegetative cover. 
 
For governmental structures and uses of land, the following additional standards apply, 
pursuant to DBZO Section 152.136(L): 
 

• In a residential zone, all equipment storage shall be within an enclosed building. 
• Maintenance shops shall not be detrimental to adjacent properties. 
• Public utility facilities shall be visually screened by a sight-obscuring screening 

which shall be required to a height appropriate for the facility as approved by the 
Planning Commission, and shall be accomplished with vegetation, or fencing 
landscaped with vegetation, to minimize impacts on adjacent properties. 

 
Policies and procedures for identifying and securing cache sites; providing for access to 
and maintenance of cache contents; and other on-going operational issues will fall 
under the purview of the City Council and/or Emergency Preparedness Committee. The 
Planning Commission’s involvement will be limited to the review of proposed cache sites 
as conditional uses at their various locations. Unlike the process that was undertaken for 
the City’s outdoor emergency warning siren system in 2012, Staff recommends that all 
cache sites be considered through a public hearing process under a single Conditional 
Use Permit (CUP) application. 
 
This report is primarily provided as an informational item for the Commission’s review. The 
Commission may consider adopting a motion supporting the CUP process outlined by 
Staff. Such a motion might also include a recommendation that the City Council and/or 
Emergency Preparedness Committee develop a master plan of cache locations to 
facilitate the CUP process. Alternatively, if the Commission has other suggestions for 
Planning review of City emergency supply caches, Staff would appreciate that 
feedback to share with the City Council and/or Emergency Preparedness Committee. 
 
 
Attachment 

• Depoe Bay Tsunami Evacuation Map/Brochure (DOGAMI, revised 6-20-22) 
 



0 0.25 0.5 0.75 1 Miles

0 0.25 0.5 0.75 1 Kilometers

0 0.25 0.5 0.75 1 Miles

0 0.25 0.5 0.75 1 Kilometers

!

Little Whale
 Cove

Whale Cove

Pirate Cove

Depoe Bay Whale
Watch Center

City
Park

Boiler Bay
State Scenic

Viewpoint

Boiler Bay

Rocky Creek 
State Wayside

DEPOE BAY

Lillian Ln 

NE Lane St

Alsea Ave

W
orld M

ark

   Collins St

Vista St

Stanley St

Painter Ln

Bay St

Oceana St

W
al

ki
ng

 W
oo

d

Cove Point

Pi
ne

 A
ve

South Point St

   
  S

W
 C

oa
st

 A
ve

Winchell St

An
is

le
e 

Av
e

  S
he

ll 
Av

e

N
E 

S
pr

in
g 

Ave

C
oa

st
 G

ua
rd

 D
r

W
illi

am
s 

Av
e

Austin St

Allen St

Kent St

   
  I

nd
ia

n 
Tr

ai
l A

ve

    Cliff St

S W
 T

in
tin

n
ab

url
ar

y 
Pl

Boiler Bay St

SE
 W

ha
les

on
g D

r

Si
ng

in
g T

ree

 M
ea

do
w

 L
n

Lillian Ln 

NE Lane StNE Lane StNE Lane St

Alsea Ave

W
orld M

ark

   Collins St

Vista St

Stanley St

Painter LnPainter LnPainter Ln

Bay St

Oceana St

W
al

ki
ng

 W
oo

d

Cove Point

Pi
ne

 A
ve

South Point St

   
  S

W
 C

oa
st

 A
ve

Winchell St

An
is

le
e 

Av
e

An
is

le
e 

Av
e

An
is

le
e 

Av
e

  S
he

ll 
Av

e

N
E 

S
pr

in
g 

Ave
N

E 
S

pr
in

g 

Ave
N

E 
S

pr
in

g 

Ave

C
oa

st
 G

ua
rd

 D
r

W
illi

am
s 

Av
e

Austin St

Allen St

Kent St

   
  I

nd
ia

n 
Tr

ai
l A

ve

    Cliff St

S W
 T

in
tin

n
ab

url
ar

y 
Pl

Boiler Bay St

SE
 W

ha
les

on
g D

r

Si
ng

in
g T

ree

 M
ea

do
w

 L
n

Depoe Bay Creek

William
s Creek  

Deadhorse Creek

South Depoe Bay Creek

Nor

th
 D

ep
oe

 B
ay

 C
ree

k

Depoe Bay Creek

William
s Creek  

Deadhorse Creek

Deadhorse Creek

Deadhorse Creek

South Depoe Bay Creek

Nor

th
 D

ep
oe

 B
ay

 C
ree

k

P 
A 

C
 I 

F 
I C

   
O

 C
 E

 A
 N

Collins StCollins St

Lillian LnLillian Ln

Lane StLane St

DISTANT  TSUNAMI
EVACUATION ZONE
DISTANT  TSUNAMI
EVACUATION ZONE

LOCAL TSUNAMI
EVACUATION ZONE

LOCAL TSUNAMI
EVACUATION ZONE

OUTSIDE
HAZARD AREA

OUTSIDE
HAZARD AREA

OUTSIDE
HAZARD AREA

OUTSIDE
HAZARD AREA

63’

20’

51’

18’

20’

20’

65’

20’

65’

20’

68’

20’

101

101

101

Depoe
Bay

Harbor

Elevation, in feet / Elevación, 
en pies

35’

Fire department / Bomberos

Bridge / Puente

Assembly area / Área reuniónA

Evacuation route / Ruta de 
evacuación

MAP SYMBOLS / 
SÍMBOLOS DEL MAPA

NOTICE
This tsunami evacuation zone map was developed by DOGAMI 
for the purpose of evaluating the most effective means to guide the 
public in the event of a tsunami evacuation. The map is based on 
preliminary data and should not be used for site-specific planning. 
This map adopts recommendations from the Oregon Tsunami Advisory 
Council. The evacuation routes were developed by local emergency 
officials and reviewed by the Oregon Department of Emergency 
Management.

MAP REVISED 06-20-22

O
R

E
G

O
N

D
E

P
A

R
TM

E NT O F G EO L O GY A ND
M I N

E
R

A
L

I N
D

U
S

T
R

IE
S

1937

N

SCALE / ESCALA
0.25 mile

0.25 km

In the case of a distant tsunami event, the city’s 
outdoor emergency warning siren and public
announcement system will be activated to provide
notification and instructions to the public.  

*

TSUNAMI EVACUATION MAP
DEPOE BAY, OREGON

OUTSIDE HAZARD AREA: Evacuate to this 
area for all tsunami warnings or if you feel an 
earthquake.

DISTANT TSUNAMI: Evacuation zone for a 
distant tsunami from an earthquake far away 
from the Oregon coast.

ZONA DE PELIGRO EXTERIOR: Evacue a esta 
área para todas las advertencias del maremoto 
o si usted siente un temblor.

MAREMOTO LOCAL (terremoto de Cascadia):
Zona de evacuación para un tsunami local de un 
temblor cerca de la costa de Oregon.

MAREMOTO DISTANTE: Zona de evacuación 
para un tsunami distante de un temblor lejos
de la costa de Oregon.

LOCAL CASCADIA EARTHQUAKE AND 
TSUNAMI: Evacuation zone for a local tsu-
nami from an earthquake at the Oregon coast.

ASSEMBLY
AREA A ÁREA 

REUNIÓN

IF YOU FEEL AN EARTHQUAKE:
• Drop, cover, and hold 
• Move immediately inland to higher ground 
• Do not wait for an official warning 

SI USTED SIENTE EL TEMBLOR:
• Tírese al suelo, cúbrase, y espere
• Diríjase de inmediato a un lugar 
  más alto que el nivel del mar
• No espere por un aviso oficial

MAP LOCATION

ORE GON

A

A

A

A

A

Scan me! 



This information could 
save your life –

Please read it and share it 
with your family and friends.

Depoe Bay

OREGON

EVACUATION
MAP ON REVERSE

O
R

E
G

O
N

D
E

P
A

R
TM

ENTOFGEOLOGYAND
MIN

E
R

A
L

IN
U

S
T

R
I E

S

1937

Funded by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration under NTHMP 
contract award NA19NWS4670013 through the Oregon Department of Geology and 

Mineral Industries. Published by the Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral 
Industries in consultation with local emercency management officials.

CONTACTS
Depoe Bay Fire District

6445 Gleneden Beach Loop Road
Gleneden Beach, OR 97388

(541) 764-2202
https://www.depoebayfire.com

Lincoln County Sheriff’s Office
Emergency Management

225 West Olive Street, Room 203  
Newport, OR 97365

(541) 265-4199
https://www.co.lincoln.or.us/emergencymanagement

Depoe Bay City Hall
570 SE Shell Avenue

Depoe Bay, OR 97341
(541) 765-2361

https://www.cityofdepoebay.org

Oregon Office of Emergency Management
3225 State Street, Room 115

Salem, OR 97301
(503) 378-2911

https://www.oregon.gov/OEM/

Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries
800 NE Oregon Street, Suite 965

Portland, OR 97232
(971) 673-1555

https://www.oregongeology.org
http://oregontsunami.org

National Tsunami Warning Center (NTWC)
910 S. Felton St.

Palmer, AK 99645
(907) 745-4212

https://www.tsunami.gov/

DROP, COVER, HOLD until the 
earthquake is over; protect yourself
MOVE IMMEDIATELY INLAND to 
high ground and away from low-lying 
coastal areas
FOLLOW EVACUATION ROUTE SIGNS

DO NOT WAIT for an official warning
GO ON FOOT if at all possible
DO NOT PACK or delay
DO NOT RETURN to the beach – 
large waves may continue to come 
onshore for several hours
WAIT for an “all clear” from local 
emergency officials before returning to 
low-lying areas

•

•

•
•
•
•
•

•

WHAT TO DO:

If you feel an earthquake, 
a tsunami may be 
coming...

1.  Evacuate on foot, if at all possible. 
    Follow evacuation signs and arrows
    to an Assembly Area.*

2.  If you need help evacuating, tie something 
    white (sheet or towel) to the front door knob. Make it large 
    enough to be visible from the street. If the emergency is a 
    distant tsunami, then help may arrive. In the event of a local 
    tsunami, it is unlikely that anyone will help you, so make a plan 
    and be prepared!

3.  Stay away from potentially hazardous areas until you receive  
    an ALL CLEAR from local officials. Tsunamis often follow river 
    channels, and dangerous waves can persist for several hours. 
    Local officials must inspect all flooded or earthquake-damaged 
    structures before anyone can go back into them.

4.  After evacuation, check with local emergency officials if 
    you think you have special skills and can help, or if you 
    need assistance locating lost family members.

WHAT TO DO for both local 
and distant tsunamis

*Assembly areas  A  are shown on the map.  Do not confuse Assembly Areas with 
Evacuation Centers, which are short-term help centers set up after a disaster occurs. 

BE PREPARED!

How to help with tsunami awareness in your community
• Start a tsunami buddy system
• Make and distribute emergency packs
• Initiate or participate in a local preparedness program

Visit OregonTsunami.org to find more great resources!

Assemble emergency kits with at least a 2-week supply for each family member:
• Local map showing safe evacuation routes to high ground
• First-aid supplies, prescriptions and non-prescription medication
• Water bottle and filtration or treatment supplies capable of providing 1 gallon per
  person per day
• Non-perishable food (ready-to-eat meals, canned food, baby food, energy bars)
• Cooking and eating utensils, can opener, Sterno® or other heat source
• Matches in water-proof container or lighter
• Shelter (tent), sleeping bags, blankets
• Portable radio, NOAA weather radio, flashlight, and extra batteries.
• Rain gear, sturdy footwear, extra clothing
• Personal hygiene items (toilet paper, soap, toothbrush)
• Tools and supplies (pocket knife, shut-off wrench, duct tape, gloves,
  whistles, plastic bags)
• Cash

Local tsunamis

Distant tsunamis

Look for these hazard zone signs
and be ready to leave the area by
following evacuation route signs.

AClimb to
 Assembly

 Area

TSUNAMI HAZARD ZONE

IN CASE OF EARTHQUAKE, GO 

TO HIGH GROUND OR INLAND

A distant tsunami will take 4 hours or more to come ashore. 
You will feel no earthquake, and the tsunami will generally be 
smaller than that from a local earthquake. Typically, there is 
time for an official warning and evacuation to safety.
Evacuation for a distant tsunami will generally be indicated by 
a 3-minute siren blast (if your area has sirens) and an 
announcement over NOAA weather radio that the local area 
has been put into an official TSUNAMI WARNING. In isolated 
areas along beaches and bays you may not hear a warning 
siren. Here, a sudden change of sea level should prompt you 
to move immediately to high ground. If you hear the 3-minute 
blast or see a sudden sea level change, first evacuate away 
from shoreline areas, then turn on your local broadcast media 
or NOAA weather radio for more information.

Distant tsunamis
A local tsunami can come onshore within 15 to 20 minutes 
after the earthquake — before there is time for an official 
warning from the national warning system. Ground shaking 
from the earthquake may be the only warning you have.  
Evacuate quickly!

Local tsunamis

WHAT TO KNOW about tsunamis
A tsunami is a series of sea waves, usually caused by a displacement of the ocean floor by an undersea earthquake. As tsunamis 
enter shallow water near land, they increase in height and can cause great loss of life and property damage.
Recent research suggests that tsunamis have struck the Oregon coast on a regular basis. They can occur any time, day or night. 
Typical wave heights from tsunamis occurring in the Pacific Ocean over the last 500 years have been 20–65 feet at the shoreline. 
However, because of local conditions a few waves may have been much higher — as much as 100 feet.
We distinguish between a tsunami caused by an undersea earthquake near the Oregon coast (a local tsunami) and an undersea 
earthquake far away from the coast (a distant tsunami).

D



CITY OF DEPOE BAY 
2024 LAND USE & BUILDING PERMIT ACTIVITY 

 

LAND USE & BUILDING PERMIT ACTIVITY/2024 

February 2024 
 

Date Applicant Type of Activity Zoning 
District 

Location Description Status/Comments 

2/3/24 Dave Blanchard Building Permit 
(#4-R4-24) 

R-4 09-11-08-BA-00100 
50 E Collins St. 

Detached garage Under review 

2/12/24 Hills of Depoe 
Bay LLC 

Planned 
Development 
(#1-PD-PC-24) 

C-1 & 
R-1 

09-11-05-B0-01200 
1032 N Hwy. 101 

Preliminary Plan for 
Whale Watch Phase 2 

Complete 

2/13/24 Hills of Depoe 
Bay LLC 

Planned 
Development 
(#2-PD-PC-24) 

R-2PD 09-11-05-AB-00900 to 
-01900 & -02700 
NE Seascape Ave. & 
NE Moonwake Ln. 

Amendment to Depoe 
Hills Phase 1 

Complete 

2/15/24 Charissa 
Thornley/Adair 
Homes 

Miscellaneous 
Hearing 
(#1-MSC-PC-
24) 

R-4PD 09-11-17-BC-05000 
260 SW Midden Reach 

Wetland delineation 
for new residence and 
garage 

Incomplete 

2/20/24 Jim Franck Building Permit 
(#5-R2PD-24) 

R-2PD 09-11-05-AB-02100 
1114 NE Marmoris 
Ave. 

New residence and 
garage 

Under review 

 
• City Council meeting on February 6, 2024: 

o Received the Planning Commission Liaison report for January 2024. 
o Adopted Resolution No. 558-24 revoking initiation of the vacation of the Cove View right-of-way on North Point. 
o Received a report about a complaint related to T-Mobile antennae attached to the Travelodge on N Hwy. 101. 

• Planning Commission meeting on February 14, 2024: 
o Conducted the following public hearings: 
 Approved a geologic hazard report (Case File #4-GEO-PC-23) for new residence on NE Stanley St. 

o Approved building permit for new duplex townhouse development (Case File #5-C1-PC-23) on NE Williams Ave. 
o Approved building permit for replacement of former pump canopy (Case File #1-C1-PC-24) at 411 S Hwy. 101. 

• City Council meeting on February 20, 2024: 
o Interviewed and appointed two candidates for Planning Commission: C.A. White, Jr. and Scott Whitmire. 
 






	Staff Report - #1-MSC-PC-23 HARVEY - 20240313 (with attachments)_Redacted.pdf
	STAFF REPORT
	Attachments - #1-MSC-PC-23 HARVEY - 20240313.pdf
	Depoe Bay Zoning Action Application (Building Permit)
	LIncoln County Residential 1-2 Dwelling Building Permit Application Form
	Lincoln County Residential Building Permit Checklist
	Lincoln County Residential Construction Responsibility Form
	Depoe Bay Building Permit forms (Section A)
	Depoe Bay Building Permit forms (Section B)
	Certification Form (SFR)
	Plot Plan Sample
	Local Utilities
	SP SITE PLN_HARVEY_HUDSON.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	11x17


	Offsite Determination Report
	WD20230398 Offsite
	OREGON DEPARTMENT OF STATE LANDS  WD#: 2023-0398
	FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

	WD20230398 Site Map

	WD20240054 AgencyDecision
	WD20240054 Letter
	WD20240054 Packet


	Relevant Criteria - #1-MSC-PC-23 HARVEY - 20240313.pdf
	DBZO 152.028
	DBZO 152.042
	DBZO 152.058
	DBZO 152.072


	Staff Report - #1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH - 20240313 (With Attachments).pdf
	STAFF REPORT
	Attachments - #1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH - 20240313.pdf
	Final Orders - #1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH - 20230815 (reduced file size)
	Attachments - #1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH - 20230809.pdf
	Whale Watch MP Amendment Application 2023 with Fees
	Whale Watch Master Plan Amendment Narrative 2023
	Whale Watch MP Amendment 2023

	Relevant Criteria - #1-PD-PC-23 WHALE WATCH - 20230809.pdf
	DBZO 152.025
	DBZO 152.030
	DBZO 152.042
	DBZO 152.058
	DBZO 152.185-152.188
	DBZO 152.225-152.235
	DBZO 152.250-152.265


	Whale Watch Ph2 City of Depoe Bay Application for Planned Development 02.12.24
	Whale Watch Phase 2 Preliminary Narrative
	Whale Watch Ph2 - Preliminary Plans
	Sheets and Views
	CS00 COVER SHEET
	EX00 EXISTING CONDITIONS
	PP00 PRELIMINARY PLAN
	TP00 TENATIVE PLAT
	PE00 PEDESTRIAN PLAN
	RD00 PROPOSED ROAD PLANS
	RD01 PARKING PLANS
	EA00 EMERGENCY ACCESS PLAN
	GR00 GRADING & DRAINAGE PLAN
	GR01 STORM POND DETAIL
	UP00 UTILITY PLAN
	PR01 STREET PLAN AND PROFILE
	PR02 STREET PLAN AND PROFILE
	PR03 STREET PLAN AND PROFILE
	PR04 STREET PLAN AND PROFILE


	Exhibit - Whale Watch Ph2 - Conceptual Architectural Plans
	A1
	Model

	A2
	Model

	A3
	Model

	A4
	Model

	A5
	Model


	Whale Watch Phase 2 Zoning Narrative 02.23.24
	Whale Watch Phase 2 - Zone Change Map ZN00

	Relevant Criteria - #1-PD-PC-24 WHALE WATCH - 20240313.pdf
	DBZO 152.025
	DBZO 152.030
	DBZO 152.042
	DBZO 152.055
	DBZO 152.185
	DBZO 152.225
	DBZO 152.250


	Staff Report - #2-PD-PC-24 DEPOE HILLS - 20240313 (With Attachments).pdf
	STAFF REPORT
	Relevant Criteria - #2-PD-PC-24 DEPOE HILLS - 20240313.pdf
	DBZO Section 152.026
	DBZO Section 152.042
	Ordinance 336-23

	Relevant Criteria - #2-PD-PC-24 DEPOE HILLS - 20240313.pdf
	DBZO Section 152.026
	DBZO Section 152.042
	Ordinance 336-23


	02-Planner Log-February 2024.pdf
	Applicant
	Date




